Inventories

A5.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

ARB 43, Chapter 4 

The Guide, Chapter 7 

A5.2 Overview

In almost all cases, inventory should be valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost includes direct and indirect charges incurred in bringing inventories to their existing condition and location. Cost, for inventory purposes, can be determined under any one of several assumptions about cost flow. 

A5.3 Measurement Principles

Inventory includes the following:

· Finished goods

· Work in process

· Raw materials

· Operating materials and supplies of certain types of industries that are customarily included

A5.3.1 Lower of Cost or Market

Inventory should be carried at cost, which includes a reasonable charge for overhead. However, if the utility of goods is impaired by damage, deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels, and so forth, any loss should be recognized in the period in which it occurs. The measurement of the loss is made by applying the lower-of-cost-or-market theory. The term “market” means current replacement cost (by purchase or manufacture), except that: 

(1) Market cannot exceed net realizable value (i.e., selling price less reasonable completion and disposal costs); and 

(2) Market cannot be less than net realized value reduced by the company's normal profit margin. 

The most common practice is to apply the lower-of-cost-or-market theory separately to each item of inventory; however, the theory may be applied to the aggregate of all inventory. The method chosen depends on the character of the inventory (for example, all items are part of a single end product, and application of the theory to individual items is not meaningful). The goal in all cases is to properly match cost with revenue. 

Excess quantities should not be written down unless they qualify for a reduction by application of the lower-of-cost-or-market theory. Otherwise, the excess quantity should be reclassified as a noncurrent asset. 

Any loss from writing down inventory from cost to market should ordinarily be charged to cost of sales. Substantial or unusual losses should be declared and separately identified in the statement of activities. 

Valuation of inventories at quoted market prices.

Although inventories usually must be carried at lower of cost or market, GAAP provides for valuation at market price when the goods have a fixed monetary value and only insignificant costs are associated with their sale. Certain precious metals may qualify for this exception. For any other type of inventory, market valuation is acceptable only when the existence of a fixed selling price and unit interchangeability can be substantiated. 

Example 1. Application of Lower-of-Cost-or-Market Theory 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity has the following inventory items on hand at December 31, 19X1: 

	Item 
	Historical cost 
	Quantity 
	Replacement cost 
	Net realizable value (maximum) 
	Net realizable value less normal markup (minimum) 
	Total inventory at cost 

	Market value
	
	
	
	
	
	

	A 
	$15 
	20,000 
	$19 
	$22 
	$20 
	$300,000 

	B 
	18 
	12,000 
	20 
	18 
	22 
	216,000 

	C 
	16 
	8,000 
	25 
	27 
	25 
	128,000 

	D 
	10 
	30,000 
	12 
	6 
	5 
	300,000 

	E 
	14 
	18,000 
	10 
	12 
	8 
	252,000 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	$1,196,000 


SOLUTION
The first step is to determine the market price to be used. If replacement cost is between the maximum and the minimum, it is used as market. If it exceeds the maximum, the maximum is used as market. If it is less than the minimum, the minimum is used as market. The next step is to compare historical cost to market. 

	Item 
	Historical cost 
	Market value 
	Unit
price used 
	Quantity multiplied by unit price used 

	A 
	$15 
	$20 
	$15 
	$300,000 

	B 
	18 
	20 
	18 
	216,000 

	C 
	16 
	25 
	16 
	128,000 

	D 
	10 
	6 
	6 
	180,000 

	E 
	14 
	10 
	10 
	180,000 

	
	
	
	
	$1,004,000 


Using the individual item method, the write-down is $192,000 ($1,196,000 − $1,004,000), and the journal entry is: 

	Inventory loss (or cost of sales) 
	192,000 
	

	   Inventory 
	
	192,000 

	To record the write-down in inventory due to market decline. 
	
	


Using the aggregate method, the following results occur: 

	Item 
	Quantity 
	Inventory at cost 
	Inventory at market 

	A 
	20,000 
	$300,000 
	$400,000 

	B 
	12,000 
	216,000 
	240,000 

	C 
	8,000 
	128,000 
	200,000 

	D 
	30,000 
	300,000 
	180,000 

	E 
	18,000 
	252,000 
	180,000 

	
	
	$1,196,000 
	$1,200,000 


No write-down is required because, in the aggregate, cost is lower than market. 

Obsolete and slow-moving goods.

Obsolete items should be excluded from inventory. They should be written off (or written down to scrap value) with a corresponding charge to cost of sales. Slow-moving inventory differs from nonsalable merchandise. Slow-moving goods should not be written down; instead, they should be reclassified to noncurrent status. 

A5.3.2 Methods of Determining Cost

Cost may be determined under any one of several methods. The most common methods are:

· First-in, first-out (FIFO)

· Last-in, first-out (LIFO)

· Average cost

· Retail

FIFO.

The FIFO method assumes that the goods first purchased (or manufactured) are sold first and ending inventory consists of the latest acquisitions. The FIFO method produces more realistic income results if inventory acquisition prices are moving in an overall downward direction. 

LIFO.

The LIFO method assumes that the goods first purchased (or manufactured) are sold last and ending inventory consists of earliest acquisitions (or beginning inventory quantities on hand). The LIFO method produces more realistic income results if inventory acquisition prices are moving in an overall upward direction. 

The use of LIFO is considerably more complicated than the use of FIFO. One, of the techniques used in the application of LIFO is called the “pooled” approach. Goods are combined into natural groups or pools and each pool is assumed to be a single unit for costing purposes. All the items in a pool on hand at the beginning of the year are considered to have been acquired at the same time and at the same price. Increments are priced at the average cost of goods purchased during the year. 

Example 2. LIFO Pool Technique 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity has four natural groups (A, B, C, and D) to its inventory. Also assume the following facts for raw material in Group A for 19X1: 

	Transaction 
	Raw material 
	Quantity 
	Unit cost 
	Total
cost 

	Beginning inventory 
	All items 
	45,000 lbs. 
	$9/lb. 
	$405,000 

	Purchase 
	Screws 
	30,000 
	13 
	390,000 

	Purchase 
	Nuts 
	20,000 
	11 
	220,000 

	Purchase 
	Bolts 
	35,000 
	 8 
	240,000 

	Purchase 
	Wood 
	80,000 
	10 
	800,000 

	Purchase 
	Varnish 
	5,000 
	12 
	60,000 

	
	
	170,000 lbs. 
	
	$1,710,000 


Further assume that a physical inventory determines that the following quantities were on hand at December 31, 19X1: 

	Item 
	Quantity on hand 

	Screws 
	19,000 lbs. 

	Nuts 
	11,000 

	Bolts 
	14,000 

	Wood 
	38,000 

	Varnish 
	2,000 

	
	84,000 lbs. 


SOLUTION
The ending inventory is calculated as follows: 

	Beginning inventory ($9 × 45,000 lbs.) 
	$405,000 

	Increase during 19X2 (84,000 lbs. − 45,000 lbs. × average cost of $10.05) 
	391,950 

	Ending inventory 
	$796,950 


The average cost ($10.05) is computed as the total purchases ($1,710,000) divided by the total quantity (170,000 pounds) acquired. For 19X2, the beginning inventory (84,000 pounds) is priced at $9.49 per pound ($796,950 ÷ 84,000 pounds). 

When ending inventory is higher than beginning inventory (quantity), the original units remain intact. When inventory (quantity) is decreased, the most recently added layer is the first eliminated. In 19X2, if ending inventory were decreased, the most recently added layer of 39,000 pounds (84,000 lbs. − 45,000 lbs.) at $10.05 per pound would be the first layer reduced. Even if one ingredient in the layer was reduced in 19X2, an aggregate increase in the pool is the determining factor. 

Dollar-value LIFO is often used when an organization changes its product mix or when the base layers used in pooled LIFO erode. While dollar-value LIFO also utilizes pools, increases and decreases in the pool are measured in terms of total dollar value rather than in terms of physical quantities. Further, dollar-value LIFO permits replacement in the pool of a similar item, whereas in the regular pooled approach, a replacement item must be virtually identical. 

Any number of pools may be created, but fewer pools (therefore more items per pool) make it more likely that decreases in some items will be offset by increases in other items, thereby decreasing the choices of layer liquidations. 

Example 3. Dollar-Value LIFO 
FACTS
Assume the following information of Client Entity: 

	Year 
	Ending inventory at current prices 
	Index 
	Ending inventory at base-year prices(b) 

	19X1(a) 
	$500,000 
	100% 
	$500,000 

	19X2 
	600,000 
	112% 
	535,714 

	19X3 
	660,000 
	125% 
	528,000 

	19X4 
	850,000 
	135% 
	629,630 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	(a) Base year 

	(b) Computed as ending inventory at current prices divided by the index. 


SOLUTION
Ending inventory at LIFO for each of the years is computed as follows: 

	
	19X1 
	19X2 
	19X3 
	19X4 

	Layer at 19X1 prices: 
	
	
	
	

	     $500,000 × 100% 
	$500,000 
	
	
	

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	Layers at 19X1 prices: 
	
	
	
	

	     $500,000 × 100% 
	
	$500,000 
	
	

	       35,714 × 112% 
	
	40,000 
	
	

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	     $535,714 
	
	
	
	

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	Layers at 19X1 prices: 
	
	
	
	

	     $500,000 × 100% 
	
	
	$500,000 
	

	       28,000 × 112% 
	
	
	31,360 
	

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	     $528,000 
	
	
	
	

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	Layers at 19X1 prices: 
	
	
	
	

	     $500,000 × 100% 
	
	
	
	$500,000 

	       28,000 × 112% 
	
	
	
	31,360 

	      101,630 × 135% 
	
	
	
	137,200 

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	     $629,630 
	
	
	
	

	
	$500,000 
	$540,000 
	$531,360 
	$668,560 


Note that, because the ending inventory at base-year prices in 19X3 exceeded the 19X2 ending inventory at base-year prices, the difference of $7,714 was subtracted from the most recent layer added. The balance of $28,000 ($35,714 − $7,714) is valued at the 19X2 index price of 112%. If all or a portion of a layer has been eliminated, it cannot be resurrected. Note that the ending inventory at base-year prices must always equal the total of the layers at base-year prices. 

Determining the index.

The two most common methods used to determine the index to apply dollar-value LIFO are the double-extension method and the link-chain method. Both methods are based on internal records. Under the double-extension method, the index is computed by comparing the year-end cost with original cost for each inventory item. Under the link-chain method, the index is derived from year-to-year price changes. Example 4 and Example 5 illustrate how an index is computed using each method. 

Example 4. Computation of Index—Double-Extension Method 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity has base-year inventory (at 1/1/X1) consisting of the following: 

	Inventory Items 
	Quantity 
	Unit Cost 
	Total Cost 

	X2 
	33,000 
	$.29 
	$9,570 

	X4 
	65,000 
	1.04 
	67,600 

	X8 
	18,000 
	3.60 
	64,800 

	X9 
	6,000 
	4.00 
	24,000 

	
	
	
	$165,970 


Also assume that at 12/31/X1, inventory on hand consists of 40,000 units of X2, 71,000 units of X4, 19,000 units of X8, and 10,000 units of X9. The most recent purchases of these items were at units costs of $.34, $1.09, $3.82, and $4.10, respectively. 

SOLUTION
Components of the index through double extension are developed as follows: 

Inventory at current prices: 

	X2 
	40,000 × $ .34 = 
	$13,600 

	X4 
	71,000 × $1.09 = 
	77,390 

	X8 
	19,000 × $3.82 = 
	72,580 

	X9 
	10,000 × $4.10 = 
	41,000 

	
	
	$204,570 


Inventory at base-year prices: 

	X2 
	40,000 × $ .29 = 
	$11,600 

	X4 
	71,000 × $1.04 = 
	73,840 

	X8 
	19,000 × $3.62 = 
	68,400 

	X9 
	10,000 × $4.00 = 
	40,000 

	
	
	$193,840 


The double extension index is computed as: $204,570
$193,840 = 105.54% 

The index is then applied to the inventory layer added in the current year. 

Example 5. Computation of Index—Link-Chain Method 
FACTS
Assume the same information as in Example 4 . Also assume that in the next year (19X2), the following information is developed: 

	Inventory Items 
	Quantity on Hand at End of Year 
	Beginning-of-
Year Unit Cost 
	End-of-Year Unit Cost 
	At Beginning- of-Year Cost 
	At End-of-
Year Cost 

	Ending Inventory
	
	
	
	

	X2 
	44,000 
	$.34 
	$.32 
	$14,960 
	$14,080 

	X4 
	73,000 
	1.09 
	1.10 
	79,570 
	80,300 

	X8 
	18,000 
	3.82 
	3.99 
	68,760 
	71,820 

	X9 
	10,000 
	4.10 
	4.25 
	41,000 
	42,500 

	
	
	
	
	$204,290 
	$208,700 


SOLUTION
The 19X2 index is computed as $208,700 ÷ $204,290 = 1.0216. The current link in the chain of indexes is computed as: 

	Cumulative Index of Prior Years (Assume 19X1 is the base year) 
	
	Current Year's Index 
	
	Current Year's Link in the Chain 

	1.0554 
	× 
	1.0216 
	= 
	1.0782 


Note that in applying either method, only a sample of items is used to develop the index. The major drawback of both methods is the amount of time-consuming effort needed to accumulate the data. Use of such an externally developed index greatly reduces the time and cost involved in applying dollar-value LIFO. 

Initial adoption.

A change to LIFO requires the computation of the cumulative effect of the change. (See Section E1 , ACCOUNTING CHANGES.) Such a computation may be impracticable, however, for most organizations. In such cases, the base-year inventory for all subsequent LIFO calculations is the beginning inventory for the year in which LIFO is adopted. 

LIFO is considered a strict cost approach. If, under another method, inventory had been written down to market, the write-down must be restored and taken as other income. 

LIFO reserves.

If FIFO or other non-LIFO methods are used for internal reporting purposes, the difference between the methods is the LIFO reserve. The LIFO reserve is increased or decreased each year for the effects of the different methods. In such a case, non-LIFO inventory can be immediately converted to LIFO by deducting the balance on the LIFO reserve. 

Average cost.

Application of the average cost method depends on whether or not perpetual records are maintained. If there is no perpetual inventory, the cost of the ending inventory is computed when the physical inventory is taken. 

Example 6. Weighted Average Method 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity determines by physical count that there are 88,000 units on hand at the end of the year. During 19X1, the following purchases were made: 

	Date 
	Number of units purchased 
	Unit cost 
	Total purchases 

	April 8 
	14,000 
	$4.00 
	$56,000 

	June 5 
	66,000 
	4.20 
	277,200 

	October 11 
	12,000 
	4.23 
	50,760 

	December 9 
	40,000 
	4.26 
	170,400 

	
	132,000 
	
	$554,360 


SOLUTION
The average cost is $4.20 ($554,360 ÷ 132,000 units). Ending inventory is: 

	88,000 units × $4.20 = $369,000 




Example 7. Moving Average Method 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 6 , except that perpetual records are maintained. Also assume the following perpetual inventory card for the inventory item in question: 

	Date 
	Quantity 
	Cost 
	Quantity 
	Cost 
	Quantity 
	cost 
	Total 

	Perpetual record
additions
	Deductions
	Balance
	
	

	April 8 
	14,000 
	$4.00 
	
	
	14,000 
	$4.000 
	$56,000 

	May 9 
	
	
	6,000 
	$4.000 
	8,000 
	4.000 
	32,000 

	June 5 
	66,000 
	4.20 
	
	
	74,000 
	4.165 
	308,210 

	October 11 
	12,000 
	4.23 
	
	
	86,000 
	4.173 
	358,878 

	November 6 
	
	
	38,000 
	4.173 
	48,000 
	4.173 
	200,304 

	December 9 
	40,000 
	4.26 
	
	
	88,000 
	4.200 
	369,600 


SOLUTION
Ending inventory is the balance of $369,600 on the card at the end of the year. Note that a new average cost is computed each time a purchase is made. Deductions are at the later and average prices. 

Retail method.

The retail method requires that a record be maintained of (1) the cost and the selling price of the goods, (2) the total cost and selling prices of goods available for sale, and (3) the total sales for the period. Inventory at selling prices is reduced to cost by applying a ratio of cost to retail. Example 8 shows the application of the retail method instead of one of the inventory methods. 

Example 8. Application of Retail Method 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity is in addition to its voluntary work in the retail business and throughout the year marks up and marks down the specific item in question. The normal gross profit on the item is 20%. Following is a record of such occurrences during 19X1: 

	
	Cost 
	Retail 

	Beginning inventory 
	$8,000 
	$10,000 

	Purchases 
	40,000 
	50,000 

	Mark-ups 
	
	5,000 

	Mark-up cancellations 
	
	2,000 

	Mark-downs 
	
	3,000 

	Mark-down cancellations 
	
	1,000 

	Sales 
	
	30,000 


SOLUTION
The calculation illustrating the retail method would be: 

	
	Cost 
	Retail 

	Beginning inventory 
	$8,000 
	$10,000 

	Purchases 
	40,000 
	50,000 

	Mark-ups 
	
	5,000 

	Mark-up cancellations 
	
	(2,000) 

	Mark-downs 
	
	(3,000) 

	Mark-down cancellations 
	
	1,000 

	
	$48,000 
	$61,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	Ratio =    $48,000   = 78.69% 
	

	$61,000 
	

	

	

	
	
	

	Sales 
	$30,000 
	

	   Ending inventory at retail 
	31,000 
	

	
	× 78.69% 
	

	   Ending inventory at cost 
	$24,394 
	


Mark-ups are add-ons above the original selling price. Mark-downs are reductions from the original selling price. Cancellations simply eliminate some or all of the mark-ups or mark-downs. 

As a practical matter, ending inventory at cost is often determined by applying the cost factor based on the usual gross profit (mark-on). In the above example, a physical inventory at selling prices (based on the tag on the item when it is counted) would have produced an ending inventory at cost of $24,800—not materially different from the more theoretically correct approach of applying 78.69%. 

LIFO retail method.

The use of LIFO with the retail method complicates matters. Essentially, all of the information is still necessary that was used in the conventional retail method, except that mark-ups and mark-downs (and cancellations) are assumed to apply only to merchandise purchased during the year and not to beginning inventory. 

Example 9. Application of LIFO Retail Method 
FACTS
Assume the following facts of Client Entity: 

	
	Cost 
	Retail 

	Beginning inventory 
	$8,000 
	$10,000 

	Purchases 
	40,000 
	50,000 

	Net mark-ups 
	
	3,000 

	Net mark-downs 
	
	(2,000) 

	Total, excluding beginning
inventory 
	$40,000 
	51,000 

	Total, including beginning
inventory 
	
	61,000 

	Net sales 
	
	(30,000) 

	Ending inventory at retail 
	
	$31,000 


Also assume that the index for the current year is 120 and that last year was the base year. 

SOLUTION
Ending inventory is computed as follows: 

	1. Ending inventory at retail converted to base-year prices
($31,000 ÷ 120%) 
	$25,833 

	2. Beginning inventory at base-year prices 
	(10,000) 

	   Increase at retail 
	$15,833 

	3. Increase multiplied by index ($15,833 × 120%) 
	$19,000 

	

	

	
	

	   Layer 1—beginning inventory at cost 
	$ 8,000 

	   Layer 2—$19,000 × (cost ratio of 78.43% computed as
  $40,000 ÷ $51,000) 
	14,902 

	
	$22,902 


Base stock, standard cost, and selling price methods.

Following is a brief description of other inventory costing methods:

· Base stock. The base stock method assumes that a minimum normal stock of merchandise is needed at all times. In essence, the base stock is similar to a piece of equipment and should not be affected by price fluctuations. Increments over the base are costed out at LIFO, FIFO, average cost, and so on. A decrement is charged against income at current costs. The base stock method is rarely used, because it is not acceptable for tax purposes.

· Standard cost. Use of standard costs is acceptable if adjusted at reasonable intervals to reflect the approximate results using actual costs.

· Selling price. Use of selling prices is permitted only in exceptional cases as follows: 

· — For precious metals having a fixed monetary value with no substantial marketing costs

· — When approximate cost cannot be determined

· — For immediate marketability at a quoted market price (e.g., agricultural products such as minerals)

A5.4 Disclosures

The following information should be disclosed: 

The basis of valuation. 

The method of determining costs. 

The amounts of each major category. GAAP does not require separate disclosures for the amounts of finished goods, work in process, and raw materials. 

The amount of substantial or unusual losses resulting from the application of the lower-of-cost-or-market rule. 

The amount of losses expected from firm purchase commitments and a statement whether such losses have been accrued. 

Separate classification of current and noncurrent amounts. 

A description and the amounts of inventories pledged as collateral. 

When the LIFO method is used to determine cost, certain additional information is usually disclosed. The following disclosures are not required by GAAP, although they have become a matter of general practice and should be made where significant and where considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial statements: 

The amount of the provision loss relating to write-down from LIFO cost to market value. 

The effect on income due to liquidation of a portion of LIFO inventory. 

The excess of replacement or current cost over stated LIFO amounts. 

When inventories are carried at market value (or at above cost), that fact should be disclosed. 

A5.4.1 Examples

American Red Cross (2003 Annual Report) 
Inventories of supplies purchased for use in program and supporting services are carried at a lower first-in, first-out cost or market. Plasma derivatives, whole blood and its components and tissue products are valued at the lower of average cost or market. 

A5.5 Related Topics

Chapter B1 , CONTRIBUTIONS AND PROMISES TO GIVE 

Chapter B3 , EXCHANGE TRANSACTION REVENUE 

Chapter E1 , ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

Chapter E2 , ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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Investments

A7.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SFAS 116 

SFAS 117 

SFAS 124 

The Guide, Chapter 8 

A7.2 Overview

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and debt securities should be measured at fair value. Other investments should be measured at cost, fair value, market value, or the lower of cost and market value, depending on the type of organization holding the investments. Investment revenue is unrestricted unless restricted by donor stipulations or law. 

A7.3 Measurement Principles

In general, investments held by nonprofit organizations fall into three broad categories: 

(1) equity securities with readily determinable fair values, defined as those investments which: 

(a) have sales prices or bid-and-ask quotations available on a Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) registered securities exchange, or on the over-the-counter market, and such prices or quotations are reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (NASDAQ) systems or by the National Quotation Bureau, (note that restricted stock fails to meet this definition) or 

(b) are traded only on a foreign market whose scope and breadth is comparable to one of the U.S. markets referred to in a), or 

(c) are included in mutual funds which determine, publish, and use the fair value per share or unit as the basis for current transactions 

(2) debt securities, which include government securities, corporate bonds, convertible debt, commercial paper, and others, and 

(3) other investments such as securities which do not have readily determinable fair values, interests in partnerships and joint ventures, land and other property, and other assets held for investment rather than operational use. 

The first two types of investments are measured differently from the third, and each requires different disclosures. 

This chapter does not include discussion of securities accounted for under the equity method, investments in consolidated for-profit subsidiaries, or investments in related entities. See Chapter F1 , Related Entities, for further discussion of these topics. 

A7.3.1 Initial Valuation of Investments in Equity Securities With Readily Determinable Fair Values and Debt Securities

Upon initial recognition, these investments are measured at:

· Acquisition cost, net of brokerage, and transaction fees, if purchased,

· Fair value on the date donated, if received as a contribution, and

· Fair value on the date received, when the receipt is an agency transaction.

Except for agency transactions, investments purchased or received through donation are recorded as increases in unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted net assets, depending on the presence or absence of donor restrictions. Agency transactions should be reported as simultaneous increases in assets and liabilities, rather than changes in net assets. 

Promises to give investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and debt securities may be hard to value. For example, a donor may promise to give a certain number of shares of stock in a certain number of years. Unconditional promises to give should be recorded at the present value of the estimated fair value of the assets on the date they are expected to be received. This value may be difficult to determine. In such cases, the fair value of the promised assets on the date the promise is made may be the best estimate of the value of the promise. If this value is used, it should not be discounted. See Chapter B1 , CONTRIBUTIONS AND PROMISES TO GIVE, for additional discussion on the valuation of promises to give investment securities. 

A7.3.2 Change in Valuation of Investments in Equity Securities With Readily Determinable Fair Values and Debt Securities

All equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all debt securities should be measured at fair value on the statement of financial position. Changes in fair value should be recorded as changes in unrestricted net assets, unless the donor or law restricts the use of appreciation on these assets. Fair value may be determined in several ways. For example, the nonprofit organization may measure fair value based on:

· The price the security is selling for on the stock market,

· Market prices for similar securities,

· The present value of future cash flows, using a discount rate commensurate with the risks involved, or

· Other valuation techniques.

Increases in the value of promised equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all promised debt securities are recorded as additions to contribution revenue. Decreases in the value of all promised assets are recorded as decreases in contribution revenue. The classification of these changes in contribution revenue follows the classification of the related contributions receivable. For example, an increase in a promised permanently restricted debt security would result in an increase in permanently restricted contribution revenue. 

A7.3.3 Valuation of Other Investments

Institutions of higher education.

Colleges, universities, community colleges, and junior colleges report purchased other investments at cost. Contributions of these investments are reported at fair or appraised value on the date of the gift. After initial recognition, other investments may be reported at current market value or fair value. All other investments must be valued using the same measurement attribute. 

Voluntary health and welfare organizations.

Other investments purchased by voluntary health and welfare organizations should be reported at cost, and, if donated, these investments should be reported at the fair value on the date the donation was made. Subsequent to initial recognition investments may be carried at the lower of cost or market, or at market value. All investments must be valued using the same measurement attribute. 

Other organizations.

Organizations other than institutions of higher learning and voluntary health and welfare organizations should measure other investments at fair value, or at the lower of cost or fair value. All investments must be valued using the same measurement attribute. If these investments are measured at the lower of cost or fair value, declines in fair value should be recognized when the aggregate fair value of the investments falls below their carrying amount. Increases in fair value should be recorded to the extent that the carrying value of the investments does not exceed its original cost. 

A7.3.4 Investment Revenue

Realized and unrealized gains and losses.

Gains and losses for investments measured at fair value—which include both realized and unrealized amounts—occur when an investment is sold at other than its carrying value and when the fair value of an investment changes. Unless restricted by donor stipulations or law, gains and losses should be recorded as changes in unrestricted net assets in the statement of activities. Realized and unrealized gains may be netted against realized and unrealized losses on the statement of activities. 

Example 1. Recognition of Unrealized Gain 
FACTS
Assume the Society for Pet Health and Wellness holds 3,000 shares of stock in Healthy Pet Foods, Inc., which is publicly traded. The stock, which was donated when the market price was ten dollars ($ 10) per share, increases in value to fifteen dollars ($15) per share. There are no donor or legal restrictions on the stock or earnings on it. 

SOLUTION
As this stock meets the definition of an equity security with a readily determinable fair value, and there are no donor or legal restrictions on the appreciation, the unrecognized gain is recorded as an increase in unrestricted net assets as follows: 

	Investments 
	$15,000 
	

	   Unrealized Gain 
	
	$15,000 




Example 2. Recognition of Realized Loss 
FACTS
Assume the same facts for the Society for Pet Health and Wellness as in Example 1 . Time passes, and there is a scandal involving raw materials used by Healthy Pet Foods, Inc. The Society sells its 3,000 shares of stock immediately, but not before the stock price falls to nine dollars ($9) per share. At the time of the sale, the carrying value of the stock is $45,000, or fifteen dollars ($15) per share. 

SOLUTION
There are two ways the proceeds from the sale of the stock may be disclosed: 

(1) The Society could recognize a realized loss of six dollars ($6) per share, or $18,000, as follows: 

	Cash 
	$27,000 
	

	Realized loss on sale 
	18,000 
	

	   Investments 
	
	$45,000 


(2) Alternatively, the Society could recognize a realized loss of one dollar ($l) per share, or $3,000, less the previously recognized unrealized gain of $15,000, as follows: 

	Cash 
	$27,000 
	

	Realized loss on sale 
	3,000 
	

	Unrealized gain 
	15,000 
	

	   Investments 
	
	$45,000 


Nonprofit organizations which hold other investments measured at cost do not recognize unrealized gains or losses, unless the fair value of the investments falls below cost, or there are recoveries (up to the original cost) of previously recorded declines in fair value. Unless restricted by donor stipulations or law, realized gains and losses should be recorded as changes in unrestricted net assets in the statement of activities. Realized gains may be netted against realized losses on the statement of activities. 

Investment income.

Investment income, which consists of interest and dividends earned by debt and equity securities, and rents, royalties, and other income from other investments, is recognized as it is earned. Unless restricted by donor stipulations, investment income increases unrestricted net assets. 

Example 3. Recognition of Investment Income 
FACTS
Assume Neighborly Nurses Association received and recorded a contribution of $100,000 which the donor permanently restricted to provide funds for outreach to the elderly. All investment earnings are restricted to use by the elderly visitation program. The donation was invested in ten year, 10 percent corporate bonds, purchased at par. 

SOLUTION
As the interest is earned, the following entry should be made: 

	Interest receivable—temporarily restricted 
	$10,000 
	

	   Interest income—temporarily restricted 
	
	$10,000 


As amounts are expended which meet the purpose restriction, temporarily restricted net assets will be reclassified to unrestricted net assets. 

Pooling of investments and use of spending rate formulas.

Nonprofit organizations with sizable investment portfolios frequently “pool” the investments for accounting purposes. Typically, pooling simplifies accounting for the investments, and may reduce custodial and investment management fees by reducing the number of investment accounts. The number, nature, and interrelationships of pools held, may differ between similar nonprofit organizations. The pools are formed by grouping investments, and assigning each a unitized value, based on the total market value of the pool. This market value is revised periodically, to restate it to the current value of the pooled investments, and is also used to assign unitized values to additions or withdrawals from the pool. Investment income, as well as recognized gains and losses, are allocated to the units based on their value relative to the total pool. 

Often, nonprofit organizations that pool their investments determine the amount of investment earnings available for current operations using a spending rate formula. This formula attempts to preserve the purchasing power of the investments by limiting distributions to earnings less estimated inflation. SFAS 117 requires that all investment revenue be classified as changes in unrestricted net assets unless all or part of the revenue is restricted by the donor or by law. Organizations which have a spending rate policy may choose to disclose the “spending rate” distribution as “Investment return designated for current operations,” or a similar other caption, on their statement of activities. The difference, if any, between actual endowment investment earnings and the “spending rate” is disclosed on a separate line captioned “Investment return in excess of amounts designated for current contributions.” This segregation of investment revenue is permissible as long as both captioned elements are included in the total change in unrestricted net assets. 

Management and custodial fees.

Investment management fees and custodial charges related to investments may be netted against investment earnings. All other expenses should be shown gross of related revenues. 

A7.3.5 Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds

Some donors make contributions that create a donor-restricted endowment fund. The assets in these types of funds are invested in perpetuity, and the revenue (including income, and realized and unrealized gains and losses) from them are used for temporarily restricted or unrestricted purposes. It is generally understood that at least the original amount given to these funds (referred to as the “historic dollar value” in the Uniform Management of Institutional Funds Act) is not expendable. Treatment of these investments differs from that of other investments in two major areas: the classification of net appreciation and the classification of losses that reduce the fair value of the endowment below its historic dollar value. 

Classification of net appreciation.

Generally, donors allow nonprofit organizations to choose suitable investment vehicles for endowed funds. Contributed investments may be held by the nonprofit organization or sold by it depending on the organization's investment strategies or policies. The donor may place temporary or permanent restrictions on income (such as interest and dividends), realized gains and losses, unrealized gains and losses, total net appreciation, or a combination of these, earned by the investments in the fund. Sometimes, donors may place restrictions on investment income, but are silent with respect to gains and losses. In these cases, net appreciation (which is net realized and unrealized gains and losses) follows donor restrictions, if any, on related investment income. 

In some states, permanent legal limits are imposed on certain amounts of net appreciation. Nonprofit organizations in those states should classify legally restricted net appreciation as changes in permanently restricted net assets. In other states, the board of the nonprofit organization is charged with appropriating net appreciation under a statutorily prescribed standard of ordinary business care and prudence. Legal guidelines such as these do not extend donor restrictions. In these states, net appreciation should: 

(1) Follow donor restrictions, if any, on these gains and losses. If there are no such restrictions, then 

(2) Follow donor restrictions, if any, on income (such as interest and dividends). If there are no such restrictions, then 

(3) Be recorded as a change in unrestricted net assets. 

Occasionally, donors will contribute specific securities or other assets and require that the investment security or asset be held in perpetuity. In these cases, net appreciation on the securities or other assets is permanently restricted unless the donor explicitly gives other instructions. 

Classification of losses.

After initial recognition of the gift, the historic dollar value of a donor-restricted endowment fund, plus any income or net appreciation permanently restricted by the donor or by law, will remain in perpetuity in the permanently restricted net asset class. In some cases, decreases in fair value may result in losses which bring the carrying value of the fund's investment assets to an amount below the historic dollar value, or the level required by donor stipulations or law. SFAS 124 provides that such losses on donor-restricted endowment funds: 

(1) Reduce temporarily restricted earnings from those investments, if any, and then 

(2) Reduce unrestricted net assets. 

Subsequent increases in fair value which restore the value of the fund's investment assets to its historic dollar value, or the level required by donor stipulations or law, are recorded as increases in unrestricted net assets. 

A7.3.6 Classification of Investments and Investment Revenue

Contributed investments are classified in accordance with donor restrictions, if any. Purchased investments are classified as unrestricted net assets unless the resources used to purchase them were temporarily or permanently restricted by donor or law. When donor restrictions are present, the classification of the investments follows those temporary or permanent restrictions. 

Investment revenue, including income, and realized and unrealized gains and losses, are unrestricted unless there are explicit donor restrictions or laws limiting their use. See discussion above on Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds for exceptions to this rule. 

A7.3.7 Release From Restrictions

As donor restrictions are met, temporarily restricted investment revenues are reclassified to unrestricted net assets. For further discussion on restrictions and their release, refer to Chapter B4 , NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS. 

In some cases, temporarily restricted investment revenue may be reported as changes in unrestricted net assets. This approach may be used if:

· The restrictions on the revenue are met in the same period the revenue is earned,

· The nonprofit organization has a similar policy of recognizing restricted contributions whose restrictions are met in the period received, and

· The policy is followed consistently, and is disclosed.

A7.4 Disclosures

For each period for which a Statement of Activities is presented, the following should be disclosed: 

Composition of the investment return including, at a minimum, the following:

· Investment income

· Net realized gains or losses on investments reported at other than fair value

· Net gains or losses on investments reported at fair value.

For each period for which a Statement of Financial Position is presented, the following should be disclosed: 

Aggregate carrying amount of investments by major types (e.g. equity securities, US Treasury securities, corporate debt securities, mortgage-backed securities, oil and gas properties, and real estate) 

Basis for determining the carrying amount for investments other than equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all debt securities 

Method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair values of investments other than financial instruments, if those investments are reported at fair value 

Aggregate amount of the deficiencies for all donor-restricted endowment funds for which the fair value of the assets at the reporting date is less than the level required by donor stipulations or law. 

For the most recent period for which a Statement of Financial Position is presented, the nature of, and carrying amount for, each individual investment or group of investments that represents a significant concentration of market risk should be disclosed. 

A7.4.1 Examples

CARE USA (2002 Annual Report) 

Investments 
Investments are carried at fair values. Investment securities are valued based upon quoted market prices or dealer quotes. For financial reporting and budgetary purposes, interest and dividends are considered operating support and revenue. Interest and dividends on restricted net assets are reflected in public support, and interest and dividends on unrestricted net assets are reflected in other revenue in the statements of activities. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are considered non-operating and are classified as other changes in net assets in the statements of activities. 

CARE USA maintains certain investments on behalf of others, including the U.S. federal government. Investment income related to these investments results in an increase in a liability to the other entity and is not reflected in the total return. 

Investments at June 30, 2001 and 2000, were comprised of the following (in thousands): 

	
	2002 
	2001 

	

	


	
	
	Fair 
	
	Fair 

	
	Cost 
	Value 
	Cost 
	Value 

	U.S. Treasury obligations 
	$23,311 
	$24,118 
	$22,763 
	$23,077 

	Mutual funds 
	13,753 
	13,314 
	13,834 
	14,571 

	Marketable equity securities 
	29,791 
	25,619 
	52,403 
	49,488 

	Marketable debt securities 
	27,932 
	28,855 
	25,122 
	25,260 

	Overseas time deposits 
	551 
	551 
	2,754 
	2,754 

	

	


	
	
	
	
	

	
	$ 95,338 
	$ 92,457 
	$ 116,876 
	$ 115,096 


Total return on cash balances, investments and the trust held by a third party was as follows for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, (in thousands): 

	
	
	Temporarily 
	Permanently 
	
	

	
	Unrestricted 
	Restricted 
	Restricted 
	2002 
	2001 

	Dividends and interest: 
	
	
	
	
	

	   Unrestricted 
	$2,995 
	
	
	$2,995 
	$2,749 

	   Temporarily restricted 
	
	$555 
	
	555 
	654 

	   Unrestricted support from trust held, in third party 
	4,425 
	
	
	4,425 
	3,596 

	

	


	
	
	
	
	
	

	Investment income included in operating revenue 
	7,420 
	555 
	
	7,975 
	6,999 

	

	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest and dividends on gift annuity (Investments Classes) 
	1,232 
	
	
	1,232 
	1,533 

	

	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net realized gains: 
	
	
	
	
	

	   Unrestricted 
	(6,397) 
	
	
	(6,397) 
	1,880 

	   Temporarily restricted 
	
	252 
	
	252 
	639 

	Change in net unrealized gains: 
	
	
	
	
	

	   Unrestricted 
	686 
	
	
	686 
	(8397) 

	   Temporarily restricted 
	
	(1,247) 
	
	(1247) 
	(1256) 

	Net change in value of trust held by third party 
	
	
	(7308) 
	(7308) 
	392 

	

	


	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total Return on Cash Balances, Investments
and Trust Held by Third Party 
	$2,941 
	$(440) 
	$(7,308) 
	$(4,807) 
	$1,790 


American Diabetes Association (2002 Annual Report) 

Financial institutions that potentially subject the Association to concentrations of credit risk consist of deposits in banks and investments in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits. At June 30, 2002 and 2001, approximately $7,335,000 and $10,478,000, respectively, were held at such institutions. The Association has not experienced any credit losses on these financial instruments in past years. 

A7.5 Related Topics

Chapter A3 , CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 
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Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets

A11.1 APPLICABLE AUTHORITATIVE PRONOUNCEMENTS

SFAS No. 143 and SFAS No. 144 

EITF Issue 95-23 

A11.2 OVERVIEW

Individual long-lived assets should be tested for impairment, unless such assets are part of a group of assets, in which case, the group should be tested. A long-lived asset held for sale is impaired when its carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds the asset's fair value. An asset (or group of assets) to be disposed of should be measured at the lesser of its carrying amount or fair value. A long-lived asset to be disposed of in a manner other than by sale should be classified as held for sale until the disposition takes place. 

A11.3 MEASUREMENT PRINCIPLES

A11.3.1 Scope and Applicability of SFAS 144

SFAS 144 applies to long-lived assets to be held and used or to be disposed of, including (1) assets under capital leases of lessees, (2) assets subject to operating leases of lessors, (3) prepaid assets. Covered assets of not-for-profit entities are also subject to the provisions of Statement 144. 

Specifically excluded from the scope of SFAS No. 144 are (1) intangibles not being amortized, (2) financial instruments, (3) deferred tax assets. Also not covered by SFAS No. 144 are long-lived assets subject to accounting under the following pronouncement:

· SFAS No. 86, Accounting for Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed
Asset groups. Pursuant to SFAS No. 144, impairment is tested (and a loss possibly recognized) for an individual asset, unless it is part of a group of assets, in which case, the group itself is tested. A group may include assets that are specifically excluded from the Scope of SFAS No. 144 ; nevertheless, in such a situation, the entire asset group becomes subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 144 as they relate to testing for recoverability of the asset group's carrying amount. Note, however, that SFAS No. 144 in no way changes GAAP applicable to non-covered assets (e.g., receivables, inventory). 

A11.3.2 Assets to Be Held and Used

A long-lived asset (or asset group) is considered impaired when its carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds the asset's fair value. The carrying amount is deemed unrecoverable if it is greater than the sum of undiscounted cash flows expected to result form use and eventual disposition of the asset. An impairment loss is equal to the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the asset (or group). Thus, once it is determined that carrying value will not be recovered, an impairment loss must be recognized. 

Asset retirement costs.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 143 Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, the carrying amount of the asset being tested for impairment should include capitalized asset retirement costs. Estimated future cash flows related to the asset retirement obligation should not, however, be included in the amounts of undiscounted cash inflows and the present value of those cash inflows when testing for recoverability or when measuring the impairment loss (see Section A17 , ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS). 

Site restoration and environmental exit costs.

The EITF has reached a consensus that, for environmental exit costs that have not been recognized pursuant either to SFAS 143 or SOP 96-1, Environmental Remediation Liabilities, inclusion of such costs in the test for recoverability depends on management's intentions in respect of the associated test. The EITF provided the following examples for determining the need to include or exclude environmental exit costs in the recoverability test. 

EXAMPLES INDICATING THAT ENVIRONMENTAL EXIT COSTS SHOULD BE EXCLUDED FROM THE FASB STATEMENT 121 RECOVERABILITY TEST 

· Management intends to operate the asset for at least the asset's remaining depreciable life, the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected from the asset's use during that period exceeds the asset's carrying amount including any associated goodwill, and management has no reason to believe that the asset's eventual disposition will result in a net cash outflow.

· Management expects to operate the asset indefinitely and has the ability to do so, the asset is generating positive cash flows, management's best information indicates that the asset will continue to be profitable in the future, and there are no known constraints to the asset's economic life. The recoverability test should include the future cash outflows for repairs, maintenance, and capital expenditures necessary to obtain the future cash inflows expected to be generated by the asset based on its existing service potential.

· The asset has a finite economic life, but environmental limitation costs will only be incurred if the asset is sold or abandoned. At the end of the asset's life, management intends either to close the asset permanently because the costs of remediating the asset exceed the proceeds that likely would be received if the asset were sold or, alternatively, to “idle” the asset by reducing production to a minimal or nominal amount. The recoverability test should incorporate assumptions about the use of the asset, including alternative courses of action and the resulting cash flows associated with those alternatives.

· Management expects to sell the asset in the future and the asset's sale will not cause the environmental exit costs to be incurred. (Note that, although the environmental remediation costs are themselves excluded, the fair value of the asset is likely to be impacted by their existence, which should be taken into account in estimating cash flows from the eventual sale of the asset).

EXAMPLES INDICTING THAT ENVIRONMENTAL EXIT COSTS SHOULD BE INCLUDED IN THE FASB STATEMENT 121 RECOVERABILITY TEST 

· Management expects to take a future action that may cause the environmental remediation costs to be incurred. There are uncertainties or inconsistencies in the application of related laws and regulations. Management estimates that there is a 60% chance that the remediation costs will not be incurred (and a 40% chance that they will).

· The useful life of the asset is limited as a result of (1) actual or expected technological advances, (2) contractual provisions, or (3) regulatory restrictions. When the asset's service potential has ended, management will be required to dispose of the asset.

· The asset has a current period cash flow loss from operations combined with a projection or forecast that anticipates continuing losses. Management expects the asset to achieve profitability in the future, but uncertainty exists about management's ability to fund the future cash outflows up to the time that net cash inflows are expected from the asset's use. In the event of a forced liquidation, management would likely dispose of the asset.

· Management intends to abandon or close the asset in the future, and the event of a abandonment or closure will cause the environmental exit costs to be incurred.

· Management intends to sell the asset in the future, and the applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations thereof require the asset to be remediated in connection with the sale.

· Management expects to operate the asset for the remainder of its useful life. Related asset retirement costs are incurred over the life of the asset (e.g., in the operation of a landfill). Estimated cash flows associated with the asset retirement costs yet to be incurred and recognized should be included in the test for recoverability.

Conditions triggering a recoverability test.

A long-lived asset should be tested for recoverability when events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying value may exceed future undiscounted cash inflows. Such events or changes in circumstances include the following:

· A significant decrease in the market price of the asset.

· A significant adverse change in the degree or manner in which the asset is being used.

· A significant deterioration in the asset's physical condition.

· A significant adverse change in legal factors (including actions or assessments by regulators) or in the business climate that could affect the asset's value.

· An accumulation of costs significantly exceeding the amount originally anticipated for the acquisition or construction of the asset.

· A cash flow deficit or an operating loss in the current period, which, when combined with a history of such deficits or losses, indicates future ongoing losses associated with the use of the asset.

· The expectation that it is “more likely than not” (i.e., a probability threshold of more than 50%) that the asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of well in advance of its previously estimated useful life.

The grouping of assets.

For purposes of testing for recoverability and measuring an impairment loss, individual long-lived assets should be grouped with other assets (and liabilities) forming the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of those of the entity's other assets and liabilities. Note, though, that, if an impairment loss is recognized, it should be applied only to the long-lived assets in the group that are covered by SFAS No. 144; thus, other assets in the group are not affected but should, if necessary, be adjusted for impairment in accordance with other applicable GAAP. There may be limited circumstances under which a long-lived asset (e.g., a corporate headquarters facility) will not have identifiable cash flows separate and independent of those of other assets and liabilities or of other asset groups. In that situation, the long-lived asset should be considered to be part of a group comprising all assets and liabilities of the enterprise itself. 

If an impairment loss is recognized, it should be applied only to the covered long-lived assets in the group. Allocation of the loss should be pro rata, based on relative carrying amounts; in no instance, however, may an individual long-lived asset in the group be reduced to a carrying amount below the asset's fair value (if that fair value is determinable without undue cost and effort). Once an impairment loss is recorded, the written-down carrying amount of a long-lived asset becomes its new cost basis (and, if applicable, depreciated or amortized over its estimated useful life). 

Estimates of future cash flows.

Estimates of future cash flows (i.e., inflows less outflows) should represent only those directly associated with the use and ultimate disposition of the asset (including interest cost that will be recognized as expense when incurred). 

In estimating future cash flows to test for recoverability (1) all available evidence should be taken into account, (2) assumptions should be based on the entity's planned usage of the asset (or asset group), and (3) assumptions should be consistent with those used to develop other information (e.g., internal projections, forecasts, and budgets). Note that, if alternative courses of action for the asset's use are being considered or if future cash flows associated with the most likely course of action are within a range, the relative likelihood or possible outcomes should be the basis for estimation (i.e., by applying a probability-weighted approach). 

If an asset group is being tested for recoverability, the period over which cash flows are projected should be the remaining useful life of the group's primary asset (i.e., the principal long-lived asset from which the group derives its cash-flow generating capacity). Note that a primary asset must be one that is subject to depreciation or amortization and thus cannot be land or an intangible deemed to have an indefinite life. If the primary asset in the group is not the asset with the longest remaining life, the assumption should nevertheless be made that the group will be sold at the termination of the primary asset's useful life. The following factors should be taken into account in determining whether a given long-lived asset is the primary asset:

· Whether other assets in the group would have been acquired without that particular asset.

· The level of investment required to replace that asset.

· The asset's remaining useful life in relation to those of other assets in the group.

For a long-lived asset (or group) whose development is substantially complete, estimated cash flows should be based on its service potential at the date the asset is being tested for recoverability; estimated cash flows should not include those for expenditures to increase the asset's service potential. For an asset still under development, estimated cash flows (including capitalized interest payments) should be based on its expected service potential from the time development is substantially complete. Finally, for a long-lived asset under development that is part of a group of other assets currently in use, estimates of cash flows to test recoverability of the group should include those for future expenditures (1) to maintain the existing service potential of the group, plus (2) those to complete the asset under development. 

Fair value.

Quoted prices in active markets represent the best evidence of fair value and, if available, should be used as the basis of measurement. When quoted market prices are unavailable, a present value technique may be applied to estimate fair value. SFAS No. 7, Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements, discusses two alternate approaches to measure present (fair) value. Under the so-called traditional approach, a single amount of projected future cash flow is discounted at an interest rate embodying the risks associated with the realization and timing of the projected cash flow. Pursuant to the expected present value approach, multiple cash flow scenarios are developed (weighted according to the likelihood of their respective outcomes) and discounted at the risk-free rate. In accordance with SFAS No. 7, risk-free rates for periods beyond the current year may be projected by reference to the term structure of interest rates (i.e., the yield curve). 

The traditional approach is best suited for estimating fair value of a monetary asset (or liability). The expected present value approach is normally more appropriate for estimating fair value of a long-lived non-monetary asset because of greater inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and amount of cash flows associated with such an asset. 

A11.3.3 Assets to Be Disposed of by Sale

A long-lived asset (or group of assets, which, in this context, is referred to as the “disposal group”) to be sold should be classified as held for sale in the period that all of the following criteria are met:

· Management having the authority to do so commits to a plan to sell the asset (or disposal group).

· The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms and conditions that are usual and customary for sales of such assets.

· An active program to locate a buyer has been initiated, and other actions required to complete the plan of sale have been undertaken.

· Sale of the asset is probable and transfer of the asset is normally expected to qualify for accounting recognition as a sale within one year's time.

· The asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value.

· It is unlikely that significant changes to the plan of sale will be made or that the plan itself will be withdrawn.

Note that the one-year period normally expected within which time to complete the transaction may be extended under the following circumstances:

· It is reasonably anticipated that a third party (i.e., not the buyer) will impose conditions lengthening the period and (1) a response to those conditions cannot begin until a firm commitment from the buyer has been obtained, plus (2) it is probable that such a commitment will in fact be secured within one year.

· After obtaining a firm commitment, the buyer (or another party) imposes conditions lengthening the transaction period and (1) responsive actions have been (or will be) timely initiated, plus (2) a favorable resolution of the delaying conditions is expected.

· During the initial one-year period, circumstances arise that were previously considered unlikely to occur and (1) actions in response to the change in circumstances were initiated during the one-year period, (2) the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price that reflects the changed circumstances, plus (3) all other criteria for classification as held for sale have been satisfied.

A newly acquired asset should be classified (as of the acquisition date) as held for sale only if (1) the one-year expected selling period (which may be extended for a qualifying exception) is met, and (2) all other criteria for held-for-sale classification are met (or it is probable that they will be met within three months' time). 

Note that an asset (or group) properly classified as held for sale after the date of the financial statements (but before their issuance) should be so classified when the financial statements are eventually issued. If the asset (or group) is tested for recoverability on a held-and-used basis as of the date of the financial statements, estimates of future cash flows should not be revised for the decision made after that date to sell the asset. 

Measurement.

An asset (or disposal group) should be measured at the lesser of (1) its carrying amount, or (2) fair value, less costs to sell it. A newly acquired asset should be measured at fair value (which is presumptively the purchase price), less costs to sell. An asset otherwise subject to depreciation or amortization should not be depreciated or amortized while it is classified as held for sale, but interest or other expenses attributable to liabilities of the disposal group should continue to be accrued. 

Costs to sell an asset comprise only direct incremental costs (i.e., those that would otherwise not have been incurred). If the sale is expected to take place beyond the one-year period (as permitted under certain circumstances), costs to sell the asset should be discounted to their present values. Prior to determining fair value of a disposal group, the carrying amounts of assets in the group not covered by SFAS No. 144 should be adjusted (for impairment) in accordance with other applicable GAAP. 

An impairment loss representing the excess of the carrying amount of an asset (group) held for sale over its fair value (less costs to sell) should be recognized. Subsequent increases in fair value (less costs to sell) should also be recognized—but not in an amount greater than the total of previously recognized impairment losses (i.e., gains are limited to the recovery of previous losses). As with a group of assets classified as held and used, an impairment loss (or subsequent recovery) should be allocated only to long-lived assets included in the disposal group. 

Changes to the plan of sale.

When the decision is made not to sell a long-lived asset (or group) previously held for sale, the asset should be reclassified as held and used. Initial measurement after the reclassification should be at the lesser of (1) the asset's carrying amount before it was held for sale, less depreciation or amortization that would have been recognized, of (2) fair value at the date of the subsequent decision not to sell. Any resulting loss on the reclassification should be immediately recognized. 

If an individual asset (or liability) is removed from a disposal group, the other assets and liabilities should continue to be measured as a group only if all the criteria for classification as held for sale are still satisfied. Otherwise, the remaining long-lived assets should be measured individually at the lower of their respective carrying amounts or fair values, less costs to sell; the long-lived asset that was removed from the group should be measured at the lesser of its carrying amount before classification as held for sale (adjusted for the amount of foregone depreciation or amortization) or its fair value at the date of the reclassification. 

A11.3.4 Assets to Be Disposed of Other Than by Sale

A long-lived asset to be disposed of in any manner other than by sale should continue to be classified as held and used until the disposition actually occurs. If an entity commits to a plan of abandonment before the end of an asset's previously expected useful life, depreciation expense should be revised accordingly. Note that a temporarily idled asset is not considered to be abandoned. 

When a long-lived productive asset is to be exchanged for a similar one or is to be distributed to owners in a spinoff transaction, an impairment loss should be recognized (in addition to any other such losses that may have previously been taken) when the asset is exchanged or distributed if its carrying amount is greater than its fair value. 

A11.3.5 Effective Date of SFAS 144

Generally, SFAS No. 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001; earlier application is encouraged. Initial adoption must be as of the beginning of a fiscal year. Note that, while full restatement of previously issued annual financial statements is not allowed, prior balance sheets must be reclassified to conform to the requirements for separate reporting of long-lived assets held for sale. 

A11.3.6 Application Guidance

The following computational examples illustrate how the main provisions of SFAS No. 144 are implemented. 

Example 1. Allocation of an Impairment Loss among Long-Lived Assets 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity has tested a group of held-and-used assets for recoverability and determined that the carrying amount of the group was greater than the sum of future undiscounted cash inflows. A subsequent comparison to fair value resulted in an impairment loss of $200,000. Carrying amounts of the assets (before recognition of the loss) are as follows:

	Receivables 
	$ 200,000 

	

	

	
	

	Inventory 
	300,000 

	

	

	
	

	Long-lived asset 1 
	500,000 

	

	

	
	

	Long-lived asset 2 
	400,000 

	

	

	
	

	Long-lived asset 3 
	100,000 

	

	

	
	

	
	$1,500,000 


SOLUTION
Pursuant to SFAS No. 144, the $200,000 impairment loss would be allocated only among the long-lived assets based on relative carrying amounts. Thus, receivables and inventory are not affected by the impairment loss. Allocation of the loss is as follows:

	
	Carrying 
	
	New 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	
	Amount and 
	Allocated 
	Carrying 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	
	% of Total 
	Loss 
	Amount 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Asset 1 
	$ 500,000 (50%) 
	$(100,000) $400,000 
	

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Asset 1 
	400,000 (40%) 
	( 80,000) 320,000 
	

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Asset 3 
	100,000 (10%) 
	( 20,000) 80,000 
	

	

	

	
	
	
	

	
	$1,000,000 
	$(200,000) 
	$800,000 


Note that, even though the SFAS No. 144 impairment loss does not apply to the receivables and inventory, if the carrying values of those assets are not recoverable, they must be adjusted in accordance with their own applicable GAAP before testing for impairment under SFAS No. 144. 

Example 2. Allocation of Impairment Loss—Fair Value of an Individual Long-Lived Asset is Determinable 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 1, except that Client Entity has determined (without undue cost or effort) that the fair value of long-lived asset 1 is $440,000. 

SOLUTION
In no case may the carrying amount of an individual long-lived asset be adjusted below its fair value, if that fair value is otherwise determinable. Hence, after allocation of the $200,000 impairment loss, the carrying amount of asset 1 would be $440,000 (rather than $400,000 after allocation in Example 1). Accordingly, the unallocated $40,000 ($440,000 - $400,000) must be re-allocated entirely between long-lived assets 2 and 3, based on their relative carrying values ($320,000 and $80,000, respectively, from Example 1). Accordingly, asset 2 would be adjusted by a further $32,000 (80% x $40,000) and asset 3 would be written down by an additional $8,000 (20% x $40,000). The new adjusted carrying amounts are thus as follows:

	Asset 2 ($320,000 from Example 1 - $32,000) 
	
	$288,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	Asset 3 ($80,000 from Example 1 - $8,000) 
	72,000 
	

	

	

	
	
	

	Asset 1 (at otherwise determined fair value) 
	440,000 
	

	

	

	
	
	

	
	
	$800,000 


Observe that, in Example 1 and in Example 2, the full amount of the $200,000 impairment loss is allocated and that in both cases the aggregate carrying amount of the three long-lived assets is $800,000. 

Example 3. Estimating Future Cash Flows—Probability Assessment 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity is testing an individual long-lived asset for recoverability. Client Entity is considering two alternative courses of action regarding the asset: use it for the next 5 years and then sell it for its estimated residual value; or use it for the next 10 years at which time the asset will have no salvage or other value. If the asset is used for the ensuing 5 years, Client Entity projects net cash inflows aggregating $800,000, plus a residual value of $10,000. If the asset is utilized for the next 10 years, aggregate net cash inflows are forecasted to be $1,200.000. The probability that Client Entity will follow the first course of action (5-year use) is 70%, and the probability for the second course of action (10-year use) is 30%. 

SOLUTION
Estimated future undiscounted cash inflows are calculated using a probability-weighted approach as follows:

	Course of action 
	Future Net Cash Inflows 
	Probability Assessment 
	Probability-Weighted Net Cash Inflows 

	Use for 5 years 
	$ 810,000 
	70% 
	$567,000 

	Use for 10 years 
	1,200,000 
	30% 
	360,000 

	
	
	
	$927,000 


Based on a probability weighting, total future cash inflows are estimated to be $927,000, which is the amount used to test for recoverability. Thus, if the asset's carrying amount were more than $927,000, it would be deemed unrecoverable, which would require a further calculation of fair value to measure the impairment loss. If the carrying amount were equal to or less than $927,000, recoverability would be implied and no impairment loss would be recognized. 

Example 4. Probability Assessment of Cash Flows by Year 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity is testing a long-lived asset for recoverability. Client Entity plans to use the asset for the next three years and then abandon it (as its estimated scrap value is zero). Net cash inflows associated with the asset in each of the three years, along with the likelihood of their occurrence, are as follows:

	
	Probability of 

	Year 1 
	Realization 

	

	

	
	

	$370,000 
	50% 

	420,000 
	30% 

	460,000 
	20% 

	

	

	
	

	Year 2 
	

	

	

	
	

	$300,000 
	20% 

	320,000 
	50% 

	350,000 
	30% 

	

	

	
	

	Year 3 
	

	

	

	
	

	$150,000 
	70% 

	170,000 
	20% 

	200,000 
	10% 


SOLUTION
In accordance with the probability-weighted approach, estimated future undiscounted cash inflows would be calculated as follows:

	
	Probability-Weighted 

	Year 1 
	Net Cash Inflows 

	

	

	
	

	$370,000 x 50% 
	$185,000 

	420,000 x 30% 
	126,000 

	460,000 x 20% 
	92,000 

	
	403,000 

	

	

	
	

	Year 2 
	

	$300,000 x 20% 
	$ 60,000 

	320,000 x 50% 
	160,000 

	350,000 x 30% 
	105,000 

	
	325,000 

	

	

	
	

	Year 3 
	

	

	

	
	

	$150,000 x 70% 
	$105,000 

	170,000 x 20% 
	34,000 

	200,000 x 10% 
	20,000 

	
	159,000 

	

	

	
	

	Aggregate estimated future inflows 
	$887,000 


In testing for recoverability of the asset, aggregated estimated future cash inflows of $887,000 would be compared with the carrying amount of the asset. Observe that, under the expected cash flow approach, the amount ($887,000) differs from the sum of each year's most likely outcome of $840,000 ($370,000 + $320,000 + $150,000). 

Example 5. Using Present Value of Future Cash Flows to Determine Fair Value 
FACT
Assume that Client Entity has determined that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds the sum of future undiscounted cash inflows associated with that asset. Client Entity will establish the asset's fair value by discounting future estimated cash flows. Also assume that the asset's carrying amount is $950,000. Using the information form Example 4 concerning planned usage of the asset and the amounts and probabilities of expected net cash inflows for each of the next three years, Client Entity will discount the probability- weighted cash flows to their present value. Finally, assume that the risk-free rate is 5% for the first succeeding year; by reference to the yield curve, Client Entity estimates that the risk-free rate will be 5.5% for the second succeeding year, and 6% for the third succeeding year. 

SOLUTION
To determine fair value of the asset for purposes of measuring the impairment loss, the probability-weighted cash flows for each of the next three years are discounted at the risk-free rate, as follows:

	Year 1 
	

	

	

	
	

	Present value of $403,000 in 1 year 
	

	

	

	
	

	@5% ($403,000 x .9524) = 
	$383,817 

	

	

	
	

	Year 2 
	

	

	

	
	

	Present value of $325,000 in 2 years 
	

	

	

	
	

	@5.5% ($325,000 x .8985) = 
	292,013 

	

	

	
	

	Year 3 
	

	

	

	
	

	Present value of $159,000 in 3 years 
	

	

	

	
	

	@6% ($159,000 x .8396) = 
	133,496 

	

	

	
	

	
	$809,326 


The amount of the impairment loss is $140,674, which represents the excess of the asset's carrying amount of $950,000 over its fair value (based on the present value of future cash flows) of $809,326. Note that, as illustrated in Example 4, future probability-weighted undiscounted cash flows are used to test recoverability of the asset's carrying amount. Once it is ascertained that the carrying amount is not recoverable, an impairment loss is indicated and must be recognized. Measurement of that loss is based on the excess of the asset's carrying amount over its fair value (determined in this example by discounting projected cash flows to their present value). 

A11.4 DISCLOSURES

The following information should be disclosed: 

Assets to be held and used. A recognized impairment loss for an individual long-lived asset or for an asset group to be held and used should be included in the Statement of Activities. The following disclosures are required for the period in which an impairment loss is recorded:

· A description of the asset (or asset group) and the circumstances leading to the impairment.

· If not shown separately on the face of the Statement of Activities, the amount of the impairment loss and the caption in the Statement of Activities that includes the loss.

· The method(s) for determining fair value (i.e., based on quoted market prices, prices for similar assets, or a present value technique).

· If applicable, the segment in which the impaired asset (or group) is reported.

Assets to be disposed of. The following additional information must be disclosed covering the period in which a long-lived asset (or disposal group) has been sold or classified as held for sale:

· A description of the circumstances leading to the expected disposal, including the anticipated manner and timing of the disposal.

· Any impairment loss or gain (i.e., recovery of a previously recognized loss) and the income statement caption in which the loss (or gain) is reported.

· Identification of the segment, if applicable, in which the long-lived asset (or disposal group) is reported.

If an asset (or group) has been reclassified as held and used, disclosure should also be made of:

· The circumstances surrounding the decision not to sell the asset.

· The effect of that decision on results of operations for the current period and for all prior periods presented.

A11.5 RELATED TOPICS

Chapter A10 , PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT, AND DEPRECIATION 

Section A17 , ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
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Collections

A12.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SFAS 116 

The Guide, Chapters 5 and 7 

A12.2 Overview

Nonprofit organizations may elect to capitalize all collection items retroactively or prospectively upon implementation of SFAS 116, or not capitalize any collection items. Recognition of contributions of collection items depends on whether or not the recipient not-for-profit organization capitalizes its collections: if collections are capitalized, contributions of these items are recognized in the period received, if collections are not capitalized, contributions of these items are not recognized. 

A12.3 Measurement Principles

A12.3.1 Definition of Collection

Nonprofit organizations may hold certain items that are accounted for as a collection. A typical collection may consist of works of art, items of cultural significance, historical artifacts, scientific specimens or similar kinds of assets. The paintings, drawings and sculptures in an art museum are referred to as its collection, as are the animals in a zoo and the plants in an arboretum. In order to qualify for accounting treatment as a collection, the item or group of items must meet three criteria: 

1. The collection items are held for the benefit of the public to be used as exhibits, as educational objects, or as research specimens used in furtherance of public service, rather than for financial gain. 

2. The collection items are properly taken care of, conserved, protected, and are kept unencumbered. 

3. The nonprofit organization holding the collection items has an organizational policy that requires proceeds from the sale of collection items to be used solely for the acquisition of other collection items. 



Example 1. Collection Items Meeting Criteria 
FACTS
Assume that City Zoo asserts that its mammals, birds, fish and reptiles are its collection. The animals are on view to the public throughout the year, and are used in the zoo's educational programs. The animals are cared for by properly trained handlers, and are housed in well-designed habitats. While infrequently sold, proceeds from sales of the animals would be used to purchase other animals, often of the same species, in accordance with the zoo's policy. Much more commonly, animals are exchanged with other zoos in order to maintain and balance the collection as a whole. 

SOLUTION
The zoo's animal population meets the definition of a collection. 

Example 2. Collection Items Meeting Criteria 
FACTS
Assume City College has a group of primates used in its psychology department, which is engaged in researching the effects of touch-deprivation on infants. The animals are cared for by properly trained handlers, and are housed in well-designed habitats. While infrequently sold, the college has a policy that requires that proceeds from sales of the animals be used to purchase other animals, often of the same species. 

SOLUTION
The college's animal population meets the definition of a collection if the research is carried out in furtherance of public service rather than for financial gain. 

Example 3. Collection Items Not Meeting Criteria 
FACTS
Assume County Historical Society collects historic artifacts belonging to early settlers of the surrounding area. The objects are on view to the public and are available for educational programs by local elementary schools. No items have been sold, but the Society has a policy that would require proceeds from such sale to be used to purchase other historical artifacts. Recently, the Society decided to expand its facility and used the artifacts as collateral in a building loan. 

SOLUTION
The historical artifacts do not meet the definition of a collection because they are not kept unencumbered. 

Example 4. Collection Items Not Meeting Criteria 
FACTS
City Art Museum houses an extensive group of paintings by contemporary artists. The Museum is open to the public and frequently offers lectures and symposia on contemporary art. Curators and conservators are employed in the care, protection and preservation of the art works. Last year, under severe financial duress, the Museum sold two paintings and used the proceeds to pay employees' salaries and to make debt repayments. 

SOLUTION
The paintings do not meet the definition of a collection because the Museum does not have a policy that restricts proceeds from sales to the purchase of other collection items. 

A12.3.2 Assets Not Meeting Definition of a Collection

If a nonprofit organization has a group of items that do not meet the definition of a collection, it must capitalize these assets. Contributions of these items should be recognized as contribution revenue in the statement of activity and measured at fair value at the time the contribution is received. Purchases of these items should be recognized at cost. Appropriate provisions for depreciation expense should be made over the economic life of the items. 

A12.3.3 Capitalized Collections

Nonprofit organizations may elect to capitalize collections retroactively or prospectively. The decision to select one of these options over the other may be heavily influenced by the existence and accuracy of records relating to the collection items and the number of items held. For example, an organization that holds 100,000 scientific specimens collected over several decades for which few, if any, records on acquisition cost or fair value are kept, may find the cost of capitalizing these collection items retroactively far exceeds the perceived benefits. On the other hand, a relatively small organization that has maintained detailed records on the purchase and receipt of collection items may have readily available the information required to retroactively capitalize its collections. 

Partial capitalization is prohibited. As a result, nonprofit organizations cannot segment their collections by value or other criteria and elect to record part, but not all, of the items held. 

Retroactive Capitalization.

Retroactive capitalization results from recording the value of each collection item and reporting the total of these amounts on the statement of financial position. For practical reasons, SFAS 116 allows the following valuation methods to be used when capitalizing collection items retroactively: 

1. At the item's cost on the date it was acquired 

2. At the item's fair value on the date it was acquired 

3. At the item's current cost when capitalized 

4. At the item's current market value when capitalized 

In order to reduce the cost of retroactive capitalization, SFAS 116 further allows nonprofit organizations to value different groups of items using different measurement techniques. For example, a museum may have extensive acquisition records on certain groups of its collection items, such as those that are of relatively high value or significance. These items might be capitalized at their cost or fair value on the date of acquisition. On the other hand, the museum may have received a large number of photographs, articles of clothing, tools and toys from bequests and other unsolicited contributions. The value of these items may not have been known or recorded upon receipt. Upon capitalization, the museum might choose to value these items at their current market value. If there is a major uncertainty about the value of collection items in that they have questionable future service potential or economic benefit, the nonprofit organization may decide not to recognize these items. For example, Museum of Natural Science receives donations of preserved rodents and reptiles to use for educational and research purposes. As there is no alternative future use for these items, and as there is no market for them that would establish a fair value, the Museum has determined that such items are assigned no value for purposes of financial accounting recognition. 

The capitalized collection items should be reported as assets in the appropriate net asset class. This increase in net assets should be reported as the effect of a change in accounting principle in conformity with APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes. 

Example 5. Initial Capitalization of Collection Items 
FACTS
Assume City Science Center has valued its collections for the purpose of retroactive capitalization. Scientific specimens for which accurate records exist were valued at their cost on the date acquired, if purchased, or fair value when received, if contributed. Those items for which adequate documentation was not available were valued by appraisal. The total value of the collection was established as $4,819,000. 

SOLUTION
The recognition of the collection assets should be recorded as follows: 

	Collection 
	$4,819,000 
	

	   Effect of change in accounting principle 
	
	$4,819,000 


Prospective capitalization.

Nonprofit organizations may elect to capitalize collection items beginning with a certain date (such as upon initial implementation of SFAS 116). Collection items acquired prior to this date are not recorded as assets on the statement of financial position. Collection items acquired after this date are recorded as assets: either at cost, if purchased, or at fair value on the date received, if contributed. 

In the periods following prospective capitalization, the capitalized and noncapitalized portions of the collections would be accounted for as follows: 

Capitalized: Record all additions to the collections as an increase in Collections (purchases at cost, donations at fair value). Record proceeds from sales of capitalized collection items and insurance recoveries on these items as reductions in Collections and as a gain or loss, if applicable. 

Noncapitalized: Record proceeds from sales of noncapitalized collections and insurance recoveries on these items as a line item on the statement of activities separate from revenues, expenses, gains and losses. 

Authoritative accounting literature does not address capitalizing collections prospectively after a nonprofit organization implements SFAS 116. However, there may be certain milestones or events in an organization's life that could cause its governing board to consider prospective capitalization, such as when a collection undergoes a significant change in ownership, value, or focus. For example, assume a museum's acquisition funds and collections are controlled by a municipality or other entity not controlled by the museum. At a specific point, the owners of the collection transfer control to the museum, which immediately begins acquiring items in its own name and according to its own collecting criteria and focus. The museum may consider capitalizing the collection items it acquires after the transfer of control takes place. The authors believe that, because capitalization of collections is an encouraged activity, prospective capitalization on a date other than implementation of SFAS 116 may be appropriate. 

Purchases and contributions subsequent to capitalization.

Once the collections have been capitalized, all future purchases made and contributions received are recorded as increases in Collections. Purchases are recorded at cost and contributions are recorded at fair value when received. 

Example 6. Purchase and Receipt of Collection Items 
FACTS
Assume City Aquarium has capitalized its collections. During 1998, it purchases reptiles costing $3,000 and receives an unrestricted contribution of a rare species of turtle valued at $15,000. 

SOLUTION
The following journal entry should be made: 

	Collections 
	$18,000 
	

	   Contributions—Unrestricted 
	
	$15,000 

	   Cash 
	
	3,000 




Example 7. Contribution of Collection Items With No Value 
FACTS
Assume the Museum of Science and Art receives several pieces of antique lab equipment as a donation from a retired scientist. Upon evaluation, the museum curator determines that the equipment should be accessioned into the collection solely because of its possible interest to researchers or historians. The equipment is not suitable for display to the public and has no alternative uses, nor does any market for the equipment exist. 

SOLUTION
Whether or not the Museum capitalizes its collections, as there is a major uncertainty about the existence of value and the items have no alternative use, the Museum would not recognize this donation. 

Restricted contributions of collection items.

In some cases, contributed collection items may be restricted by the donor. These restrictions may be temporary or permanent. For example, a donor may give a rare book collection to a university with the restriction that none of the books may be sold or exchanged until after the donor's death. The contribution would be recorded as an increase in temporarily restricted net assets, and would be reclassified to unrestricted net assets upon the death of the donor. If the donor stipulated that the books could never be sold or exchanged, the contribution would be recorded as an increase in permanently restricted net assets. 

A12.3.4 Exchanges of Collection Items

Some nonprofit organizations may exchange a non-financial asset for a collection item. Exchanges of this type are measured at the fair value of the amount of asset given up (including any other consideration paid) or the fair value of the collection items (and other consideration) received, whichever is more readily determinable. In many cases, a nonprofit organization would have a reasonable assessment of the fair value of a given asset on its books. The fair value of collection items received in an exchange may not be as readily obtained. If neither of the fair values of the assets exchanged is determinable, the carrying value of the asset given up is used to record the transactions. 

Example 8. Exchange for a Collection Item—Using Fair Value of Asset Given Up 
FACTS
In 20x5, the Museum of Fine Art acquires for its collection a pair of Ming Dynasty vases in exchange for a parcel of land valued at $500,000, with a carrying value of $430,000. 

SOLUTION
Assuming the Museum has a policy of capitalizing collection items, the exchange of assets is recorded as follows: 

	Collection 
	$500,000 

	   Land 
	$430,000 

	   Gain on exchange 
	70,000 

	To record the acquistion of a collection item in a non-like-exchange. 




Example 9. Exchange for a Collection Item-Using Fair Value of Asset Received 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 8 except that the Museum is unable to determine the fair value of the land. The vases, however, has an estimated fair value of $420,000. 

SOLUTION
In this case, the fair value of the asset acquired is used to record the transaction. Assuming the Museum has a policy of capitalizing collection items, the exchange of assets is recorded as follows: 

	Collection 
	$420,000 

	Loss on exchange—Unrestricted Land 
	$10,000 

	   Land 
	$430,000 

	To record the acquistion of a collection item in a non-like-exchange. 




Example 10. Exchange for a Collection Item-Unknown Fair Value 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in the examples above, except that the Museum is unable to determine the fair value of either the land or the vases. 

SOLUTION
In this case, the carrying value of the asset given up is used to record the transaction. Assuming the Museum has a policy of capitalizing collection items, the exchange of assets is recorded as follows: 

	Collection 
	$430,000 

	   Land 
	$430,000 

	To record the acquistion of a collection item in a non-like-exchange. 


Sometimes nonprofit organizations swap collection items in exchange for other entities' collection items. These transactions, which are called “like-kind exchanges,” are recorded at the carrying value of the collection item given up unless monetary consideration is also received or paid. 

If a nonprofit organization pays monetary consideration when collection items are exchanged, the collection item acquired is recorded as follows: 

· If the carrying value of the collection item given up is less than or equal to its fair value, no gain is recognized; the collection item acquired is recorded at the carrying value of the collection item given up plus the cash paid.

· If the carrying value of the collection item given up is more than its fair value, a loss is recognized; the fair value of the collection item given up plus the cash paid is used to value the collection item received, or, if more readily determinable, the acquired item's own fair value is used.

· If the fair values of the collection items exchanged cannot be determined, no gain or loss should be recognized; the collection item acquired is recorded at the carrying value of the collection item given up plus the monetary consideration paid.

If a nonprofit organization receives monetary consideration when collection items are exchanged, the collection item acquired is recorded as follows: 

· If the carrying value of the collection item given up is equal to or less than its fair value, part of this difference (an unrecognized gain) is recognized. The recognized gain is based on the ratio of the cash consideration received to the fair value of the total consideration received in the exchange. The collection item acquired is recorded at the fair value of the collection item given up, less any deferred gain.

· If the carrying value of the collection item given up is greater than its fair value, a loss is recognized; the collection item acquired is recorded either at (a) the fair value of the collection item given up less the cash received or (b) its fair value, whichever is more readily determinable.

· If the fair values of the collection items exchanged are not reasonably determinable, no gain or loss should be recognized; the collection item acquired should be recorded at the carrying value of the collection item given up less the monetary consideration paid.



Example 11. Like-kind Exchange: No Cash Paid or Received 
FACTS
The County Historical Society acquires a group of letters and documents it believes are worth approximately $4,000 in exchange for a manuscript with a carrying value of $2,500. The manuscript was recently appraised for insurance purposes for $4,000. 

SOLUTION
The acquisition is recorded as follows: 

	Collection—letters 
	$2,500 

	     Collection—manuscript 
	$2,500 

	To record a like-kind exchange with no monetary consideration. 


Because no monetary consideration is received or paid, the collection item acquired is recorded at the carrying value of the collection item given up. 

Example 12. Like-kind Exchange: Cash Paid, No Gain or Loss 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 11, except that Historical Society pays $1,000 in cash for the letters, in addition to giving up the manuscript. 

SOLUTION
The acquisition is recorded as follows: 

	Collection—letters 
	$3,500 

	   Cash 
	$1,000 

	   Collection—manuscript 
	$2,500 

	To record a like-kind exchange with no monetary consideration. 




Example 13. Like-kind Exchange: Cash Paid and Loss Recorded 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 11, except that the Historical Society pays $1,000 in cash for the letters, in addition to giving up the manuscript, which has a carrying value of $4,500. 

SOLUTION
The acquisition is recorded as follows: 

	Collection—letters 
	$3,500 

	Loss on exchange—Unrestricted 
	500 

	   Cash 
	$1,000 

	   Collection—manuscript 
	$4,500 


To record a loss on a like-kind exchange with monetary consideration paid. 

The letters acquired in this exchange are valued at the fair value of the collection item given up ($4,000) plus the cash consideration ($1,000.) The loss is equal to the difference between the fair value of the manuscript ($4,000) and its carrying value ($4,500.) 

Example 14. Like-kind Exchange: Cash Received and Gain Recorded 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 11, except that the Historical Society receives $500 in cash, in addition to the letters, in exchange for giving up the manuscript which has a carrying value of $2,500 and an appraised value of $3,500. 

SOLUTION
The acquisition is recorded as follows: 

	Cash 
	$500 

	Collection—letters 
	2,125 

	     Gain on exchange—Unrestricted 
	$125 

	     Collection—tapestry 
	$2,500 

	To record a partial gain on a like-kind exchange with monetary consideration received. 
	


The gain is computed based on the ratio of cash received to total consideration received. In this case, cash received of $500 is 12.5% ($500/($500 + $3,500) = 12.5%)of the total consideration received (using the $3,500 value of the transferred manuscript because it is more readily determinable). That 12.5% ratio is applied to the total gain implied by the terms of the transaction, which is equal to $1,000 (the difference between the fair value of the manuscript given up of $3,500 and its $2,500 carrying value). The gain to be recognized is 12.5% of $1,000, or $125. The amount to be recorded for the collection item acquired ($2,125) is equal to the implied $3,000 fair value of the letters received ($3,500 manuscript-$500 cash received) minus the deferred gain. The deferred gain is computed as follows: implied gain from above of $1,000- recognized gain from above of $125 = deferred gain of $875. Thus, the letters are recorded in an amount equal to their implied fair value of $3,000 - deferred gain from above $875 = $2,125. 

SFAS 116 requires nonprofits that hold collections to use any proceeds received from deaccessioning collection items to acquire other items for the collection. Nonprofits with significant gains resulting from sales of capitalized collection items may consider disclosing those amounts in their Statements of Activities as non-operating to emphasize their infrequent nature, as well as the fact that they are not available to fund on-going operations. 

A12.3.5 Collections Not Capitalized

Nonprofit organizations are encouraged, but not required to capitalize collections. If collections are not capitalized, contributions of such items are not recognized on the statement of activity as a contribution or on the statement of financial position as an asset. Purchases of uncapitalized collection items are recorded as decreases in net assets on the statement of activity, and proceeds from sales or insurance recoveries related to these items are recorded as increases in net assets. The cost of the purchases and the proceeds from sales or insurance recoveries should be reported on the statement of activity as a line item separate from revenues, expenses, gains, and losses. Cash flows from purchases, sales and insurance recoveries of uncapitalized collection items should be reported as investing activities on the statement of cash flows. 

A12.3.6 Donations of Collection Items

Nonprofit organizations may donate collection items to other entities. For example, a historical society may decide to donate collection items to a history museum that is better equipped to care for the items. Treatment of these donations depends on whether or not the items were capitalized. Donations of capitalized items are recorded as expenses and as decreases in Collections in the period the donation is made. The expense is measured as the fair value of the item when donated. If fair value at the time of the donation is different from the collection item's carrying amount, a gain or loss on donation should also be recognized. Contributions of noncapitalized collection items are not recognized; however, the contribution should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Example 15. Contribution of Collection Items 
FACTS
Assume City Science Center, which began capitalizing its collections two years ago, donates duplicate and excess specimens in its collections to several local high schools for use in their biology classes. In the current year, the Science Center donated capitalized specimens with a fair value of $5,000 and a $4,000 carrying amount. In addition, noncapitalized specimens valued at $6,500 were donated. 

SOLUTION
The following journal entry should be made: 

	Donation expense 
	$5,000 
	

	   Collections 
	
	$4,000 

	   Gain on donation 
	
	1,000 


The notes to the financial statements would describe the donation of the noncapitalized items. 

Recognition requirements for capitalized collection items are summarized as follows: 

	Event 
	Account Debited 
	Account Credited 

	Recognition of accumulated collections by organizations electing retroactive capitization 
	Collections 
	Increase in net assets: increase related to contributed collection items may be classified as increases in temporarily restricted or permanently restricted net assets, depending on donor designations made when contribution was received. 

	

	

	Purchases and other acquisitions (other tnan those received as contributions) 
	Collection 
	Cash or accounts payable for purchased items, which are recorded at cost. Collection, if one item was exchanged for another. Such exchanges may result in gains or losses. 

	

	

	Receipt of contributed collection items 
	Collection 
	Contribution revenue. May increase temporarily restricted or permanently restricted or permanently restricted net assets, depending on donor designations made when contribution was received. 

	

	

	Deaccessions—donations of collection items to other entities 
	Contribution expense 
	Collection 

	

	

	Deaccessions—other than contributions 
	Cash or accounts receivable if items are sold. Collection if one item was exchanged for another. Such exchanges may result in gains or losses. 
	Collection 

	

	

	Other: impairments and losses 
	Impairment or other loss, which may decrease unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted net assets, depending on unsatisfied donor stipulations. 
	Collection 


Recognition requirements for collection items that are not capitalized are summarized as follows: 

	Event 
	Account Debited 
	Account Credited 

	Purchases and other acquisitions (other than those received as contributions) 
	Purchased collection items (shown on Statement of Activities as a line separate from revenues, expenses, gains, and losses) 
	Cash or accounts payable. 

	

	

	Reciept of contributed collection items 
	Not recorded 
	Not recorded 

	

	

	Deaccessions—donations of collection items to other entities 
	Not recorded 
	Not recorded 

	

	

	Deaccessions—other than contributions 
	Cash or accounts receivable if items are sold 
	Proceeds from collection items(shown on Statement of Activities as a line separate from revenues, expenses, gain, and losses). 

	

	

	Other: impairments and losses 
	Not recorded 
	Not recorded 


A12.4 Disclosures

The following disclosures are required of a nonprofit organization that either does not recognize and capitalize its collections or capitalizes prospectively: 

If the organization does not recognize and capitalize contributed collection items, the following must be reported on the face of the organization's statement of activities separate from revenues, expenses, gains and losses:

· Costs of collection items purchased, as a decrease in the appropriate class of net assets

· Proceeds from sale of collection items, as an increase in the appropriate class of net assets

· Proceeds from insurance recoveries of lost or destroyed collection items, as an increase in the appropriate class of net assets

If the organization capitalizes contributed collection items prospectively, proceeds from sales and insurance recoveries of items not previously capitalized must be reported separately from revenues, expenses, gains, or losses. 

In both cases, the following must be disclosed:

· Description of the organization's collections, including their relative significance

· Accounting policies for collections

· Stewardship policies for collections

· If collection items are not capitalized and are deaccessed during the period, either a description of the items given away, damaged, destroyed, lost or otherwise deaccessed, or fair value of deaccessions

A line-item must be shown on the face of the statement of financial position, referring to the above disclosures. If collections are capitalized prospectively, that line-item must be dated, with the effective date for capitalization. 

A12.5 Related Topics

Chapter A3 , CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 
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Other Non-Current Assets

A13.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

ARB 43, Chapter 5 

APB Opinions 6 and 17 

AICPA Interpretation of APB Opinion 17 

FASB Interpretation 9 

SOP 98-5 

The Guide, Chapter 7 

A13.2 Overview

The cost of an intangible asset acquired prior to November 1, 1970 should not be amortized if it has no evident limited life, or should be amortized by systematic charges over the period benefitted if it has a limited life. The cost of an intangible asset acquired subsequent to October 31, 1970 should be amortized over its estimated useful life, but not exceeding 40 years. The costs of developing, maintaining, or restoring intangible assets that are not specifically identifiable should be recorded as expenses when incurred. 

A13.3 Measurement Principles

A13.3.1 Types of Assets

Following are the most common types of intangible and other assets:

· Goodwill

· Patents

· Trademarks

· Copyrights

· Licenses

· Franchises

· Memberships

· Operating rights

· Debt issue costs

· Cash surrender value of life insurance

A13.3.2 General Requirements

In general, intangible assets acquired (or internally developed) after October 31, 1970 should be amortized into income over their estimated useful lives. The period of amortization should not, however, exceed 40 years. The straight-line method should be used unless another method is more appropriate. Factors that should be considered in estimating the useful lives of assets are:

· Legal, regulatory, or contractual provisions that may limit the maximum useful life

· Provisions for renewal or extension that may alter a specified limit on useful life

· Effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors that may reduce a useful life

· A useful life that may parallel the service life expectancies of individuals or groups of employees

· Expected actions of competitors and others that may restrict present competitive advantages

· An apparently unlimited useful life that may in fact be indefinite and for which benefits cannot be reasonably projected

· An intangible asset that may be a composite of many individual factors with varying effective lives

Intangible assets acquired prior to November 1, 1970 should be amortized into income over the period benefitted, as in the case of other assets having a limited period of usefulness. They need not be amortized if they do not have limited lives. 

When the value of an intangible asset has decreased or the period to be benefitted changes, the amortization period and amount should be changed accordingly. When an intangible asset becomes worthless, it should be written off in the period in which it is discovered. 

The cost of an intangible asset is measured by (1) the cash paid, (2) the fair value of other assets distributed, (3) the present value of amounts to be paid for liabilities incurred, or (4) the fair value of consideration received for stock issued. Costs of developing, maintaining, or restoring intangible assets that (1) are not specifically verifiable, (2) have indeterminate lives, or (3) are inherent in the continuous business process and related to the company as a whole should be expensed when incurred. 

The cost of intangible assets acquired as a group is computed as the difference between the cost of the group assets and the total of the assigned costs to identifiable assets. 

A13.3.3 Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights, Licenses, Franchises

All of these and other similar assets should be amortized over their useful lives, but not exceeding 40 years. Note that legal fees and other costs to defend these assets should be capitalized only if the defense is successful; otherwise, these fees and costs should be expensed as incurred. 

A13.3.4 Debt Issue Costs

The costs of issuing bonds or other debt instruments (e.g., printing, legal, accounting, filing, promotion) should be carried as a deferred charge and amortized over the term of the debt on the effective interest method. (See Section A16 , NOTES PAYABLE, BONDS, AND OTHER DEBT.) As a practical matter, the straight-line method is most often used because it is easier to use and the results are usually not significantly different from those produced by the effective interest method. Debt issue costs should not be added to the carrying value of the debt. 

A13.3.5 Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance

Part of the premium paid on ordinary life or limited payment life insurance is not an expense, because the cash surrender value of the policy increases each year. The expense is computed as the difference between the premium paid and the increase in cash surrender value. The investment in life insurance should be reported at the realizable value (i.e., cash surrender value) at the balance sheet date. An increase in cash surrender value should be applied as an adjustment to the premium paid to determine the amount of expense (or income) to be recognized during the period. 

Example 1. Computation of Cash Surrender Value 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity pays an annual premium of $4,000 on a $250,000 policy covering its president. In 19X1, the cash value increased from $16,000 to $17,500. 

SOLUTION
The journal entry to record the premium payments is: 

	Insurance expense 
	2,500 
	

	Cash surrender value 
	1,500 
	

	   Cash 
	
	4,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record premium payment and increase in cash surrender value. 


As a practical matter, the amounts of the cash value may not be known until after the year-end. In such a case, the entire premium is usually charged to expense when paid and the following adjusting journal entry would be required: 

	Cash surrender value 
	1,500 
	

	   Insurance expense 
	
	1,500 




Example 2. Insured's Death Occurs During the Policy Period 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity's president died on October 1, 19X1, and that the premium was paid on January 1, 19X1. 

SOLUTION
The solution is calculated as follows: 

	Amount of cash received: 
	

	   Face amount of policy 
	$250,000 

	   Pro rata premium refund ($4,000 × 25%) 
	1,000 

	
	$251,000 

	

	

	
	

	Computation of cash surrender value: 
	

	   Balance at January 1, 19X1 
	$16,000 

	   Pro rata increase for 19X2 
	1,125 

	
	$17,125 


The following journal entry would be made when the proceeds are received: 

	Cash 
	251,000 
	

	   Cash surrender value 
	
	17,500 

	   Insurance expense ($4,000 × 25% − $1,500 × 25%) 
	
	625 

	   Gain on life insurance ($250,000 − $17,125) 
	
	232,875 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record life insurance proceeds. 
	
	


A13.3.6 Deferred Charges

Deferred charges is a classification often used to describe a number of different items that have debit balances. In addition to those discussed above, for the most part deferred charges include long-term prepayments. 

A13.3.7 Costs of Start-Up Activities

SOP 98-5 provides guidance concerning the costs of so-called start-up activities. For purposes of SOP 98-5, start-up activities are defined as one-time activities related to opening a new facility, introducing a new product or service, conducting business in a new territory or with a new class of customer, initiating a new process in an existing facility, or commencing some new operation. Costs of start-up activities are referred to in practice variously as preopening, preoperation, organization, and start-up costs. SOP 98-5 refers to all such costs only as start-up costs. 

Note that start-up activities do not include activities related to routine, ongoing efforts to refine, enrich, or otherwise improve the qualities of an existing product, service process, or facility; nor are activities related to a merger or acquisition or to continuing customer acquisition considered start-up activities. 

Moreover, the following costs related to start-up activities are outside the scope of SOP 98-5 and should be accounted for in accordance with other applicable authoritative pronouncements:

· Costs of acquiring or developing long-lived assets and getting them ready for use; however, the cost of using long-lived assets allocated to start-up activities (e.g., depreciation of computers used for start-up activities) is within the scope of SOP 98-5.

· Costs of acquiring intangible assets; however, the cost of using intangible assets that are allocated to start-up activities (e.g., amortization of a purchased patent during the start-up period) is within the scope of SOP 98-5.

· Costs of acquiring or producing inventory.

· Costs related to internally developed assets (e.g., internal-use software costs); however, the cost of using such assets allocated to startup activities is within the scope of SOP 98-5.

· Costs that are within the scope of SFAS No. 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs, and SFAS No. 7 1, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.
· Costs of fund raising incurred by not-for-profit organizations.

· Costs of raising capital.

· Costs of advertising.

· Costs incurred in connection with existing contracts covered by SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction—Type and Certain Production—Type Contracts.
Costs of start-up activities, including organization costs, should be charged to operations as incurred. No new disclosures are called for. Note that no inference should be drawn that costs not specifically within the scope of 98-5 should be capitalized. Such costs may be capitalized only if they otherwise qualify for capitalization under other authoritative GAAP literature. 

Note that SOP 98-5 applies as well to development-stage entities. 

Effective date of SOP 98-5

SOP 98-5 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1998, with earlier application encouraged. Restatement of previously issued financial statements is not allowed. Initial application of SOP 98-5, which should be as of the beginning of the year, should be reported as the cumulative effect of an accounting change. Pro forma effects of retroactive application are not required. 

A13.4 Disclosures

The following information should be disclosed: 

The basis of valuation. 

A description of the assets. 

The amount of amortization expense for each period presented. 

The method of amortization. 

The amortization period. 

The amount of accumulated amortization. 

A statement that amortization is not being taken on intangibles acquired prior to November 1, 1970. 

The amount of issue costs on bonds or other debt as a deferred charge, not as an addition to or deduction from any related discount or premium. 

The amount of discount or premium on long-term notes receivable, notes payable, bonds, or debt as a deduction from or addition to the face amount of the related asset or liability (not as a deferred charge or credit). For deferred charges arising due to the tax effects of timing differences (deferred taxes), separate identification of the current and noncurrent amount should be made. Classification is based on the current or noncurrent classification of the related asset or liability. A deferred charge that is not related to an asset or liability should be classified as current or noncurrent depending on the expected reversal date of the specific timing difference. 

For disclosures required in connection with a change in amortization methods or the periods of amortization, see Section E1 , ACCOUNTING CHANGES. 

A13.5 Related Topics

Chapter A4 , ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 

Chapter A16 , NOTES PAYABLE, BONDS, AND OTHER DEBT 

Chapter E1 , ACCOUNTING CHANGES 
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Contributed Services

B2.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SFAS 116 

The Guide, Chapter 5 

B2.2 Overview

Contributions of services should be recognized as contribution revenue if the services create or enhance a nonfinancial asset, or the services require and are provided by persons with specialized skills, and would typically be purchased if not donated. Generally, promises to give services are considered conditional, and are not recognized until the services are provided. Costs of soliciting contributed services is fund raising expense. 

B2.3 Measurement Principles

Many nonprofit organizations receive contributions in the form of services: actions performed by volunteers who receive no compensation for their work. In certain circumstances, these services should be recognized as contribution revenue, and as expense or as an increase in a nonfinancial asset. 

B2.3.1 Criteria for Recognition

To be recognized, contributed services must: 

(1) Create or enhance nonfinancial assets, such as buildings, equipment, leasehold improvements, playgrounds, landscaping or other types of assets, or 

(2) Require specialized skills, be provided by persons possessing these skills, and consist of tasks which normally would be purchased if not provided through donation. Specialized skills include those of accountants, architects, carpenters, doctors, electricians, lawyers, nurses, plumbers, teachers, and other professionals and craftspersons. The nonprofit's ability to pay for those services, if not donated, does not affect whether or not they should be recorded. 



Example 1. Contributed Services Meeting Definition: Creating Nonfinancial Asset 
FACTS
Assume County Historical Society is in need of major roof repairs. Donations of roofing materials and supplies are received and recorded. An appeal to its volunteer corp results in a roofing contractor agreeing to supervise the efforts of 10 individuals who will repair the roof over a weekend. The individuals have no prior experience roofing and will receive only a few hours training. County Historical Society determines, based on quotes received from renovation experts, that it would cost $3,000 in labor to repair the roof. Repairs are completed as planned. 

SOLUTION
As these services enhance a nonfinancial asset, they should be recognized as follows: 

	Building improvements 
	$3,000 
	

	   Contribution revenue 
	
	$3,000 




Example 2. Contributed Services Meeting Definition: Requiring Specialized Skills 
FACTS
Assume County Historical Society puts on an annual “Dash from the Past” 10K race as a special fundraising event. The Society's policy is to hire a medical professional to be present during the event to ensure the participants' safety as well as to give aid should a participant need medical attention. The current chair of the board of trustees is a doctor, and volunteers her services for this year's event. 

SOLUTION
As the service requires a specialized skill, is provided by an individual possessing this skill, and would need to be purchased if not provided by a volunteer, the contribution is recognized as follows: 

	Fundraising expense 
	$500 
	

	   Contribution revenue 
	
	$500 


The value of the contribution is based on amounts paid in prior years for this service. Fundraising expense is recorded because the service contributed was part of the cost of soliciting contributions. 

Example 3. Contributed Services Not Meeting Definition: Do Not Require Specialized Skills 
FACTS
Assume Hospice of Hope provides long-term care for terminally ill patients. As part of this program, local high school students contribute up to 10 hours each week visiting and talking to the patients; distributing games, books, and magazines; assisting the patients in Internet searches; and similar activities. The hospice does not pay for these or similar services. 

SOLUTION
The hospice should not recognize these contributed services. They do not create or enhance a non-financial asset, nor do they require specialized skills. In addition, the hospice normally would not pay for those services that the volunteers do not provide. 

B2.3.2 Valuation of Contributed Services

Contributed services, as with all contributions, should be recognized at fair value. 

Contributed services which create or enhance nonfinancial assets.

The fair value of services creating or enhancing nonfinancial assets may be determined as the fair value of the asset created or the fair value of the enhancement. Alternatively, the fair value of the services provided may be used to establish the fair value of the contribution. For example, if repairing, painting, and landscaping activities donated by a construction company increase the value of a property from $25,000 to $35,000, the contributed services may be recognized at $10,000, less any donated or purchased paint and supplies used in the renovation. If the construction company would have charged $9,000 in labor for these repairs, this amount may be recorded as contribution revenue if it is more readily available. 

Contributed services which require and are provided by skilled persons.

When services requiring specialized skills are contributed by those possessing those skills, the fair value of the contribution may be determined using the rates normally charged for such activities. 

Example 4. Assigning Value to Contributed Services 
FACTS
Assume an accountant donates 50 hours of accounting and tax services to a nonprofit organization. The accountant's regular billing rate for this type of work is $75 per hour. 

SOLUTION
The value of the contributed services would be calculated as the hours donated times the billing rate and recorded as follows: 

	Management and general expense 
	$3,750 
	

	   Contribution revenue 
	
	$3,750 


B2.3.3 Classification of Contributed Services

Generally, contributions of services requiring specialized skills and provided by those possessing such skills will be classified as unrestricted contribution revenue and expense. Typically, these contributions will be made in support of current period activity, and will result in program or supporting service expense. SFAS 117 states that all expenses are included in the unrestricted net asset class. On the other hand, contributions of services which create or enhance nonfinancial assets may be classified as temporarily or permanently restricted, if the asset is so classified. For example:

· If temporarily restricted equipment is enhanced, the related contributed service would be recognized at fair value as an increase in the restricted asset and as temporarily restricted contribution revenue.

· If a trained conservator restores a painting which is part of a capitalized collection and which is classified as permanently restricted, the fair value of the contributed service would be recognized as an increase permanently restricted collections and as permanently restricted contribution revenue.

B2.3.4 Contributions Precluded from Recognition

In many cases, nonprofit organizations will received contributions of services from volunteers and others which are valuable, but which do not meet the criteria for recognition as contribution revenue. Such contributions include: 

(1) Those which do not create or enhance a nonfinancial asset, 

(2) Those which do not require specialized skills, 

(3) Those provided by individuals who do not possess the specialized skills required by the task, and 

(4) Those which would not needs to be purchased by the nonprofit organization if not donated 

Specific examples of contributed services which should not be recognized include:

· Services that maintain, rather than create or enhance nonfinancial assets. For example, assume a landscape architect donates services which include the design and, installation of a comprehensive landscape project on the grounds of a nonprofit women's shelter. Members of a local senior center volunteer to water and weed the landscaping on a weekly basis. The value of the landscape architect's services would be recognized, while those of the seniors would not be.

· Services such as transporting, visiting, assisting, reading to, comforting, entertaining, or informing others. Some nonprofit organizations may use volunteers in fund raising efforts, such as putting on galas or other special events, or in asking for contributions. These activities typically would not require specialized skills, nor would they be purchased if not donated.

· Services provided by a skilled individual, such as a teacher, who is volunteering a service in which he has no specialized training, such as plumbing repairs.

While these services may not be recognized as contribution revenue, SFAS 116 encourages nonprofit organizations to describe and estimate the fair value of services that are received but that do not meet the recognition criteria. In many cases, nonmonetary information about the nature and extent of these services and the organization's dependence on them is useful. Some nonprofit organizations may want to disclose services provided, numbers of hours contributed, program outputs achieved, or amounts of contributions raised by volunteers. The fair value of these services may be estimated and disclosed, although they may not be recognized as contribution revenue. 

The costs of soliciting and obtaining contributed services, even those precluded from recognition, should be recorded as fund raising expense. 

B2.3.5 Promises to Give Services

In most cases, promises to give services are explicitly or implicitly conditional in that they depend on the availability of certain individuals. As this conditioned availability is a future and uncertain event, promises to give services should not be recognized until the services are performed. In addition, unconditional promises to give services that do not meet the recognition criteria should not be recognized. 

B2.3.6 Costs of Soliciting Contributed Services

Contributed services are contributions, even if they do not meet the recognition criteria. As such, the cost of efforts to procure time and services from volunteers should be classified as fund raising expense. In many cases, individuals other than those in the development or fundraising departments of nonprofit organizations spend time and resources soliciting volunteer time. For example, curators in a science center may ask meteorologists or other scientists to assist them in certain projects. The cost of the time and other expenses incurred in identifying, cultivating and eliciting the time of such volunteers should be classified as fundraising, rather than program, expense. Many nonprofit organizations have a volunteer coordinator, whose time may be divided between identifying, soliciting, training and overseeing volunteers. The cost of identifying and soliciting these individuals should be classified as fund raising expense. 

Example 5. Cost of Soliciting Services Not Recognized as Contributions 
FACTS
The County Aid Society is holding a rally to raise awareness of the plight of disaster victims. A mailing is sent to each member of the society to solicit volunteers to work at the event. In addition, the volunteer coordinator spends time telephoning and scheduling the volunteers once they have been identified. The services contributed cannot be recognized because they do not require specialized skills. 

SOLUTION
The Society should recognize the cost of identifying, soliciting, and scheduling the volunteers as a fund raising expense, whether or not the time contributed qualifies for recognition as a contribution. The cost of the mailing, as well as that of the volunteer coordinator's time, should be classified as follows: 

	Fundraising expense 
	xxx 
	

	   Cash, accounts payable 
	
	xxx 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the costs of soliciting contributed services. 
	
	


B2.4 Disclosures

For contributed and promised services that must be recognized, the following must be disclosed: 

Description of the programs or activities for which the services were used. 

Nature and extent of contributed services received for the period. 

Amount recognized as revenues for the period. 

Not-for-profit entities are encouraged to disclose the fair value of contributed services received but not recognized as revenues, if that is practicable. 

B2.4.1 Examples

AMERICARES FOUNDATION, INC. (2002 Annual Report) 

Contributed services and other donated equipment 
AmeriCares' services are provided by a wide variety of organizations and professionals who receive no fees or salaries, except for reimbursement of certain travel and related expenses. Those services include the following items:

	
	2002 
	2003 

	No-charge freight 
	$453,650 
	$847,847 

	Professional services 
	1,669,795 
	1,508,705 

	Other 
	357,629 
	462,898 

	Total contributed services and other donated equipment 
	$2,481,074 
	$2,819,450 


AmeriCares records as revenue the market value of the contributed services, with an equivalent amount recorded as expense. 

Save the Children Federation, Inc. (2002 Annual Report) 

During fiscal year 1999, Save the Children Federation, Inc. (SC) launched its “Do good. Mentor a Child.” campaign of public service announcements (PSAs). The campaign is intended to increase the awareness of the positive impact a mentor can have on the lives of children. SC believes that caring adults acting as mentors are among the most important influences in the successful growth of young people into adulthood. SC worked in cooperation with the Advertising Council to produce the national PSA program. Various forms of media were provided at no cost to SC. The Advertising Council has estimated the value of the donated media space, based on numerous assumptions and estimates, to be approximately $10,000 and $32,000 (unaudited) for fiscal years 2002 and 2001, respectively. The donated PSAs have not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements because of the difficulty in determining with reasonable reliability the validity of the estimates and assumptions used in the valuation. If recorded, equal amounts of revenue and expense would be reported and there would be no effect on assets, liabilities, net assets or the change in net assets. 

B2.5 Related Topics

Chapter A3 , CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 

Chapter B1 , CONTRIBUTIONS AND PROMISES TO GIVE 

Chapter B5 , PROGRAM EXPENSE 

Chapter B7 , FUNDRAISING EXPENSE 
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Exchange Transaction Revenue

B3.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SFAS 116 

SFAS 117 

Guide, Chapters 5, 10 and 12 

B3.2 Overview

Exchange transaction revenue should be recognized when earned as an increase in unrestricted net assets. 

B3.3 Measurement Principles

Exchange transactions are defined as reciprocal transfers in which each party sacrifices and receives approximately equal value. Exchange transaction revenue is earned by nonprofit organizations when they charge fees for providing services, or when they produce, sell, or deliver goods to program participants, members, students, clients, and others. Revenues should be recognized in accordance with accrual accounting principles and measured by the resulting increase in cash, accounts receivable, or other assets, or by the decrease in liabilities. 

B3.3.1 Classification of Exchange Transaction Revenue

Exchange transaction revenues, which are reciprocal in nature, should be recorded as increases in unrestricted net assets. The restricted net asset classes record the receipt of contributions with donor-imposed restrictions, as well as subsequent transactions involving donor-restricted assets. In some cases, parties to exchange transactions may place limitations on the use of the resources received by the nonprofit organization. For example, resources received from governmental entities in connection with exchange transactions may be limited to certain expenditures or for the purchase of certain assets. Those resources should be classified as unrestricted revenues and net assets, because those limitations are not donor-imposed restrictions. 

The statement of activities may include subdivisions such as “operating” and “nonoperating,” “expendable” and “nonexpendable,” or “recurring” and “nonrecurring.” Exchange transaction revenues may be recorded in one of these subdivisions within the total change in unrestricted net assets. For example, unusual or nonrecurring exchange transactions might be classified as “non-operating” or “nonrecurring” to indicate that they are not typical of the nonprofit organization's on-going activities. 

B3.3.2 Reporting Gross Amounts

With few exceptions, revenues and expenses should be reported gross on the statement of activities. Discounts which are provided on a regular basis, such as those given to members and certain financial aid for students, may be netted against gross revenues. This net revenue may be reported as a single line item on the statement of activities, or the revenue may be presented gross with the discount subtracted from it. The latter method may be used only when the discount immediately follows the related revenue on the statement of activities. 

Expenses that are directly related to certain revenues, such as cost of goods sold, may be displayed as gross revenues less gross expenses followed by a subtotal on the face of the statement of activities. 

Example 1. Expenses Shown with Related Revenues 
FACTS
Assume Greenville Community Center holds an annual rummage sale during which donated items are sold to members of the public. The Center decides to show direct costs of the event, such as tent rental, supplies, storage, and concessions, next to the revenues earned on its statement of activities. 

SOLUTION
The statement of activities might be structured as follows: 

	Support and revenues: 
	
	

	Contributions 
	
	$XXX 

	Rummage sale proceeds 
	$XXX 
	

	Costs of sale 
	(XX) 
	XX 

	Fees and other revenues 
	
	XXX 

	   Total support and revenues 
	
	$X,XXX 


B3.3.3 Distinguishing Revenues from Gains

Revenues are displayed differently from gains, which are defined as increases in net assets resulting from peripheral or incidental transactions. Some nonprofit organizations may have difficulty determining whether a given transaction results in a revenue or a gain. In general, the transaction should be compared to the organization's ongoing major or central activities. Transactions that are revenues for one organization may be gains for another. In some cases, the same types of transactions may be revenues in one situation and gains in another for a given organization. For example, sales of books in a museum gift shop should be reported as revenues if such sales are part of the museum's ongoing major or central activities. On the other hand, occasional sales of excess or out-of-date books and materials from the museum's research library would be reported as gains if such sales are peripheral or incidental transactions. 

As discussed above, revenues and expenses are reported gross on the statement of activities. Gains may be netted with losses on the statement of activities. 

B3.3.4 Distinguishing Exchange Transactions from Contributions

As defined above, exchange transactions are reciprocal in nature. Contributions are nonreciprocal in that one party to the transaction sacrifices more than it receives. Some transactions will include elements of both exchange transactions and contributions, such as when donors receive certain rights and benefits. In other situations, a resource provider may specify that benefits be provided to third parties. Depending on the complete set of facts and circumstances for each situation, transactions may be classified as contributions, exchange transactions, or a combination of the two. Following is a list of criteria the nonprofit organization might use to analyze the characteristics of a transaction and properly classify it. Transactions that fit these criteria to a greater extent imply an exchange transaction has occurred while those that fit to a lesser extent imply a contribution has been received. 

Criteria: 

(1) The extent to which the nonprofit organization asserts it is exchanging specified benefits for certain resources. 

(2) The extent to which the resource provider asserts it is exchanging certain resources for specified benefits. 

(3) The extent to which the resource provider specifies the method of delivery of the benefits provided by the nonprofit organization. 

(4) The extent to which the amount paid by the resource provider equals:

· the value of the benefits provided by the nonprofit organization, or

· the cost of the provided benefits plus a markup

(5) The extent to which the total payment made by the resource provider is based on the quantity of benefits to be provided by the nonprofit organization. 

(6) The extent to which the nonprofit organization is penalized economically for nonperformance—that is for failure to deliver the promised benefits. 

(7) The extent to which the benefits provided by the nonprofit organization are delivered to the resource provider or to those closely connected to the resource provider. 



Example 2. Transfer That Is Part Contribution, Part Exchange Transaction 
FACTS
Rosehill School receives a $5,000 contribution from a donor whose daughter attends the school. Immediately following the receipt of the contribution, the donor's daughter receives a scholarship which waives the next year's tuition of $3,500. The scholarship was not awarded based on need or merit, rather the school has a policy that all children of donors who give over a certain amount will receive scholarships for the following year. 

SOLUTION
This transaction is part exchange and part contribution, and should be recorded as follows: 

	Cash 
	$5,000 
	

	   Contribution revenue 
	
	$1,500 

	   Tuition revenue 
	
	3,500 


B3.3.5 Exchange Portion of Membership Dues

Many nonprofit organizations offer their members benefits and privileges. These benefits typically increase as the membership dues level increases. In most cases, the membership dues are a mixture of contribution and exchange transaction revenues. The exchange transaction revenue is equal to the fair value of the benefits offered to the members. Contribution revenue is measured as the difference between the total dues and the exchange transaction portion. 

In some cases, such as when a member receives a publication or free tickets to an event, the fair value of the benefit given may be determined as the amount charged others for this benefit. In other cases, the value of the benefit is more difficult to determine such as when the member receives a discount off amounts to be purchased or a pass allowing unlimited free admittance to a facility. Some nonprofit organizations estimate the number of times such benefits are used by a typical member, and compute the fair value of the benefit based on this average or typical use. 

Exchange transaction revenue is recognized as it is earned while contribution revenue is recognized when received. The exchange portion of dues revenue should be recognized over the period to which the dues relate. In some cases, dues consist of nonrefundable initiation and membership fees. If those fees are received under memberships that require future dues that will cover the cost of future benefits, the fees are recognized as revenue when receivable. If those nonrefundable initiation and membership fees themselves cover the costs of future benefits, those fees should be recognized as revenue over the life expectancy of the member paying the fees, the average membership duration, or some other appropriate time period. 

Following is a list of criteria the nonprofit organization might use to analyze the characteristics of its membership dues and properly classify them. Transactions that fit these criteria to a greater extent imply an exchange transaction, while those that fit to a lesser extent imply a contribution. 

Criteria: 

(1) The extent to which the dues request describes the dues as providing economic benefits to the member or others designated by or related to the member. 

(2) The extent to which nonmembers pay a fee for the benefits members receive free as part of their membership. 

(3) The extent to which the nonprofit organization provides services and benefits only to its members. 

(4) The extent to which the benefits are provided for a specified period, after which additional dues must be paid to obtain additional benefits. 

(5) The extent to which the dues are fully or partially refundable if the member withdraws from membership. 

(6) The extent to which membership is limited to individuals who meet certain criteria (such as being licensed members of a certain profession, or residents of a certain geographic area). 

B3.3.6 Grants and Governmental Exchange Transactions

Resources may be received from resource providers such as foundations, for-profit organizations, and others, as part of transactions called grants, awards, or scholarships. If the resource provider receives no value for the assets transferred, or if the value received is incidental to the potential public benefit from using the transferred assets, the transfers should be recognized as contribution revenue when received. If the potential public benefit is secondary to the potential direct benefit received by the resource provider in the transfer, the transaction should be classified as an exchange. For example, if a resource provider makes a grant to a nonprofit organization to fund a research project whose planning, implementation, and results remain in the nonprofit organization's control, a contribution has been made. If, on the other hand, the resource provider supplies materials to be tested in the project and retains rights to the results of the research, exchange transaction revenue has been received. 

Example 3. Classification of Grant Revenue 
FACTS
Assume the Dairy Cattle Raisers Association has a research center that conducts experiments aimed at increasing the milk productivity of certain breeds of cows. The Association receives a $10,000 grant from a pharmaceutical company to finance the costs of a clinical trial of a drug the company developed which lowers the lactose content of cow's milk. The pharmaceutical company specifies the protocol of the testing, including number and breeds of cows used, the dosage administered, and the follow-up tests. The pharmaceutical company requires a detailed report of the outcome within three weeks of the test's conclusion. 

SOLUTION
Because the results of the test have commercial value for the pharmaceutical company, the $10,000 payment is not a contribution to the Association. It should be recorded as follows: 

	Cash 
	$10,000 
	

	   Research revenue 
	
	10,000 


The Association might have recorded the $10,000 grant as deferred revenue if the project was not undertaken immediately. See the discussion of deferred revenue below. 

Some nonprofit organizations sell goods and services to governments and other organizations. Revenues received in these transactions are recognized when earned. Some governmental entities give resources to nonprofit organizations in the form of unrestricted support, which are recorded as contributions when the assets or unconditional promises to give them are received. Other kinds of transfers, such as appropriations, have unique characteristics that may make it difficult to determine their nature. The criteria listed above in the discussion on distinguishing exchange transactions from contributions may provide guidance on how to classify such transactions. 

B3.3.7 Deferred Revenue

Resources received in exchange transactions from program participants, customers, patients, students, and others in payment for programs, projects, and activities that have not yet been conducted should be recorded as deferred revenue until the earnings process is completed. For example, prepaid tuition fees for an educational program should be recognized as deferred revenue, representing the obligation to hold the program. Revenue would be earned over the class term. 

In a similar manner, advances from third parties and refunds due them for amounts previously received should be recorded as liabilities on the statement of financial position. For example, if a nonprofit organization receives an advance under a federal grant based on estimated costs of the next reporting period, it should record this advance as deferred revenue or as an advance in the liabilities section of its statement of financial position. 

B3.3.8 Expenses Incurred in Soliciting and Earning Exchange Transaction Revenue

Typically, recording exchange transactions involve two steps: the receipt of earned revenue and the recognition of expenses incurred in providing the goods and services that are given up in exchange for that revenue. For example, a museum gift shop may sell books that inform the reader about topics related to its collections. The sale of a book is recorded as exchange transaction revenue, and the amount the museum paid for the book is recorded as cost of goods sold, as follows:

	Cash 
	
	$25 
	

	
	Sales Revenue 
	
	$25 

	Cost of Goods Sold 
	
	12 
	

	
	Inventory 
	
	12 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	To record the sale of a book by the gift shop 
	


Other costs of this transaction may include the salaries of the purchasing and sales staff, the utilities and overhead of the store space, depreciation on the store fixtures, advertising, and other costs. Accounting standards require not-for-profit organizations to classify the costs related to the exchange transaction revenue as decreases in unrestricted net assets, and as either program or supporting services expense. 

Program expenses are those costs that result in the distribution of goods and services to program participants, where the goods and services provided fulfill the mission of the organization. These expenses may include program-related cost of goods sold and other program-related costs, such as materials and supplies provided to program participants or salaries of those conducting the program activities. Supporting services include management and general activities; fundraising; and other non-program functions. Examples of management and general expenses include general governance and oversight expenses incurred by the governing board and the executive director, the accounting function, and advertising costs incurred in the solicitation of earned income. 

The proper functionalization of the exchange transaction expense then depends on the nature of the goods and services provided and their relationship to the organization's mission. In many cases, exchange transaction expenses should be classified as program expense, while in others, the expenses should be included in management and general expense, or as a separate supporting service. For example, a not-for-profit organization that operates a non-program-related food service facility on its premises may include the costs of that function in management and general expense, or as a separate supporting service such as “Food Service Expenses.” 

Example 4. Program-related Expenses Incurred in Earning Exchange Transaction Revenue 
FACTS
The Friendly Farm provides programs to youth and adults that educate them on sustainable agriculture, care of farm animals, indigenous crops, and other farm-related topics. The Farm has a small gift shop that sells gardening implements, seeds, related books and periodicals, and items harvested from the facility. The shop is open year round and its net proceeds are a significant part of the Farm's operating revenues. In the current year, cost of goods sold totaled $50,000. 

SOLUTION
All of the cost of goods sold and other selling expenses are related to the Farm's programs, and should be included in program expense. The Farm can elect to show cost of goods sold immediately after the revenues from the gift shop, with a descriptive subtotal such as “Gross Margin from the Farm Store,” or it can include cost of goods sold with other program expenses. If not readily apparent on the statement of activities, the notes to the financial statements should disclose total program expense, including the program-related cost of goods. 

Example 5. Non-program-related Expenses Incurred in Earning Exchange Transaction Revenue 
FACTS
Assume the same facts above for the Friendly Farm, adding that management has decided to try a new line of merchandise--model trains. The executive director of the Farm is a model train buff, and is aware that there is a lucrative business in the sale of these items. While not related to the Farm's mission, the proceeds from the sales of the trains and their related accessories are spent on the Farm's programs. 

SOLUTION
The cost of goods sold and other selling expenses related to the model trains merchandise should be functionalized as management and general expense, or as a separate supporting service. While the proceeds further the mission of the Farm, the activity of selling these items does not relate to the Farm's stated purpose and on-going programs. Sales of items that are not related to the organization's exempt purpose may also give rise to unrelated business income tax (“UBIT”]. See Chapter E10, Taxation and Unrelated Business Income, for a discussion of UBIT and related issues. 

In some situations, the exchange transaction revenue does not constitute a major or central activity of the organization. When activities are incidental or peripheral to the normal ongoing operations of the organization, their related revenues and expenses may be netted together, rather than reported gross, as is required for major and central activities. For example, assume that a women's shelter complies and publishes an Internet guide to women's health resources. The project is not a typical or on-going activity for the shelter, takes only a few weeks to complete, and while sales are made for more than a year, is not updated in the following years.The proceeds from the sale of the guides may be offset against the cost of preparing and publishing them, such that only the net gains (or losses) are reported in the statement of activities. The costs of an incidental and peripheral activity are not functionalized, as they are considered to be losses rather than expenses. 

Prior to earning the exchange transaction revenue, a not-for-profit organization may incur costs to solicit that revenue. These costs arise from such activities as:

· Advertising

· Proposal preparation

· Travel costs to meet with customers to win a contract

All costs that are incurred to solicit funds other than contributions, including exchange transactions, should be classified as management and general expense. This classification rule applies even when the exchange transaction is program-related. A classification problem arises when it is difficult to determine whether certain costs were incurred to solicit the exchange transaction revenue, or whether they were incurred to enhance the program effectiveness of the activity. For example, some consider advertising as a way to increase revenues. For others, advertising is carried out in order to increase participation in the program. Care should be taken in determining the intent of the activity, as well as its results, in order to properly classify the related expense. 

Example 6. Costs to Solicit Exchange Transaction Revenues 
FACTS
The County Heart Healthy Association has developed materials that help train volunteers and others on how to provide first aid to, and assist, the victims of heart attacks. The materials are sold wholesale to other agencies and organizations for use in their programs. The materials are prepared by the Association's program staff, and are an integral and on-going part of how it accomplishes its mission. Certain costs incurred in conjunction with this activity are as follows: 

Calling on prospective customers to demonstrate the materials Advertising 

SOLUTION
The costs of calling on prospective customers to demonstrate the materials should be classified as management and general expense if the purpose of the call is to solicit or increase revenues. The advertising costs should be classified as management and general expense if the purpose of the advertising is to solicit or increase revenues. See below for a discussion of situations in which advertising costs may be classified as program expenses. 

B3.3.9 Advertising Costs

While not-for-profit organizations generally do not consider themselves to be “commercial” entities, they do expend resources of time and money to promote their mission and to encourage individuals to use their services. For example, many not-for-profit organizations regularly carry on activities that are designed to inform target audiences about their products and services, and encourage participation in their fee-based and free programs. Other not-for-profit entities use publicity to increase ticket sales and other program service revenues. Each of these types of activities fall under the heading of advertising expense, and should be recorded and disclosed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Advertising is not fund raising. Advertising solicits earned revenues, solicits or increases program participation, or enhances an audience's awareness or understanding of an organization's mission. Fundraising activities solicit contributions. See Chapter B7, Fundraising Expense, for more information on these types of expenses. 

In recording advertising expenses, not-for-profit organizations should remember that advertising is not, in itself, a separate function. Because total advertising expense is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, it must be tracked discretely in the accounting records. However, the advertising activity is usually carried out to promote either the organization's programs, or a management and general activity. As such, advertising costs are functionalized as program services or management and general expense on the Statement of Activities. As mentioned above, advertising is not fundraising, so it should never be functionalized as fundraising expense. Each solicitation should be carefully reviewed to determine its proper classification. 

Example 6. Solicitation is Fundraising 
FACTS
Escape to Freedom is a shelter for abused women and their children. It is supported largely through United Way funding, governmental and foundation grants, and contributions from the general public. Each week, a local radio station donates air time, valued at $50,000, during which the shelter runs informational spots. The script for one week's spot provides statistics on the increasing numbers of families plagued by domestic violence, and the effect of domestic violence on the lives of children. The spot closes with the tag line, "Give so that all can Escape to Freedom" and provides the address of the shelter's website. At the website, contributions may be made online, or by mailing to a post office box. 

SOLUTION
Assuming none of the value of the air time can be allocated to program expense (see Chapter F2, Accounting for Costs of Activities That Include Fundraising, for a discussion on expense allocation when fundraising is present), the activity should be recorded as fundraising expense, as follows: 

	Fundraising expense 
	$50,000 

	Contribution revenue 
	$50,000 


To record the contributed radio time used for a solicitation of contributions. 

In this example, the expense is not recorded as advertising because it was incurred to solicit a contribution, and none of the expense of the activity can be classified as program services. In a more complex situation, a not-for-profit organization may have an activity that combines program services with fundraising. 

Example 7. Solicitation is Part Fundraising and Part Advertising 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in the example above for Escape to Freedom, except that $40,000 of the costs of the activity can be allocated to program services under SOP 98-2. Assume further that the all of the costs allocated to program are determined to be advertising (as opposed to educational or other) in that the activity is intended to motivate the listener to use the shelter's services. 

SOLUTION
The activity should be recorded as part advertising expense, which is included in program services, and part fundraising, as follows: 

	Program expense 
	$40,000 

	Fundraising 
	$10,000 

	Contribution revenue 
	$50,000 


To record the contributed radio time used for program purposes and to solicit contributions. 

The $40,000 program expense should be included in total advertising costs disclosed in the shelter's notes to the financial statements. 

Example 8. Solicitation is Advertising, Included in Program Services 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 6 above for Escape to Freedom, except that the shelter has developed a new script for the weekly radio spots. This script provides domestic violence statistics and information on its effects, and closes with the tag line, "You, too, can Escape to Freedom. The shelter will protect you from harm." The final lines of the script give the address of the shelter's website and a hot line to call. 

SOLUTION
As the script is intended to motivate the listener to use the shelter's services, the activity should be recorded as advertising expense, and included in program services, as follows: 

	Program expense 
	$50,000 

	Contribution revenue 
	$50,000 


To record the contributed radio time used for program purposes. 

The $50,000 program expense should be included in total advertising costs disclosed in the shelter's notes to the financial statements. 

Some advertising may be carried out to promote an overall positive image of a specific not-for-profit organization or of an industry segment. In order to be classified as program service expense, an activity must result in the provision of goods or services to program participants in a way that furthers the organization's purpose or mission. Advertising expense that does not result in providing program services is classified as management and general expense. 

Example 9. Solicitation is Advertising, Included in Management and General Expense 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 6 above for Escape to Freedom, except that the shelter uses the donated radio spot for purposes other than fundraising or program services. In collaboration with numerous other emergency shelters in the area, Escape to Freedom develops a "Gimme Shelter" public relations campaign to create a positive image of these places of refuge in the minds of the general public. The weekly radio spot does not give information on how to access the shelter or to donate to it; rather it promotes the concept that emergency shelters are safe havens that belong in all neighborhoods. 

SOLUTION
As the script is intended to enhance the image of the shelter and organizations like it, the activity should be recorded as advertising, and included in management and general expense, as follows 

	Management and general expense 
	$50,000 

	Contribution revenue 
	$50,000 


To record the contributed radio time used for management and general purposes. 

The $50,000 management and general expense should be included in total advertising costs disclosed in the shelter's notes to the financial statements. 

As defined, advertising includes those activities that promote: 

An industry; 

An entity; 

A brand; 

A product name; or 

Specific goods or services. 

This promotional activity is carried out to: 

Create or enhance a positive entity image; 

Create or stimulate a desire to buy the entity's goods or services; or 

Create or stimulate a desire to use goods or services that are provided without charge. 

Some advertising methods used by not-for-profit organizations include informational presentations and seminars, signs, printed brochures, mailings, rack cards, billboards, web sites, printed ads, radio and television spots, Internet banner ads, and other activities that provide information about the organization's programs in order to create or stimulate a desire to participate in those programs. 

Many not-for-profit organizations use advertising to help them reach more program participants, target specific audiences, and enhance efforts that realize their mission. As such, these advertising efforts are often considered to be program expenses. In situations where no fees are charged for the programs and activities being advertised, such a classification is probably appropriate. 

On the other hand, some not-for-profit organizations use advertising to increase the number of tickets, merchandise, or other revenue-generating items sold. Accounting literature clearly addresses the classification of advertising and other costs that solicit exchange transaction revenues, whether or not the exchange transaction activity is related to the organization's programs. These expenses should be classified as management and general expense, as in the example above. While the advertising may increase program participation, if its intended purpose is to solicit earned revenues, it is a management and general expense. 

Less clear is the accounting for advertising costs that are incurred in connection with an activity that has earned revenue, but whose purpose may be other than to solicit that revenue. Some believe that there is a rebuttable presumption that, if earned revenue is present, advertising is always carried out, at least in part, to solicit that revenue. Others believe that advertising has many purposes in the not-for-profit industry, and that a primary purpose is to increase program participation, whether or not a fee is charged for that particular program. Proper classification of advertising costs requires an understanding of the purpose of the advertising and what it was expected to accomplish. Some factors to consider in determining the purpose of the advertising include:

· Whether or not advertising is done at similar levels for the same or similar programs that are offered at no cost. If advertising is carried out for all programs, regardless of fee income, one could assume that the advertising was carried on to increase program participation. For example, a symphony association may hold concerts that are free to the public, as well as performances that earn ticket revenue. If advertising is carried on to scale for both types of events, one could infer that the purpose of the advertising was to elicit and increase attendance to the concerts, rather than to earn ticket revenue.

· Whether the fee is nominal, and does little to cover the cost of the activity, or more than covers those costs. If the activity is a significant source of revenue for the organization, one could assume that advertising was carried out to enhance or maintain that revenue stream.

· Whether the fee is used as a method of tracking the participants or as a tool to secure their participation. Some not-for-profit organizations have found that some programs are not considered to be as worthwhile to participants if they are provided for free. Other not-for-profit entities use fees as a way to capture data about the participants in order to communicate with them about other program opportunities, or for fundraising purposes. To the extent that the fee is used for some purpose other than to provide earned revenue from the program or activity, the associated advertising expenses were most likely not expended in an effort to solicit earned revenue.

· Whether the cost of the advertising is significant in relation to the revenue earned. If the advertising costs are more than the revenues received from the activity, they were most likely incurred to increase program participation, rather than to earn that revenue.

· Whether the advertising is developed, monitored, and modified by the program staff or by in-house or contract marketing personnel. Advertising carried out under the direction of program personnel is probably focused on increasing participation in the program rather than earning revenue.

· Whether the advertising efforts are intended to, and do, increase the amounts of goods and services distributed to program participants. If the advertising increases sales of high-dollar tickets, but the number of persons attending the program remains the same, the advertising was probably carried out in an effort to increase the revenue earned from the program. For example, a zoo may offer week-long children's programs during the summer months, for which it charges tuition on a sliding scale. If advertising were targeted to those zip codes whose households can afford to pay most or all of the tuition, the advertising activity would appear to be carried on to increase the earned revenue.

No matter how classified, advertising expense should be expensed as incurred, or in the period that the advertising takes place. An exception to this rule occurs with direct-response advertising that is expected to result in future benefits. If the not-for-profit organization can demonstrate that customers responded to a specific advertisement, and it anticipates profitable sales of merchandise or services in response to the advertising activity, the advertising costs should be capitalized and recognized over the periods benefited. 

In general, it is not easy to determine whether a specific program participant responded to a specific advertisement. Some not-for-profit organizations may use coded order forms or specific post office boxes that track responses to each advertising solicitation. Others may ask program participants to fill out enrollment forms or response cards that are used to determine which advertising effort motivated them to participate. Use of the internet to solicit responses may result in easier ways to specifically track participant identity and participation. 

A not-for-profit organization may also find it difficult to determine whether or not it will have profitable sales of merchandise or services as a result of the advertising campaign. Results from prior advertising campaigns, if tracked, may form a basis for estimates of future benefits of a planned or currently implemented advertising effort. For each advertising effort, the organization should weigh the impact of factors such as:

· The demographics of the target audience;

· The methods used to reach the audience;

· The product or service advertised; and

· The economic conditions at the time the advertisement campaign is launched.



Example 10. Capitalization of Direct-response Advertising 
FACTS
Assume the Fletcher County Fair Association conducts numerous programs throughout the year, including a series of concerts and an annual farm and live-stock fair. The purpose of the Association is to promote good farm management practices, as well as to provide a venue for livestock competitions, educational programs, and family-oriented recreation. Each year, during the fair, the Association sells season tickets a concert series held the following year. Advertising costs for the concert series are $100,000 each year, all of which is expended during the three weeks of the fair. Approximately 75% of the concert tickets are sold at the fair: other tickets are purchased at the door or are provided gratis to schools and other educational organizations. Historically, the concert series revenues have exceeded all expenses, including advertising, by $50,000. 

SOLUTION
The Association's advertising activities meet the criteria for capitalization as direct-response advertising. It can demonstrate that specific customers responded to a specific advertising campaign, and that the advertised activity has future economic benefits. The advertising expenses should be recorded as follows: 

	Capitalized advertising costs 
	$100,000 

	   Cash, accounts payable, etc. 
	$100,000 

	To record direct-response advertising expenses. 


The capitalized advertising costs should be expensed in the following year as concerts are presented. Assuming there are 10 concerts in total, the following entry would be made after each concert:

	Advertising expense 
	$10,000 

	   Capitalized advertising costs 
	$10,000 

	To expense one tenth of the capitalized advertising costs related to the concert series. 


The advertising expense in the example above should be classified as management and general expense unless the Association can demonstrate that it was carried out for a purpose other than to solicit earned revenue. 

Some nonprofit organizations conduct multiple advertising campaigns whose benefits cross over multiple years. The costs of each direct response advertising campaign should be recorded in separate cost pools, that is, tracked in separate subsidiary ledgers or sub-accounts. At the end of each year, the probable remaining future net revenues expected to result directly from each direct response advertising campaign are estimated. Future net revenues are defined as the expected gross revenues less cost of goods sold, sales commissions, and payroll costs related to those future revenues. The costs in each pool are amortized using the ratio of current period net revenues from that campaign compared to current undiscounted estimated future net revenues attributable to that campaign. Because the undiscounted estimated future net revenues change over time, the ratio used to amortize the unamortized advertising costs in each cost pool should be recalculated each year. In this way, changes in the ratio are accounted for in the current and future periods. At the end of a year, if the unamortized balance in any cost pool exceeds the remaining future net revenues from the related campaign, the excess should be written off as advertising expense in that year. The unamortized balance in a cost pool cannot be adjusted upward if subsequent estimates of future net revenues increase. Example 12 illustrates how to account for capitalized direct response advertising cost pools. 

Example 11. Amortizing Direct Response Advertising Costs Over Multiple Periods 
Assume the Society of Sailors (SOS) launches an advertising campaign that meets the definition of direct response advertising. The campaign consists of an announcement on SOS's Web site for an underwater excavation of a Civil War era sailing vessel. For a fee, participants can join a series of dives, be part of a documentary filmed during the excavation, and attend lectures given by experts in this field. Participants respond to the advertisement by sending a message to a specific email address. The direct response advertising costs incurred in 20x1 are $50,000. SOS computes $500,000 in estimated future net revenues from the activity (by subtracting the $50,000 of direct response advertising costs plus $600,000 of other estimated future expenses from total estimated revenues of $1,150,000) that will be earned in years 20x2, 20x3, and 20x4. Actual revenues and expenses for the program in those years are as follows:

	Year 
	Actual Annual Net Revenues 
	Projected Future net Revenues at Year End 
	Amortization of $50,000 Direct Response Advertising Expense 

	20x1 
	$0 
	$500,000 (total projected revenues of $1,150,000 less total projected expenses of $650,000) 
	$0—advertised activity has not yet begun. 

	20x2 
	$350,000 
	$300,000 (remaining projected revenues as of December 31, 20x2 of $700,000 less remaining projected expenses of $400,000) 
	$26,923 ($50,000 x ($350,000 current period net revenue/($350,000 current period net revenue +$300,000 future net revenues)) 

	20x3 
	$150,000 
	$250,000 (remaining projected revenues as of December 31, 20x3 of $350,000 less remaining projected expenses of $100,000) 
	$8,653 ($50,000–$26,923 accumulated amortization) x ($150,000 current period net revenue/($150,000 current period net revenue + $250,000 future net revenues) 

	20x4 
	$250,000 
	No future net revenues: program is complete. 
	$14,424 ($50,000–($26,923 + $8,653) accumulated amortization) x ($250,000 current period net revenue/($250,000 current period net revenue + $0 future net revenues) 


This activity meets the definition of direct response advertising because SOS can demonstrate that (a) specific participants responded to a specific advertisement and (b) anticipated future revenues exceed the related costs of the activity. As a result, the museum capitalizes the $50,000 of advertising costs in a cost pool. This cost pool is amortized as follows:

	20x1 

	
	Capitalized direct response advertising 
	$50,000 

	
	     Cash 
	$50,000 

	
	To record direct response advertising related to deep—sea program 
	


No amortization is needed because the activity benefited by the direct response advertising occurs over the following three next years.

	20x2 (see calculations above) 

	
	Advertising expense 
	$26,923 

	
	     Accumulated amortization—advertising 
	$26,923 

	
	To record the amorization of capitalized direct response advertising 
	


	20x3 (see calculations above) 

	
	Advertising expense 
	$8,653 

	
	     Accumulated amortization—advertising 
	$8,653 

	
	To record the amorization of capitalized direct response advertising 
	


	20x4 (see calculations above) 

	
	Advertising expense 
	$14,424 

	
	     Accumulated amortization—advertising 
	$14,424 

	
	To record the amorization of capitalized direct response advertising 
	

	
	Accumulated amortization—advertising 
	$50,000 

	
	     Capitalized direct response advertising 
	$50,000 

	
	To close fully amortized capitalized advertising account 
	


If the not-for-profit organization is not able to establish that the advertised activity will have future economic benefits, advertising costs should be expensed as incurred or when the first advertisement is placed. If, after the fact, a not-for-profit organization discovers that a particular advertising campaign did result in future economic benefits, it is not permitted to capitalize advertising costs retroactively. 

If the products or services advertised are provided without cost, or will not result in revenues in excess of the related costs of sale, the advertising expense should be recognized when incurred or in the period in which the first ad is placed. Not-for-profit organizations should disclose total advertising costs for all periods presented. 

B3.4 Disclosures

Requirements related to the display of exchange transaction revenue are discussed above. Otherwise, there are no specific disclosure requirements. 

B3.4.1 Examples

AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY (2001 Annual Report) 

Exchange Transactions 
Exchange transactions are reciprocal transfers in which each party receives and sacrifices something of equal value, as opposed to a nonreciprocal transaction (i.e., a contribution) in which a donor provides resources to support the Society's mission and expects to receive nothing of direct value in exchange. Costs of exchange transactions that benefit only the recipient of the exchange and are not directly related to the Society's mission are reported as exchange expenses. Costs related to exchange transactions that directly benefit or support the Society's mission are included with the Society's program or supporting service expenses. 

For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2002, the Society reported the following exchange transactions (in thousands): 

	
	Exchange Revenues 
	Exchange Expenses 
	Program or Supporting Services Expenses 

	Special events 
	$57,162 
	$57,162 
	$— 

	Contributed merchandise: 
	
	
	

	   Sales 
	26,776 
	26,776 
	— 

	   Selling and administration 
	— 
	13,360 
	— 

	Sales to third parties 
	8,272 
	2,275 
	4,898 

	Royalty income 
	7,305 
	499 
	— 

	Program service fees 
	3,847 
	32 
	2,001 

	Rental activities 
	1,085 
	205 
	153 

	
	$104,447 
	$100,309 
	$7,052 


Benefits Purchased by Donors at Special Events 

The Society conducts special events in which a portion of the gross proceeds paid by the participant represents payment for the direct cost of the benefits received by the participant at the event. Unless a verifiable, objective means exists to demonstrate otherwise, the fair value of meals and entertainment provided at special events is measured at the actual cost to the Society. The direct cost of the special events which ultimately benefit the donor rather than the Society are recorded as exchange transaction revenue and exchange transaction expense. All proceeds received in excess of the direct costs are recorded as contributions in the accompanying statement of activities. In fiscal combined year 2002, the Society reported special events support of $340,083,000 and exchange transaction revenue and exchange transaction expense attributable to special events of $57,162,000. 

Sales of Donated Merchandise 

The Society operates Discovery Shops and Cars for a Cure programs where donations of used clothing, automobiles, and other merchandise are solicited from the public. The Society sells this donated merchandise to generate cash, which can then be used to support the Society's programs. In fiscal year 2002, the Society recorded $33,367,000 as merchandise and other in-kind contributions in the accompanying statement of activities. Sales and the corresponding cost of sales of contributed merchandise of $26,776,000 were recorded as exchange transaction revenue and exchange transaction expense attributable to contributed merchandise. Selling and administration expenses incurred to operate the Discovery Shop and Cars for a Cure programs of $13,360,000 were also recorded as exchange transaction expense. Net cash proceeds realized for use in the Society's programs from the Discovery Shop and Cars for a Cure programs were $13,446,000. 

The Society received over 36,000 cosmetic kits with an estimated fair value of $5,755,000 which were donated by the Cosmetic, Toiletry, and Fragrance Association for use in the Look Good Feel Better quality of life program. The kits are provided to chemotherapy patients along with training in the proper application of cosmetics and wigs. 

B3.5 Related Topics

Chapter A4 , ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE
Chapter B1 , CONTRIBUTIONS AND PROMISES TO GIVE 
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Program Expenses

B5.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SFASs 14 and 117 

The Guide, Chapter 13 

B5.2 Overview

Expenses should be reported by their functional classification in either a statement of activities or in the notes to the financial statements. Functional classifications include major classes of program services and supporting services. Program services costs are the cost of those activities that are carried out to provide mission-related goods and services to the nonprofit organization's program participants, beneficiaries, or members. 

B5.3 Measurement Principles

B5.3.1 Definition of Program Services

Program service activities encompass the purposes or mission for which the nonprofit organization exists; they are the major outputs of the organization. Typically, an organization will have several major programs. SFAS 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations, allows nonprofit organizations to define their major programs and to determine the level at which costs of those programs will be aggregated and disclosed. For example, two organizations may have health and fitness programs for boys and girls. One of these organizations may choose to define its major programs as “health programs” and “fitness programs,” while the other organization may define its major programs as “boys' programs” and “girls' programs.” This latitude allows organizations to report in ways meaningful to each, presenting information that best describes service efforts and is consistent with internal information systems. 

B5.3.2 Examples of Typical Programs

Following are examples of typical programs for certain types of nonprofit organizations.

· Higher Education Programs: student instruction and services, research, public programs, academic support

· Health and Welfare Programs: health or family services, research, prevention, detection and treatment, patient services, public education, general relief, disaster relief

· Cultural Programs: exhibits, performances, productions, community outreach, library, education, curatorial, collections

· Association Programs: membership activities, education, public programs

· Religious Programs: worship services, community outreach, missionary activities, music, children, youth and adult education

· Federated Fundraising Programs: grants and contributions to other organizations

B5.3.3 Classification and Display of Program Expense

All expenses are classified as reductions in unrestricted net assets. When expenses are incurred that meet donor restrictions, amounts are reclassified from temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net assets to indicate the source of funding of these activities. 

Nonprofit organizations should provide information about their programs in the financial statements, including a discussion of the nature of the organization's activities and a description of each of the major programs. Notes to the financial statements should disclose total program expense if this total is not evident from the details on the statement of activities. 

The number of programs reported by nonprofit organizations will vary according to the nature of the activities performed. Some organizations may report on a single, integrated program. In many cases, however, several separate activities are carried on, and the expenses for each should be reported by the kind of service provided. 

SFAS 117 specifies that expenses should be reported by major classes of programs. In determining which services are major programs, nonprofit organizations may consider the guidance in SFAS 14, Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise. This statement applies only to for-profit organizations; however, certain of its guidelines may be helpful in determining numbers and types of programs to disclose. For example, paragraph 11 of that statement indicates that major classes of programs should be determined by: 

(a) Identifying the services provided and activities undertaken, 

(b) Grouping those services by function (i.e., program and supporting services), and 

(c) Selecting those functions that are significant to the organization as a whole. 

Cost may not be the only measure of what makes up a major program. For example, an organization may have a low-cost, highly effective program that reaches large numbers of program participants. The same organization may have one or a few very costly programs that benefit relatively few participants. Major programs may be determined based on relative numbers of participants served or dollars spent, or other measures of program effectiveness and accomplishments. 

Each type of nonprofit organization will have programs that differ from other types of nonprofits, and organizations within each type may have programs that differ from those of the same type. For example, a women's shelter and a food bank are both health and welfare organizations, but their programs differ. The women's shelter may offer counseling, legal, and job location services, while the food bank programs focus on the procurement and distribution of food and other consumables. In addition, nonprofits involved in the same activities may report their programs differently. One organization that provides services to at-risk youths may classify its programs based on the type of activity offered (after-school programs, weekend programs), while another may classify activities based on the age or sex of the individuals helped. 

Not-for-profits may enhance information about programs by disclosing the interrelationships of program expenses and their related revenues. For example, a museum might report expenses of special exhibits with revenues from contributions received and fees charged for that exhibit. Related nonmonetary information about program costs and results may also be meaningful to financial statement readers: for example, numbers of visitors to museums, zoos, and other cultural organizations; numbers of applications, acceptances and admissions to educational programs; numbers of individuals counseled, placed in jobs, relocated, fed, or helped by social service organizations. Generally, this information would be reported as supplementary information or as part of management's comments in annual reports. 

B5.3.4 Allocation of Expenses Related to More Than One Function

Some expenses relate to more than one program or supporting activity. For example:

· The president or executive director of the organization may be active in programming, in fundraising, and in management and general activities. A proportionate amount of the cost incurred (salary and benefits) performing these activities should be allocated to each.

· The organization's owned or rented facility may be used for programs, for fundraising, and for management and general activities. A proportionate amount of the building cost incurred (utilities, depreciation or rent, insurance, custodial, and maintenance) should be allocated to each activity. If possible, expenses should be directly identified and assigned to the functions for which they were incurred. In some cases, this is a straightforward process, such as when one employee works solely on one program activity. The salary and benefits paid to and other costs incurred by that employee would be assigned to that program. Frequently, however, direct identification and assignment of costs is not possible or practical. In these cases, the expenses should be allocated among the programs and supporting services benefitting from the activity. Allocation techniques are common to all entities, and may be made on a variety of bases. For example, the costs of building occupancy listed above (utilities, depreciation or rent, insurance, custodial, and maintenance) may be allocated to the activities performed based on square footage occupied by each. Costs of key personnel and others who spend significant amounts of time on more than one type of activity may be allocated based on time sheets kept for representative periods during the year. Supplies, copying costs, and postage may be tracked by department and charged to that department's activities. Periodic review and revision of allocation methods and assumptions should be performed, and new allocations should be developed when there are significant changes in the nature or level of an organization's activities.



Example 1. Expense Allocations 
FACTS
Assume Dental Health Clinic provides free or low-cost dental services to low-income individuals. While many duties are performed by volunteers, the clinic has three paid staff:

· Dentist A spends all her time providing dental services to program participants.

· Hygienist B spends 80% of her time providing dental services to program participants and 20% of her time with administrative duties.

· Executive Director C spends 30% of her time providing services to program participants, 50% of her time on administrative matters, and 20% of her time on fundraising.

The clinic is housed in a 1,000-square-foot facility, 800 square feet of which is treatment rooms and waiting areas, while 200 square feet is used for administration. 

SOLUTION
Costs of operating the clinic should be functionalized as follows:

· Program: Salaries, benefits, and personnel-related expenses: 100% of Dentist A, 80% of Hygienist B, 30% of Executive Director C, 80% of facility costs (depreciation or rent, insurance, custodial and maintenance)

· Management and General: Salaries, benefits, and personnel-related expenses: 20% of Hygienist B, 50% of Executive Director C, 20% of facility costs (depreciation or rent, utilities, insurance, custodial and maintenance)

· Fundraising: Salaries, benefits, and personnel-related expenses: 20% of Executive Director C

	Cost Driver 
	Salary and
Benefits 
	Allocated
to Program 
	Allocated
to
Management
and General 
	Allocated
to
Fundraising 

	Dentist A 
	$125,000 
	$125,000 
	None 
	None 

	Hygienist B 
	$40,000 
	$32,000 
	$8,000 
	None 

	
	
	($40,000 × 80%) 
	($40,000 × 20%) 
	

	Executive 
	$60,000 
	$18,000 
	$30,000 
	$12,000 

	Director C 
	
	($60,000 × 30%) 
	($60,000 × 50%) 
	($60,000 × 20%) 

	Facility 
	$20,000 
	$16,000 
	$4,000 
	None 

	
	
	($20,000 × 80%) 
	($20,000 × 20%) 
	

	Total Allocated
Cost 
	$245,000 
	$191,000 
	$42,000 
	$12,000 


Other costs, such as materials and supplies, should be directly traced to cost functions to the extent possible, with the remainder reasonably allocated among the related functions. 

B5.3.5 Functionalization of Cost of Goods Sold, Exchange Transaction Expense, and Other Expenses

In determining how to record cost of goods sold and other exchange transaction expense, the nonprofit organization must first determine if the related activity is major and central to the organization, or if it is peripheral and incidental. Major and central activities give rise to revenues and expenses, which must be shown gross on the statement of activities. In addition, the expenses of major and central activities must be functionalized. Peripheral and incidental activities result in gains and losses which may be netted and need not be functionalized. 

Cost of goods sold may be either program or supporting service expense. The nonprofit organization determine s the classification of the expense based on the activity conducted. For example, the cost of merchandise sold in a museum gift shop that supports the museum's mission (such as books, posters, games, cards, and other materials dealing with topics that relate to the museum's exhibits or programs) should be classified as program expense if the gift shop is a major and central activity. Costs of merchandise sold in a museum gift shop that does not support the museum's mission (such as aspirin, film, maps, and other items that have no connection to the museum's exhibits or programs) should be classified as supporting service expense. 

Some, organizations receive contributions of items for resale in their thrift stores, yard sales, raffles, auctions, or other activities. The fair value of the contribution should be recorded when received or promised. (See Chapter B1 , CONTRIBUTIONS AND PROMISES TO GIVE, for a discussion of recognition of contributions.) Any costs associated with soliciting these donations should be recorded as fundraising expense. The goods themselves should be recorded as inventory until sold, at which time their cost would decrease unrestricted net assets on the Statement of Activities. As with purchased inventory, cost of sales related to contributed merchandise may be reported as a separate function on the Statement of Activities, or it may more appropriately be recognized as program and supporting service activities. 

Cost of goods sold may be reported immediately after revenues from sales of merchandise on the Statement of Activities, followed by a subtotal; reported as a separate line with other program and supporting services expenses; or allocated among the other functions. Under two of these options, nonprofit organizations may disclose cost of goods sold as a single amount on the statement of activities; however, the organization must also disclose the functional elements of cost of goods sold, if they are not clear from the description on the face of the statement. 

Example 2. Alternative Presentation of Cost of Goods Sold 
FACTS
Assume County Zoo has a gift shop that sells numerous items to its visitors. Approximately 75% of these items, such as animal books and posters, are program-related, while the remaining 25% of the items, such as suntan lotion and sunglasses, are not program-related. Total gift shop revenues of $400,000 are offset by cost of goods sold of $200,000 and other gift shop expenses, such as supplies and salaries, of $100,000. 

SOLUTION
Gift shop cost of goods sold can be displayed in three different ways: 

Option 1 

Reduce gift shop sales by cost of goods sold on the Statement of Activities. 

	Revenues and support: 
	
	

	

	

	
	
	

	Contributions 
	
	$XXX,XXX 

	   Gift shop sales 
	$400,000 
	

	   Less: cost of goods sold 
	(200,000) 
	

	   Gift shop gross margin 
	
	200,000 

	   Other revenue 
	
	XX,XXX 

	     Total revenues and support 
	
	$XXX,XXX 


Under Option 1, the notes to the financial statements (or other information presented in the financial statements such as a statement of functional expense) should disclose the amount of cost of goods sold that is program expense ($200,000 × 75% = $150,000) and the amount that is a supporting service ($200,000 × 25% = $50,000). 

Option 2 

Disclose cost of goods sold as a separate function. 

	Expenses: 
	

	Program 
	$1,000,000 

	Cost of goods sold 
	200,000 

	Management and general 
	100,000 

	Fundraising 
	150,000 

	   Total expenses 
	$ 1,450,000 


Under Option 2, the notes to the financial statements (or elsewhere in the financial statements) should disclose the amount of cost of goods sold that is program expense ($200,000 × 75% = $150,000) and the amount that is a supporting service ($200,000 × 25% = $50,000). 

Option 3 

Allocate cost of goods sold to program and supporting service functions. 

	Expenses: 
	

	Program 
	$1,150,000 

	Management and general 
	150,000 

	Fundraising 
	150,000 

	   Total expenses 
	$1,450,000 


Under Option 3, program-related costs* of goods sold of $150,000 have been included in program service expense, and nonprogram-related cost of goods sold of $50,000 have been included in management and general expense. Alternatively, nonprogram. cost of sales may be included as management and general expense, as shown, or as another supporting function. 

In all three situations, other expenses of operating the gift shop, such as salaries and supplies, should be allocated 75% to program and 25% to supporting service expense on the statement of activities. 

Interest costs, including interest on a building mortgage, should be allocated to specific programs or supporting services to the extent possible. Interest not assigned to specific programs or supporting services should be classified as management and general expense. 

Costs of other exchange transactions may be classified as program or supporting service expense, depending on the activity performed. For example, in most cases, the cost of educating students in exchange for tuition would be classified as program expense for educational institutions. On the other hand, costs of renting office equipment or space to another organization typically would not qualify as a program expense for most nonprofit organizations. These costs should be classified as supporting service costs, either as part of management and general expense or in another descriptive functional classification. 

Direct costs of special events (for example, the cost of the meal, facility and equipment rental, and entertainment) may be fully or partially in support of the organization's programs. These costs may be either: 

(a) Deducted from related special event revenue, or 

(b) Displayed with other programs and supporting services, and allocated, if appropriate, among those functions. 

Special events may include both fundraising costs and costs of direct donor benefits. Costs related to each function should be captured and properly classified. 

Example 3. Special Event With Fundraising and Direct Donor Benefit Costs 
FACTS
Assume the Cotton-Growers Association holds an annual ball each year to increase its operating endowment. Tickets to the ball cost $350 per couple, of which $250 represents the fair value of the meal and $100 is a contribution. Direct donor benefits of the event, which include food, beverages, entertainment, favors, valet parking, and other costs, are $200 per couple. In 1999, 200 couples attend the ball, which in total raises $105,000 ($70,000 from ticket sales and $35,000 from contributions of goods and services). No program activities are conducted in conjunction with the event, which costs $50,000 in total. 

SOLUTION
The Cotton-Growers Association should recognize contribution revenue of $55,000 ($20,000 from ticket sales [$100 contribution portion of the ticket price × 200 couples] and $35,000 from contributions of goods and services), exchange transaction revenue of $50,000 ($250 exchange portion of the ticket price × 200 couples), direct donor benefit expense of $40,000 ($200 direct donor benefit costs × 200 couples), and fundraising expense of $10,000 ($50,000 total cost − $40,000 direct donor benefit expense). Following are several display options that could be used to report the special event on the Statement of Activities. 

	Option 1 
	

	

	

	
	

	Revenues 
	

	Special event revenue 
	$105,000 

	Less: Cost of direct donor benefits 
	40,000 

	Gross proceeds from special event 
	$65,000 

	Expenses 
	

	Fundraising expense 
	$10,000 

	

	

	
	

	Option 2 
	

	

	

	
	

	Revenues 
	

	Special event revenue 
	$105,000 

	Expenses 
	

	Cost of direct donor benefits 
	40,000 

	Fundraising expense 
	10,000 

	

	

	
	

	Option 3 
	

	

	

	
	

	Revenues 
	

	Contributions 
	$55,000 

	Dinner sales 
	50,000 

	Expenses 
	

	Cost of direct donor benefits 
	40,000 

	Fundraising expense 
	10,000 

	

	

	
	

	Option 4 
	

	

	

	
	

	Revenues 
	

	Contributions 
	$55,000 

	Ticket sales 
	$50,000 

	Less: Cost of direct donor benefits 
	40,000 

	Gross profit on special events 
	10,000 

	Expenses 
	

	Fundraising expense 
	$10,000 


If the special event included an activity other than fundraising (such as program or management and general), the nonprofit organization should follow the joint activities guidance, as discussed in Chapter F2 , ACCOUNTING FOR COSTS OF ACTIVITIES THAT INCLUDE FUNDRAISING. In those situations, under certain circumstances, the total cost of the event would be divided among the costs of direct donor benefits, fundraising expense, and the other activity. In some cases, the cost of the direct donor benefit may be in support of the other (non-fund-raising) activity, such as when a meal is provided to participants in a program. These costs should be functionalized in the related program or supporting service category either on the statement of Activities, or in the notes. As discussed previously, the cost of direct donor benefits that are not related to program or management and general activities and are provided as part of an exchange transaction should be reported in a separate supporting category. If the cost of the direct donor benefit is not related to a program or management and general function, and is incurred during a special event at which the participants do not pay to attend, the costs should be recorded as fundraising expense. 

Example 4. Special Event With Direct Donor Benefit Recorded as Program Expense 
FACTS
Assume the Kerr County Library holds a dinner for all public school teachers and administrators. Tickets are sold for $30 per person which equals the fair value of the event. The direct cost per person is $15. During the dinner, a program is presented on enhancing collaboration among educational and cultural institutions in the county. No fundraising is conducted. 

SOLUTION
The direct costs per person as well as all other costs of this event should be functionalized as program expense. See Example 3 for possible Statement of Activity formats. 

Assuming 100 people purchased tickets and attended the dinner, the Library would record the following entry: 

	Cash 
	$3,000 
	

	   Special event ticket sales 
	
	$3,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the sale of 100 tickets at $30 each. 
	
	

	

	

	
	
	

	Program expense 
	$1,500 
	

	   Accounts payable or cash 
	
	$1,500 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the cost of the dinner. 
	
	


In this example, the direct donor benefits are shown as program expense, because a program activity (and no fundraising activity) was conducted during the meal. Alternatively, as shown in Example 3 above, the costs of the direct donor benefits could be shown discretely as reductions in special events proceeds, or as a separate line. If these costs are not clearly disclosed as program expense on the statement of activities, they should be so described in the notes to the statements. 

Example 5. Special Event With Direct Donor Benefit Recorded as Separate Supporting Function 
FACTS
Assume the Kerr County Library holds a dinner for all public school teachers and administrators. Tickets are sold for $30 per person which equals the fair value of the event. The direct cost per person is $15. The dinner is intended to introduce the new librarian to the community. No program is conducted; however, the Friends of the Library make an appeal for members, volunteer time, and other donations. 

SOLUTION
The direct costs per person should be reported as a separate supporting service or deducted from the event proceeds as illustrated in Example 3 . 

Assuming 100 people purchased tickets and attended the dinner, the Library would record the following entry: 

	Cash 
	$3,000 
	

	   Special event ticket sales 
	
	$3,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the sale of 100 tickets at $30 each. 
	
	

	

	

	
	
	

	Direct donor benefits 
	$1,500 
	

	   Accounts payable or cash 
	
	$1,500 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the cost of the dinner. 
	
	


In this example, the direct donor benefits are shown as a separate function because only fundraising activities were conducted during the meal. Direct donor benefits are not fundraising expense because they are, in effect, the cost of sales in an exchange transaction where the special event attendee is purchasing a meal. Fundraising expenses are those costs incurred in solicitation of contributions. 

Example 6. Special Event With Direct Donor Benefit Recorded as Fundraising Expense 
FACTS
Assume the Kerr County Library holds a dinner for all public school teachers and administrators. The event is free, and the direct cost per person is $15. The dinner is intended to introduce the new librarian to the community. No program is conducted; however, the Friends of the Library make an appeal for members, volunteer time, and other donations. 

SOLUTION
The direct costs per person should be reported as fundraising expense. 

Assuming 100 people attended the dinner, the Library would record the following entry: 

	Fundraising expense 
	$1,500 
	

	   Accounts payable or cash 
	
	$1,500 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the cost of the dinner. 
	
	


In the final example, no exchange transaction took place, as the dinner was free to the participants. As a result, there were no direct donor benefits, because these benefits exist only when goods or services received are, in effect, purchased by the donor. Costs of obtaining volunteer time and contributed services should be classified as fundraising expense, even when the services volunteered are program-related. 

B5.3.6 Functionalization of Support to Affiliated Organizations

Some nonprofit organizations make payments or provide other services to related local, regional, or national organizations. In some cases, the organization making the payments knows or can determine how the payments will be used (for example, to. promote the organization's programs on a national level, or to conduct broad-based fundraising), while in other cases, the purpose for which the payment will be used is not known. To the extent possible, payments to affiliated organizations should be reported by their functional classification (such as program, management and general, or fundraising), even if the total amount of the payment cannot be functionalized. Payments and portions of payments that cannot be functionalized should be reported as a separate supporting service on the statement of activities, labeled “unallocated payments to affiliated organizations.” 

B5.3.7 Functionalization of Federated Fundraising Expense

Federated fundraising organizations solicit contributions, some of which are designated for other organizations, and make grants and awards to other organizations. Grants and awards made should be recognized as program expense, while costs of fundraising, including fundraising activities performed on behalf of others, should be recognized as fundraising expense. 

B5.4 Disclosures

The financial statements should provide information about program expenses. If the components of total program expenses are not evident from the details provided on the face of the Statement of Activities, the notes should disclose total program expenses and should provide information about why total program expenses disclosed in the notes does not articulate with the Statement of Activities. The financial statements should also provide a description of the nature of the entity's activities, including a description of each of its major classes of programs, either on the Statement of Activities or in the notes. 

A not-for-profit can make information about its major programs (or segments) more useful by reporting the interrelationships of program expense and program revenues. Related nonmonetary information about program inputs, outputs, and results is also helpful. In general, the only feasible way of including this in general purpose financial reports is as supplementary information. 

The Statement of Activities, or the notes, must provide information about expenses reported by their functional classification, such as major classes of program services and supporting activities. Voluntary health and welfare organizations must report this information in addition to information about expenses by their natural classification (such as salaries, rent, electricity) in a matrix format in a separate financial statement. Other not-for-profits are encouraged, but not required, to provide information about expenses by natural classification. 

Payments to affiliated organizations that cannot be allocated to functions should be treated as a separate supporting service, reported as a separate line item labeled “unallocated payments to affiliated organizations” within the Statement of Activities. If the not-for-profit incurs income tax expense, the notes should disclose the amount of the taxes and describe the nature of activities that generated the taxes. Not-for-profits incurring joint costs for informational materials and activities that include fundraising appeals should disclose in their financial statements that such costs have been allocated, the total amount allocated during the period, and the portion allocated to each functional expense category. 

B5.4.1 Examples

CARE USA (2002 Annual Report) 

A summary of program expenses by geographic religon 
For the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, are as follows (in thousands): 

	
	Cash 
	Agricultural
Commodities 
	Non-food
In-Kind 
	2001
Total 
	2000
Total 

	Africa (Sub-Saharan) 
	$89,963 
	$19,856 
	$687 
	$110,506 
	$99,854 

	Asia 
	91,986 
	62,618 
	134 
	154,738 
	148,809 

	Europe and Middle East 
	24,646 
	— 
	— 
	24,646 
	23,707 

	Latin America and Caribbean 
	77,893 
	5,012 
	3,215 
	86,120 
	93,803 

	Multi-Regional 
	15,468 
	— 
	79 
	15,547 
	13,423 

	Program Expenses 2002 
	$299,956 
	$87,486 
	$4,115 
	$391,557 
	— 

	Program Expenses 2001 
	$288,676 
	$86,679 
	$4,241 
	— 
	$409,289 


A Summary of program expensive by sector and type for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, are as follows (in thousands): 
	
	
	Types 
	
	

	

	


	
	
	
	
	Year Ended June 30 
	

	
	Emergency 
	Rehabilitation 
	Development 
	2002 
	2001 

	Agriculture and Natural Resources 
	$1,337 
	$3,522 
	$52,801 
	$57,660 
	$62,177 

	Basic and Girls' Education 
	— 
	540 
	16,810 
	17,350 
	9,937 

	Children's Health 
	— 
	478 
	15,057 
	15,535 
	21,417 

	Reproductive Health 
	1,125 
	809 
	8,227 
	10,161 
	10,847 

	Water and Sanitation 
	— 
	5,361 
	10,567 
	15,928 
	29,522 

	Integrated and Other Health 
	3,340 
	2,125 
	14,602 
	20,067 
	15,559 

	Nutritional Support 
	19,043 
	319 
	81,607 
	100,969 
	101,305 

	Infrastructure 
	— 
	6,412 
	10,880 
	17,292 
	17,103 

	Small Economic Activity Development 
	236 
	1,312 
	10,863 
	124,184 
	98,626 

	Multi-Sector and Other 
	20,325 
	13,127 
	90,732 
	124,184 
	98,626 

	Total Program Expenses by Type for 2002 
	$45,406 
	$34,005 
	$312,146 
	$391,557 
	— 

	Total Program Expenses by Type for 2001 
	$55,159 
	$38,307 
	$286,130 
	— 
	$379,596 


B5.5 Related Topics

Chapter B3 , EXCHANGE TRANSACTION REVENUE 

Chapter B6 , MANAGEMENT AND GENERAL EXPENSES 

Chapter B7 , FUNDRAISING EXPENSES 

Chapter B8 , MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 

Chapter D1 , STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
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Statement of Functional Expense

D1.1 Authoritative Pronouncements

SFASs 117 and 131 

The Guide, Chapters 3 and 13 

D1.2 Overview

Voluntary health and welfare organizations must present a statement of functional expenses which reconciles expenses listed by natural classification to the functionalized expenses reported in the financial statements. Other nonprofit organizations are encouraged, but not required, to present this statement. 

D1.3 Measurement Principles

Voluntary health and welfare organizations have long been required to prepare a matrix which presents expenses in both their natural and functional classifications. This requirement is extended by SFAS 117, which encourages other nonprofit organizations to present this specialized statement. 

The statement of functional expense gives financial statement readers a detailed look at the nature of expenses incurred, grouped by the functions that used the resources. Users can tell, for example, relative amounts of salaries compared to other types of expenses, how depreciation and other facility costs are spread among the programs and supporting services, and the exact make-up of amounts expended for fund-raising. In addition, company detailed costs between periods can give insight into how and why expenses increased or declined. Management of nonprofit organizations may find this schedule helpful when tracking broad trends in types of expenses and certain ratios. 

D1.3.1 Definition of Voluntary Health and Welfare Organization

As a group, voluntary health and welfare organizations have the following characteristics:

· Operated for purposes other than to make a profit

· Tax-exempt, because, they are organized to benefit the public

· Programs that concentrate on solving health and welfare problems of our society, as well as those of specific groups or individuals

· Derive their revenue primarily from contributions received from the general public (which excludes governmental entities)

· Contributions received are designated or restricted for general or specific purposes related to health, welfare, or community services

Examples of voluntary health and welfare organizations include those which collect and distribute food, provide shelter and services to the homeless, offer counseling and legal services to battered spouses, strive to improve the conditions of the poor, elderly, and disabled, and those that provide treatment and assistance to those afflicted with specific diseases. 

D1.3.2 Functional Classifications

Nonprofit organizations are required to present expenses classified by function on the face of the statement of activities, or in the notes to the financial statements. Functions usually fall into two broad groups: program services and supporting services.

· Program services are those activities that carry out the mission and of the nonprofit organization. Each nonprofit organization's mission-related activities should be captured in one or more descriptive program groups.

· Supporting services generally include: 

· — Management and general—those administrative, financial, and management tasks essential to the operation of the organization,

· — Fundraising—costs of soliciting contributions, and

· — Membership-development—expenses related to procuring and retaining members.

While these classifications are used by many nonprofit organizations, they are not required. Other appropriate functional classifications may be used. 

Nonprofit organizations must analyze and classify costs in two ways. First, the cost's natural classification is determined. Generally, this is an easy task, as each cost is usually readily identifiable as salary, utilities, rent, postage, or some other natural category. Second, the cost is attributed to a function. A harder task, nonprofits must determine if the cost was incurred in the furtherance of programs, fundraising, management and general, membership development, or for some other purpose. Many nonprofit organizations have charts of accounts that allow them to code expenditures on an invoice by invoice basis to both a natural and a functional classification. For example, payroll taxes paid on a museum curator's compensation would be coded as a program-related employee benefit expense. Other nonprofits base their functional classifications on the department incurring the cost. For example, all costs in the accounting department of a night shelter would be included in the management and general function. Still other nonprofit organizations accumulate costs based on their natural classification, then use overall estimates, time reports, and management's judgment to spread them among the functional classifications for external reporting purposes. 

Whatever method is used, it is important that nonprofit organizations develop and implement clear policies that enable them to classify costs in the appropriate natural and functional classifications. Users of financial statements evaluate the performance and focus of nonprofit organizations by comparing amounts spent on program, fundraising, and management and general expense to total expense, as well as to the other functional areas. Some financial statement users, such as board members, donors, or watchdog agencies, may form impressions or make decisions with far-reaching consequences about an organization based on functional expense ratios. For example, program expenses that comprise a high percentage of total expenses are indicators that the organization is channeling every available dollar to the accomplishment of its mission. This indicator may draw donor support, as well as a positive rating from a watchdog agency. A low percentage of program expenses to total expenses may signal that the organization is spending too much on its back-office functions, and not enough on its exempt activities. As a result, board members and others may look for ways to pare back non-essential administrative costs. 

An exception to the rule that program expense should make up a high percentage of total expenses is when unpaid volunteers carry out a substantial part of the nonprofit's programs. If the services contributed by volunteers do not meet the criteria for recognition (see Chapter B2, Contributed Services for a discussion of these criteria), no expense would be recognized for the time contributed, and program expense may be unusually low. 

In other situations, a nonprofit organization may have a fledgling development department, or may be in the beginning or silent phase of a capital campaign, and have unusually high fundraising expenses. Because donors and others look to see what percentage of dollars contributed are spent on raising those contributions, a high fundraising ratio may lead to a negative impression of the nonprofit's efforts. Nonprofit organizations should be cognizant of the impact those situations have on their expense totals, and be prepared to explain situations that result in higher or lower than normal amounts. 

D1.3.3 Determining “Major” Classes of Program Services

The requirement that nonprofits present a functional classification of expenses includes the suggestion that they make such classification by “major” classes of program services and supporting activities. Although nonprofits are not required to follow SFAS 131, Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, they may use that statement for guidance in deciding what constitutes “major.” The part of SFAS 131 that is relevant to nonprofits describes the quantitative thresholds for determining which operating segments to report separately. Pursuant to SFAS 131, a major segment is one that meets any of the following three thresholds: 

(1) Reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue (internal and external) of all reported operating segments. 

(2) The absolute amount of the segment's reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the greater, in absolute amount, of:

· The combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a loss, or

· The combined reported loss of all operating segments that did report a loss.

(3) Assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. 

In many situations, nonprofits do not compute a “profit” on their discrete programs and activities, nor do they measure the importance of the program based on financial metrics. This difference between nonprofit and for profit organizations makes the guidance in SFAS 131 difficult to apply and perhaps not particularly relevant. In determining the number and kinds of program services described in their external financial statements, nonprofit organizations may look to other ways to measure the impact and importance of their activities. Some methods to consider include:

· The degree to which the activity accomplishes a primary organizational objective

· The relative amounts of time spent by program staff on each activity

· The impact of the activity on the individuals or the community it serves

· The degree to which the activity addresses a particular focus of the governing board

· The relative amounts of resources, both of dollars and volunteer time, spent on each activity

Typical programs for certain kinds of nonprofit organizations include:

	Entity 
	Typical Programs 

	Museums 
	Exhibits, conservation, collection management, education, library, museum store, or by collection areas such as pre-Columbian, Old Masters, Contemporary 

	Voluntary health and welfare organizations, such as homeless shelters and clinics 
	Patient services, community health services, public health education, professional health education and training, research, or by type of activity such as treatment and prevention, education, evaluation, counseling 

	Foundations 
	Broad areas of giving, such as early childhood education, mental health, or the environment, or geographical areas, such as east Tennessee, central Tennessee, and west Tennessee 

	Churches, synagogues, temples, and other ministries 
	Education, worship services, camps, community outreach, missions, music, counseling services, or by persons served, such as children, youth, adults 

	Private schools 
	Instructional, extra-curricular, housing, or by grade level, such as pre-school, primary grades, secondary grades, and summer school 


As this table illustrates, nonprofit organizations have a high degree of flexibility when defining the numbers and types of programs to present on their financial statements. Consideration should be given to the interests of the decision-makers, such as donors and board members, using the information, as well as the practicality of tracking the information. For example, if a community center conducts daily activities for children of all ages, and each activity includes boys and girls, it may not be cost-effective to select “Boys' Programs” and “Girls' Programs” for financial statement disclosure. A better choice might be to define programs by age level, or time of year, such as ”Summer Programs” and “After School Programs.” 

After selecting classes of programs, a nonprofit organization is required to describe its mission, each program area disclosed, and how those programs further the mission. This discussion is typically provided in the notes to the financial statements, as well as on the IRS Form 990. Total program expense is disclosed, either on the face of the statement of activities, or in the notes to the statements. 

D1.3.4 Determining Classes of Supporting Services

Nonprofit activities that do not result in goods and services being distributed to beneficiaries, customers, or members are called supporting services. While necessary for the existence and operation of the nonprofit organization, supporting services do not directly provide programs or other benefits that fulfill the mission of the entity. Examples of supporting services include oversight of the entity by the governing board and higher-level management, recordkeeping, accounting, budgeting, financing, and related administrative duties, as well as soliciting contributions and monitoring members. 

While not prescribed, SFAS 117 describes three general supporting service activities — management and general, fundraising, and membership development. Most nonprofit organizations use these functional categories. See Chapters Chapter B6 , Chapter B7 and Chapter B8 for discussion of each type of supporting service and the activities they include. 

D1.3.5 Natural Classifications

Natural classifications are those that describe or relate to the specific service or item purchased, rather than how the purchase was used. Examples include salaries and wages, employee benefits, rent, utilities, depreciation, postage, supplies, fuel, repairs, travel, training, interest, and insurance. Generally, these types of classifications are used by nonprofit organizations in their budgeting process, and are tracked by accounting systems that compare budgeted to actual amounts for various time periods. 

In preparing a statement of functional expense, nonprofits analyze expenses and classify them both on a natural and a functional basis. As noted above, the expense's natural identity is often readily apparent. That is, a nonprofit organization can usually easily determine that an expenditure was made to pay salaries, rent, utilities, travel, or supplies. Classifying expenditures by function may be less obvious. Accumulating functional information is often a two-part process. 

The first, and easier task is to identify expenses that are clearly related to a single function. Easily identifiable expenses, called direct expenses, include the salaries and benefits paid to employees who work solely on one functional area, such as on a specific program, or in the accounting department. Each direct expense is captured in, or assigned to, the program or supporting service that incurred it. 

The second, more difficult task is to allocate expenses that benefit more than one function. Typically, these expenses include overhead and other costs such as utilities, janitorial services, and facility depreciation. In some cases, an employee may work in more than one functional area, such as when the executive director spends time on programs, fundraising, and management of the organization. Shared, or indirect, costs should be spread across the functions benefited in a rational, systematic way — keeping in mind the need to properly reflect the total expenses of each program and supporting service. 

The following table suggests ways certain expenses may be assigned or allocated to their related functions:

	Natural classification 
	Examples 
	Assignment/allocation to function 

	

	

	Grants 
	Donations made to other nonprofit organizations 
	Based on the purpose of the grant. Some grants are made as part of the program activity of the organization, for example, to provide funds to another organization that serves participant needs not being met by the grantor. These should be classified as program expense. Other grants are, in essence, dues to other organizations - such as annual payments to professional associations. See below for a discussion of allocation of dues payments. If grants are made to affiliates, the payment should be classified, as far as possible, in accordance with how it will be used by the affiliate. 

	

	

	Assistance to individuals 
	Scholarships, direct payments to the needy 
	If in accordance with the organization's mission, classify as program expense. 

	

	

	Compensation of officers and directors 
	Board fees, salary of executive director, treasurer, and other corporate officers 
	Allocate based on the time spent by each person in each functional area of the organization. Boards are usually occupied primarily with oversight of the entity, so related fees would be classified as management and general expense. Executive directors often cross all functional lines, and should track their time (or provide an estimate) to facilitate allocations to programs, management and general, and fundraising expense. 

	

	

	Other salaries and wages 
	Salaries and wages paid to full and part-time employees who are not officers or directors 
	Assign costs to program, management and general, or fundraising, based on the duties of the employee. Allocate costs of employees who cross over functional lines based on time reports or estimates. For example, wages paid to the executive director's secretary should be allocated to areas very similar to those of the executive director. 

	

	

	Pension plan contributions 
	Contributions to defined benefit plans, defined contribution plans, 403(b) plans, post-retirement health plans, and other. 
	Assign or allocate by person or department based on the functions identified for salaries and wages. 

	

	

	Other employee benefits 
	Health, dental, vision, life, long-term care, workers' compensation, and other insurance premiums. Employer contributions to cafeteria (Section 125) plans. 
	Assign or allocate by person or department based on the functions identified for salaries and wages. 

	

	

	Payroll taxes 
	FICA, Medicare, SUTA, and other payroll taxes 
	Assign or allocate by person or department based on the functions identified for salaries and wages. 

	

	

	Professional fundraising fees 
	Fees paid to individuals or firms to carry out mass mailings, conduct special events, or otherwise solicit contributions on behalf of the nonprofit 
	Classify as fundraising expense. 

	

	

	Accounting fees 
	Audit and tax return preparation fees paid to accounting firms 
	Classify as management and general expense. 

	

	

	Legal fees 
	Fees paid to legal counsel in connection with litigation, review of contracts, employee disputes, or overall organizational issues 
	Unless directly associated with a specific program activity or fundraising effort, classify as management and general expense. 

	

	

	Supplies 
	Copy paper, staples, post-it notes, paper clips, pencils, pens, note pads, letterhead stationary, envelopes, cleaning products, toner, file folders, and the like 
	If possible, track purchases by the individual or department that ordered and used them. Purchases of bulk items used throughout the organization may be allocated across functions based on the numbers of office workers or other users in each. Unassigned supplies should be allocated to management and general expense. 

	

	

	Telephone 
	Trunk lines, local telephone service, out of network and long-distance charges, cell phones, Internet connectivity 
	Many organizations track telephone charges by assigning user codes that identify the employee placing the call. Costs are then assigned based on that employee's duties. Unassigned costs should be allocated to management and general expense, or to all functional areas based on the numbers of telephones in each. 

	

	

	Postage and shipping 
	Stamps, costs to fund mail metering machines, fees paid to FedEx, UPS, and other courier services 
	If possible, track postage and shipping by the individual or department incurring the cost. This can be accomplished by assigning codes to mail metering users, tracking bulk purchases of stamps, or examining shipping invoices. Unassigned postage and shipping should be allocated to management and general expense. 

	

	

	Occupancy 
	Facility rent and utilities 
	Allocate based on the square footage occupied by each functional area. If program spaces are heavily used by the public, utility costs may be weighted to reflect the higher usage in those areas. 

	

	

	Equipment rental and maintenance 
	Copy and fax machine rental, maintenance contracts 
	Assign to the functional area using the equipment. If used by more than one function, allocate based on the job duties of the users. 

	

	

	Printing and publications 
	Annual report, catalogues, informational materials, membership cards, fundraising mass mailings 
	Assign to the functional area incurring the expense. For example, the annual report is usually considered a management and general expense (although it may be prepared by the development staff), museum gallery guides are assigned to program expense, pledge cards are assigned to fundraising expense. 

	

	

	Web site 
	Domain name costs, Web hosting, design and maintenance of site 
	Allocate costs based on the number of pages devoted to each functional area, or the time spent developing and maintaining each topic. For example, if the site is fairly static except for a daily update of program offerings, most of the on-going cost of hosting and maintaining the site should be assigned to program expense. 

	

	

	Travel 
	Airfares, train or bus tickets, rental cars, lodging, meals, tolls, mileage, airport and other parking 
	Assigned based on job duties of the traveler, with an eye toward the purpose of the trip. For example, board travel would ordinarily be management and general expense. If, however, the board president attended a fundraising seminar on how to encourage larger board donations, the related travel expense should be assigned to fundraising. 

	

	

	Conferences, conventions, and meetings 
	Conference registration fees, conventions and symposia held, meetings hosted 
	Costs of conferences attended should be assigned based on job duties of the attendee, with an eye toward the meeting agenda. Conferences and meetings held would typically be program expense, unless the purpose of the event was to provide general information about the organization (management and general function) or to solicit contributions (fundraising function). 

	

	

	Direct donor benefits 
	Food and beverages served to attendees at special events 
	If the attendees paid to attend the event, direct donor benefits are a separate supporting service, and may be shown as a deduction from special event revenue, or as a separate expense caption. If donors did not pay to attend the event, assign to fundraising expense. 

	

	

	Interest 
	Costs to borrow money from banks or other lending institutions, imputed interest on capital leases 
	Costs of financing are management and general expense 

	

	

	Depreciation and amortization 
	Estimated decline in value of long-lived assets, including facilities, equipment, vehicles, computers, and software 
	For facilities, allocate to the functional area occupying the space based on square footage. For other long-lived assets, assign to the function using the equipment or other asset. If used by more than one function, allocate based on the job duties of the users. 

	

	

	Consultant fees 
	Strategic planners, realtors, systems analysts, asset managers 
	Assign based on the purpose of the service provided. For example, a strategic planner hired to help the board chart a new direction for the organization should be charged to management and general expense. 

	

	

	Insurance 
	Umbrella liability coverage, casualty insurance, directors' and officers' insurance, automobile and equipment insurance, event insurance 
	Insurance purchased to cover risks to the entity as a whole should be assigned to management and general expense. Insurance covering specific risks, such as automobile insurance, should be assigned to the function using the asset or otherwise creating the risk. 

	

	

	Landscaping and grounds 
	Seasonal plantings, mowing, lighting, grounds keeping equipment and supplies 
	If the external areas of the facility are used by more than one function, allocate based on an estimate or record of that use. For example, if the area maintained is a museum's sculpture garden, the related costs should be assigned to program expense, unless the garden is also regularly used for fundraising and management and general events. 

	

	

	Janitorial 
	Cleaning and waste disposal services 
	Allocate to the functional area occupying the space based on square footage. If certain areas are heavily used by the public, janitorial costs may be more heavily weighted to reflect the higher usage in those areas. 

	

	

	Security 
	Round the clock or after-hours security services, security during special events 
	Assign based on the items or areas secured. For example, security costs of shelters for victims of domestic abuse would be charged to program expense, while security costs related to a fundraising gala would be a fundraising expense. 

	

	

	Marketing 
	Advertising, public service announcements, rack cards, Web banners 
	Assigned to the function benefited by the marketing effort. For example, costs related to the promotion of free health clinic services would be charged to program expense. See also B3.3.9 for a discussion of classification of advertising expenses. 

	

	

	Dues 
	Annual amounts paid to professional associations in exchange for member benefits 
	Assign based on the duties of the dues-paying member. For example, CPA society dues paid on behalf of the controller would be assigned to management and general expense. Overall dues paid by the organization should be assigned to the function benefiting from the membership. For example, if the dues are paid to allow program staff access to industry data, expert advice, and evaluations, they should be charged to program expense. 


All nonprofit organizations must assign natural expenses to functional classifications, but only voluntary health and welfare organizations are required to present a statement of functional expenses. While other nonprofit organizations are encouraged to present this statement, many do not. Some of the advantages and disadvantages of providing this additional disclosure are as follows:

· Advantages 

· — The statement of functional expense provides more complete information about the nature of the costs incurred and the purposes for which they were incurred. Some financial statement users may find this information helps them better understand how the organization carries out its mission, for example, by giving a sense of the numbers of people employed in each functional area.

· — The statement presents a detail of the costs incurred by each of the organization's major endeavors. For example, a financial statement user can determine the amount of fundraising expense incurred by development department employees compared to that paid to professional fundraisers.

· — The statement presents information that is provided in essentially the same format on the organization's IRS Form 990. Financial statement users wanting to see this information can access it without having to obtain a copy of the organization's tax return.

· — In many cases, the organization's board and management is more aware of, and familiar with, the external financial statements than with the Form 990. The statement of functional expense may illustrate or highlight the methods used to allocate shared costs across functions.

· Disadvantages 

· — Some organizations believe that the costs of preparing the statement of functional expense outweigh the benefits. This argument is difficult to support considering preparation of the Form 990 requires nonprofit organizations to prepare a very similar statement, which could be used as a basis for the encouraged financial statement disclosures.

· — Some organizations believe that disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles are already sufficiently complex and detailed, and that the statement of functional expense adds little value.

D1.3.6 Illustrative Statement

Following is an illustrative partial statement of activities and statement of functional expense for a food bank. 

	City Food Bank 
	

	Statement of Activities 
	

	For the Year Ended September 30, 19x9 
	

	

	

	
	

	Revenues and Support 
	$X,XXX,XXX 

	

	

	
	

	Expenses 
	

	Program Services 
	

	   Inner City 
	2,020,488 

	   Emergency Relief 
	627,009 

	   Elderly Outreach 
	533,616 

	   Total Program Services 
	3,181,113 

	

	

	
	

	Supporting Services 
	

	Management and General 
	267,248 

	Fundraising 
	106,852 

	   Total Supporting Services 
	374,100 

	

	

	
	

	Total Expenses 
	3,555,213 


	City Food Bank 

Statement of Functional Expense 

For the Year Ended September 30, 20x1 

	
	Inner City Program 
	Emergency Relief 
	Elderly Outreach 
	Total 

	Program Expense

	Salaries 
	225,042 
	80,100 
	190,408 
	495,550 

	Benefits 
	56,261 
	20,025 
	47,602 
	123,888 

	Perishable
items 
	857,584 
	140,940 
	10,128 
	1,008,652 

	Nonperishable items 
	732,789 
	333,981 
	210,234 
	1,277,004 

	Advertising 
	5,826 
	7,250 
	625 
	13,701 

	Depreciation 
	19,983 
	14,391 
	34,374 
	68,748 

	Insurance 
	19,690 
	8,250 
	1,581 
	29,521 

	Supplies 
	59,306 
	3,257 
	2,701 
	65,264 

	Travel 
	6,359 
	2,839 
	530 
	9,728 

	Utilities 
	16,896 
	12,232 
	29,218 
	58,346 

	Interest 
	681 
	
	
	681 

	Printing 
	18,246 
	2,538 
	5,355 
	26,139 

	Postage 
	197 
	628 
	187 
	1,012 

	Miscellaneous 
	1,628 
	578 
	673 
	2,879 

	Total 
	2,020,488 
	627,009 
	533,616 
	3,181,113 


	Management and General 
	Fundraising 
	Total 
	Total Expense 

	Supporting Service Expense

	85,062 
	62,250 
	147,312 
	642,862 

	21,266 
	15,563 
	36,829 
	160,717 

	
	
	
	1,008,652 

	
	
	
	1,277,004 

	10,560 
	
	10,560 
	24,261 

	20,262 
	1,467 
	21,729 
	90,477 

	52,050 
	
	52,050 
	81,571 

	12,867 
	10,251 
	23,118 
	88,382 

	
	628 
	12,033 
	21,761 

	17,223 
	1,247 
	18,470 
	76,816 

	12,780 
	
	12,780 
	13,461 

	7,403 
	12,582 
	19,985 
	46,124 

	8,725 
	2,278 
	11,003 
	12,015 

	7,645 
	586 
	8,231 
	11,110 

	267,248 
	106,852 
	374,100 
	3,555,213 


D1.3.7 Common Allocation Errors

Because financial statement users such as donors, board members, and watchdog agencies use functional expense ratios to evaluate nonprofit organization performance, thoughtful and consistent expense allocation and classification is vitally important. Some common classification errors are discussed below.

· Failure to recognize the compensation and other expenses of the executive director as benefiting all organizational functions. With few exceptions, the executive director (or president) of a nonprofit organization spends significant amounts of time on program planning, implementation, and evaluation, fundraising, and management and general activities. Unfortunately, it is not uncommon to see all costs related to this individual charged to management and general expense. As the executive director's compensation tends to be the highest in the organization, failure to properly allocate this cost often results in overstating management and general expense.

· Allocating costs based on the organizational chart rather than the purpose for which the cost was incurred. For example, a simplistic approach allocates the costs of all departments that report to the chief financial officer to management and general expense. Frequently, however, security and building services departments report to the CFO rather than to a program position. Charging security and maintenance of a facility, which benefits all functional areas, to management and general expense, overstates that functional category.

· Failure to allocate depreciation. Some nonprofit organizations charge all depreciation to management and general expense, while others list it on the statement of activities as a separate function. Both are incorrect. Depreciation is a natural expense classification, and should be allocated among the program and supporting services using the underlying assets. Depreciation on the nonprofit organization's facility, for example, would be allocated based on the square footage used by each functional area.

· Requesting that the accounting firm or other external service provider preparing the IRS Form 990 allocate expenses to their proper functions. Rarely will anyone external to the nonprofit organization have enough information to properly assign or allocate costs among the functional classifications. In these situations, it is not uncommon to see “quick and dirty” allocation techniques, such as the use of broad estimates to allocate cost. For example, unknowledgeable preparers may assign 80% of all expenses to program expense, while management and general and fundraising expense each are allocated 10%. As noted above, cursory or inaccurate allocation of expenses may mislead financial statement users, and badly misrepresent the nonprofit organization's efforts and accomplishments.

D1.4 Disclosures

The Statement of Activities, or the notes, must provide information about expenses reported by their functional classification, such as major classes of program services and supporting activities. Voluntary health and welfare organizations must report this information in addition to information about expenses by their natural classification (such as salaries, rent, electricity) in a matrix format in a separate financial statement. Other not-for-profits are encouraged, but not required, to provide information about expenses by natural classification. A single functional classification is ordinarily adequate to portray each kind of supporting service. However, more details may be presented. For example, fund-raising expenses and the corresponding support that is obtained may be reported separately for each kind of fund-raising activity undertaken, either on the face of the Statement of Activities or in the notes. 

D1.5 Related Topics

Chapter B5 , PROGRAM EXPENSES 

Chapter B7 , FUND-RAISING EXPENSES 

Chapter B6 , MANAGEMENT AND GENERAL EXPENSES 

Chapter B8 , MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 

END OF DOCUMENT - © Copyright 2004 RIA. All rights reserved. 

Contingencies

E4.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SFASs 5, 16, and 38 

FASB Interpretations 14 and 34 

SOP 87-1, SOP 94-6, and SOP 96-1 

The Guide, Chapter 10 

E4.2 Overview

An estimated loss from a contingency should be charged to operations if it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. A loss contingency that does not meet both of these conditions should be disclosed but not recorded. An estimated gain from a contingency should not be recorded until it is actually realized. Environmental remediation liabilities should be recorded when it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred. Information should be disclosed regarding (1) the nature of an entity's operations, (2) the use of estimates in the financial statement process, (3) the use of certain significant estimates, and (4) the entity's vulnerability due to certain concentrations. 

E4.3 Measurement Principles

E4.3.1 Definition of a Contingency

A contingency is defined as an existing condition, situation, or set of circumstances involving uncertainty as to a possible gain or loss that will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The term “loss” includes a charge to income that may otherwise be referred to as an expense. 

E4.3.2 Loss Contingencies

An estimated loss from a contingency should be accrued and charged to operations only if both of the following conditions are met: 

(1) Information available prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable (virtual certainty is not required) that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred as of the date of the financial statements; and 

(2) The amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

Reasonable estimation of the possible loss does not mean that it is necessary to estimate one single amount. It does mean that a loss should be accrued if it can be estimated within a range. If some amount within the range appears to be a better estimate than any other amount within the range, that amount should be accrued. If no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, the minimum amount in the range should be accrued. 

Probability classification of a loss contingency.

When a loss contingency exists, the likelihood that the occurrence (or failure thereof) of a future event will confirm the loss ranges from remote to probable. Following are probability classifications of loss contingencies:

· Remote. The chance of the future event occurring is slight.

· Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event occurring is more than remote but less than likely.

· Probable. The future event is likely to occur.

Accrual of an expected loss should be made only when it is probable that the future event will occur to confirm the loss (and it meets the other conditions of reasonable estimation of the amount as discussed above). if one or both conditions are not met, but there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss has been incurred, disclosure is required. If the possibility that a loss has been incurred is remote, disclosure may also be required. 

Following is a list of loss contingencies:

· Collectibility of receivables

· Risk of loss or damage of an enterprise's property by fire, explosion, or other hazards

· Threat of expropriation of assets

· Pending or threatened litigation

· Actual or possible claims and assessments

· Risk of loss from catastrophes assumed by property and casualty insurance enterprises including reinsurance enterprises

· Guarantees of indebtedness of others

· Agreements to repurchase receivables (or to purchase the related property) that have been sold

The following table shows the accounting treatment for typical loss contingencies: 

	
	Generally accrued 
	Generally not accrued 
	Generally disclosed(a) 

	1. Collectibility of receivables 
	X 
	
	

	2. Risk of loss or damage of enterprise property by fire, explosion, or other hazards 
	
	X 
	

	3. Threat of expropriation of assets 
	
	X 
	

	4. General or unspecified business risks 
	
	
	X 

	5. Risk of loss from catastrophes assumed by property and casualty insurance companies including reinsurance companies 
	
	X 
	

	6. Pending or threatened litigation 
	
	
	X 

	7. Actual or possible claims and assessments(b) 
	
	
	X 

	8. Guarantees (including oral guarantees) of indebtedness of others 
	
	
	X 

	9. Agreements to repurchase receivables (or the related properties) that have been sold 
	
	
	X 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	(a) Should be accrued when both criteria are met (probable and reasonably estimable). 

	(b) Estimated amounts of losses incurred prior to the balance-sheet date but settled subsequently should be accrued as of the balance-sheet date. 


Guarantees of indebtedness to others.

The guarantee of the indebtedness of others includes indirect as well as direct guarantees. An indirect guarantee arises under an agreement that obligates one entity to transfer funds to another and the following conditions exist:

· The funds are legally available to creditors of the second entity.

· Creditors of the second entity may enforce the second entity's claims against the first entity under the agreement.



Example 1. Determination of Accounting Treatment 
FACTS
Assume the following facts and circumstances of Client Entity as it prepares its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 19X1. (The statements are expected to be issued by March 20, 19X2.)

· Client Entity is a defendant in a lawsuit alleging breach of contract. The lawsuit was initiated on February 5, 19X2 and settled on March 3, 19X2 for $180,000.

· Client Entity is a defendant in a lawsuit alleging copyright infringement. This suit was filed on November 12, 19X1 and it seeks damages of $500,000. Based on progress made at March 15, 19X2, Client Entity estimates that it is likely to be required to pay damages of between $200,000 and $300,000.

· Client Entity is not insured against fire loss at its headquarters.

· A receivable in the amount of $170,000 is considered uncollectible because the customer has filed for bankruptcy on January 10, 19X2.

SOLUTION
Lawsuit No. 1. This suit was initiated in 19X2, so accrual is probably not appropriate, although disclosure in the 19X1 statements is required. If, however, the suit was for breach of contract that occurred in 19X1, even though it was initiated in 19X2, it should be accrued in the 19X1 financial statements if it meets both conditions. 

Lawsuit No. 2. This suit was initiated in 19X1. The loss is probable and is subject to a reasonably estimable range. Since no amount within the range seems better than any other amount, the $200,000 minimum should be accrued in the 19X1 financial statements, and disclosure should be made that a larger loss is possible. 

Lack of insurance. The absence of insurance does not mean that a loss has been or will be incurred. A fire is a random occurrence and therefore it is not probable that a fire will occur, nor is it reasonably determinable as to what the amount of any loss will be. Accordingly, neither accrual nor disclosure is appropriate. 

Uncollectible receivable. In this case, filing for bankruptcy on January 10, 19X2 is probably indicative of a credit problem relating to 19X1. Both conditions for accrual are met (probable occurrence and reasonably estimable), therefore accrual should be made in 19X1 financial statements. 

E4.3.3 Unasserted Claims

If it is determined that assertion is not probable, no accrual or disclosure is required. If, however, assertion is probable, accrual should be made only if both of the following criteria are met: 

(1) An unfavorable outcome is probable; and 

(2) The amount of potential loss can be reasonably determined. 

If an unfavorable outcome is probable but the amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated, disclosure is required. If an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible but not probable, disclosure is still required. 

E4.3.4 Gain Contingencies

Contingencies that might result in gains should not be reflected in the financial statements. To include this information would be to recognize income before it is realized. Disclosures, however, should be made. The choice of wording should be made carefully so as to avoid misleading implications as to the likelihood of realization. 

E4.3.5 Environmental Liabilities

SOP 96-1 provides guidance on accounting for environmental remediation liabilities, except as follows:

· The pollution control costs relating to current operations

· For future site restoration or closure costs required when operations are ceased or facilities are sold

· For environmental remediation actions undertaken at the sole discretion of management and that are not induced by the threat of litigation (by governments or other parties) or of assertions of a claim or assessment

· For recognition of liabilities by insurance companies for unpaid claims

· For impairment of assets associated with environmental remediation liabilities

Recognition.

In the context of environmental remediation, a liability should be recorded when it is probable (as that term is used in SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies) that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred. 

According to SFAS 5, probability consists of the following two elements:

· Litigation has commenced or a claim or an assessment has been asserted, or, based on available information, commencement of litigation or assertion of a claim or an assessment is probable. In other words, it has been asserted (or it is probable that it will be asserted) that the entity is responsible for participating in a remediation process because of a past event.

· Based on available information, it is probable that the outcome of such litigation, claim, or assessment will be unfavorable. In other words, an entity will be held responsible for participating in a remediation process because of the past event.

What constitutes commencement or probable commencement of litigation or assertion or probable assertion of a claim or an assessment in relation to particular environmental laws and regulations may require legal determination. 

As for the second element, there is a presumption that (a) if litigation has commenced or a claim or an assessment has been asserted or if commencement of litigation or assertion of a claim or assessment is probable and (b) if the reporting entity is associated with the site (i.e. if it in fact arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances found at a site or transported hazardous substances to the site or is the current or previous owner or operator of the site) the outcome of such litigation, claim, or assessment will be unfavorable. 

SFAS 5 also requires that, for a liability to be accrued, the amount of the loss (including a range of loss) must be subject to reasonable estimates. The following are some of the important factors to be considered in developing cost estimates:

· The extent and type of hazardous substances at a site

· The range of technologies that can be used for remediation

· Evolving standards of what constitutes acceptable remediation

· The number and financial condition of other potentially responsible parties (PRPs) and the extent of their responsibility for the remediation (i.e. the extent and types of hazardous substances they contributed to the site)

SOP 96-1 concludes that when the overall liability is based on a range of estimated loss, the recorded amount is permitted to comprise amounts representing the lower end of a range of costs for some components of the liability and the best estimates within ranges of costs for other components. 

At the early stages of the remediation process, some components of the overall liability may not be reasonably estimable. This fact, nevertheless, should not preclude recognition of a liability. In such a case, the components that are subject to reasonable estimation should be viewed as the minimum in the range of the overall liability. Likewise, uncertainties relating to the entity's share of an environmental remediation liability should not preclude the entity from recognizing its best estimate of its share of the liability or, if no best estimate can be made, the minimum estimate of its share of the liability, if the liability is probable and the total remediation liability associated with the site is reasonably estimable within a range. As the remediation process progresses, changes in estimates should be accounted for prospectively in accordance with APB Opinion 20 , Accounting Changes. (See Section E1 ACCOUNTING CHANGES.) 

SOP 96-1 provides the following so-called benchmarks for a superfund remediation liability along with analogous stages of the RCRA (Revenue Conservation and Recovery Act) corrective action process in evaluating the probability that a loss has been incurred and the extent to which any loss is reasonably estimated.

· Identification and verification of an entity as a PRP. The RCRA analogue is subject to RCRA facility permit requirements. Receipt of notification or otherwise becoming aware that an entity may be a PRP compels the entity to action. The entity must examine its records to determine whether it is associated with the site.

If, based on a review and evaluation of its records and all other available information, the entity determines that it is associated with the site, it is probable that a liability has incurred. If all or a portion of the liability is a reasonable estimate, the liability should be recognized. 

In some cases, an entity will be able to reasonably estimate a range of its liability very early in the process because the site situation is common or similar to situations at other sites with which the entity has been associated. In such cases, the criteria for recognition would be met and the liability should be recognized. In other cases, however, the entity may have insufficient information to reasonably estimate the minimum amount in the range of its liability. In these cases, the criteria for recognition would not be met at this time.

· Receipt of unilateral administrative order. The RCRA analog is, generally, interim corrective measures. An entity may receive a unilateral administrative order compelling it to take a response action at a site or risk penalties of up to four times the cost of the response action. Such response actions may be relatively limited actions such as the performance of a remedial investigation and feasibility study or performance of a removal action, or they may be broad actions such as remediating a site. Under section 106 of superfund, the EPA must find that an “imminent and substantial endangerment” exists at the site before such an order may be issued. No preenforcement review by a court is authorized under superfund if an entity elects to challenge a unilateral administrative order.

The ability to estimate costs resulting from unilateral administrative orders varies with factors such as site complexity and the nature and extent of the work to be performed. The benchmarks that follow should be considered in evaluating the ability to estimate such costs insofar as the actions required by the unilateral administrative order involve these benchmarks. The cost of performing the requisite work generally is estimatable within a range, and recognition of an environmental remediation liability for costs of removal actions should not be delayed beyond this point.

· Participation as a PRP, in the RI/FS (remedial investigation/feasibility study). The RCRA analog is RCRA facility investigation. At this stage, the entity and possibly others have been identified as PRPs and have agreed to pay the costs of a study that will investigate the extent of the environmental impact of the release or threatened release of hazardous substances and identify site-remediation alternatives. Further, the total cost of the RI/FS is estimatable within a reasonable range. In addition, the identification of other PRPs and their agreement to participate in funding the RI/FS typically provides a reasonable basis for determining the entity's allocable share of the cost of the RI/FS. Also, additional information may be available regarding the extent of environmental impact and possible remediation alternatives. This additional information, however, may or may not be sufficient to provide a basis for reasonable estimation of the total remediation liability. At a minimum, the entity should recognize its share of the estimated total cost of the RI/FS.

As the RI/FS proceeds, the entity's estimate of its share of the total cost of the RI/FS can be refined. Further, additional information may become available based on which the entity can refine its estimates of other components of the liability or begin to estimate other components (e.g. an entity may be able to estimate the extent of environmental impact at a site and to identify existing alternative remediation technologies.) An entity may be able to better identify the extent of its involvement at the site relative to other PRPs; the universe of PRPs may be identified; negotiations among PRPs and with federal and state EPA representatives may occur; and information may be obtained that materially affects the agreed-upon method of remediation.

· Completion of feasibility study. The RCRA analog is a corrective measures study. At substantial completion of the feasibility study, both a minimum remediation liability and the entity's allocated share generally will be reasonably estimatable.

The feasibility study should be considered substantially complete no later than the point at which the PRPs recommend a proposed course of action to the EPA. If the entity had previously not concluded that it could reasonably estimate the remediation liability (the best estimate or, if no amount within an estimated range of loss was a better estimate than any other amount in the range, the minimum amount in the range), recognition should not be delayed beyond this point, even if uncertainties (e.g. about allocations to individuals PRPs and potential recoveries from third parties) remain.

· Issuance of record of decision (ROD). The RCRA analog is approval of corrective measures study. At this point, the EPA has issued its determination specifying a preferred remedy. Normally, the entity and other PRPs have begun, or perhaps completed, negotiations, litigation or both for their allocated share of the remediation liability. Accordingly, the entity's estimate normally can be refined based on the specified preferred remedy and a preliminary allocation of the total remediation costs.

· Remedial Design Through Operation and Maintenance, Including Postremediation Monitoring. The RCRA analog is corrective measures implementation. During the design phase of the remediation, engineers develop a better sense of the work to be done and are able to provide more precise estimates of the total remediation cost. Further information will become available at various points until the site is delisted, subject only to postremediation monitoring. The entity should continue to refine and recognize its best estimate of its final obligation as this additional information becomes available.

Note that the foregoing benchmarks should not be applied in a manner that would delay recognition of a liability beyond the point at which the criteria in SFAS 5 are otherwise met. 

Measurement.

The estimates of the liability should include the entity's:

· Allocable share of the liability for a specific site

· Share of amounts that will not be paid by other PRPs or the government

Costs to be included in the measurement of the environmental remediation liability are:

· Incremental direct costs of the remediation effort

· Costs of compensation benefits for those employees who are expected to devote a significant amount of time directly to the remediation effort

Examples of incremental direct costs include the following:

· Fees to outside law firms for work related to determining the extent of remedial actions that are required, the type of remedial actions to be used, or the allocation of costs among PRPs

· Costs related to completing the RI/FS

· Fees to outside engineering and consulting firms for site investigations and the development of remedial action plans and remedial designs

· Costs of contracts performing remedial actions

· Government oversight costs and past costs. Usually this is based on the cost incurred by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or other governmental authority dealing with the site

· The cost of machinery and equipment that is dedicated to the remedial actions and that does not have an alternative use

· Assessments by a PRP group covering costs incurred by the group in dealing with a site

· Costs of operation and maintenance of the remedial action, including the costs of postremediation monitoring required by the remedial action plan.

The costs of services related to routine environmental compliance matters and litigation costs involved with potential recoveries are not part of the remediation effort. Litigation costs involved with potential recoveries should be charged to expense as incurred until realization of the claim for recovery is considered probable and an asset relating to the recovery is recognized, at which time any remaining such legal costs should be considered in the measurement of the recovery. 

Examples of employees who may devote a significant amount of time directly to the remediation effort include the following:

· The internal legal staff that is involved with the determination of the extent of remedial actions which are required, the type of remedial action to be used, and the allocation of costs among PRPs

· Technical employees who are involved with the remediation effort.

Estimates of the compensation and benefits costs to be incurred for a specific site should be made in connection with the initial recording of the remediation liability and subsequently adjusted at each reporting date to reflect the current estimate of such costs to be incurred in the future. 

For purposes of measuring the liability, estimates should be based on enacted laws and regulations; no changes should be anticipated. When such changes do occur, the impact thereof should be recognized at that time. 

The remedial action plan used to develop the estimate of the liability should be based on the methodology expected to be approved. Measurement of the liability includes costs to perform the various elements of the remediation effort also taking into account when such elements are expected to be performed. This is intended to mean that estimates of costs to be incurred in the future should consider inflation and expected productivity improvements resulting from past experience. When, because of uncertainty about the timing of expenditures, it is not practicable to estimate inflation or other factors, the current cost estimate should be the minimum in the range of loss until such time as the factors can be reasonably estimated. 

The measurement of the liability, or of a component of the liability may be discounted to reflect the time value of money if the aggregate amount of the liability or component and the amount and timing of cash payments for the liability or component are fixed or reliably determinable. (Note, however, that these criteria are not met when a current cost estimate is made.) For this purpose, the amount of the liability or component is the reporting entity's allocable share of the undiscounted joint and several liability for the remediation effort or of a component of that liability. 

In estimating an entity's allocable share of the joint and several remediation liability, SOP 96-1 identifies the following five types of PRPs.

· Participating PRPs acknowledge their potential involvement with respect to a site.

· Recalcitrant PRPs adopt a recalcitrant attitude toward the entire remediation effort even though evidence exists that points to their involvement at a site.

· Unproven PRPs have been identified as PRPs by the EPA but do not acknowledge their potential involvement because there is currently no substantive evidence to link them to the site.

· Parties that have not yet been identified as PRPs.

· Parties that are PRPs but cannot be located or have no assets.

SOP 96-1 notes that there is a rebuttable presumption that costs will be allocated only among participating PRPs. Although there are a number of ways to allocate liability among PRPs, ultimately an entity's share should be based on its estimate of the allocation method and percentage that will be used for the entire remediation effort. 

Once allocation has been made, an assessment of the likelihood that each PRP will pay its allocable share must be made. Thus, an entity's reported liability should include its share of the amount that will not be paid by other PRPs (or the government). 

The amount of an environmental remediation liability should be determined independently from any potential claim for recovery, and an asset relating to the recovery should be recognized only when realization of the claim for recovery is deemed probable. If the claim is the subject of litigation, a rebuttable presumption exists that realization of the claim is not probable. 

The amount of potential recovery should be measured at fair value, which encompasses transaction costs related to receipt of the recovery and the time value of money. Discounting should not be applied, however, if

· The liability is not discounted, and

· The timing of the recovery is dependent on the timing of the payment of the liability.

Financial statement display.

The following assets, where applicable, should be included in the balance sheet:

· Receivables from other PRPs not providing initial funding

· Anticipated recoveries from insurers

· Anticipated recoveries from prior owners resulting from indemnification agreements

SOP 96-1 does not address whether each of the aforementioned assets, if material, should be shown separately, or, if aggregated, whether the individual components should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. SOP 96-1 does however, advise that, if all of the conditions of FASB Interpretation 39, Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts, are met, environmental liabilities may be offset against related recoveries. It would be rare, however, SOP 96-1 notes, for such to be the case. (See A7, INVESTMENTS) 

Normally, recording an environmental liability results in a corresponding charge to earnings. Note, however, that in some circumstances, this would not be the case. Examples include the initial recording of a business combination or the final estimate of a preacquisition contingency. Under those circumstances, the environmental remediation liability is considered in determining and allocating the purchase price. In connection with the acquisition of property, recording of a liability results in capitalization as part of the cost of the asset. Finally, under the circumstances contemplated by EITF Issue 89-13 (costs incurred to treat asbestos) and 90-8 (environmental contamination treatment costs that improve property or extend its life or mitigate or prevent environmental contamination that has yet to occur), capitalization may be appropriate. 

Costs (and recoveries) associated with environmental obligations (and assets) should be reported (with recoveries credited against the related charge) as components of changes in net assets. Earnings on assets earmarked for funding environmental liabilities should be reported as investment income. 

E4.3.6 Risks and Uncertainties

SOP 94-6 requires disclosures of risks and uncertainties beyond those otherwise required concerning the following matters:

· The nature of the entity's operations

· The use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements

· The use of certain significant estimates

· The entity's current vulnerability due to certain concentrations

The foregoing broad topics are not mutually exclusive (i.e., some overlap should be expected). Accordingly, SOP 94-6 allows the required disclosures to be grouped, as necessary, placed in different parts of the financial statements and footnotes thereto, or combined with other information disclosed pursuant to other authoritative pronouncements. 

SOP 94-6 applies to financial statements of nongovernmental entities prepared in conformity with GAAP. It applies to annual and complete interim statements but not to condensed or summarized statements. 

Nature of the entity's operations.

The following specific information should be disclosed:

· A description of the principal services performed and the primary source of revenue.

· The relative importance of each line of business, together with the basis for making that determination. This information need not be quantified; instead, relative importance could be conveyed through the use of terms such as “predominantly,” “about equally,” or “major”

Use of estimates.

The financial statements or a footnote should include a general statement that the preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates by management. 

Certain significant estimates.

In addition to information already required by SFAS 5 on contingencies, SOP 94-5 requires disclosure regarding specific estimates used in the determination of the carrying values of assets and liabilities or in the determination of contingent gains or losses. Disclosure regarding such estimates should be made when both of the following conditions are met:

· It is at least “reasonably possible” (as that term is used in SFAS 5) that the estimate will change in the near term; and
· The effect of the change would be material.

Disclosure should indicate the nature of the uncertainty and include an indication that it is at least reasonably possible that a change in the estimate will occur in the near term (i.e., within one year of the date of the financial statements). If the estimate involves a loss contingency covered by SFAS 5, the disclosure also should indicate an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made. Disclosure of the factors that cause the estimate to be sensitive to change is encouraged but not required. Disclosure of the risk-reduction techniques used to mitigate losses or the uncertainty of future events is likewise encouraged but not required. 

Note that SOP 94-6 and SFAS 5 differ as follows:

· SFAS 5 does not distinguish between near-term and long-term contingencies

· An estimate not involving a contingency covered by SFAS 5 (e.g., the estimate associated with amounts reported pursuant to long-term contracts) requires disclosure under SOP 94-6, provided it meets the criteria regarding a reasonable possibility of change in the near future resulting in a material financial statement effect.

SOP 94-6 cites the following items that may be based on estimates and that could be particularly sensitive to change in the near term:

· Inventory subject to rapid technological obsolescence;

· Specialized equipment subject to technological obsolescence;

· Environmental-related liabilities;

· Litigation-related liabilities;

· Contingent liabilities for debt of other entities;

· Amounts reported for long-term obligations (e.g., related to pension and postemployment benefits);

The following are examples of events or changes in circumstances that indicate that an estimate associated with the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may be particularly sensitive to change in the near term.

· A significant decrease in the market value of an asset

· A significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used

· A significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate that affects the value of an asset

· An accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected to acquire or construct an asset

· A history of losses associated with an asset, and/or a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with an asset

Vulnerability due to concentrations.

Disclosure is required of any concentration (including a group concentration) that makes the entity vulnerable to a potential severe impact in the near term, if it is at least reasonably possible that the events that could cause the impact will occur. The term “severe impact” is defined as the effect of disrupting the normal functioning of the entity. It is thus intended to meet a higher threshold than materiality, but a lower threshold than a catastrophe. 

SOP 94-6 includes the following concentrations that might subject an entity to vulnerability requiring disclosure:

· Concentrations in the volume of business transacted with a particular customer, supplier, lender, grantor, or contributor.

· Concentrations in revenue from particular products, services, or fund-raising events.

· Concentrations in the available sources of supply materials, labor, or services, or of licenses or other rights used in the entity's operations.

· Concentrations in the market or geographic area in which an entity conducts its operations.

In general, disclosure of concentrations should be sufficient to inform users of the general nature of the associated risk. 

For labor subject to collective bargaining arrangements, disclosure should specifically include both the percentage of the labor force covered by a collective bargaining agreement and the percentage of the labor force covered by a collective bargaining agreement that will expire within one year. For operations located outside the entity's home country, disclosure should specifically include the carrying amounts of net assets and the geographic areas in which they are located. 

E4.3.7 Retroactive Insurance Contracts

An insurance contract purchased to cover a past liability is termed a retroactive insurance contract. The FASB Staff has concluded that the amount paid for such insurance should be reported as a receivable (to the extent that it does not exceed the reported liability). If the recorded liability exceeds the amount paid, the insurance receivable should be increased to reflect the difference, with the resulting gain deferred. If the amounts and timing of insurance recoveries can be reasonably estimated, the deferred gain should be amortized (using the interest method) over the estimated recovery period. If the amounts and timing of recoveries cannot be reasonably estimated, amortization should be based on the proportion of actual recoveries to total estimated recoveries. 

Note that the FASB Staff has also concluded that the past liability and the insurance receivable do not qualify for offsetting. Further note that, if the purchased insurance contract includes coverage for legal fees and other costs, accounting for such fees and costs should be consistent between the asset and liability (i.e., if the entity's policy is to accrue for costs, the receivable should so reflect those amounts; if accrual is not the entity's policy, fees and costs should not be included in the insurance receivable). 

E4.3.8 Recognition of Liabilities for Losses and Costs from the Effects of the Terrorist Attacks of September 11, 2001

The EITF has concluded, in general terms, that liabilities for losses and costs should be recognized when it is probable that assets will have to be sacrificed in the future or services will have to be rendered in the future as a consequence of past transactions and that liability can be reliably measured. The Task Force noted that many losses and costs expected to be incurred (e.g. restoration of a damaged facility) would not qualify for immediate recognition; rather, they would have to be recorded as costs are actually incurred.The following are specific scenarios and their related EITF consensus: 

Scenario: An entity is obligated to make operating lease payments on equipment that has been idled 

Consensus: No liability should be recorded; lease expense should continue to be recognized as rental payments are made 

Scenario: An operating lessee housed in a building in close proximity to the disaster site in lower Manhattan cannot gain access to the building and thus cannot use or retrieve its equipment (which is otherwise functional) 

Consensus: A liability for required ongoing operating lease payments should be recognized on September 11, provided that a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount of time the equipment will be unusable; if such an estimate cannot be made, a liability should not be established 

Scenario: An entity's office building has been damaged and closed indefinitely; some of the entity's employees are able to work from other locations but some are not 

Consensus: A liability for the salaries for idled workers should be established if the criteria in SFAS, Compensated Absences, are met (including the ability to estimate the amount of the liability, which implies that an estimate can be made of how long it will be before new office space can be secured); otherwise, salaries for all employees should be charged to expense as incurred 

E4.3.9 Guarantor Accounting for Guarantees

Accounting by Guarantors for guarantees issued is covered by FASB Interpretation No. 45. Generally, Interpretation 45 applies to guarantees having one or more of the following characteristics: 

· Contracts contingently requiring payment (in cash, other assets, shares of stock, or financial instruments) to the guaranteed party, based on changes in the price of an underlying that is related to an asset or liability of the guaranteed party, including, for example (1) a financial standby letter of credit, (2) a market value guarantee on securities or on a non-financial asset owned by the guaranteed party, (3) a guarantee of the market price of the guaranteed party's common stock, and (4) a guarantee of the collection of scheduled contractual cash flows from individual assets held by a special-purpose entity (SPE).

· Contracts contingently requiring payment to the guaranteed party, based on another entity's failure to perform pursuant to an obligating agreement (a performance guarantee).

· Indemnification agreements contingently requiring payment to the indemnified party, based on changes in an underlying related to an asset, a liability, or an equity security of the guaranteed party (e.g., an adverse outcome of a lawsuit, an adverse ruling in a tax matter, the imposition of additional taxes caused by changes in tax laws).

· Indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of others, even though payment is not based on changes in an underlying related to an asset, liability, or equity security of the indemnified party.

FASB Interpretation No. 45 does not apply to the following: 

· Commercial letters of credit and other loan commitments. 

· Guarantees of an entity's own future performance.

· A non-contingent forward contract for which net settlement can flow from either party to the other.

· Securitizations and other arrangements including the subordination of rights of a class or tranche of investors or creditors in favor of the rights of others.

· Guarantees excluded from the scope of SFAS No. 5 , Accounting for Contingencies.

· A lessee's residual value guarantee on a lease accounted for as a capital lease.

· A contract accounted for as contingent rent in accordance with SFAS No. 13 , Accounting for Leases.

In addition to the foregoing, the following guarantees, while subject to the disclosure requirements of FASB Interpretation No. 45, are not subject to the Interpretation's recognition and measurement provisions:

· A guarantee accounted for at fair value as a derivative.

· A guarantee for which the underlying is related to the function (rather than the price) of non-financial assets owned by the guaranteed party (e.g., product warranties).

· A guarantee to pay contingent consideration in a business combination.

· A guarantee for which the obligation would properly be reported as equity (rather than as a liability) under GAAP.

· A guarantee by an original lessee that has become secondarily liable under a new lease that has relieved the original lessee of its primary obligation under the original lease.

· A guarantee issued between a parent and its subsidiary or between entities under common control.

· A parent's guarantee of its subsidiary's debt owed to a third party.

· A subsidiary's guarantee of it parent's debt owed to a third party or a subsidiary's guarantee of another subsidiary's debt owed to a third party.

Though Interpretation 45 does not explicitly address subsequent measurement of such obligations, it notes that the initial amount recognized is typically reduced as the guarantor is released from risk under one of the following approaches: (1) only upon expiration or settlement of the obligation; (2) through systematic amortization over the term of the obligation; or (3) as the fair value of the guarantee changes from period to period (e.g., for guarantees accounted for as derivatives). 

The FASB Staff advises that Interpretation 45 does not support the use of subsequent accounting for guarantee obligations at fair value and thus should not be cited as the authority for doing so. Subsequent measurement at fair value is appropriate, pursuant to current GAAP, for guarantees accounted for as derivatives under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. 

At inception of a covered guarantee, the guarantor must recognize a liability for the obligation. If the guarantee is issued in a standalone arm's length transaction, the amount of the liability recognized should be equal to the premium received or due from the guaranteed party. If issued as part of a multiple-element transaction (e.g., in conjunction with the sale of equipment by the guarantor to a customer, accompanied by a guarantee of the customer's bank loan for which the proceeds are used to pay for the equipment), the amount of the liability recognized at inception should be its fair value, which may be equal to the premium that would be required by the guarantor in a standalone arm's length transaction. In the absence of observable transactions for identical or similar guarantees, the expected present value of the guarantee may likely represent the best estimate of fair value. Note that, pursuant to SFAC 7, Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements, expected present value refers to the sum of the probability-weighted present values of future outflows discounted at the same interest rate. 

If a guarantee is issued as a contribution (e.g., a guarantee of a bank loan made to a non-for-profit organization), the guarantor should also recognize a liability for the fair value of the obligation-that is, the guarantee should not be deemed a “conditional promise to give” under SFAS No. 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and Made, because, upon issuance of the guarantee, the not-for-profit entity will have in fact received the gift. 

If, at inception, a liability is required to be accrued pursuant to SFAS 5 for the related contingent loss (i.e., it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated), the amount of the guarantee liability to be recorded should be the greater of the guarantee's fair value or the amount required to be recognized by SFAS 5. In most cases, the fair value of the guarantee will exceed the amount required under SFAS 5. Note, though, that, under either of the following scenarios, the SFAS 5—liability could be more than a guarantee's fair value:

· The undiscounted accrual under SFAS 5 involves a guarantee whose payoff is expected to occur many years into the future (thus, it would normally be greater than the discounted present value of the liability).

· The probability is very high that the maximum amount of the contingent loss will have to be paid in the short term (with a corresponding low probability that no payment at all will be required); thus, in determining expected present value, the low likelihood of no payment would be taken into account, whereas, under SFAS 5, accrual would be required of the best estimate of the settlement amount whose payment is probable (i.e., the maximum amount).

Interpretation No. 45 notes that the offsetting entry to initial recognition of the guarantee liability depends on the circumstances under which the guarantee was issued, as follows:

· If issued as a standalone guarantee, the offsetting entry would be cash (or a receivable) for the amount of the premium. If no consideration is received (or receivable), the offset would be to an expense.

· If issued in conjunction with the sale of assets by the guarantor, the full amount of the proceeds would be allocated between consideration for the guarantee and proceeds from the sale itself.

· If issued in conjunction with the formation of a partially-owned (joint) venture accounted for under the equity method, recognition of the guarantee liability would have the effect of increasing the carrying amount of the guarantor's investment.

· If a residual value guarantee were provided by a lessee entering into an operating lease, the amount of the guarantee would be correspondingly reflected as prepaid rent.

While the Interpretation does not explicitly address subsequent measurement of a guarantee liability, it does point out that the initial amount recognized is typically reduced (by a credit to earnings) as the guarantor is released from risk. Depending on the nature of the guarantee, such release may be recognized (1) by a systematic and rational amortization method, or (2) upon expiration or settlement of the guarantee. For guarantees accounted for as derivatives (and thus carried both at inception and thereafter at fair value), the recorded amount in subsequent periods might be subject either to decrease or increase. 

E4.4 Disclosures

For a gain contingency, disclosure should be made of its nature. In some cases, the amount may also be disclosed, but extreme care should be exercised to avoid a misleading implication as to the likelihood of realization. For a loss contingency, the following information should be disclosed:

· If an estimated loss has been accrued: 

· — The nature of the contingency

· — The amount of accrued loss

· If an exposure to loss exists in excess of the amount accrued (as in the case of accruing the minimum amount within the range of possible loss): 

· — The nature of the contingency

· — An estimate of the possible loss

· — A statement that exposure to an additional amount exists (usually the maximum amount in the range of possible loss).

· — The amount that was accrued.

· If no accrual has been made: 

· — The nature of the contingency

· — The estimate of possible loss (or a statement that such estimate cannot be made)

Information may become available after the date of the financial statements but before they are issued regarding a loss contingency that existed either at the date of the financial statements without meeting the conditions for accrual or subsequent to the date of the financial statements. Disclosure of these types of loss contingencies may be necessary for a fair presentation. If so, the following information should be provided:

· The nature of the contingency.

· An estimate (or range) of the possible loss (or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made).

Even though the possibility of loss may be remote, certain loss contingencies should nonetheless be disclosed. The common characteristic of these contingencies is “guarantee.” This includes:

· Guarantees (both direct and indirect) of indebtedness of others.

· Guarantees to repurchase receivables or the related property.

Disclosure of these and other guarantees should include:

· The nature of the guarantee.

· The amount of the guarantee.

· The value (if an amount is known or can be estimated) of any recovery that can be expected to result (as in the case of the company's right to proceed against an outside party).

The following information is required to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements about environmental liabilities:

· In significant accounting policies, whether the liability is measured on a discounted basis.

· The information called for by SFAS 5, including:

· The nature and the amount of the accrued loss contingency

· The nature and estimate of the possible range of loss when no accrual has been made but there is a reasonable possibility that a loss (or additional loss) may have been incurred or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made

· If an environmental loss contingency is probable (and material) but not estimable, a description of the obligation and a statement that a reasonable estimate cannot currently be made

· The nature of the loss contingency when it is probable that a theretofor unasserted claim will be asserted and it is reasonably possible that the outcome will be unfavorable; if laws or regulations require reporting the release of hazardous substances and commencing a remediation study, disclosure must be made even though a regulatory agency is not involved

· The information called for by SOP 94-6 when the estimate of the environmental remediation liability or of the related asset is subject to the reasonable possibility of change in the near term and the effect of such change would be material; such information is also required of the estimated gain or loss contingency

· If any portion of the obligation is discounted, the undiscounted amount and the discount rate used

· At management's option, a conclusion, as appropriate, that the outcome of the uncertainty (1) should not, (2) may have, or (3) could have, a material adverse effect on the entity's financial position, results of operations or cash flows; note that the assertion that the outcome should not have a material adverse effect must be supportable

The following information is encouraged (but not required) to be disclosed concerning environmental remediation liabilities:

· The benchmark (i.e. event, situation, or set of circumstances) that triggers reorganization of a loss contingency arising out of an environmental remediation-related obligation

· The entity's policy concerning timing of recognition of recoveries

· The estimated time period for disbursements of recorded amounts if expenditures are expected to continue over the long term

· If the criteria of SOP 94-6 are met with respect to the accrued obligation, to any recognized asset for third-party recoveries, or to reasonably possible loss exposures or disclosed gain contingencies, the factors that cause the estimate to be sensitive to change

· If an estimate of the probable or reasonably possible loss or range of loss cannot be made, the reasons why this is so

· If information about the reasonably possible loss or the recognized and additional reasonably possible loss for an environmental remediation obligation related to an individual site is relevant to an understanding of the financial position, cash flows, or results of operations of the entity, the following with respect to the site:

· The total amount accrued for the site

· The nature of any reasonably possible loss contingency or additional loss, and an estimate of the possible loss or the fact that an estimate cannot be made and the reasons why this is so

· Whether other PRPs are involved and the entity's estimated share of the obligation

· The status of regulatory proceedings

· The estimated time period for resolution of the contingency

· The estimated time period for resolution of a probable but not reasonably estimable loss contingency

· The following regarding costs recognized in the income statement

· The amount recognized in each period

· The amount, if any, of recoveries credited to environmental remediation. costs in each period

· The caption in the income statement in which environmental remediation costs and credits are included

· A description of the general applicability and the impact of environmental laws and regulations on the entity's business and how the existence of such laws and regulations may give rise to loss contingencies for future environmental remediations

E4.4.1 Examples

AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY, INC (2002 Annual Report) 

The Society is party to legal claims arising in the course of its normal business activities. Although the ultimate outcome of those claims cannot be ascertained at this time, it is the opinion of management that none of those matters, when resolved, will have a material effect on the Society's net assets. 

UNITED WAY OF AMERICA (2000 Annual Report) 

Contingencies 

In October 1998, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District if New York (the Court) ruled that UWA is liable for certain nonqualified pension benefits plus interest totaling $4.4 million to a former employee. The Court also held that this former employee breached various duties to UWA and must reimburse salary to UWA, in addition to certain other damages and interest totaling $2 million. The judgement was appealed by both parties. In September 1999, the United States Court of Appeals for the second district affirmed UWA's judgement against the former employee in all respects and reversed one component of the judgement the former employee's favor. The Court of appeals remanded the case back to the district court for a ruling on the single issue that had been reversed. The district court again found for the former employee, and the original judgement from the October 1998 ruling (net $2.4 million liability to UWA) was reinstated. The judgement has been appealed by UWA. As discussed in Note 7, the nonqualified benefit plans established to provide the benefits in question have assets of approximately $2.9 million at December 31, 2000. While it is not possible to predict the outcome of this matter, management believes that the resolution will not have a material adverse effect on the financial positions or changes in net assets of UWA. 

E4.5 Related Topics

Chapter E9 , SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
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Pension Costs and Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits

E6.1 Pension Costs: Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

APB Opinion 20 

SFASs 87, 88, 106, 112, and 132 

E6.2 Pension Costs: Overview

The annual provision for pension expense for a defined benefit is based on a single, standardized actuarial cost method and includes the following:

· Service cost

· Interest cost

· Expected return on plan assets

· Amortization of prior service cost

· Amortization of unrecognized gains or losses

· Amortization of the transition asset or liability

To the extent that accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan assets, an additional pension liability must be recorded. When a defined benefit plan is settled, a gain or loss must be immediately recorded. When a defined benefit plan is curtailed, any loss should be recognized when it is probable that the curtailment will occur; if a gain results, it should be recognized when the affected employees terminate or when the plan suspension or amendment is adopted by the company. 

E6.3 Pension Costs: Measurement Principles

E6.3.1 Applicability of SFAS 87

SFAS 87 applies to organizations that offer pension benefits to their employees. These benefits generally are in the form of periodic pension payments to retired employees or their survivors, but they may also be in the form of a single lump sum or death benefits. SFAS 87 also applies to pension plans whose existence is implied from a well defined but unwritten practice of paying postretirement benefits as well as to any arrangement that is in substance equivalent to a pension plan. 

However, SFAS 87 does not apply to a plan that provides only life insurance or health insurance benefits (or both). Moreover, organizations need not apply SFAS 87 to postemployment health benefits provided through a pension plan. If its provisions are indeed not applied to such health benefits, related obligations and assets should not be considered pension obligations or plan assets. 

E6.3.2 Accounting for Defined Contribution Plans

Under a defined contribution plan, the pension benefits employees will receive depends solely on the amount contributed by the employer, the returns earned on the investment of those contributions, and the forfeitures of other employees' benefits that may be allocated to participants remaining in the plan. Pension expense each year is generally equal to the amount of cash contribution called for by the plan. However, if a plan requires contributions to be made after an employee retires or terminates, the estimated cost of such postemployment contributions should be recognized during the employee's service period. The following is an example of accounting for a defined contribution plan. 

Example 1. Accounting for a Defined Contribution Plan 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity sponsors a defined contribution plan for its employees. Under the plan's formula, the amount to be contributed by Client Entity is $35,000 for 19X1. 

SOLUTION
For 19X1, the amount of pension expense to be recognized is $35,000, the amount of the required cash contribution. The journal entry to be made for 19X1 is: 

	Pension expense 
	$35,000 
	

	   Cash (or accrued pension expense) 
	
	$35,000 


Occasionally, an employer may terminate a defined benefit plan and contribute the withdrawn assets to a defined contribution plan and:

· The contributed amount exceeds the employer's required annual contribution;

· The excess contribution is not currently allocated to the accounts of individual participants;

· The risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the employer; and

· The excess contribution will eventually be allocated to participants' accounts in accordance with the plan's formula.

In these situations, the excess contribution should be accounted for as an asset. Specifically, the following procedures should be used:

· The unallocated contribution to a defined contribution plan should be treated as if it were part of the employer's investment portfolio and accounted for in the same manner as other, similar investment instruments (e.g., marketable equity securities under SFAS 12). Compensation expense should be reflected at the time the allocation is made, based on the fair market value of the assets at that time.

E6.3.3 Accounting for Defined Benefit Plans

Accounting for defined benefit plans is quite complicated, but the three major issues are as follows:

· Determination of periodic pension expense

· Measurement and reporting of assets and liabilities arising from a plan

· Disclosure of the status and effects of the plan in the financial statements

Determination of periodic pension expense.

Pension expense is accounted for on the accrual basis, not on the cash basis. The accrual basis involves application of deferral and estimation concepts in the same manner as they are applied to other costs and expenses. 

Periodic pension expense for a defined benefit plan consists of the following five basic components: 

(1) Service cost—the actuarial present value of pension benefits earned by employees during the period. 

(2) Interest cost —the increase in the present value of the pension obligation using an assumed discount rate. 

(3) Expected return on plan assets—the amount of expected annual earnings during the period on assets already in the pension fund. 

(4) Amortization of prior service cost—the cost of pension benefits granted to employees retroactively either at the plan initiation date or by amendment to the plan. 

(5) Amortization of unrecognized gains and losses —the amount resulting from either a change in actuarial assumptions or experiences different from those originally assumed by the actuary. 

The key to accounting for pensions is the computation of the projected benefit obligation (PBO). The PBO is the actuarial present value of the projected pension benefits that are attributable to employment as of a specific date. The amount is computed by an actuary, but an understanding of how it is calculated will aid in understanding the service cost and interest cost components of periodic pension expense. 

Example 2. Computation of PBO 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity has one employee who earns $100,000 per year and works for three years. Also assume that the defined benefit pension plan calls for three annual pension payments equal to 30% of the employee's annual salary for Year 3, with $10,000 of the pension benefits being earned for each year of employment. 

SOLUTION
The annual pension payment in Years 4-6 would be $30,000 (30% × $100,000), or a total of $90,000. The issue is how to compute the amount of PBO for each year. For Years 1-3, the PBO is computed as follows, assuming a discount rate of 10%: 

	
	1 
	2 
	3 

	Years
	

	$10,000 × (.8264) (2.4869) 
	$20,552 
	
	

	$10,000 × (.9091) (2.4869) 
	
	$22,608 
	

	$10,000 × (1.000) (2.4869) 
	
	
	$24,869 


Each year of employment earns $10,000 per year for the employee in benefits during Years 4-6 of retirement, so each year of employment has its own present value of future pension payments attributable to it. In each of the Years 1-3, the factor of 2.4869 is used, which represents the present value of an ordinary annuity for three years at 10%. The other factor in the formula is the present value of a single sum at 10%. The factor increases each year as the employment period decreases. 

In this example, we have assumed a level salary for the three years of employment. If the salary level were to change, an estimate would have to be made of the final year's salary before retirement in order to estimate the amount of pension benefits earned in each year of service. 

The PBO increases with service cost plus interest cost and decreases as pension payments are made after retirement, as the following table illustrates: 

	Date 
	Service cost 
	Interest
Cost (10%)1 
	Pension Payment 
	Cumulative Projected Benefit Obligation2 

	1/1/X1 
	$-0- 
	$-0- 
	$-0- 
	$-0- 

	12/31/X1 
	20,552 
	-0- 
	-0- 
	20,552 

	12/31/X2 
	22,608 
	2,055 
	-0- 
	45,215 

	12/31/X3 
	24,869 
	4,521 
	-0- 
	74,605 

	12/31/X4 
	-0- 
	7,461 
	30,000 
	52,066 

	12/31/X5 
	-0- 
	5,207 
	30,000 
	27,273 

	12/31/X6 
	-0- 
	2,727 
	30,000 
	-0- 

	
	$68,029 
	$21,971 
	$90,000 
	

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	(1) 10% of the previous PBO balance 

	(2) Equal to service cost plus interest cost minus pension payments 


The service cost for each year is the amount required to achieve the yearend PBO minus any interest cost for that year. Assigning the appropriate service cost to each year of employment (service) is the principal way by which the accrual basis of accounting for pensions is achieved. 

The next component of pension expense is the return on plan assets. It is in this context that funding becomes a factor. The following examples illustrate how the funding pattern affects the computation of periodic pension expense. 

Example 3. Funding Equals Pension Expense 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity adopts a funding pattern such that on December 31 of each year, the amount funded equals the pension expense for that year. Also assume that the pension fund earned the expected rate of return. The actuarially computed service costs for 19X1 and 19X2 are $80,000 and $88,000, respectively, using a 10% interest rate. The plan was initiated on January 1, 19X1, and there is no prior service cost. 

SOLUTION
For 19X1, pension expense is equal to $80,000, the amount of the service cost. There is no interest cost because there is no PBO at the inception of the plan. There is no return on plan assets because there were no plan assets during 19X1. The journal entry to be made on December 31 is: 

	Pension Expense 
	80,000 
	

	   Cash 
	
	80,000 


For 19X2, pension expense is $88,000, which is also the amount of the service cost. However, it is computed as follows: 

	Service cost 
	$88,000 

	Interest cost ($80,000 × 10%) 
	8,000 

	Return on plan assets ($80,000 × 10%) 
	(8,000) 

	Pension expense 
	$88,000 


The journal entry is identical to the one made for 19X1, except that $88,000 is recorded. 

Example 4. Funding Less Than Pension Expense 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 6 , except that funding is $75,000 in 19X1 and $82,000 in 19X2. 

SOLUTION
Pension expense for 19X1 is still $80,000 because there is no PBO at January 1, 19X1, and there are no plan assets during the year. However, the journal entry is: 

	Pension Expense 
	80,000 
	

	   Cash 
	
	75,000 

	   Pension liability 
	
	5,000 


For 19X2, since Client Entity underfunded the pension plan, return on plan assets is not as expected. Although the assets earned at a 10% rate, there weren't enough of those assets to earn the expected $8,000. Thus, pension expense is calculated as follows: 

	Service cost 
	$88,000 

	Interest cost ($80,000 × 10%) 
	8,000 

	Return on plan assets ($75,000 × 10%) 
	(7,500) 

	Pension expense 
	$88,500 


The journal entry at December 31 is: 

	Pension Expense 
	88,500 
	

	   Cash 
	
	82,000 

	   Pension liability 
	
	6,500 


At December 31, 19X2, the projected benefit obligation is $176,000 (the $80,000 service cost for 19X1, plus the $88,000 service cost for 19X2, plus the $8,000 interest cost in 19X2). Total plan assets equal $164,500 (the $75,000 and $82,000 funded at the end of each year, plus the $7,500 return on plan assets in 19X2). The difference of $11,500 ($176,000 − $164,500) is the balance in the pension liability at December 31, 19X2; it is made up of the $5,000 credit at the end of 19X1 and the $6,500 credit at the end of 19X2. 

Example 5. Funding Greater Than Pension Expense 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 6 , except that funding is $95,000 in 19X1 and $100,000 in 19X2. 

SOLUTION
Pension expense for 19X1, as in Example 6 and Example 7 , is $80,000. 

The journal entry is: 

	Pension Expense 
	80,000 
	

	Pension Asset 
	15,000 
	

	   Cash 
	
	95,000 


The 19X2 pension expense is computed as follows: 

	Service cost 
	$88,000 

	Interest cost ($80,000 × 10%) 
	8,000 

	Return on plan assets ($95,000 × 10%) 
	(9,500) 

	Pension expense 
	$86,500 


Overfunding has reduced pension expense because the actual return on plan assets exceeded the expected return by $1,500. The December 31, 19X2 journal entry is: 

	Pension Expense 
	86,500 
	

	Pension Asset 
	13,500 
	

	   Cash 
	
	100,000 


In this example, at December 31, 19X2 the PBO is $176,000 and the total of plan assets is $204,500, with the difference reflected in the pension asset of $28,500. 

The pension liability or asset, as the case may be, is reported as current or noncurrent in the company's balance sheet depending on when it will be used up. 

The next element of periodic pension expense is the amortization of prior service cost. Prior service cost may arise either at the plan initiation date, if employees are given credit for prior service, or by amendment to the plan. Prior service cost (i.e., the cost of retroactive benefits) increases the PBO and must be amortized each year under either of two approaches:

· By assigning, at the date of the amendment (or at the plan initiation date), an equal amount to each future period of service of each active employee who is expected to receive benefits under the plan; or
· By the straight-line method over the average remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits under the plan.

The following example illustrates how the two approaches are applied. 

Example 6. Amortization of Prior Service Cost 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity amended its plan to give recognition to employees for their prior service. The change increased the PBO by $1 million. The actuary informed the company that its employees (100) should be expected to work for the next 5 years. In addition, 20% of the employees are expected to retire or otherwise terminate each year. 

SOLUTION
Under the first approach, which is quite similar to the sum-of-the-years'-digits depreciation method, the following formula is used: 

	F 
	= N(N + 1)
2 × ER 

	

	

	
	

	Where F 
	= total future years of service 

	N 
	= number of service years 

	ER 
	= expected reduction in number of employees each year 


Substituting the data, we get: F = 5(5 + 1)
2 × 20 F = 300 

Amortization for each of the 5 years is as follows: 

	Year 
	Prior Service Cost 
	Amortization Date 
	Annual Amortization 

	1 
	$1,000,000 
	100/300 
	$333,333 

	2 
	$1,000,000 
	80/300 
	$266,667 

	3 
	$1,000,000 
	60/300 
	$200,000 

	4 
	$1,000,000 
	40/300 
	$133,333 

	5 
	$1,000,000 
	20/300 
	$66,667 

	
	
	
	$1,000,000 


Under the straight-line amortization approach, the average remaining service period must be computed as follows: 

	Average Remaining 
	= 
	Total Future Years of Service 

	Service Period 
	
	Number of Employees 


In the example, the average remaining service period is 3.0 years (300/100), and the annual amortization is $333,333, which is computed as $1,000,000 of prior service cost divided by 3.0 years. 

The following example illustrates the computation of pension expense when amortization of prior service cost is present. 

Example 7. Computation of Pension Expense Including Prior Service Cost 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity amends its plan on January 1, 19X3 to give retroactive credit to the initiation date of the plan, January 1, 1 9X1. The company funds pension expense each year. Also assume that the pension fund earns the 10% expected rate of return on plan assets. The actuarially computed service costs for 19X1, 19X2, 19X3, and 19X4 are $80,000, $88,000, $96,800 and $106,400, respectively. Prior service cost at January 1, 19X3 has the effect of increasing PBO by $20,000 to $196,000. Amortization of prior service cost is over a 10-year period on the straight-line method, and Client Entity chooses to fund prior service cost over 5 years beginning on December 31, 19X3. 

SOLUTION
Pension expense for 19X1 is $80,000 because the service cost is fully funded each year and because plan assets earned their expected return; pension expense is $88,000 for 19X2. In 19X3, however, the situation changes because of prior service cost. 

Pension expense is computed as follows for 19X3: 

	Service cost 
	$96,800 

	Interest cost ($196,000 × 10%) 
	19,600 

	Return on plan assets ($176,000 × 10%) 
	(17,600) 

	Amortization of prior service cost ($20,000 ÷ 10) 
	2,000 

	Pension expense 
	$100,800 


The journal entry at December 31 is: 

	Pension Expense 
	100,800 
	

	Pension Asset 
	4,000 
	

	   Cash ($100,800 + $4,000) 
	
	104,800 


After the 19X3 contribution of $104,800, the PBO is $312,400 and the total of plan assets is $298,400, or a difference of $14,000. The total of plan assets is computed as follows: 

	Contributions 
	

	   19X1 
	$80,000 

	   19X2 
	88,000 

	   19X3 
	104,800 

	

	

	
	

	Return on plan assets: 
	

	   19X2 
	8,000 

	   19X3 
	17,600 

	   Plan assets at 12/31/X2 
	$298,400 


PBO is computed as follows: 

	Service cost: 
	

	   19X1 
	$80,000 

	   19X2 
	88,000 

	   19X3 
	96,800 

	

	

	
	

	Interest cost: 
	

	   19X2 
	8,000 

	   19X3 
	19,600 

	Prior service cost 
	20,000 

	Pension expense 
	$312,400 


The pension asset of $4,000 exists even though the PBO exceeds the total of plan assets. The $4,000 pension asset results from having funded $4,000 of prior service cost plus the total pension expense. 

Pension expense for 19X4 is computed as follows: 

	Service cost 
	$106,400 

	Interest cost ($312,400 × 10%) 
	31,240 

	Return on plan assets ($298,400 × 10%) 
	(29,840) 

	Amortization of prior service cost ($20,000 ÷ 10) 
	2,000 

	Pension expense 
	$109,800 


SFAS 87 requires organizations to assess individual circumstances to determine whether amortization of prior service cost should be accelerated to reflect the more rapid expiration of the employer's economic benefits. The Emerging Issues Task Force has addressed the issue of whether a history of granting retroactive plan amendments should result in amortization of prior service cost over a period shorter than is otherwise required by SFAS 87. The Task Force acknowledged the difficulty of judging the period of economic benefit to the employer, but agreed that SFAS 97 does not require a presumption of rapid amortization over the term of a union contract even if additional prior service is granted at the beginning of each contract period. 

The final component of periodic pension expense is the amount of any gain or loss resulting from actual experience that is different from what was anticipated and/or changes in estimates and assumptions regarding future events. In practice, it is unusual for actual experience to coincide with estimated results. Each year the cumulative amount of these gains and losses (called unrecognized gain or loss) is measured. In order to do so, however, it is first necessary to compute the value of plan assets. There are two ways to calculate the value of plan assets:

· Fair value

· Market-related asset value

The fair value (market value) is merely the amount of proceeds that would result from the sale of assets held in the plan. The fair value may fluctuate significantly from year to year as market value changes and thus result in large differences in pension expense from one year to the next. Accordingly, SFAS 87 permits the use of an asset value that reflects an average of fair values over a period of time. The asset value is referred to as the market-related asset value (MRAV) method, and it recognizes changes in fair value by a systematic smoothing technique over a period not to exceed five years. The FASB has allowed a great deal of flexibility in determining MRAV, but it requires the consistent use of a technique from period to period. In many cases, the MRAV is calculated by the actuary. However, a basic understanding of how MRAV is computed will be helpful in understanding the gain or loss component of periodic pension expense. The following illustrates the use of a moving-average method. 

	
	1 
	2 
	3 
	4 
	5 

	Years
	

	Fair Value (market value) at 1/1 
	$36,000 
	$40,000 
	$44,000 
	$36,000 
	$46,000 

	Fair Value (market value) at 12/31 
	$40,000 
	$44,000 
	$36,000 
	$46,000 
	$41,000 


MRAV is calculated as follows: 

	
	3 
	4 
	5 

	Year
	

	A. Total of last 3 years' fair values at January 1 
	$120,600 
	$120,000 
	$126,000 

	B. MRAV at January 1 (A ÷ 3) 
	$40,200 
	$40,000 
	$42,000 

	C. Total of last 3 years' fair values at December 31 
	$120,000 
	$126,000 
	$123,000 

	D. MRAV at December 31 (C ÷ 3) 
	$40,000 
	$42,000 
	$41,000 


Note that by using a moving average, the fluctuations in the value of plan assets at the beginning of the year (line B) and at the end of the year (line D) are much less than when using market value as the basis for valuing plan assets. 

The gain or loss component is reflected in the measurement of plan assets and PBO. Gains and losses are expected to even out over a period of time, so the amount of cumulative (unrecognized) gain or loss need not be amortized and included in periodic pension expense unless it exceeds a defined threshold amount (the corridor test). The threshold amount is 10% of the larger of PBO at the beginning of the year or MRAV at the beginning of the year. The following example illustrates the computation of gain or loss to be amortized. 

Example 8. Computation of Gain or Loss to Be Amortized 
FACTS
Assume the data in the following three independent situations: 

SOLUTION
	
	1 
	2 
	3 

	Situation
	

	A. PBO at 1/1 
	$34,000 
	$70,000 
	$37,500 

	B. MRAV at 1/1 
	$20,000 
	$77,500 
	$26,250 

	C. Unrecognized net gain (loss) at 1/1 
	$3,700 
	$7,450 
	$(4,950) 

	D. 10% of larger of PBO or MRAV 
	$3,400 
	$7,750 
	$(3,750) 

	E. Amount subject to amortization (line C − line D) 
	$300 
	$-0- 
	$(1,200) 


The minimum amortization to be included in periodic pension expense is computed under the straight-line method over the estimated average remaining service life of active employees. Amortization may also be based on any other systematic method as long as it results in at least the amount of amortization that would be required under the straight-line method. Note that the amortization of gain or loss used in periodic pension expense for any year is based on beginning-of-the-year amounts, and therefore the amount is known almost a year in advance. Keep in mind that this is consistent with the basic concept that the components of periodic pension expense are based on forecasts with the actual experience of any period reflected in future periods. 

The following example illustrates the computation of gain or loss to be amortized. 

Example 9. Computation of Gain or Loss Amortization 
FACTS
Assume the data in the following three independent situations. Also assume that the average remaining service period is 10 years. 

SOLUTION
	
	1 
	2 
	3 

	Situation
	

	A. PBO at 1/1 
	$75,000 
	$82,500 
	$72,000 

	B. MRAV at 1/1 
	$63,000 
	$98,400 
	$66,000 

	C. Unrecognized net gain (loss) at 1/1 
	$8,940 
	$9,000 
	$(16,320) 

	D. 10% of larger of PBO or MRAV 
	$7,500 
	$9,840 
	$(7,200) 

	E. Amount subject to amortization 
	$1,440 
	$-0- 
	$(9,120) 

	F. Current year amortization. (line E ÷ 10) 
	$144 
	$-0- 
	$(912) 


The above example illustrates the amount of amortization in various situations in the first year in which unrecognized gain or loss exceeds the threshold. For future years, the computation can be somewhat confusing. The following is an example of how amortization is calculated over a number of years when the unrecognized gain or loss fluctuates from year to year. 

Example 10. Computation of Amortization Over a Number of Years 
FACTS
Assume the following data for Client Entity for years 19X1, 19X2, and 19X3. Also assume that the average remaining service period is 10 years. 

	
	19X1 
	19X2 
	19X3 

	Year
	

	Unrecognized net gain at 1/1 
	$33,000 
	$45,000 
	$53,400 

	Threshold (10% of larger of PBO or MRAV at 1/1) 
	$36,000 
	$39,000 
	$42,000 

	Amount subject to amortization 
	$-0- 
	$6,000 
	$11,400 


SOLUTION
The current year's amortization for 19X1, 19X2, and 19X3 is computed as follows: 

	
	19X1 
	19X2 
	19X3 

	Year
	

	Current year amortization: 
	
	
	

	   19X1 
	$-0- 
	
	

	   19X2 ($6,000 ÷ 10) 
	
	$600 
	

	   19X3 ($11,400 ÷ 10) 
	
	
	$1,140 


There is no amortization in 19X1 because the unrecognized net gain is less than the threshold amount. For 19X2, the amount of amortization is simply the excess of the unrecognized gain at January 1, 19X2 over the threshold amount on that date divided by the average remaining service period of 10 years. For 19X3, however, the amount to be amortized is reduced by the 19X2 amortization of $600. The $53,400 unrecognized net gain at January 1, 19X3 consists of the following elements: 

	Unrecognized net gain at January 1, 19X2 
	$45,000 

	Amount amortized in 19X2 
	(600) 

	Additional gain from 19X2 experience (implied) 
	9,000 

	Unrecognized net gain at January 1, 19X3 
	$53,400 


In practice, it is common for actuaries to report unrecognized gain or loss on a market-related asset value. However, SFAS 87 requires the experience component of net unrecognized gain or loss to be based on the difference between the fair value of plan assets and their expected value. Accordingly, an adjustment to the gain or loss amount as reported by the actuary may be necessary. The following example illustrates the required adjustment. 

Example 11. Adjustment of Actuarially Reported Net Gain or Loss 
FACTS
Assume the following information with respect to the value of plan assets for Client Entity: 

	
	19X1 
	19X2 
	19X3 

	January 1
	

	Fair value of plan assets 
	$528,000 
	$432,000 
	$552,000 

	MRAV 
	482,400 
	480,000 
	504,000 

	Gain (loss) based on the fair value not included in MRAV 
	$45,600 
	$(48,000) 
	$48,000 

	
	
	
	


Also assume that Client Entity's actuary reports net gain or loss using MRAV as follows: 

	
	19X1 
	19X2 
	19X3 

	January 1
	

	Net unrecognized (gain) loss using MRAV 
	$72,000 
	$180,000 
	$(91,200) 


SOLUTION
The required adjustment is computed as follows: 

	
	19X1 
	19X2 
	19X3 

	January 1
	

	Net unrecognized (gain) loss using MRAV from above 
	$72,000 
	$180,000 
	$(91,200) 

	Gain (loss) based on fair value not included in MRAV 
	45,600 
	(48,000) 
	48,000 

	Net unrealized (gain) loss based on fair value 
	$117,600 
	$132,000 
	$(43,200) 


As you can see, unrecognized gain or loss using fair value is different than the corresponding amount using MRAV. In 19X1, the loss of $72,000 as reported by the actuary based on MRAV does not include a gain of $45,600; thus, if the actuary had used fair value, he would have reported a greater loss. In 19X2, the loss reported by the actuary would have been less using fair value, and in 19X3, the gain would have been less. In some situations, use of fair value may result in a significant difference, which will influence the amount of gain or loss subject to amortization. 

Measurement and reporting of assets and liabilities.

The FASB originally believed that a PBO greater than the fair value of plan assets should result in a recorded liability, and, likewise, a fair value of plan assets in excess of the PBO should result in a recorded asset. However, SFAS 87 reflects a somewhat relaxed requirement in this regard. First of all, the original use of PBO as a measure of asset or liability to be recorded has been dropped and in its place the accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) is used. ABO differs from PBO in that it is not based on assumptions about future compensation levels. For pension plans with benefits that either are not based on compensation (non-pay-related) or call for a fixed amount of retirement income for each year of service (flat-benefit), the ABO and the PBO are the same. For plans that do consider salary changes as a basis for retirement benefits, the PBO will almost always be larger than the ABO. Also, in its final form, SFAS 87 does not permit the recording of an asset when the fair value of the plan asset exceeds ABO. Note that in measuring whether any liability must be recorded, the fair value (market value) of plan assets is used, not the MRAV. Also note that the amount of any liability to be recorded based on the excess of ABO over the fair value of plan assets is reduced by the amount of pension liability that is already recorded and that resulted from a contribution to the plan in an amount less than the pension expense. The following example illustrates how the minimum liability to be recorded is calculated. 

Example 12. Calculation of Minimum Liability to Be Recorded 
FACTS
Assume the data in the following three independent situations: 

	
	1 
	2 
	3 

	Situation
	

	ABO 
	$95,000 
	$78,000 
	$81,000 

	Fair value of plan assets 
	96,000 
	71,000 
	76,000 

	Minimum liability 
	-0- 
	7,000 
	5,000 

	Amount already recorded as pension asset or (liability) representing the cumulative difference to date between all prior pension expense amounts and cash contributions 
	5,000 
	2,000 
	(3,000) 

	Ending amount on balance sheet 
	$-0- 
	$9,000 
	$2,000 


SOLUTION
In Situation 1, no minimum liability is recorded because the fair value of plan assets is more than ABO. The $5,000 pension asset remains on the balance sheet, representing funding of the plan in amounts greater than pension expense. In Situation 2, the $7,000 minimum liability will appear on the balance sheet and will increase the $2,000 pension asset already on the balance sheet to $9,000. In Situation 3, the $5,000 minimum liability is offset by the $3,000 pension liability already on the balance sheet, which results in a $2,000 pension asset being recorded. 

The journal entries to record the minimum liability in each of the above situations are as follows: 

	Situation 1 
	
	

	   No journal entry required 
	
	

	

	

	
	
	

	Situation 2 
	
	

	   Deferred pension cost 
	9,000 
	

	     Pension asset 
	
	2,000 

	     Additional pension liability 
	
	7,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	Situation 3 
	
	

	   Deferred pension cost 
	3,000 
	

	   Pension liability 
	2,000 
	

	     Additional pension liability 
	
	5,000 


The idea of a minimum liability is that when ABO exceeds plan assets, the balance sheet should report a liability that is at least the underfunded amount. The debit to deferred pension cost (an intangible asset) is based on the idea that these costs will be recognized in the future. In subsequent years, the minimum liability is computed in the same manner as illustrated above and the asset and liability account adjusted accordingly. Note that the intangible asset is not amortized. 

There is one important variation to the rule of debiting an intangible asset to offset the minimum liability. If the amount added to the intangible asset exceeds unrecognized prior service cost, the excess is recorded as a reduction of stockholders' equity in a separate account described as “Deferred Pension Cost in Excess of Unrecognized Prior Service Cost.” 

Measurement Date

Note: Examples 13 and 14 are reserved for future use. 

Measurement date. The measurement date for plan assets and liabilities may be as of the date of the financial statements themselves or as of a date no more than three months before the date of the financial statements (i.e., as of the end of the third fiscal quarter). If the measurement date is within three months, the minimum liability to be recognized should be determined based on the funded status of the plan as of that date; it should not be adjusted for any fourth quarter contribution to the plan that could mitigate or eliminate entirely the need to recognize a minimum liability. 

E6.3.4 Employers With Multiple Plans

Employers with two or more plans must apply the provisions of SFAS 87 to each plan separately. Unless an employer clearly has the right to use assets of one plan to pay benefits of another, any liability to be recognized for one plan may not be reduced because another plan has assets in excess of its ABO or because the company has prepaid a pension cost related to another plan. 

E6.3.5 Annuity and Other Insurance Contracts

An annuity contract is a contract in which an insurance company unconditionally undertakes a legal obligation to provide specific benefits to specific individuals in return for a fixed consideration or premium. An annuity contract transfers significant risk from the employer to the insurance company. In connection with such contracts, service cost is equal to the cost (premium) of purchasing the contracts to the extent that benefits currently earned are covered by the contracts. Benefits not covered by the annuity contracts must be accounted for under SFAS 87 in accordance with the provisions applicable to plans not involving insurance contracts. Benefits covered by annuity contracts are not considered part of PBO and ABO, and the contracts themselves are not considered part of plan assets. 

Some annuity contracts provide that either the pension plan itself or the employer-sponsor may participate in the insurance company's experience through dividends. The cost of such contracts usually exceeds those without the participation feature and the excess is attributable to the participation right. The cost of the participation right must be recognized as an asset on the date of purchase. Subsequently, the participation right should be measured at fair value (if reasonably estimable), or at its amortized cost (not to exceed net realizable value). Amortization should be made systematically over the expected dividend period under the contract. 

Insurance contracts that are in substance equivalent to annuities should be accounted for as such. Other insurance contracts should be accounted for and measured at fair value, which may be contract value, conversion value, or cash surrender value. 

E6.3.6 Multi-Employer Plans

A multi-employer plan is one to which two or more unrelated organizations contribute, usually in connection with a collective-bargaining agreement. An important aspect of a multi-employer plan is that assets contributed by one organization may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating organizations. For employers participating in such a plan, pension expense is equal to the required contribution for the period and a liability recorded for any unpaid contributions. If withdrawal from a multi-employer plan may result in an obligation for a portion of the plan's unfunded benefit obligation, such an obligation should be accounted for in accordance with SFAS 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” 

Some plans to which unrelated employers contribute are not multi-employer plans. Instead, they are aggregations of single-employer plans that allow companies to pool their assets for investment purposes and to reduce administration costs. Such plans should be considered single employer plans and accounted for based on each company's respective interest in the plan. 

The Emerging Issues Task Force has reached a consensus that an employer in a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan does not have to record the liability for the total future payments for prior service pension costs at the date the employer enters the plan or increases benefits under the plan. This is true even though the employer promises to pay certain future contributions to the plan based on the plan's prior service cost associated with entry into the plan or improved benefits promised. Based on SFAS 87, paragraph 68, the existence of an executed agreement that specifies the amounts of future contributions (based in part on prior service costs) does not require a liability to be reported that exceeds contributions currently due and unpaid. 

E6.3.7 Applicability of SFAS 88

SFAS 88 applies to accounting for a settlement or a curtailment of an organization's defined benefit pension plan. It applies when all or part of the plan's pension benefit obligation is settled or the plan is curtailed. It also applies when a company offers benefits to employees in connection with their termination of employment. 

A settlement is defined as a transaction that:

· Is irrevocable

· Relieves the employer (or the plan) of primary responsibility for a pension benefit obligation

· Eliminates significant risks related to the obligation and the assets used to effect the settlement

Examples of a settlement are lump-sum cash payments to plan participants in exchange for their rights to receive specified pension benefits, and the purchase of nonparticipating annuity contracts to cover vested benefits. Any transaction that does not meet all three of the above criteria is not considered a settlement. 

A curtailment is an event that significantly reduces the expected years of future service of present employees or eliminates for a significant number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future services. Curtailments include:

· Termination of employees' services earlier than expected (e.g., discontinuing a segment of a business or closing a facility)

· Termination or suspension of a plan so that employees do not earn additional defined benefits for future services (Note that in this situation future services may be counted toward vesting of benefits that have been accumulated based on past service.)

A settlement and curtailment may occur separately or together. 

E6.3.8 Accounting for a Settlement

Essentially, a settlement calls for settling of the PBO. If the entire PBO is settled, the maximum gain or loss is reported in the settlement period. If only a portion of the PBO is settled, however, only that portion of the gain or loss is recognized currently. The maximum amount of gain or loss to be reported is the unrecorded net gain or loss existing at the date of settlement. If the cost of all settlements in a year is less than or equal to the sum of the service and interest cost components, gain or loss is permitted (but not required) for these settlements. The following example illustrates how gain or loss on a settlement is computed. 

Example 15. Accounting for a Plan Settlement 
FACTS
Assume the following data for Client Entity in the two following independent situations: 

	
	1 
	2 

	Situation
	

	Vested benefit obligation 
	$1,300,000 
	$1,300,000) 

	PBO 
	2,000,000 
	2,000,000 

	Fair value of plan assets 
	1,400,000 
	2,100,000 

	Under (over) funding 
	$600,000 
	$(100,000) 

	Unrecognized net gain subsequent to transition 
	300,000 
	$500,000 

	Pension liability on the Statement of Financial Position 
	$100,000 
	$400,000 


Also assume that Client Entity settles its vested benefit obligation of $1.3 million. 

SOLUTION
As a result of the settlement, PBO is reduced by $1.3 million to $700,000. The amount of gain to be recognized is computed as follows: 

	
	1 
	2 

	Situation
	

	Portion of PBO settled
($1,300,000 ÷ $2,000,000) 
	65% 
	65% 

	Unrecognized net gain at settlement date 
	$300,000 
	$500,000 

	Gain to be recognized 
	$195,000 
	$325,000 


The journal entry to be made in each situation is as follows: 

	Situation 1 
	
	

	   Pension liability 
	100,000 
	

	   Pension asset 
	95,000 
	

	     Gain on plan settlement 
	
	195,000 


The pension liability of $100,000 is completely eliminated and a $95,000 pension asset arises. Note that the vested benefits of $1.3 million are settled through use of the plan assets. 

	Situation 2 
	
	

	   Pension liability 
	325,000 
	

	     Gain on plan settlement 
	
	325,000 


Only $325,000 of the pension liability is eliminated, so a $75,000 liability remains after the settlement. 

Reassumption of pension obligation.

The FASB Emerging Issues Task Force has considered the situation in which an employer settles its pension obligation through the purchase of annuity contracts from an insurance company. However, the insurance company subsequently becomes insolvent and is unable to meet all of its obligations under the annuity contracts, so the sponsor-employer is forced to make up the deficiency in payments to retirees. 

The Task Force reached the consensus that in such a situation, the employer should recognize a loss at the time the deficiency is assumed if a gain was recognized on the original settlement. Tile loss recognized should be the lesser of any gain recognized on the original settlement or the amount of the benefit obligation assumed by the employer. The excess of the obligation assumed by the employer over the recognized loss should be accounted for as a plan amendment or plan initiation. 

E6.3.9 Accounting for a Curtailment

	A curtailment will affect some portion of unrecognized pension cost components, such as unrecognized prior service cost, transition asset or liability, and unrecognized net gain or loss. If the net effect of the curtailment is a loss, the loss should be recognized when it is probable that the curtailment will occur and the effects are reasonably estimable. If a gain results, it should be recognized when the affected employees terminate or when the plan suspension or amendment is adopted by the company. The amount of curtailment gain or loss is computed as follows: 

   Curtailment gain = The amount of PBO − decrease any unrecognized net loss 

	   Curtailment loss = The amount of PBO − increase any unrecognized net gain 


The following example illustrates how curtailment gain or loss is computed. 

Example 16. Accounting for a Plan Curtailment 
FACTS
Assume the data for the following two independent situations: 

	
	1 
	2 

	Situation
	

	Increase (decrease) in PBO from curtailment 
	$200,000 
	$(200,000) 

	Unrecognized net loss (gain) 
	(120,000) 
	120,000 

	Curtailment loss (gain) 
	$80,000 
	$(80,000) 


SOLUTION
Unrecognized net asset or liability at transition is considered part of unrecognized gain or loss for purposes of computing curtailment gains and losses. 

E6.3.10 Termination Benefits

When an employer offers special termination benefits to employees, the amount should be accrued when the employees accept the offer and the amount can be estimated. For organizations that provide contractual termination benefits required by the terms of a plan, the amount should be accrued when it is probable that employees will be entitled to the benefits and the amount can be estimated. The cost of termination benefits includes both the amount of any lump-sum payments and the present value of any expected future payments. 

Note that any gain or loss associated with a settlement or curtailment of a plan or termination benefits that are directly related to disposal of a business segment should be included in determining the gain or loss on disposal. 

E6.4 Pension Costs: Disclosures

See Section E6.8 for disclosure requirements and examples. 

E6.5 Other Postretirement Benefits: Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

APB Opinion 20 

SFASs 87, 88 , 106, 112 , and 132 

E6.6 Other Postretirement Benefits: Overview

Accounting for other postretirement (or postemployment) benefits is now an extension of employers' pension accounting. The new rules require application of the accrual basis; the pay-as-you-go (cash) basis has been eliminated for defined benefit plans. 

The annual expense for postemployment benefits may include all of the following items:

· Service cost

· Interest cost

· Return on plan assets

· Amortization of prior service cost

· Amortization of unrecognized gain or loss

· Amortization of the transition asset or liability

Unlike accounting for pensions, the rules for other postemployment benefits do not require recognition of a liability for the excess of the benefit obligation over the fair value of plan assets. When a defined benefit plan is settled and a gain arises, it must first be applied to reduce any transition liability; the excess is recognized in changes in net assets. If a loss is created upon settlement, the entire amount is recognized immediately. When a defined benefit plan is curtailed, any loss should be recognized in changes in net assets when it is probable that the curtailment will occur; if a gain results, it should be recognized when the affected employees are terminated or the plan suspension or amendment is adopted. 

E6.7 Other Postretirement Benefits: Measurement Principles

E6.7.1 Scope and Applicability of SFAS 106

SFAS 106 applies to all postretirement benefits (other than pensions) expected to be provided by an employer to current and former employees, their beneficiaries, and covered dependents. Common types of postretirement benefits other than pensions (referred to in this section as OPEB) are:

· Health care

· Life insurance not provided as part of a pension plan

· Tuition assistance

· Day care

· Legal services

· Housing subsidies

SFAS 106 defines an OPEB plan as an arrangement that is mutually understood by an employer and its employees, whereby the employer undertakes to provide current and former employees with OPEB after they retire in exchange for services by those employees either for a specified number of years, or upon attaining a specified age while still employed by the organization (or both). OPEB may begin immediately upon retirement or may be deferred until retired employees reach a specified age. 

SFAS 106 applies to all OPEB arrangements, including funded and unfunded plans, written and unwritten plans, and defined benefit and defined contribution plans. However, it does not apply to an employer's practice of providing OPEB to selected employees under individual contracts with specific terms determined on a person-by-person basis. 

If an OPEB plan is part of a larger arrangement that provides benefits currently to active and retired employees, the promise to provide future benefits should be accounted for separately in accordance with SFAS 106. 

Note that even though a written plan exists that sets forth the employer's and employees' rights and obligations, a substantive plan may also exist that is more in line with the actual benefits provided by the employer and/or the costs shared by employees. SFAS 106 makes it clear that the substantive plan should be the basis of accounting for OPEB. 

E6.7.2 Accounting for Defined Benefit Plans

As with defined benefit pension plans, the key to accounting for defined benefit OPEB plans is determination of the benefit obligations, termed the “expected postretirement benefit obligation” (EPBO) and the “accumulated postretirement benefit obligation” (APBO). EPBO is the actuarial present value of OPEB expected to be paid. It is based on the expected amount and timing of future benefits, including costs that are shared by employees and third parties. APBO is the actuarial present value of all future benefits attributed to employees' services rendered to date, assuming that the plan continues in effect and that all assumptions about future events materialize. 

Components of OPEB expense.

OPEB expense consists of the following components: 

(1) Service cost. The actuarial present value of pension benefits earned by employees in the current period. 

(2) Interest cost. The increase in the present value of APBO attributable to the passage of time. 

(3) Actual return on plan assets. The difference in fair values of plan assets (for a funded) plan at the beginning and end of the period, adjusted for contributions and benefit payments. Note that if the plan holding the assets is a taxable entity, the return on plan assets is computed on an after-tax basis. If no formal funded plan exists (i.e., the employer, not a plan, holds assets that may be used to satisfy the OPEB obligation), this component will not be a part of annual OPEB expense. 

(4) Amortization of prior service cost. A portion of OPEB benefits granted to employees retroactively, either by amendment or initiation of the plan. 

(5) Gain or loss. This component may itself consist of three subcomponents: (1) the difference between the actual and expected returns on plan assets; (2) amortization of unrecognized net gain or loss from previous periods; and (3) an amount of gain or loss due to a decision to temporarily deviate from the substantive plan. 

(6) Amortization of the transition obligation or asset. A portion of the difference between APBO and the fair value of plan assets on the measurement date for the year in which SFAS 106 is initially applied. 

Determination of the benefit obligations.

In order to compute annual OPEB expense, SFAS 106 requires determination of two OPEB obligations: (1) EPBO; and (2) APBO. EPBO is the present value of OPEB expected to be paid to employees, their beneficiaries, and covered dependents. Prior to the date on which employees become fully eligible for benefits, APBO simply represents the portion of EPBO attributable to services already rendered. At the full eligibility date, however, EPBO and APBO become identical. 

Example 17. Computation of EPBO and APBO 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity's plan provides OPEB to all employees who render at least 10 years of service and reach age 55 while still working for the company. Also assume that one employee is hired on January 1, 1973, at age 30; the employee is expected to terminate employment at age 62 and to live to age 77. A discount rate of 8% is assumed. 

Following is a schedule, as of December 31, 1992, of actuarially determined expected future claims. The schedule also shows the present values of the claims at December 31, 1991 (the current date), December 31, 1995, and at December 31, 1997 (the full eligibility date). 

	Age/(Year) 
	Expected Future Claims 
	1992 
	1995 
	1997 

	Present Value
	
	

	63(2005) 
	$ 2,796 
	$1,028 
	$1,295 
	$1,511 

	64(2006) 
	3,093 
	1,052 
	1,326 
	1,547 

	65(2007) 
	856 
	270 
	339 
	396 

	66(2008) 
	947 
	276 
	348 
	406 

	67(2009) 
	1,051 
	284 
	357 
	417 

	68(2010) 
	1,161 
	291 
	366 
	427 

	69(2011) 
	1,282 
	297 
	374 
	436 

	70(2012) 
	1,425 
	306 
	385 
	449 

	71(2013) 
	1,577 
	313 
	394 
	460 

	72(2014) 
	1,744 
	321 
	404 
	471 

	73(2015) 
	1,934 
	329 
	415 
	484 

	74(2016) 
	2,137 
	337 
	424 
	495 

	75(2017) 
	2,367 
	346 
	435 
	508 

	76(2018) 
	2,620 
	354 
	446 
	520 

	77(2019) 
	3,899 
	488 
	615 
	717 

	
	$28,889 
	$6,292 
	$7,923 
	$9,244 


SOLUTION
At December 31, 1992, (at age 50), the EPBO is $6,292, representing the present value of all expected future claims to be paid after retirement. APBO on that date is $5,034 (20/25 of $6,292), because an equal amount of EPBO is attributed to each year of service (20 years of service from January 1, 1973 through December 31, 1992). Similarly, on December 31, 1995, EPBO is $7,923 and APBO is $7,289 (23/25 of $7,923). At December 31, 1997, the full eligibility date, EPBO is $9,244 and APBO is also $9,244 (computed as 25/25 of $9,244). In years 1988 and through 2004, EPBO and APBO also will be identical at any point in time. 

Note that SFAS 106 requires pro rata allocation of the EPBO to each year of service, unless the plan provides otherwise. 

As they relate to the components of annual OPEB expense, service cost is based on the increase in EPBO, whereas interest cost, amortization of prior service cost, gains and losses, and amortization of the transition amount are based on APBO. 

Computation of components of OPEB expense.

Service cost, the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to services rendered by employees during the current period, is determined by the actuary. 

Interest cost, the increase in APBO due to the passage of time, is computed by multiplying the discount factor times the balance of APBO at the beginning of the year. 

The actual return (or loss) on plan assets is the difference between the beginning and ending fair values of plan assets, as illustrated in the following example. 

Example 18. Computation of Actual Return on Plan Assets 
FACTS
Assume the following information for Client Entity: 

	
	Year 1 
	Year 2 
	Year 3 

	Fair value of plan assets at 1/1 
	$900,000 
	$860,000 
	$950,000 

	Add: assets contributed to the plan 
	160,000 
	310,000 
	200,000 

	Less: benefit payments made by the plan 
	(240,000) 
	(200,000) 
	(160,000) 

	
	820,000 
	970,000 
	990,000 

	Fair value of plan assets at 12/31 
	(860,000) 
	(950,000) 
	(990,000) 

	Actual (return) loss during the year 
	$(40,000) 
	$20,000 
	$-0- 


SOLUTION
Note that the fair value of the plan assets at the beginning of the period is adjusted for contributions and benefit payments. The adjusted balance is then compared with the fair value of the plan assets at the end of the period to determine actual return. 

The next element of OPEB expense is the amortization of prior service cost arising from initiation of the plan or from an amendment to the plan. Prior service cost increases APBO. The increase must be amortized over the remaining years of service up to the full eligibility date of each plan participant who is active at the date of the event (e.g., plan amendment) that gave rise to the prior service cost. 

Note that only employees who (1) are expected to receive benefits under the plan, (2) have not reached the full eligibility date, but (3) have reached the minimum age to participate in the plan form the basis of prior service cost amortization. The following example illustrates how employees are selected. 

Example 19. Determining Which Employees Form the Basis of Prior Service Cost Amortization 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity has 100 employees. Under the terms of its postemployment plan, employees who render at least 25 years of service after reaching age 30 are entitled to benefits. 

SOLUTION
An analysis of Client Entity's work force at the date of a plan amendment that increased APBO is as follows: 

	
	Employee 
	Employees forming the basis of prior service cost amortization 

	Not expected to receive OPEB 
	38 
	0 

	Expected to receive OPEB: 
	
	

	   Under 30 at the amendment date 
	22 
	0 

	   Fully eligible participants at the amendment date 
	21 
	0 

	   Not yet fully eligible but at least 30 years of age 
	19 
	19 

	
	100 
	19 


Prior service cost may be amortized over either of two approaches: 

(1) By assigning an equal amount to each remaining year of service to the full eligibility date of each plan participant at the date of plan initiation or amendment; or 

(2) By the straight-line method over the average number of years prior to full eligibility. 

The following example shows how the two approaches are applied. 

Example 20. Amortization of Prior Service Cost 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity amends its postemployment plan to increase benefits for prior service. The amendment increases APBO by $100,000. Client Entity has nine employees that form the basis of prior service cost amortization. 

	Employee 
	Years of service before full eligibility 
	19X1 
	19X2 
	19X3 
	19X4 
	19X5 
	Total 

	Year
	
	
	

	1 
	5 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	5 

	2 
	4 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	
	4 

	3 
	4 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	
	4 

	4 
	4 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	
	4 

	5 
	3 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	
	
	3 

	6 
	3 
	1 
	1 
	1 
	
	
	3 

	7 
	2 
	1 
	1 
	
	
	
	2 

	8 
	1 
	1 
	
	
	
	
	1 

	9 
	1 
	1 
	
	
	
	
	1 

	
	
	9 
	7 
	6 
	4 
	1 
	27 


Under the first approach, which is similar to the sum-of-the-years'-digits method, amortization of the $100,000 prior service cost for each of the remaining five years is: 

	Year 
	Amortization rate 
	Annual amortization 
	Unamortized prior service cost 

	1 
	9/27 × $100,000 
	$33,333 
	$66,667 

	2 
	7/27 × $100,000 
	25,926 
	40,741 

	3 
	6/27 × $100,000 
	22,222 
	18,519 

	4 
	4/27 × $100,000 
	14,815 
	3,704 

	5 
	1/27 × $100,000 
	3,704 
	-0- 

	
	
	$100,000 
	


Using the straight-line method, the period over which amortization is taken is computed as the total remaining years of service before full eligibility (27) divided by the number of employees (9), or three years. Thus, amortization is $33,333 for each of the years 19X1 through 19X3. Note that the straight-line method always will produce a faster rate of amortization. 

The gain or loss element of OPEB expense is the most complicated to understand and to compute. The first step in calculating the gain or loss component is the determination of the value of plan assets. Plan assets may be measured at fair value (i.e., the amount that the plan could reasonably expect to receive in an arm's-length sale) or at a market related asset value (MRAV) that recognizes changes in fair value in a systematic and rational manner over a period not to exceed five years. There are any number of methods that smooth out the effects of volatile changes in fair value, and virtually any reasonable approach may be used provided that it is consistently applied. Note that SFAS 106 permits different methods of determining MRAV for different classes of assets (e.g., market values for bonds and a moving average for stocks). 

The gain or loss component of OPEB expense is comprised of (1) the difference between the actual and expected returns on plan assets; (2) amortization of unrecognized net gain or loss from previous periods; and (3) an amount of gain or loss due to a decision to temporarily deviate from the substantive plan. 

Actual return on plan assets is explained in Example 2 . The expected return is computed by multiplying the expected long-term rate of return to be earned on plan assets by the MRAV. The use of an expected rate of return and MRAV minimize the year-to-year volatility in OPEB expense. 

Unrecognized net gain or loss from previous periods is adjusted for gains and losses on plan assets not year reflected in MRAV (i.e., the difference between the fair value of assets and MRAV). Amortization of the unrecognized net gain or loss from previous periods is determined by application of the corridor approach; that is, unrecognized net gain or loss is amortized only on the excess of 10% of the larger of APBO or MRAV as of the beginning of the year. If the unrecognized (cumulative) net gain or loss exceeds the 10% threshold, the excess is amortized on the straight-line method over the average remaining service period of active plan participants. SFAS 106 permits the use of any systematic method of amortization provided that it results in at least the amount that would be required on the straight-line basis. 

The following example illustrates application of the corridor approach. 

Example 21. Corridor Approach to Unrecognized Net Gain or Loss Amortization 
FACTS
Assume the following data for Client Entity for the years 19X3 through 19X5. The average remaining service period for plan participants is 10 years. 

	
	19X3 
	19X4 
	19X5 

	APBO at 1/1 
	$150,000 
	$165,000 
	$144,000 

	MRAV at 1/1 
	$126,000 
	$196,800 
	$132,000 

	10% of the larger 
	$15,000 
	$19,680 
	$14,400 

	Unrecognized net gain (loss) at 1/1 
	17,880 
	18,000 
	(32,640) 

	Excess of unrecognized net gain or loss 
	2,880 
	-0- 
	(18,240) 

	Amortization 
	$288 
	-0- 
	$(1,824) 


SOLUTION
In 19X3, $288 of unrecognized net gain reduces OPEB expense. In 19X4, no amortization is recorded (i.e., the amount of unrecognized net gain or loss is within the corridor). In 19X5, $1,824 of unrecognized net loss increases OPEB expense. 

Since gains and losses tend to offset each other to some extent over time, the corridor approach reduces their impact on OPEB expense in any one year. 

The following comprehensive example illustrates the calculation of the gain or loss component of OPEB expense. 

Example 22. Calculation of Gain or Loss Component of OPEB Expense 
FACTS
Assume the following data for Client Entity: 

	
	19X2 
	19X3 
	19X4 
	19X5 

	Actual APBO at 12/31 
	$300,000 
	$360,000 
	$379,800 
	$396,000 

	Projected APBO at 12/31 
	— 
	$318,000 
	$379,800 
	$403,500 

	Plan assets at fair value at 12/31 
	$240,000 
	$264,000 
	$320,400 
	$329,100 

	Projected plan assets at fair value at
12/31 
	— 
	$264,000 
	$290,400 
	$350,100 

	Actual MRAV at 12/31 
	$240,000 
	$264,000 
	$296,400 
	$327,900 

	Actual return on plan assets 
	— 
	$24,000 
	$56,400 
	$8,700 

	Expected return on plan assets 
	— 
	$24,000 
	$26,400 
	$29,700 

	Average remaining service life 
	— 
	10 yrs. 
	10 yrs. 
	10 yrs. 


SOLUTION
Unrecognized net gain or loss for each of the years 19X3 through 19X5 is computed as follows: 

	
	19X3 
	19X4 
	19X5 

	Unrecognized net (gain) or loss from previous years at 1/1 
	$-0- 
	$42,000 
	$11,400 

	Current year's amortization 
	-0- 
	(600) 
	-0- 

	
	$-0- 
	$41,400 
	$11,400 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Funded status of the plan: 
	
	
	

	Projected APBO minus projected fair value of plan assets at 12/31 
	(54,000) 
	(89,400) 
	(53,400) 

	Actual APBO minus actual fair value of plan assets at 12/31 
	96,000 
	59,400 
	66,900 

	
	$42,000 
	$(30,000) 
	$13,500 

	Unrecognized net (gain) or loss at
12/31 
	$42,000 
	$11,400 
	$24,900 


The current year's amortization is computed as follows: 

	
	19X3 
	19X4 
	19X5 

	10% of the larger of APBO or MRAV at 1/1 
	$30,000 
	$36,000 
	$37,980 

	Unrecognized net (pin) or loss from previous years at 1/1 
	-0- 
	42,000 
	11,400 

	Plan assets at fair value minus MRAV at 1/1 
	-0- 
	-0- 
	24,000 

	Unrecognized net (gain) or loss from previous years subject to amortization 
	-0- 
	42,000 
	35,400 

	Excess over 10% threshold 
	-0- 
	6,000 
	-0- 

	Average remaining service life 
	10 yrs. 
	10 yrs. 
	10 yrs. 

	Current year's amortization 
	$-0- 
	$600 
	-0- 


Net amortization for each of the three years consists of: 

	
	19X3 
	19X4 
	19X5 

	Difference between actual and expected returns on plan assets 
	$-0- 
	$30,000 
	$(21,000) 

	Amortization of net (pin) or loss 
	-0- 
	600 
	-0- 

	
	$-0- 
	$30,600 
	$(21,000) 


The transition amount is measured as the difference between the APBO and the fair value of plan assets, plus any accrued liability or minus any prepaid cost on the measurement date for the year in which SFAS 106 is initially applied. The measurement date may be as of the first day of the transition year or as of a date not more than three months prior to the first day. The following example illustrates how the transition amount is computed. 

Example 23. Determination of Transition Amount 
FACTS
Assume the following independent situations for Client Entity, which adopts SFAS 106 in 19X3. 

SOLUTION
	
	1 
	2 
	3 
	4 

	Situation
	

	APBO at 1/1/X3 
	$1,000,000 
	$700,000 
	$900,000 
	$600,000 

	Plan assets at fair value at 1/1/X3 
	800,000 
	700,000 
	950,000 
	-0- 

	
	200,000 
	-0- 
	(50,000) 
	600,000 

	Accrued OPEB Liability at 1/1/X3 
	70,000 
	-0- 
	-0- 
	-0- 

	Prepaid OPEB cost at 1/1/X3 
	-0- 
	90,000 
	20,000 
	-0- 

	Transition obligation (asset) 
	$130,000 
	$90,000 
	$(30,000) 
	$600,000 


SFAS 106 permits either of two options for recognizing the transition amount: immediately (with limitation); or on a delayed basis through amortization (with a constraint) on the straight-line method over the average remaining service period of plan participants or over 20 years, if longer. Immediate recognition of the transition amount will, in most cases, simply be measured as the difference between APBO and plan assets at fair value on the first day of the year in which SFAS 106 is adopted. However, if prior service cost has arisen after December 21, 1990 either as a result of plan initiation or amendment, SFAS 106 requires that amount to be excluded from the transition obligation or asset. The following example shows how the limitation on immediate recognition is applied. 

Example 24. Immediate Recognition of Transition Amount 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity adopts SFAS 106 in 19X3 and that APBO and the fair value of plan assets are $1,500,000 and $1,100,000, respectively, on January 1, 19X3. There is no accrued liability or prepaid cost on January 1, 19X3. Also assume that on January 1, 19X2, Client Entity amends the plan to create $150,000 prior service cost. 

SOLUTION
The transition obligation to be recognized immediately in 19X3 is computed as follows: 

	APBO at 1/1/X3 
	$1,500,000 

	Fair value of plan assets at
1/1/X3 
	(1,100,000) 

	
	400,000 

	Less: prior service cost at 1/1/X2 
	(150,000) 

	Transition obligation at 1/1/X3 
	$250,000 


For Client Entity, $250,000 is shown on its 19X3 Statement of Activities as the “cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.” The credit would be to a liability account on the Statement of Financial Position described as “unfunded postretirement benefit obligation.” 

In the usual case, delayed recognition is accomplished by way of straight-line amortization of the transition obligation or asset either over the average remaining service period of plan participants or 20 years, if longer. However, SFAS 106 places a constraint on delayed recognition of the transition obligation so that the amount recognized cannot be at a slower rate than would have resulted on the cash basis of accounting for OPEB. This is determined by comparison of the cumulative amount of OPEB cost recognized subsequent to the date of transition with the cumulative benefits paid for that period. The following example illustrates how amortization of the transition obligation is accelerated to equal at least the pay-as-you-go rate. 

Example 25. Delayed Recognition of Transition Obligation 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity adopts SFAS 106 in 19X3. Prior to that year, OPEB was accounted for on the cash basis. At January 1, 19X3, APBO is $500,000, and there are no plan assets. 

Thus at January 1, 19X3, APBO and the transition obligation are identical in the amount of $500,000. The amortization period for the transition obligation is 20 years. Also assume the following data: 

	
	Accrued Liability 
	APBO 
	Transition Obligation 

	Balance at 1/1/X3 
	-0- 
	$500,000 
	$500,000 

	Service cost 
	20,000 
	20,000 
	

	Interest cost at 10% 
	50,000 
	50,000 
	

	Amortization of the transition obligation (20 yrs) 
	25,000 
	
	(25,000) 

	
	95,000 
	570,000 
	475,000 

	Benefit payments in 19X3 
	(30,000) 
	(30,000) 
	

	Balance at 12/31/X3 
	$65,000 
	$540,000 
	$475,000 


Assume now that in 19X4 benefit payments increase to $180,000, service cost increases to $30,000 and interest cost becomes $54,000 ($540,000 × 10%). Also assume the following reconciliation: 

	
	Accrued Liability 
	APBO 
	Transition Obligation 

	Balance at 1/1/X4 
	$65,000 
	$540,000 
	$475,000 

	Service cost 
	30,000 
	30,000 
	

	Interest cost 
	54,000 
	54,000 
	

	Indicated amortization of the transition obligation 
	25,000 
	
	(25,000) 

	
	174,000 
	624,000 
	450,000 

	Benefit payments 
	(180,000) 
	(180,000) 
	

	Indicated balances at 12/31/X4 
	$(6,000) 
	$444,000 
	$450,000 


SOLUTION
Note that the cumulative benefits paid as of December 31, 19X4 of $210,000 ($30,000 in 19X3 plus $180,000 in 19X4) exceed the cumulative costs of $204,000 recognized as of December 31, 19X4 ($95,000 in 19X3 plus $109,000 in 19X4) by $6,000. This excess reveals a recognition rate slower than would have been the case on the cash basis. Accordingly, amortization of the transition obligation in 19X4 is increased by $6,000 to $31,000. No adjustment is needed for 19X3, because recognized cost of $95,000 exceeds benefits paid of $30,000. 

Note that as of December 31, 19X4, after adjustment, the unamortized transition obligation is reduced to $444,000 ($450,000 − $6,000). In 19X5, assuming no further adjustment is necessary, amortization will be $24,667 ($444,000 ÷ 18 remaining years). Also note that after adjustment the prepaid OPEB cost that would have been created is completely eliminated. 

Balance sheet amounts.

SFAS 106 does not require recognition of a “minimum liability” in the Statement of Financial Position. This differs from the requirements of SFAS 87 on employers' pension accounting. However, as with pension accounting, SFAS 106 does call for accrued (or prepaid) OPEB expense to the extent that immediate recognition (i.e., through annual OPEB expense) results in an amount due (or overpayment) to the plan. The following examples illustrate how immediate and delayed recognition affect the accrued liability from year to year. 

Example 26. Accrual of Annual OPEB Expense in Transition Year 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity adopts SFAS 106 in 19X3. Prior to adoption, Client Entity has accounted for postemployment benefits on the cash basis. On January 1, 19X3, the APBO is $1,200,000, which is therefore equal to the transition obligation on that date. Client Entity does not set up a separate plan with dedicated assets. Also assume that the discount rate is 8% and that the transition obligation is being amortized over 20 years. 

SOLUTION
For 19X3, the accrued liability, APBO and the transition obligation are as follows: 

	
	Accrued Liability 
	APBO 
	Transition Obligation 

	Balance at 1/1/X3 
	$-0- 
	$1,200,000 
	$1,200,000 

	Service cost 
	64,000 
	64,000 
	

	Interest cost
(8% × $1,200,000) 
	96,000 
	96,000 
	

	Amortization of transition obligation 
	60,000 
	
	(60,000) 

	Benefit payments 
	(84,000) 
	(84,000) 
	

	Balance at 12/31/X3 
	$136,000 
	$1,276,000 
	$1,140,000 


Journal entries in 19X3 are: 

	OPEB expense 
	220,000 
	

	   Accrued liability 
	
	220,000 

	Accrued liability 
	84,000 
	

	   Cash 
	
	84,000 


The first journal entry is to record the 19X3 expense, which consists of service cost of $64,000 plus interest cost of $96,000 plus amortization of the transition obligation of $60,000. The second journal entry (or a combination of entries throughout the year) represents the expenditure for benefit payments to plan participants. 

SFAS 106 requires a schedule reconciling the funded status of the plan with the amount reported in the balance sheet. In Client Entity's OPEB footnote to its 19X3 financial statements, the required reconciliation would appear as follows: 

	APBO 
	$1,276,000 

	Plan assets at fair value 
	-0- 

	Unfunded postretirement benefit obligation 
	1,276,000 

	Unrecognized transition obligation 
	(1,140,000) 

	Accrued liability in the balance sheet 
	$136,000 




Example 27. Accrual of Annual OPEB Expense in Subsequent Years 
FACTS
Continuing with the previous example, assume that on January 1, 19X4 Client Entity amends the substantive plan, which creates prior service cost of $180,000 being amortized over 10 years. 

SOLUTION
For 19X4, relevant amounts are: 

	
	Accrued Liability 
	APBO 
	Transition Obligation 
	Prior Service Cost 

	Balance at 1/1/X4 
	$136,000 
	$1,276,000 
	$1,140,000 
	

	Plan amendment at 1/1X4 
	
	$180,000 
	
	$180,000 

	Service cost 
	60,000 
	60,000 
	
	

	Interest cost: 
	
	
	
	

	   On APBO at 1/1X4 
	102,080 
	102,080 
	
	

	   On prior service cost at
1/1X4 
	14,400 
	14,400 
	
	

	Amortization of transition obligation 
	60,000 
	
	(60,000) 
	

	Amortization of prior service cost 
	18,000 
	
	
	(18,000) 

	Benefit payments 
	(78,000) 
	(78,000) 
	
	

	Balance at 12/31/X4 
	$312,480 
	$1,554,480 
	$1,080,000 
	$162,000 


Journal entries in 19X4 are: 

	OPEB expense 
	254,480 
	

	   Accrued liability 
	
	254,480 

	Accrued liability 
	78,000 
	

	   Cash 
	
	78,000 


Note that 19X4 OPEB expense is comprised of service cost of $60,000 plus interest cost of $116,480 ($102,080 + $14,400) plus amortization of the transition obligation of $60,000 plus amortization of prior service cost of $18,000. 

The reconciliation in the 19X4 financial statements would appear as follows: 

	APBO 
	$1,554,480 

	Plan assets at fair value 
	-0- 

	Unfunded postretirement benefit obligation 
	1,554,480 

	Unrecognized transition obligation 
	(1,080,000) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	(162,000) 

	Accrued liability in the balance sheet 
	$312,480 


The following example also illustrates how a negative plan amendment (i.e., one that decreases APBO) is treated. Note that the effects are first applied to reduce any existing unrecognized prior service cost, then to reduce any existing unrecognized transition obligation. Any remainder is recognized on a delayed basis through amortization. Note that this treatment is different from pension accounting, which accounts for a decrease in the same manner as an increase. 

Example 28. Effects of a Negative Plan Amendment 
FACTS
Continuing with the previous example, assume that on January 1, 19X5 Client Entity amends the plan to reduce APBO by $198,000. 

SOLUTION
For 19X5, relevant amounts are: 

	
	Accrued Liability 
	APBO 
	Transition Obligation 
	Prior Service Cost 

	Balance at 1/1/X5 
	$312,480 
	$1,554,480 
	$1,080,000 
	$162,000 

	Plan amendment at 1/1/X5 
	
	(198,000) 
	(36,000) 
	(162,000) 

	Service cost 
	60,000 
	60,000 
	
	

	Interest cost: 
	
	
	
	

	   On APBO at 1/1/X5 
	124,358 
	124,358 
	
	

	   On plan amendment at
1/1/X5 
	(15,840) 
	(15,840) 
	
	

	Amortization of transition obli-
gation ($1,080,000 − $36,000 ÷ 18 remaining years) 
	58,000 
	
	(58,000) 
	

	Amortization of prior service cost 
	-0- 
	
	
	-0- 

	Benefit payments 
	(80,000) 
	(80,000) 
	
	

	Balance at 12/31/X5 
	$458,998 
	$1,444,998 
	$986,000 
	$-0- 


Journal entries for 19X5 are: 

	OPEB expense 
	226,518 
	

	   Accrued liability 
	
	226,518 

	Accrued liability 
	80,000 
	

	   Cash 
	
	80,000 


The reconciliation at December 31, 19X5 is as follows: 

	APBO 
	$1,444,998 

	Plan assets at fair value 
	-0- 

	Unfunded postretirement benefit obligation 
	1,444,998 

	Unrecognized transition obligation 
	(986,000) 

	Accrued liability in the balance sheet 
	$458,998 


E6.7.3 Employers With Multiple Plans

Data from all unfunded plans may be aggregated for measurement purposes only if those plans provide different benefits to the same group of employees or those plans provide the same benefits to different groups of employees. Note, however, that an unfunded plan with plan assets must be measured separately. 

E6.7.4 Multi-Employer Plans

A multi-employer plan is one to which two or more unrelated employers contribute, usually pursuant to a collective-bargaining agreement. An important characteristic of a multi-employer plan is that assets contributed by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers. For companies participating in a multi-employer plan, OPEB expense is equal to the required contribution to the plan. A liability must be recognized for any unpaid required contributions. 

If withdrawal from a multi-employer plan could result in an obligation for a portion of the fund's unfunded APBO, the obligation should be accounted for in accordance with FASB SFAS 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” 

E6.7.5 Multiple-Employer Plans

Some plans to which two or more unrelated employers contribute are not multi-employer plans. Instead, they are merely aggregations of single-employer plans that allow participating employers to pool their assets for investment purposes and to reduce administration costs. These plans should be considered single-employer plans and accounted for based on each company's respective interest in the plan. 

E6.7.6 Foreign Plans

Except for the effective date (see later discussion), SFAS 106 includes no special provisions for foreign plans. The applicability of SFAS 106 to a foreign OPEB plan is determined by the nature of the employer's obligation and by the terms and conditions that define the amount of benefits to be paid, not by whether a plan is funded or the manner in which it is funded. Hence, if the substance of a foreign plan is equivalent to one that is covered by SFAS 106, it should be accounted for in the same manner. 

E6.7.7 Insurance Contracts

An insurance contract is one in which an insurance company is legally and unconditionally bound to private specified benefits in return for a fixed premium. An insurance contract shifts risk from the employer to the insurer. Thus, benefits covered by insurance contracts should be excluded from APBO, and the contracts themselves should be excluded from plan assets. 

Some insurance contracts provide that the employer (or plan) may participate in the insurer's experience. Under these contracts, the insurance company usually pays dividends to the purchaser, which have the effect of reducing the cost of the plan. The price of a participating contract is ordinarily higher than other contracts without the participation rights. The difference, of course, is the right to participate. The cost of these rights should be recognized as an asset as of the date of purchase. Subsequently, the participation right should be measured at fair value (if reasonably estimable) or at its amortized cost (not to exceed net realizable value). Amortization should be taken on a systematic basis over the expected dividend period under the contract. 

If insurance contracts are purchased during the period to cover benefits (e.g., life insurance benefits) attributed to service in the current period, the cost of those benefits is the cost of purchasing coverage. If all postemployment benefits attributed to service in the current period are covered by (nonparticipating) insurance contracts purchased during that period, the cost of coverage represents the service cost component of annual OPEB expense. Benefits attributed to current service that exceed coverage by nonparticipating contracts should be accounted for in accordance with the applicable provisions of SFAS 106 for plans not covered by insurance. 

Insurance contracts that do not shift risk should be accounted for as investments and measured at fair value. If such a contract has a cash surrender or conversion value, that amount is presumed to be its fair value. For other contracts, the best estimate of fair value may be contract value. 

E6.7.8 Accounting for a Settlement

A settlement is a transaction that:

· Is irrevocable

· Relieves the employer (or the plan) of primary responsibility for a postemployment benefit obligation

· Eliminates significant risks related to the obligation and the assets used to settle it

Examples of transactions that constitute a settlement include (1) making lump-sum cash payments to plan participants in exchange for their rights to receive defined postemployment benefits and (2) purchasing long-term nonparticipating insurance contracts for the APBO of some or all plan participants. A transaction that does not meet all three criteria is not a settlement under SFAS 106. 

The maximum gain or loss that can be recognized in income in a settlement transaction is the remaining unrecognized gain or loss plus any remaining unrecognized transition asset. If the entire APBO is settled and there is a gain, it must first be applied to reduce any unrecognized transition liability. The excess is recognized in income. If a loss is created upon settlement of the entire APBO, the full amount of the loss is recognized immediately. 

However, if only part of the APBO is settled and a gain is created, the excess of the pro rata portion (i.e., the percentage reduction in APBO) of the maximum gain over any remaining unrecognized transition obligation is reported in income. If a loss results, a pro rata portion of the maximum settlement loss is recognized in income. If the purchase of a participating insurance contract constitutes a settlement, the maximum gain (but not the maximum loss) is reduced by the cost of the participation right before determining the amount to be recognized in income. 

If the cost of all settlements in a year is less than the sum of the service and interest cost components of OPEB expense, recognition of gain or loss for those settlements is permitted but not required. 

The following examples illustrate accounting for a settlement. 

Example 29. Partial Settlement When a Transition Obligation Exists 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity adopts SFAS 106 on January 1, 19X3. Prior to that date, Client Entity accounted for postemployment benefits on the cash basis. On December 31, 19X4, Client Entity settles a portion of APBO through the purchase of nonparticipating life insurance contracts. Also assume the following relevant amounts before settlement at December 31, 19X4. 

	APBO 
	$500,000 

	Plan assets at fair value 
	(300,000) 

	Unfunded amount 
	$200,000 

	Unrecognized net gain 
	$(60,000) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	140,000 

	Unrecognized transaction obligation 
	96,000 

	Accrued liability on the balance sheet 
	24,000 

	
	$200,000 


On December 31, 19X4, Client Entity settles $125,000 of APBO. 

SOLUTION
The maximum settlement gain subject to recognition is $60,000, the amount of existing unrecognized net gain. However, since this is a partial settlement of 25% ($125,000 ÷ $500,000), only 25% of $60,000 ($15,000) is subject to recognition. However, the $15,000 must first be applied to reduce the unrecognized transition obligation. In this case, the settlement gain of $15,000 is completely offset against the $96,000 and no gain is recognized in the income statement. After the settlement transaction, relevant amounts are: 

	APBO ($500,000 − $125,000) 
	$ 375,000 

	Plan assets at fair value ($300,000 − $125,000) 
	(175,000) 

	Unfunded amount 
	$200,000 

	Unfunded net gain ($60,000 − $15,000) 
	$(45,000) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	140,000 

	Unrecognized transition obligation ($96,000 − $15,000) 
	81,000 

	Accrued liability on the balance sheet 
	24,000 

	
	$200,000 




Example 30. Partial Settlement When a Transition Asset Exists 
FACTS
Assume the same facts as in Example 32 except that relevant amounts at December 31, 19X4 before the settlement are: 

	APBO 
	$300,000 

	Plan assets at fair value 
	(400,000) 

	Overfunded amount 
	$(100,000) 

	Unrecognized net gain 
	$(60,000) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	20,000 

	Unrecognized transition asset 
	(25,000) 

	Prepaid OPEB cost on the balance sheet 
	(35,000) 

	
	$(100,000) 


On December 31, 19X4, Client Entity settles $120,000 of APBO. 

SOLUTION
The maximum settlement gain subject to recognition is $85,000, the sum of the unrecognized net gain plus the unrecognized transition asset. As a partial settlement of 40% ($120,000 ÷ $300,000), only 40% of the $85,000 ($34,000) is subject to recognition. Since the unrecognized transition asset precludes the existence of a transition obligation, none of the gain is offset and the entire $34,000 is recognized in income immediately. Relevant amounts after the settlement are: 

	APBO ($300,000 − $120,000) 
	$180,000 

	Plan assets at fair value ($400,000 − $120,000) 
	(280,000) 

	Overfunded amount 
	$(100,000) 

	

	

	
	

	Unrecognized net gain 
	

	   [$60,000 − ($60,000 × 40%)] 
	$(36,000) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	20,000 

	Unrecognized transition asset 
	

	   [$25,000 − ($25,000 × 40%)] 
	(15,000) 

	Prepaid OPEB cost on the balance sheet 
	(69,000) 

	
	$(100,000) 


Prepaid OPEB cost of $69,000 is calculated as $35,000 prior to the settlement plus the $34,000 effects of the settlement transaction. The journal entry to record the transaction is: 

	Prepaid OPEB cost 
	34,000 
	

	   Gain on settlement 
	
	34,000 


E6.7.9 Accounting for a Curtailment

A curtailment is an event that significantly reduces the expected years of future service of active plan participants or eliminates the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of the future services of a significant number of active plan participants. Curtailments include:

· Termination of employees' services earlier than expected, which may involve closing a facility or discontinuing a business segment.

· Termination or suspension of a plan so that employees do not earn additional benefits for future service. Note that in this situation, future services may be counted toward eligibility.

Unrecognized prior service (which for purposes of a curtailment includes any remaining transition obligation) associated with the portion of future years of service that had been expected to be rendered is considered a loss. APBO may be decreased (gain) or increased (loss) by a curtailment. The amount of that gain or loss should first be applied to reduce any unrecognized loss or gain. For purposes of a curtailment, unrecognized net gain includes any remaining transition asset. Any excess is considered a curtailment gain or loss. 

If a net curtailment loss occurs, it is recognized in income only when it is probable that the curtailment will take place and the amount is reasonably estimable. If a net curtailment gain arises, it is recognized in income when the related employees are terminated or the plan suspension or amendment is adopted. The following example illustrates accounting for a curtailment. 

Example 31. Account for a Plan Curtailment 
FACTS
Assume that on September 30, 19X4, Client Entity reduces its operations by terminating a substantial number of employees, effective December 31, 19X4. APBO will be reduced by $45,000. The remaining years of expected service associated with terminated employees who were plan participants is 20% of the total. The remaining years of service prior to full eligibility associated with terminated employees is 15% of the total. Relevant amounts at December 31, 19X4 before curtailment are: 

	APBO 
	$500,000 

	Plan assets at fair value 
	(300,000) 

	Underfunded amount 
	$200,000 

	Unrecognized net gain 
	$(60,000) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	140,000 

	Unrecognized transition obligation 
	96,000 

	Accrued liability on the balance sheet 
	24,000 

	
	$200,000 


SOLUTION
The net curtailment gain is computed as follows: 

	Reduction in APBO, in excess of unrecognized net loss 
	$45,000 

	Reduction in unrecognized transition obligation 
	

	   (20% ÷ $96,000) 
	(19,200) 

	Reduction in unrecognized prior service cost (15% ÷ $140,000) 
	(21,000) 

	
	$4,800 


Relevant amounts at December 31, 19X4 after the curtailment are: 

	APBO 
	$455,000 

	Plan assets at fair value 
	(300,000) 

	Underfunded amount 
	$155,000 

	Unrecognized net gain 
	$(60,000) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	

	($140,000 − $21,000) 
	119,000 

	Unrecognized transition obligation 
	

	($96,000 − $19,200) 
	76,800 

	Accrued liability on the balance sheet 
	

	($24,000 − $4,800) 
	19,200 

	
	$155,000 


When related employees terminate, the journal entry to record gain is: 

	Accrued liability 
	4,800 
	

	   Gain on curtailment 
	
	4,800 


E6.7.10 Termination Benefits

Postretirement benefits offered as special termination benefits should be accrued when employees accept the offer and the amount can be reasonably estimated. For companies that provide contractual termination benefits, the amount should be accrued when it is probable that employees will be entitled to benefits and the amount can be estimated. The loss associated with special termination benefits is the difference between (1) the APBO for those employees, assuming those employees (active plan participants) not yet fully eligible for benefits would terminate at their full eligibility dates and that fully eligible plan participants would retire immediately, without considering any special termination benefits, and (2) APBO as measured in (1) adjusted to reflect the special termination benefits. 

E6.7.11 Disposal of a Segment

Note that any gain or loss associated with a settlement or curtailment of a plan or with termination benefits that are directly related to the disposal of a business segment of a portion of a line of business should be included in determining the gain or loss on the disposal of the segment. 

E6.7.12 Accounting for Defined Contribution Plans

A defined contribution postemployment plan is one that:

· Provides postemployment benefits in return for services rendered

· Provides an individual account for each participant

· Specifies how contributions to the individual's account are to be determined rather than the amount of benefits the individual is to receive

Postemployment benefits to be received are generally limited to:

· The amount contributed to the participant's account

· Earnings of investments of the contributions

· Forfeitures of benefits of other plan participants allocated to the individual's account

In general, annual OPEB expense is equal to the aggregate amount of contributions made to all individual accounts of plan participants for periods in which individuals render services. However, if a plan calls for contributions for periods after an individual retires or terminates, the estimated cost should be accrued during the employees service period. 

Some OPEB plans have characteristics of both a defined benefit and defined contribution plan. The substance of such plans should dictate whether they are accounted for as defined or defined contribution plans. 

The following example illustrates how a typical defined contribution plan is accounted for. 

Example 32. Accounting for a Defined Contribution Plan 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity sponsors a defined contribution OPEB plan for its employees. Under the plan's formula, the amount to be contributed in 19X2 for services rendered by participants in that year is $80,000. 

SOLUTION
OPEB expense in 19X2 is $80,000. The journal entry to record the expense is: 

	OPEB expense 
	80,000 
	

	   Cash (or accrued OPEB expense) 
	
	80,000 


E6.7.13 Plan Assets Under SFAS 106

SFAS 106 requires that plan assets be effectively segregated and restricted so that they cannot be used by the employer for purposes other than paying postretirement benefits. The FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (the Task Force) considered whether a trust established to pay postretirement benefits must be determined to be bankruptcy-proof in order for the assets in the trust to qualify as plan assets under SFAS 106. 

The Task Force reached the following consensuses:

· It is not necessary to determine that a trust is bankruptcy-proof for the assets of the trust to qualify as plan assets.

· Assets held in a trust that explicitly provides that such assets are available to the general creditors of the employer in the event of the employer's bankruptcy would not qualify as plan assets under SFAS 106.

E6.7.14 Impact of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003

Among other features, the Act, which was signed into law on December 8, 2003 (the enactment date), introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D and a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. 

SFAS No. 106, Employer's Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, requires presently enacted changes in laws that will take effect in future periods to be incorporated into the measurement of current-period postretirement benefit expense and the accumulated projected benefit obligation (APBO). Also, under SFAS No. 106, health care coverage provided by Medicare should be taken into account in calculating the health care obligation. Thus, in accordance with such provisions of SFAS No. 106, measures of the APBO and of periodic postretirement health care benefit expense should reflect the effects of the Act. 

FSP FAS 106-2 provides the following guidance on accounting for the effects of the Act: 

· The FSP applies only to sponsors of single-employer plans for which (1) the employer concludes that prescription drug benefits under the plan are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D and thus qualify for the subsidy, and (2) the expected amount of the subsidy will offset or reduce the employer-sponsor's share of the plan's prescription drug coverage.

· Upon initial accounting for the subsidy, the effects should be treated as an actuarial experience gain.

· The subsidy should be included in measuring postretirement benefit expense by reducing the service cost component.

· If the anticipated amount of the subsidy changes (resulting from changes in regulations or legislation or from changes in underlying estimates of prescription drug benefits), the effect of the change in anticipated amount should be accounted for as an actuarial experience gain or loss.

· If a plan is subsequently amended to provide actuarially equivalent benefits that were previously deemed not to be equivalent, the direct effect on APBO of the change and the direct effect on APBO of the subsidy to which the employer would then be entitled should be combined. If such combined effect reduces APBO, it should be accounted for as an actuarial experience gain; if the combined impact increases the APBO, it should be accounted for prior service cost.

· If a plan is subsequently amended to reduce prescription drug coverage so that it is no longer actuarially equivalent, any previously recognized gain related to the subsidy would not be affected. The combined net effect on the APBO of such subsequent plan amendment and of the elimination of the subsidy should be accounted for as prior service cost (credit) as of the date of the amendment.

· Because the subsidy is exempt from federal taxation (and thus has no effect on any plan-related temporary difference), such difference should continue to be accounted for as if the subsidy did not exist.

Regarding the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003: 

· Until an employer is able to determine whether plan benefits are actuarially equivalent, disclosure must be made of (1) the existence of the Act, and (2) the fact that neither the amount of postretirement benefit expense nor the APBO reflects the effect of the Act because the employer-sponsor is unable to conclude whether the plan's prescription drug benefits are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D.

· In annual statements in the first period for which the effects of the subsidy are included in the measurement of either postretirement benefit expense or the APBO, the following information should be disclosed: 

· — The amount of the APBO reduction related to benefits attributed to past service.

· — The effect of the subsidy on the calculation of postretirement benefit expense, which includes the effects of (1) amortization of the actuarial experience gain, (2) the reduction in current period prior service cost, and (3) the reduction in interest cost on the APBO.

· — If applicable, as required by SFAS No. 132, Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits, an explanation of any significant change in the APBO or in plan assets that is not otherwise apparent from other disclosures.

E6.8 Other Postretirement Benefits: Disclosures

The disclosure requirements for pensions and for OPEB are now the same. 

E6.8.1 Defined Contribution Plans

The following should be disclosed for defined contribution plans: 

· The amount recognized as expense for the period for (1) a defined contribution pension plan, and (2) a defined contribution postretirement plan, separately from the amounts recognized for defined benefit plans.

· A description of the nature and effect of any significant changes during the period affecting comparability (e.g., a change in the contribution rate, the impact of a business combination or divestiture).

E6.8.2 Defined Benefit Plans

Note that the disclosures concerning defined benefit pension and/or postretirement plans should not be combined, although, to the extent practicable, a parallel format may be used that presents disclosures for each such plan in a single note to the financial statements. 

Amounts relating to results of operations must be disclosed for each period for which a statement of activities is presented; balance sheet related amounts must be shown for each balance sheet presented. The following information is required to be disclosed: 

· A reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation showing separately, if applicable, the effects during the period attributable to each of the following: service cost, interest cost, contributions by plan participants, actuarial gains and losses, foreign currency exchange rate changes, benefits paid, plan amendments, business combinations, divestitures, curtailments, settlements, and special termination benefits. For pension plans, the benefit obligation is the projected benefit obligation (PBO); for postretirement plans, the benefit obligation is the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO). Foreign currency exchange rate changes are those applicable to plans of a foreign subsidiary whose functional currency is not the reporting currency (i.e., the US dollar).

· A reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the fair value of plan assets showing separately, if applicable, the effects during the period attributable to each of the following: actual return on plan assets, foreign currency exchange rate changes, contributions by the employer, contributions by plan participants, benefits paid, and business combinations, divestitures, and settlements.

· The funded status of the plans, the amounts not recognized in the balance sheet, and the amounts that are so recognized, including: 

· — The amount of any unamortized prior service cost.

· — The amount of any unrecognized net gain or loss (including asset gains and losses not yet reflected in market-related value).

· — The amount of any remaining unamortized, unrecognized net obligation or net asset existing at the initial date of application of SFAS No. 87 or SFAS No. 106.

· — The net pension or other postretirement benefit prepaid assets or accrued liabilities.

· — Any intangible asset and the amount of accumulated other comprehensive income recognized pursuant to SFAS No. 87.

The amount of expense recognized, showing separately the service cost component, the interest cost component, the expected return on plan assets for the period, the amortization of the unrecognized transition obligation or transition asset, the amount of recognized gains and losses, the amount of prior service cost recognized, and the amount of gain or loss recognized due to a settlement or curtailment. 

· For each major category of plan assets as of the measurement dates for each balance sheet presented: 

· — The percentage of the fair value of assets compared with the fair value of all plan assets held.

· — A description of investment polices and strategies, including target allocation percentages (or a range of percentages) and of other factors pertinent to an understanding of the policies and strategies; such other factors include, for example (1) investment goals, (2) risk management practices, (3) permitted and prohibited investments (including the use of derivatives), (4) diversification, and (5) the relationship between plan assets and benefit obligations.

· — A description of the basis used to determine the overall assumption regarding expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, including (1) the general approach employed, and (2) the extent to which the assumption is based on historical investment returns, any adjustments made to such returns to take account of anticipated future events, and the manner in which the adjustments were determined.

Note that, as applicable, the foregoing information must be provided for the following categories: (1) equity securities; (2) debt securities; (3) real estate; and (4) all other assets. Although not required, disclosure of additional asset categories (and of additional information about specific assets within a category) is encouraged if such disclosure would be helpful in understanding the risks associated with each asset category and the overall expected long-term rate of return on assets. 

· For defined benefit pension plans, the accumulated benefit obligation.

· As of the latest balance sheet, the amount of benefits expected to be paid in each of the ensuing five years and in the aggregate thereafter, based on the same assumptions used to measure the benefit obligation (including, when applicable, benefits attributable to estimated future service).

· As of the latest balance sheet, the best estimate of the amount of the employer's contribution during the next year; such estimate should include (1) amounts required by funding regulation or law, (2) discretionary contributions, and (3) non-cash contributions.

· On a weighted-average basis, identification of the following assumptions: (1) discount rates; (2) rates of compensation increase, if applicable; and (3) in tabular format, expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, specifying the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation and, separately, the assumptions used to determine net benefit cost.

· The dates used to determine pension and other postretirement benefit measurements for plans comprising at least a majority of plan assets and benefit obligations.

· The amount of expense recognized, showing separately the service cost component, the interest cost component, the expected return on plan assets for the period, the amortization of the unrecognized transition obligation or transition asset, the amount of recognized gains and losses, the amount of prior service cost recognized, and the amount of gain or loss recognized due to a settlement or curtailment.

· The amount included within other comprehensive income for the period arising from a change in the additional minimum pension liability recognized pursuant to SFAS No. 87.

· The assumed health care cost trend rate(s) for the next year used to measure the expected cost of benefits covered by the plan (gross eligible charges) and a general description of the direction and pattern of change in the assumed trend rates thereafter, together with the ultimate trend rate(s) and when that rate is expected to be achieved. 

· The effect of a one-percentage-point increase and of a one-percentage-point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rates on (1) the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of postretirement health care benefit expense and (2) the APBO for health care benefits (for purposes of this disclosure, all other assumptions should be held constant, and the effects should be measured based on the substantive plan that is the basis for the accounting). 

· If applicable, the amounts and types of securities of the employer and related parties included in plan assets, the approximate amount of future annual benefits of plan participants covered by insurance contracts issued by the employer or related parties, and any significant transactions between the employer or related parties and the plan during the period.

· If applicable, any alternative amortization method used to amortize prior service amounts or unrecognized net gains and losses pursuant to SFAS No. 87 or SFAS No. 106.

· If applicable, any substantive commitment, such as past practice or a history of regular benefit increases, used as the basis for accounting for the benefit obligation.

· If applicable, the cost of providing special or contractual termination benefits recognized during the period and a description of the nature of the event.

· An explanation of any significant change to the benefit obligation or plan assets not otherwise apparent in the other disclosures required.

Aggregation is permitted (but not required) for two or more plans of the same type (i.e., pension or postretirement), including the aggregation of plans whose accumulated benefit obligations exceed plan assets with those whose assets exceed the obligations. If plans are aggregated, however, disclosure must be made of the total benefit obligations and the total fair value of plan assets for all plans whose benefit obligations exceed assets, separately for pension plans and postretirement plans. In addition, for employers with two or more plans of the same type, prepaid benefit costs and accrued benefit liabilities must be shown separately in the balance sheet. 

Disclosures for U.S plans within each type may be aggregated with plans outside the U.S, unless (1) the benefit obligations for foreign plans are significant to the total benefit obligation and (2) such foreign plans use significantly different assumptions. 

For multiemployer plans, disclosure must be made of contributions for the period, which amount may be on a combined basis for pension and postretirement plans. Disclosure should also be made of the nature and effect of any changes affecting comparability (e.g., a change in the contribution rate or the impact of a business combination or divestiture). Note that, regarding multiemployer plans, the provisions of SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 106 concerning withdrawal from such a plan possibly giving rise to a liability for a portion of the plan's unfunded benefit obligation remain in effect. Thus, if it is either probable or reasonably possible that such a liability will be incurred, the applicable requirements of SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, would apply. 

E6.8.3 Nonpublic Entities

Nonpublic companies, which includes nonprofit organizations, are required to disclose only the following abbreviated information concerning defined benefit pension and/or postretirement plans: 

· The benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets, and funded status of the plan.

· Employer contributions, participant contributions, and benefits paid.

· For each major category of plan assets as of the measurement dates for each balance sheet presented: 

· — The percentage of the fair value of assets compared with the fair value of all plan assets held.

· — A description of investment polices and strategies, including target allocation percentages (or a range of percentages) and of other factors pertinent to an understanding of the policies and strategies; such other factors include, for example (1) investment goals, (2) risk management practices, (3) permitted and prohibited investments (including the use of derivatives), (4) diversification, and (5) the relationship between plan assets and benefit obligations.

· — A description of the basis used to determine the overall assumption regarding expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, including (1) the general approach employed, and (2) the extent to which the assumption is based on historical investment returns, any adjustments made to such returns to take account of anticipated future events, and the manner in which the adjustments were determined.

Note that, as applicable, the foregoing information must be provided for the following categories: (1) equity securities; (2) debt securities; (3) real estate; and (4) all other assets. Although not required, disclosure of additional asset categories (and of additional information about specific assets within a category) is encouraged if such disclosure would be helpful in understanding the risks associated with each asset category and the overall expected long-term rate of return on assets. 

· For defined benefit pension plans, the accumulated benefit obligation.

· As of the latest balance sheet, the amount of benefits expected to be paid in each of the ensuing five years and in the aggregate thereafter, based on the same assumptions used to measure the benefit obligation (including, when applicable, benefits attributable to estimated future service).

· As of the latest balance sheet, the best estimate of the amount of the employer's contribution during the next year; such estimate should include (1) amounts required by funding regulation or law, (2) discretionary contributions, and (3) non-cash contributions.

· On a weighted-average basis, identification of the following assumptions: (1) discount rates; (2) rates of compensation increase, if applicable; and (3) in tabular format, expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, specifying the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation and, separately, the assumptions used to determine net benefit cost.

· The dates used to determine pension and other postretirement benefit measurements for plans comprising at least a majority of plan assets and benefit obligations.

· The amounts recognized in the balance sheet, including the net pension and other postretirement benefit prepaid assets or accrued liabilities and any intangible asset and the amount of accumulated other comprehensive income recognized pursuant to SFAS No. 87. 

· The amount of pension expense recognized and the amount included within other comprehensive income arising from a change in the minimum pension liability recognized pursuant to SFAS No. 87.

· The assumed health care cost trend rate(s) for the next year used to measure the expected cost of benefits covered by the plan (gross eligible charges) and a general description of the direction and pattern of change in the assumed trend rates thereafter, together with the ultimate trend rate(s) and when that rate is expected to be achieved.

· If applicable, the amounts and types of securities of the employer and related parties included in plan assets, the approximate amount of future annual benefits of plan participants covered by insurance contracts issued by the employer or related parties, and any significant transactions between the employer or related parties and the plan during the period.

· The nature and effect of significant non-routine events (amendments, combinations, divestitures, curtailments, or settlements).

Not-for-profit entities are not generally subject to interim disclosure requirements. Note, however, that such entities must disclose, in interim periods for which a complete set of financial statements is presented, amounts of contributions paid and expected to be paid in the current year, if such amounts are materially different from expected amounts disclosed as of the latest annual balance sheet. 

AMERICAN RED CROSS, INC. (2003 ANNUAL REPORT)

Pension and Postretirement Plans: Employees of the American Red Cross, including participating local chapters, are covered by the Organization's pension plan (the Retirement System) after one year of employment. 

For funding purposes under the plan, normal pension costs are determined by the projected unit credit method and are funded currently. The plan provides a pension funded entirely by the employer. Voluntary contributions may be made by active members to fund an additional, optional annuity benefit. Defined benefits are based on years of service and the employee's final average compensation, which is calculated using the highest consecutive 48 months of the last 120 months of service before retirement. 

Red Cross funding policy is to set the employer contribution rate at a percentage of covered payroll that is intended to fund toward a target range of not less than 105 percent and no more that 115 percent of the projected unit credit accrued liability. To the extent that the current funding is more or less than the target's upper bound of 115 percent, the difference is amortized over ten years in calculating the contribution rate. During fiscal years 2003 and 2002, the Organization contributed 1 percent in each year of covered payroll to the Retirement System. 

The Organization also provides medical and dental benefits to eligible retirees and their eligible dependents. Generally, retirees and the Organization each pay a portion of the premium costs. The medical and dental plans pay a stated percentage of expenses reduced by deductibles and other coverages. The Organization has the right to modify cost-sharing provisions at any time. In addition, life insurance benefits of $5000 are provided with no contributions required from the retirees. 

The American Red Cross postretirement benefit plans are unfounded. However, as discussed in Note 6, the Board of Governors has designated $97 million of unrestricted net assets to fund a portion of premiums for retirees' postretirement medical benefits. 

The following table presents the changes in benefit obligations, changes in plan assets and the composition of prepaid (accrued) benefit costs in the consolidated statements of financial position for the years ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands): 

	
	Pension benefits 
	Postretirement benefits 

	
	2003 
	2002 
	2003 
	2002 

	Changes in benefit obligations 
	
	
	
	

	Benefits obligations at beginning of year 
	$1,058,689 
	$937,545 
	$104,826 
	$147,393 

	Service cost 
	64,294 
	56,240 
	5,936 
	6,324 

	Interest cost 
	80,921 
	71,580 
	7,466 
	10,910 

	Plan participants' contributions 
	6,773 
	6,109 
	— 
	— 

	Actuarial loss (gain) 
	157,012 
	14,393 
	68,788 
	(51,273) 

	Benefits paid 
	(31,134) 
	(27,178) 
	(5,827) 
	(8,528) 

	Benefit obligations at end of year 
	$1,336,555 
	$1,058,689 
	$181,189 
	$104,826 

	Changes in plan assets 
	
	
	
	

	Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 
	$999,197 
	$1,116,871 
	— 
	— 

	Actual return on plan assets 
	56,958 
	(105,311) 
	— 
	— 

	Employer contributions 
	9,806 
	8,706 
	— 
	— 

	Plan participants' contributions 
	6,773 
	6,109 
	— 
	— 

	Benefits paid 
	(31,134) 
	(27,178) 
	— 
	— 

	Fair value of plan assets at end of year 
	$1,041,600 
	$999,197 
	— 
	— 

	Accrued benefit costs 
	
	
	
	

	Funded status 
	$(294,955) 
	$(59,492) 
	$(181,189) 
	$(104,826) 

	Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss 
	241,032 
	36,521 
	24,868 
	(46,184) 

	Unrecognized prior service cost 
	15,632 
	19,547 
	13,778 
	15,468 

	Additional minimum liability 
	(69,735) 
	— 
	— 
	— 

	Accrued benefit costs 
	$(108,026) 
	$(3,424) 
	$(142,543) 
	$(135,542) 


The provisions of FASB Statement No. 87, Employers' Accounting for Pensions, require recognition of an additional minimum liability and related intangible asset included in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position, for pension plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets. At June 30, 2003, an additional minimum liability of approximately $70 million is reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position. At June 30, 2003, the liability exceeds the unrecognized prior service cost resulting in a minimum pension liability adjustment of approximately $54 million, recorded as a non-operating loss on the consolidated statement of activities. 

Significant assumptions used in accounting for the plans as of June 30, 2003 and 2002 were: 

	
	Pension benefits 
	Postretirement benefits 

	
	2003 
	2002 
	2003 
	2002 

	Discount rate 
	6.00% 
	7.30% 
	6.00% 
	7.30% 

	Expected return on plan assets 
	8.25% 
	8.50% 
	
	

	Rate of compensation increase 
	5.00% 
	6.00% 
	
	


For measurement purposes, a 10.0 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for fiscal year 2004. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5 percent for 2009 and remain at that level thereafter. 

The components of net periodic benefit cost for the years ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 were (in thousands): 

	
	Pension benefits 
	Postretirement benefits 

	
	2003 
	2002 
	2003 
	2002 

	Service cost 
	$64,294 
	$56,240 
	$5,936 
	$6,324 

	Interest cost 
	80,921 
	71,580 
	7,466 
	10,910 

	Expected return on plan assets 
	(99,243) 
	(97,478) 
	— 
	— 

	Amortization of prior service cost 
	3,915 
	3,915 
	1,690 
	1,690 

	Recognition of actuarial gain 
	(5,214) 
	(10,269) 
	(2,264) 
	— 

	Net periodic benefit cost 
	$44,673 
	$23,988 
	$12,828 
	$18,924 


Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects (in thousands): 

	
	Point Increase 
	Point Decrease 

	Effect on total of service and interest cost components 
	$308 
	$(241) 

	Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 
	2,999 
	(2,425) 


American Red Cross Savings Plan - 401(k) Plan: The Organization participates in the American Red Cross Savings Plan (the Savings Plan), a defined contribution plan. Employees of the American Red Cross, including participating chapters, are eligible to participate upon hire and are vested 100 percent in all contributions to the Savings Plan. The American Red Cross matches 50 cents for every dollar up to the first 4 percent of annual compensation contributed by the participant. For the 2002 calendar year, contribution limits were based on a maximum annual compensation of $200,000. There are eleven investment options that an employee can choose from as well as a self-managed brokerage account. The Organization contributed approximately $11 million and $12 million to the Savings Plan for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

E6.9 Other Postretirement Benefits: Accounting for Postemployment Benefits

SFAS 112 established standards of accounting and reporting for the estimated cost of benefits provided by an employer to its former or inactive employees after employment but before retirement. Such benefits are terms “postemployment benefits” and are distinguished from postretirement benefits. 

Postemployment benefits include all types of benefits (in cash or in kind) that may be provided to former or inactive employees, their beneficiaries, and covered dependents, Examples of such benefits are:

· Salary continuation

· Supplemental unemployment benefits

· Severance benefits

· Disability-related benefits (including workers' compensation)

· Job training and counseling

· Continuation of health care and life insurance benefits

Former or inactive employees includes those who have been laid off and those on disability leave. Employees absent for vacation, holiday, or illness are not considered to be inactive. 

SFAS 112 requires accrual of a liability for postemployment benefits that meet all of the following conditions contained in SFAS 43 (See Section E3 , COMPENSATED ABSENCES .):

· The employer's obligation relating to employees' rights to receive compensation for future absences is attributable to service already rendered.

· The obligation relates to rights that vest or accumulate.

· Payment of the compensation is probable.

· The amount can be reasonably estimated.

If postemployment benefits do not meet all four of these conditions, they should be accounted for in accordance with SFAS 5, on accounting for contingencies, which requires accrual if both of the following conditions are met:

· Information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements.

· The amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

If the amount is not accrued under SFAS 5 because it cannot be reasonably estimated, disclosures called for by SFAS 5 for losses or contingencies that are not recognized are required. 

Note that SFAS 112 does not apply to the following:

· Benefits provided through a pension or postretirement plan covered by SFAS 87 or SFAS 106

· Individual deferred compensation arrangements

· Termination benefits covered by SFAS 88 or SFAS 106

E6.10 Other Postretirement Benefits: Related Topics

Chapter E1 , ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

Chapter E2 , ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Chapter E3 , COMPENSATED ABSENCES 

Chapter E4 , CONTINGENCIES 
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Research and Development Costs

E8A.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SFASs 2, 68, and 86 

FASB Interpretation 6 

SOP 98-1 

E8A.2 Overview

Research and development (R&D) costs should be charged to expense when incurred except in connection with costs of certain elements (see Section E8A.3.1 , ELEMENTS OF COSTS TO BE IDENTIFIED) that are expected to have alternative future uses. Disclosure in the financial statements is required for the total amount of R&D costs charged to expense in each period for which a statement of activities is presented. 

In connection with an arrangement whereby research and development is funded by others, the entity must determine whether it is obligated only to perform contractual research and development or whether it is other-wise obligated. To the extent that the entity is obligated to repay the other parties, it should record a liability and charge the related R&D costs to expense when incurred. 

Costs incurred internally to create a computer software product should be charged to operations as R&D until technological feasibility has been established. Thereafter, all software production costs should be capitalized. 

E8A.3 Measurement Principles

E8A.3.1 R&D Costs Funded by the Entity Itself

The term “research” is defined by FASB as: [T]he planned search or critical investigation aimed at discovery of new knowledge with the hope that such knowledge will be useful in developing a new product or service or a new process or technique or in bringing about significant improvement to an existing product or process. 

FASB defines the term “development” as: [T]he translation of research findings or other knowledge into a plan or design for a new product or process or for a significant improvement to an existing product or process whether intended for sale or use. It includes the conceptual formulation, design and testing of product alternatives, construction of prototypes, and operation of pilot plants. It does not include routine or periodic alterations to existing products, production lines, manufacturing processes, and other ongoing operations, even though those alterations may represent improvements, and it also does not include market research or market-testing activities. 

Activities typically considered R&D activities include:

· Laboratory research aimed at discovery of new knowledge

· Searching for applications of new research findings or other knowledge

· Conceptual formulation and design of possible product or process alternative

· Testing in search for, or evaluation of, product or process alternatives

· Modification of the formulation or design of a product or process

· Design, construction, and testing of preproduction prototypes and models

· Design of tools, jigs, molds, and dies involving new technology

· Design, construction, and operation of a pilot plant that is not of a scale economically feasible to the enterprise for commercial production

Activities typically not considered R&D activities are:

· Routine, ongoing efforts to refine, enrich, or otherwise improve the qualities of an existing product

· Adaptation of an existing capability to a particular requirement or customer's need as part of a continuing commercial activity

· Activity, including design and construction engineering, related to the construction, relocation, rearrangement, or start-up of facilities or equipment other than pilot plants and facilities or equipment whose sole use is for a particular R&D project

· Legal work in connection with patent applications or litigation and the sale or licensing of patents

Computer software.

Because computer software is developed for so many diverse uses, the facts and circumstances in each case determine whether or not a particular activity should be considered an R&D activity. Costs incurred to purchase or lease computer software developed by others are generally not R&D costs unless the software itself is for use in R&D activities. 

Where the development of software is undertaken to create a new or significantly improved product or process without any contractual arrangement, costs incurred for conceptual formulation or the translation of knowledge into a design should be considered as R&D costs. Other costs, including those incurred for programming and testing software, are R&D costs when incurred in the search for or the evaluation of product or process alternatives or in the design of a prototype. Conversely, costs for programming and testing are not considered R&D costs in routine or other ongoing efforts to improve an existing product or adapt a product (or service) to a particular requirement or customer's need. 

Developing or significantly improving a product or process that is intended to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others is an R&D activity. Similarly, developing or significantly improving a process of which the output is a product that is intended to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others is also an R&D activity. Costs incurred by an entity in developing computer software internally for use in its own R&D activities are R&D costs. This includes costs incurred during all phases of software development, because all of those costs are incurred in connection with an R&D activity. However, the “alternative future-use” test (see Section E8A.3.1 , ELEMENTS OF COSTS TO BE IDENTIFIED) does not apply to the internal development of computer software. Where the costs for computer software are included in acquisition, development, or improvement of a process by an entity for use in selling or administrative activities, they should not be considered R&D costs. 

Elements of costs to be Identified.

Following are specific elements of costs that should be identified with R&D activities and the appropriate accounting treatment to be given each. 

	Element 
	Accounting treatment 

	Materials (whether from normal inventory or specifically acquired for R&D activities), equipment, and facilities that are acquired or constructed for R&D activities and that have alternative future uses (in other R&D projects or otherwise) 
	Capitalized 

	

	

	
	

	Materials, equipment, and facilities (as explained when incurred above) that do not have alternative future uses (in other R&D projects or otherwise) 
	Expensed when incurred 

	

	

	
	

	Personnel salaries, wages, and other related costs of individuals engaged in R&D activities 
	Expensed when incurred 

	

	

	
	

	The costs of intangibles purchased from others for use in R&D activities that have alternative future uses 
	Capitalized 

	

	

	
	

	The amortization of the above-described intangibles 
	Expensed 

	

	

	
	

	The costs of intangibles purchased from others for when incurred use in R&D activities that have no alternative future uses 
	Expensed when incurred 

	

	

	
	

	The costs of services performed by others in connection with R&D activities, including research and development conducted by others on behalf of the company 
	Expensed when incurred 

	

	

	
	

	A reasonable allocation of indirect costs related to R&D activities 
	Expensed when incurred 

	

	

	
	

	General and administrative costs that are not clearly related to R&D activities 
	Not considered as R&D costs (but expensed in the usual manner) 




Example 1. Accounting for R&D Costs 
FACTS
Assume that Client Entity is involved in an R&D project during 19X1. Materials amounting to $800,000 were used. The materials have no alternative future uses. Client Entity acquired a patent for use in the R&D project at a cost of $300,000. Client Entity expects that the patent will have future uses in other R&D projects. The estimated useful life of the patent is 20 years. Equipment was acquired on January 2, 19X1, for use in the R&D project at a cost of $80,000. Of that amount, $30,000 of equipment is expected to have future use. The estimated life of that equipment is five years (salvage value is ignored), and Client Entity uses the straight-line method of depreciation for similar equipment. Client Entity paid consulting fees of $20,000 to third parties for R&D activities related to the project. Overhead allocated to R&D activities was $45,000. 

SOLUTION
The solution to the problem is as follows: 

	Item 
	To be capitalized 
	To be expensed 

	Materials (no future use) 
	
	$800,000 

	Patent (future use) 
	$300,000 
	

	Amortization of patent ($300,000 ÷ 20 years) 
	
	15,000 

	Equipment (no future use) 
	
	50,000 

	Equipment (future use) 
	30,000 
	

	Depreciation of equipment ($30,000 ÷ 5 years) 
	
	6,000 

	Consulting fees 
	
	20,000 

	Allocated overhead 
	
	45,000 

	   Total R&D expense for 19X1 
	
	$936,000 


E8A.3.2 R&D Arrangements Funded by Another Entity

An entity can arrange to have areas of its R&D program funded partially or entirely by others. In such situations, the actual R&D activities may be performed by the entity itself, the funding parties, or a third party. The entity must determine the nature of the obligation it incurs when it enters into an arrangement with other parties who fund its research and development. 

Obligation to repay other parties.

Where the entity is obligated to repay any of the funds provided by the other parties regardless of the outcome of the research and development, the entity should estimate the amount and record the liability. This applies whether payment is to be made in cash or otherwise. Following are some examples in which the entity is committed to repay:

· The entity guarantees or has a contractual commitment that ensures repayment of the funds provided by the other parties regardless of the outcome of the research and development.

· The other parties can require the entity to purchase their interest in the research and development regardless of the outcome.

· The other parties will automatically receive debt or equity securities of the entity on termination or completion of the research and development, regardless of the outcome.

Even though written agreements or contracts under the arrangement do not require the entity to repay any of the funds provided by outside parties, other conditions might indicate that the entity is likely to bear the risk of failure of the research and development. Where those conditions suggest that it is “probable” start (as defined in SFAS 5) that the entity will repay any of the funds regardless of the outcome of the research and development, there is a presumption that the entity has an obligation to repay the other parties. This presumption can be overcome only by substantial evidence to the contrary. 

Following are examples of conditions leading to the presumption that the entity will repay even though it is not required to do so:

· The entity has indicated an intent to repay all or a portion of the funds provided regardless of the outcome of the research and development.

· The entity would suffer a severe economic penalty if it failed to repay any of the funds provided to it regardless of the outcome of the research and development. An economic penalty is considered severe if in the normal course of business an entity would probably choose to pay the other parties rather than incur the penalty. For example, an entity might purchase the other party's interest in the research and development if the entity had provided the other party with proprietary basic technology necessary for the entity's ongoing operations without retaining a way to recover that technology or prevent it from being transferred to another party, except by purchasing the other party's interest.

· A significant related-party relationship between the entity and the parties funding the research and development exists at the time the entity enters into the arrangement.

· The entity has essentially completed the project before entering into the arrangement.

Where the entity incurs a liability to repay the other parties, it should charge R&D costs to expense when incurred. On occasion, the amount of funds provided by the other parties might exceed the entity's liability; for example, license agreements or partial buy-out provisions allow the entity to use the R&D results or to reacquire certain basic technology or other assets for an amount less than the funds provided. In these or similar situations, the entity should charge its portion of R&D costs to expense in the same manner as the liability is incurred. 

Obligation to perform contractual services.

Where repayment depends solely on the R&D results having future economic benefit, the entity should account for its obligation as a contract to perform research and development for others. Where the obligation is to perform research and development for others and the entity subsequently decides to purchase the other parties' interest in the R&D arrangement or to obtain the exclusive rights to the R&D results, the accounting should be in accordance with GAAP applicable to the acquisition of identifiable intangible assets. 

Loans or advances to other parties.

Where repayment to the company of a loan or advance made by the entity to the other parties depends solely on the results of the R&D activities having future economic benefit, the amount of the loan or advance should be accounted for as R&D costs incurred by the entity. 

Example 2. R&D Projects Funded by Others 
FACTS
Client Entity is involved with two R&D arrangements. The facts are as follows: 

	Situation 1 
	Situation 2 

	(1) Client Entity will perform all R&D activities (other than outside contract services). The other parties to the joint venture transfer $2 million in cash to Client Entity on January 11, 19X1. Client Entity has agreed to repay the other parties in full regardless of the outcome of the R&D activities. 
	(1) Client Entity will perform all R&D activities. The other parties to the joint venture transferred $1.8 million in cash to Client Entity on February 1, 19X1. Repayment of the funds is contingent on whether the R&D activities produce a patent. 

	

	

	
	

	(2) During 19X1. the following R&D costs were incurred: 
	(2) During 19X1, the following R&D costs were incurred: 

	   (a) Materials costing $80,000 were used. 
	   (a) Materials costing $140,000 were used. 

	   (b) Salaries of personnel directly related to the project were $300,000. 
	   (b) Salaries of personnel directly related to the $220,000. 

	   (c) Fees of $90,000 were paid to outside consultants. 
	   (c) Fees of $110,000 were paid to the outside consultants. 

	   (d) Allocated overhead was $50,000. 
	   (d) Allocated overhead was $40,000. 

	   (e) Equipment was acquired at a cost of $70,000. The equipment has no alternative future use. 
	

	

	

	
	

	(3) R&D activities were still in progress at December 21, 19X1. 
	(3) R&D activities were still in progress at December 31, 19X1. 


SOLUTION
The solution is calculated as follows. 

SITUATION 1
The journal entry to record the liability at the date the funds are transferred is: 

	Cash 
	$2,000,000 
	

	   Due in connection with project 
	
	$2,000,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the advance of funds. 
	
	


The amount to be expensed is calculated as follows: 

	Item 
	
	To be expensed 

	Materials 
	
	$80,000 

	Salaries 
	
	300,000 

	Consulting fees 
	
	90,000 

	Allocated overhead 
	
	40,000 

	Equipment 
	
	70,000 

	   Total R&D expense for 19X1 
	$580,000 
	


SITUATION 2
Because Client Entity's repayment is contingent on whether a patent results from the R&D activities, Client Entity does not have a liability. The journal entry to record the transfer of funds is: 

	Cash 
	1,800,000 
	

	   Advance under project 
	
	$1,800,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record the advance of funds. 
	
	


Note that the advance is carried as a liability and reduced as the R&D costs in connection with Situation 2 are incurred. 

The amount to be expensed is calculated as follows: 

	Item 
	Cost 

	Material 
	$140,000 

	Salaries 
	220,000 

	Consulting fees 
	220,000 

	Allocated overhead 
	50,000 

	   Total R&D costs incurred for 19X1 
	$630,000 


The journal entry to record the R&D costs incurred is: 

	Advance under project 
	$520,000 
	

	   Cash (or accounts payable) 
	
	$520,000 

	

	

	
	
	

	To record costs incurred in connection with project. 
	
	


(Separate entries would, of course, be made for each cost incurred.) 

Because Client Entity is not required to repay the $1,800,000 advance unless the R&D results are successful, costs incurred are not expensed. Instead, these costs are charged to the advance. At December 31, 19X1, the balance in the advance account is $1,280,000 ($1,800,000 − $520,000). 

E8A.3.3 Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed

SFAS 86 establishes standards for accounting for the costs of computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed as a separate product or as part of a product or process. It applies to the costs of both internally developed software and purchased software. It does not apply to costs incurred for software created for internal use or produced for others under contract. For purposes of SFAS 86, the terms “computer software product” “software product,” and “product” include a computer software program, a group of programs, and product enhancement (i.e., improvements to an existing product intended to extend its life or significantly improve marketability). 

All costs incurred to establish the technological feasibility of a computer software product are considered R&D costs and should be charged to operations as incurred as required by SFAS 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs. 

Technological feasibility is considered established when all planning, designing, coding (writing detailed instructions in computer language), and testing (steps to determine that the software meets the requirements set forth in the product design) activities have been performed. As evidence that technological feasibility has been established, the company must have performed the activities in either (1) or (2) as follows: 

(1) If the process of creating the computer software product includes a detail program design (i.e., the process takes product function, feature, and technical requirements to their most detailed, logical form and is ready for coding): 

(a) The product design (a logical representation of all product functions in sufficient detail to serve as product specifications) and the detail program design have been completed and the company has established that the necessary skills, hardware, and software technology are available to produce the product. 

(b) The completeness of the detail program design and its consistency with the product design have been confirmed by documenting and tracing the detail program design to product specifications. 

(c) The detail program design has been reviewed for high-risk development issues (e.g., novel, unique, unproven functions and features or technological innovations) and any uncertainties related to high-risk development issues have been resolved through coding and testing. 

(2) If the process does not include a detail program design: 

(a) A product design and a working model (an operative version of the product ready for initial customer testing) have been completed. 

(b) The completeness of the working model and its consistency with the product design have been confirmed by testing. 

Production costs.

Costs of producing a product master (i.e., a completed version of the software) that are incurred after technological feasibility is established should be capitalized; these costs include coding and testing. Software production costs for software that is to be used as an integral part of a product or process should not be capitalized until (1) technological feasibility has been established for the software and (2) all R&D activities for the other components of the product or process have been completed. 

Capitalization should stop when the product is available for general release to customers. Costs of maintenance (i.e., error corrections and routine changes and additions to keep the product updated) and customer support (services performed to assist customers) should be charged to operations when the related revenue is recognized or when the costs are incurred, whichever occurs first. 

Purchased software.

Costs of purchased computer software that has no alternative future use should be accounted for in the same manner as the costs incurred to internally develop such software. If the purchased software has an alternative future use, the cost should be capitalized and accounted for in accordance with its use. 

Amortization of capitalized costs.

Capitalized software costs should be amortized on a product-by-product basis. The amount of amortization each year should be the larger of 

(1) The ratio that current gross revenues for a product bear to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenues for that product; or 

(2) The straight-line method over the remaining estimated economic life of the product including the period being reported on. 

Amortization should begin when the product is available to customers. 

Example 3 illustrates how amortization is applied: 

Example 3. Amortization Computation 
FACTS
Assume that at December 31, 19X1, Client Entity has unamortized capitalized costs of $170,000 relating to a computer software product. 

Also assume that in 19X1 gross revenues related to the software were $250,000 and that the total of future gross revenues is $1,750,000. The estimated remaining economic life for the software is four years (19X2-19X5). 

SOLUTION
Amortization for 19X1 is computed as follows: 

(1) The ratio of current gross revenues to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenues is: 

	$250,000
$250,000 + $1,750,000 = 12.5% 


(2) Straight-line method is: 

	1 year (current year)
1 year (current year) + 4 years = 20% 


Amortization expense for 19X1 is $34,000 ($170,000 × 0.2) under the straight-line method, because it is greater than the amount computed under (1), which is $21,250 ($170,000 × 0.125). 

Inventory costs.

Costs incurred for duplicating the software, for documenting and obtaining training materials from the product masters, and for physically packaging the product for distribution should be capitalized as inventory on a unit-specific basis and charged to cost of sales when revenue from the sale of those units is recognized. 

Periodic evaluation of capitalized costs.

At each balance-sheet date, the unamortized capitalized costs should be compared with net realizable value, and any excess of the cost over its net realizable value should be written off. Net realizable value is computed as estimated future gross revenues less estimated future costs of completing and disposing of the product, including maintenance and customer support costs to satisfy the company's responsibility at the time of sale. 

Note that no write-down (write-off) should be subsequently restored. 

E8A.3.4 Costs Associated With Modifying Computer Software for the Year 2000

Many computer systems process transactions using two digits for the year of the transaction (e.g., 96 to represent the year 1996). Most of these systems need to be modified to a accommodate the beginning of the 21st century (i.e., the year 2000). The EITF reached a consensus that both external and internal costs specifically associated with modifying internal-use software for the year 2000 should be charged to operations when incurred. Note that this consensus does not address purchases of hardware or software that replaces existing software that is incompatible with requirements for the year 2000, nor does the consensus address impairment of existing noncompliant systems. 

E8A.3.5 Costs of Business Process Reengineering and Information Technology Transformation

To take advantage of new capabilities in electronic commerce and advances in computer technologies and to solve existing Year 2000 software problems, many entities are entering into consulting contracts that combine business process reengineering and information technology transformation. Consulting services may encompass software development, software acquisition, software implementation, training, and ongoing support. Business process reengineering may be a component of some of those activities. Information technology transformation projects that involve software packages also have been undertaken by entities that must reengineer their business processes to connect into that software rather than modify that software to connect into their existing business processes. The transformation project may also include the installation of new computer hardware, the purchase of new office equipment, furniture, or work stations, and the physical reconfiguration of the work area. 

The EITF reached the following consensuses with respect to accounting for business process reengineering activities:

· The cost of business process reengineering activities—whether performed internally or by third parties—should be charged to operations as incurred. This also applies when the business process reengineering activities are part of a project to acquire, develop, or implement internal-use software.

· The following costs typically associated with business process reengineering activities should be expensed as incurred: 

· — Preparing the request for proposal

· — Documenting the entity's current business process, except as it relates to current software structure

· — Reengineering the business process to increase efficiency and effectiveness

· — Restructuring the work force that will operate the reengineered business process

· When a third party is used to complete a business process reengineering project, the total consulting contract price (or the sum of the linked contracts with the same vendor) should be allocated to each activity based on the relative fair values of those separate activities. The allocation should be based on the objective evidence of the fair value of the elements in the contract, not necessarily the separate prices stated within the contract for each element.

· If costs were previously capitalized for business process reengineering activities, any remaining unamortized portion of those identifiable costs should be written off in the quarter that contains November 20, 1997 (the date of the EITF consensus), and reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

E8A.3.6 Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use

SOP 98-1 provides guidance concerning recognition and measurement of costs associated with developing or acquiring computer software for internal use. 

Software having both of the following attributes is considered internal use software: 

(1) The software is acquired, internally developed, or modified solely to meet the entity's internal needs. 

(2) During the software's development or modification, no plan exists to market the software externally. 

Computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed should be accounted for in accordance with SFAS 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. Software used in developing a product that is not part of or included in the product or service sold should be accounted for as internal-use software. 

The following internal-use computer software should, however, be considered to be included in research and development activities and thus would be accounted for as R&D in accordance with SFAS 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs:
· Purchased or leased computer software used in research and development activities when the software does not have alternative future uses

· All internally developed internal use computer software (including software developed by third parties) if the software is a pilot project or the software is used in a particular research and development project, regardless of whether the software has alternative future uses

In general, computer software development occurs in the following stages: 

(1) Preliminary project stage 

(2) Application development stage 

(3) Postimplementation/operation stage 

Both internal and external costs incurred during the preliminary project stage should be charged to operations as incurred. Such costs incurred during the application development stage should be capitalized. Training costs incurred in this stage should, however, be expensed. Costs of upgrades and enhancements should be capitalized (but only during the application development stage) if it is probable that the expenditures will result in added functionality for the software. During the postimplementation/operation stage, training costs (both internal and external) and maintenance costs should be charged to operations. 

Capitalization of costs should begin when both of the following take place: 

(1) The preliminary project stage is completed; and 

(2) Management with the relevant authority to do so permits and commits to funding a computer software project and believes the completion of the project is probable and the software will be used to perform the function intended. 

Capitalization should be discontinued under either of the following circumstances: 

(1) It is no longer probable that the project will be completed and placed in service; or 

(2) The project is substantially completed and ready for its intended use. 

Note that when new software replaces old software, any remaining capitalized costs of the old software should be expensed. 

Costs to be capitalized should include only the following:

· External direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining internal-use computer software

· Payroll and payroll related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to the internal-use computer software project, to the extent of the time spent directly on the project

· Interest costs incurred during development of internal-use computer software (in accordance with SFAS 34, Capitalization of Interest cost)
General and administrative costs and overhead costs should not be capitalized. 

When the price of purchased internal-use software covers multiple elements, an allocation must be made among all the individual elements based on objective evidence of fair value, which is not necessarily the separate prices stated in the contract. 

Impairment of capitalized costs should be recognized and measured in accordance with SFAS 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of The guidance in SFAS 121 applies under any of the following conditions:

· Internal-use computer software is not expected to provide substantive service potential.

· A significant change occurs in the extent or manner in which the software is used or is expected to be used.

· A significant change is made or will be made to the software program.

· Costs of developing or modifying internal-use computer software significantly exceed the amount originally expected for such activities.

When it is no longer probable that computer software being developed will be completed and placed in service, the asset should be reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, if any, less costs to sell (with the rebuttable presumption that the fair value is zero). 

Indications that the software may no longer be expected to be completed and placed in service include the following:

· A lack of expenditures budgeted or incurred for the project

· Programming difficulties that cannot be resolved on a timely basis

· Significant cost overruns

· Acquisition of information indicating that the costs of internally developed software will significantly exceed the cost of comparable third-party software or software products, so that management obtains the third-party software or software products instead of completing the internally developed software

· Introduction of technologies in the marketplace so that management intends otherwise to obtain the third-party software or software products instead of completing the internally developed software

· Unprofitability or the planned or actual discontinuation of the segment or unit to which the software relates

Amortization of capitalized costs should be taken on the straight-line basis unless another method is more representative of the software's use. Amortization should begin when the software is ready for its intended use, even if it will be placed in service in stages that extend beyond the current reporting period. 

If computer software originally developed or obtained for internal use is subsequently sold, the proceeds from the sale (net of direct incremental costs) should be applied against the carrying amount of the software with no profit recognized until the carrying value of the software reaches zero. Any additional proceeds should be recognized in revenue as earned. 

SOP 98-1 is effective for financial statements of fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1998, with earlier application encouraged. Adoption of SOP 98-1 requires its application to projects-in-process in the year of adoption; costs incurred prior to the initial application of SOP 98-1 , however, should not be adjusted to amounts that would have been capitalized had SOP 98-1 been in effect when those costs were incurred. Note, though, that the provisions of the SOP pertaining to amortization and impairment should be applied to any unamortized costs that exist prior to adoption of SOP 98-1 and continue to be reported as assets. 

E8A.4 Disclosures

The following information should be disclosed: 

The amount of R&D costs charged to operations for each period that a statement of activities is presented. 

In connection with an entity that accounts for its obligation under an R&D arrangement as a contract to perform research and development for others, the following should also be disclosed (information for similar types of arrangements may be aggregated):

· The terms of significant agreements under the R&D arrangements (including royalty arrangements, purchase provisions, license agreements, and commitments to provide additional funding) as of the date of each balance sheet presented.

· The amount of compensation earned and the amount of costs incurred under such contracts for each period for which a statement of activities is presented.

The following disclosures should be made in connection with computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed: 

The amount of unamortized computer software costs included in each balance sheet presented. 

The total amount of costs charged to operations for each statement of activities presented. The total charged to operations includes:

· Amortization.

· Amounts written down to net realizable value.

E8A.4.1 Examples

CARE USA (1998 Annual Report) 

The recorded amount for bonds payable approximates fair value. During 1998, CARE USA reviewed the capitalized cost of certain software and determined impairment based upon the provisions of SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of. Based on the determination that the software would not be used, CARE USA concluded that a write-off of the capitalized software costs was necessary. Accordingly, CARE USA recorded a $1.2 million charge. It is reported under Management and General Expenses in the June 30, 1998 Statement of Activities. 

UNITED WAY OF AMERICA (2000 Annual Report) 

UWIN Development Costs 
In 1997, UWA began development of the United Way Information Network (UWIN). The purpose of UWIN was to assist member United Way organizations with the processing of contribution pledges from donors and corporations with the subsequent disbursement of donations and information reporting. 

UWIN development costs were capitalized in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed." Capitalized costs included payments to vendors that had been contracted to develop the system, as well as payroll related costs of UWA personnel that worked directly on the project. UWA obtained a line of credit and received donor contributions to finance the UWIN development costs (see Note 6). 

In 1999, final testing of the UWIN system commenced. During the final testing phase, the system was unable to process gifts as designed, and was ultimately deemed inoperative and not repairable. At the time the system was deemed inoperative, UWA wrote off approximately $12.1 million of capitalized costs, which is recorded in the accompanying consolidating statements of activities. This write off is net of a settlement agreement with a vendor, in which the vendor agreed to reimburse UWA for certain costs incurred. 

Certain components of the system that were deemed salvageable were not written off and are now in use by UWA. These assets, which have a fair value of approximately $533,000, are recorded as equipment in the accompanying consolidating statements of financial position. The assets are being depreciated over their useful life of 5 years. 

E8A.5 Related Topics

Chapter A13 , OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
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Related Entities

F1.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

ARB 51 

APB 8 

SFAS 94 

SOP 94-3 

The Guide, Chapter 8 

F1.2 Overview

Generally, nonprofit organizations should consolidate those for-profit and nonprofit subsidiaries in which they hold a majority voting interest through stock ownership. Nonprofit organizations with both controlling financial and economic interests in other nonprofit organizations should consolidate them. Controlling financial interests cover situations in which control rests not in a majority voting interest through stock or equity ownership, but in another type of majority ownership or the control of a majority of board appointments. Nonprofit organizations with economic interests in other nonprofit organizations that also have control based on contractual or agreed-upon arrangements may choose to consolidate. 

F1.3 Measurement Principles

F1.3.1 Investments in For-Profit Entities

Accounting for investments in for-profit entities follows accounting pronouncements for those types of entities. In other words, a nonprofit organization should account for such an investment in the same way a for-profit organization would. 

Majority-owned subsidiaries.

In most cases, when a nonprofit organization directly or indirectly owns a majority voting interest in a for-profit entity, it should consolidate that entity. Majority means more than 50%. A voting interest typically is obtained through the ownership of common or preferred stock which has voting rights. 

If the control of the voting interest is likely to be temporary, the majority-owned for-profit entity should not be consolidated. In rare cases, the majority owner may not control the entity: in these situations, the for-profit entity should not be consolidated. 

Non-majority interests.

Typically, when a nonprofit organization owns between 20% and 50% of the voting stock of a for-profit entity, it may use the equity method of accounting for its investment or choose to report its ownership interest at market value. If there is evidence that, despite this ownership interest, the nonprofit organization is unable to exercise significant influence over the for-profit entity, it may not use the equity method of accounting. 

In general, the equity method causes the owner to pick up its share of the investee's activities. Investment income recognized on the statement of activities is based on the investor's share of the investee's income. Distributions from the investee, such as dividends, reduce the carrying value of the investment on the owner's books. 

In cases where consolidation and the equity methods are not permitted, nonprofit organizations should:

· Account for the investments at fair value if they consist of equity securities with readily determinable fair values or debt securities, and

· Account for other investments in accordance with the applicable industry-specific guidelines—in other words, following guidance given for institutions of higher education, voluntary health and welfare organizations, and other organizations as appropriate. See Chapter A7 , INVESTMENTS, for discussion of these industry-specific guidelines.

F1.3.2 Interrelated Nonprofit Organizations

Most nonprofit organizations have no ownership interests, such as common or preferred stock. As a result, the rules governing consolidating for-profit entities do not fit well when applied to interrelated nonprofits. Additional guidance has been developed to address these relationships. 

Majority voting interest through stock or other equity.

In most situations where one nonprofit organization holds more than 50% of the voting stock of another nonprofit entity (or otherwise owns a majority voting interest), it should consolidate the owned entity. However, if the control of the voting interest is likely to be temporary, the majority-owned nonprofit entity should not be consolidated. In rare cases, the majority owner may not control the entity; in these situations, the nonprofit entity should not be consolidated. 

Ownership of one nonprofit by another may also take the form of holding a majority voting interest in other equity, such as ownership certificates or membership certificates, or by holding partnership or joint venture interests. Again, the two entities should be consolidated unless control is likely to be temporary or the majority owner does not have control. 

Other controlling financial interest.

More often than not, one nonprofit organization controls another by means of something other than owning a majority of its voting interests such as voting stock. Typically, one nonprofit organization controls another by holding a majority of the voting interests in the other's governing board. 

Example 1. Illustration of Board Majority Voting Interest 
FACTS
Assume the Pork-Raisers' Association has a seven-member board and requires a simple majority to approve board actions. The Other White Meat Association has the ability to appoint four of the board members of the Pork-Raisers' Association. 

SOLUTION
The Other White Meat Association has a majority voting interest in the board of the Pork-Raisers' Association, and through this, a controlling financial interest. 

Parallel boards, in which the board of one nonprofit organization is identical or very similar to the board of another, do not necessarily result in a majority voting interest in the board of another. The controlling entity must have the ability to require that certain individuals serve as board members and to achieve a voting majority under that organization's by-laws in order to have a majority voting interest. 

If one nonprofit organization has a controlling financial interest in another—other than through ownership of a majority voting interest through stock or other equity—but has no economic interest (as discussed later) in the other entity, it should not consolidate. However, it should disclose the existence and nature of the relationship with the other nonprofit organization as well as any related transactions. 

Controlling financial interest and economic interest.

Generally, when one nonprofit organization holds a controlling financial interest in another nonprofit organization through majority ownership or control of a majority of board appointments, and it has an economic interest in that entity, it should consolidate. If it has an economic interest and control by means other than majority ownership or control of a majority of board appointments (for example, by contract or affiliation agreement), it is permitted but not required to consolidate. However, if the control of the voting interest is likely to be temporary or if control does not rest with the majority owner, the nonprofit entity should not be consolidated. 

Economic interests exist when: 

(1) One entity holds or utilizes significant resources that must be used for the benefit of a nonprofit organization. These resources may benefit the nonprofit organization directly or indirectly through the production of income or the provision of services, or 

(2) One entity is responsible for the liabilities of the other entity. 

Examples of the existence of an economic interest between two entities include the following:

· A local fundraising entity collects donations on behalf of a disaster relief organization

· A home for unwed parents transfers its endowment funds to a foundation, where the endowment assets will be held for the benefit of the home

· A professional association assigns certain significant functions, such as lobbying, to another entity

· A congregation commits to providing funds to a mission, or guarantees its debt

If one nonprofit organization has an economic interest in another nonprofit organization, but no control, it should not consolidate. However, it should disclose the existence and nature of the relationship with the other nonprofit organization as well as any related transactions. 

Special-purpose organizations.

In certain circumstances, a nonprofit organization may form or be related to another entity that carries out activities from which it benefits or activities on its behalf. Situations that may give rise to such an arrangement include the following:

· The other entity performs activities that the nonprofit does not wish to perform.

· The other entity performs lobbying or other activities that threaten the nonprofit organization's exempt status.

· The other entity performs activities that the nonprofit is precluded from carrying out.

If the elements of control and economic interest are present as described, the nonprofit organization should consolidate the other entity into its own financial statements. 

Example 2. Consolidation of Political Action Committee 
FACTS
Assume the American Association of Professionals establishes and sponsors a political action committee (PAC) whose mission is to lobby on behalf of the profession and to further the interests of the members of the Association. The Association's board appoints the governing board of the PAC, and the PAC's resources are used solely to benefit the Association, its members, and its programs. 

SOLUTION
Despite the fact that the Association may be prohibited from lobbying, the guidance in SOP 94-3, Reporting of Related Entities by Not-for-Profit Organizations, requires consolidation in this scenario, as both control and economic interest elements are present. 

F1.4 Disclosures

The following disclosures are required when consolidated financial statements are presented: 

(1) Principles of consolidation. 

(2) A statement that significant inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

(3) If the fiscal year of the parent differs from that of one or more of its subsidiaries, a statement of the results and/or transactions during the intervening period that materially affect financial position or changes in net assets. Ordinarily, a difference of three months or less will not preclude consolidation of organizations with different fiscal years. 

(4) If the not-for-profit follows specialized industry practices for such securities and two or more of its subsidiaries do not, the information of the not-for-profit and its consolidated subsidiaries regarding marketable securities. 

(5) If income taxes have not been accrued for undistributed earnings of a subsidiary, the following information should also be disclosed: 

(a) Either a declaration of the intention to reinvest such earnings or a statement that remittance will be in the form of a tax-free liquidation; 

(b) The cumulative amount of the undistributed earnings for which income taxes have not been accrued; 

(c) The amount of the minority interest in the subsidiary's income separately identified as a deduction in the consolidated income statement. 

(6) The amount of the minority interest in the equity of the subsidiary's capital separately identified on the consolidation statement of financial position between liabilities and equity. 

(7) If a subsidiary is sold during the year, a Consolidated Statement of Activities that omits revenue and expense. The equity in the earnings of the subsidiary prior to the date of sale should be identified as a separate item on the Statement of Activities. 

The following disclosures are required when investments are accounted for using the cost method: 

(1) A statement that the investments are accounted for on the cost method. 

(2) Separate identification on the Statement of Financial Position of the cost of investments accounted for under the cost method. 

(3) The amount of any dividends received in the current period. 

(4) The amount of any dividends received in excess of the proportionate share of accumulated earnings since the date of acquisition, as a reduction of the cost of the investment. 

(5) The amount of equity in the undistributed earnings and earnings for the current period of unconsolidated subsidiaries accounted for under the cost method. This disclosure may be made in total or by each individual subsidiary or group of subsidiaries. 

(6) The amount of any difference between the cost of the investments, and the equity in net assets of unconsolidated subsidiaries. 

(7) Summarized information about assets, liabilities, and results of operations of unconsolidated subsidiaries. 

(8) The amounts of any gains and losses on transactions with unconsolidated subsidiaries if such inter-company gains and losses are not eliminated. 

(9) When available, the quoted market value of the common stock. 

(10) The provision for loss. 

The following disclosures are required when investments are accounted for using the equity method: 

(1) Separate identification on the Statement of Financial Position of investments accounted for under the equity method. 

(2) Separate identification in the Statement of Activities of the total amount of earnings or losses (before extraordinary items and prior-period adjustments) from investees accounted for under the equity method. 

(3) Separate identification of the not-for-profit's share of the investees' extraordinary items and prior-period adjustments. 

(4) The name of each investee. 

(5) The percentage of common stock ownership in each investee. 

(6) A statement that such investments are accounted for under the equity method. 

(7) If the not-for-profit owns 20% or more of the voting stock of any investee but the investment is not being accounted for under the equity method, the name of each such investee and the reason therefor. Conversely, if the not-for-profit owns less than 20% of the voting stock but the investment is being accounted for under the equity method, the name of each such investee and the reason therefor should be disclosed. 

(8) The amount of any difference between the carrying value of the investment and the amount of underlying equity in the net assets of the investee. The accounting treatment of that difference should also be disclosed. 

(9) When available, the quoted market value of the common stock (this is not required for investments in subsidiaries). 

(10) Summarized information about assets, liabilities, and results of operations of unconsolidated subsidiaries, and separately for joint ventures or other 50%-or-less owned investees. This information for each type of investment may be shown individually or in groups, as appropriate. 

(11) The effects of possible conversions, exercises, or contingent issuances of securities of an investee. 

(12) If income taxes have not been accrued for undistributed earnings of a subsidiary, the following information should be disclosed: 

(a) Either a declaration of the intention to reinvest such earnings or a statement that remittance will be in the form of a tax-free liquidation; 

(b) The cumulative amount of the undistributed earnings for which income taxes have not been accrued. 

(13) When a not-for-profit's share of an investee's losses is greater than the carrying value of the investment plus advances to the investee, any future losses accrued should be shown as a liability (not as a credit balance in the asset) if application of the equity method is continued because the not-for-profit has guaranteed obligations of the investee or is otherwise committed to further financial support. 

(14) The provision for loss. 

(15) Significant events or transactions of an investee that occur from the date of the investee's financial statements to the date of the not-for-profit's financial statements. 

(16) Restatement of financial statements for all periods presented that are affected by a change to the equity method from another period. Restated financial statements would thus reflect the results of the change in the same manner as a step-by-step acquisition of a subsidiary. 

F1.5 Related Topics

Chapter A7 , INVESTMENTS 
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Accounting for Costs of Activities that Include Fund-Raising

F2.1 Applicable Authoritative Pronouncements

SOP 98-2 

F2.2 Overview

The costs of activities that include a fund-raising component should be charged to their appropriate functional classifications. Under SOP 98-2, some activities will be defined as solely fund-raising in nature, even though they may contain costs that would otherwise be classified as program or another supporting service. For those fund-raising activities, all costs, except those connected with an exchange transaction component, should be classified as fund-raising expense. 

F2.3 Measurement Principles

Some nonprofit organizations conduct activities with donors, volunteers, program participants, and others that include program-related activities or management and general activities as well as an appeal for contributions. Such activities are called “joint activities” because they include costs related to fund-raising and another functional classification. Activities that include costs of more than one functional classification, but that do not include an appeal for contributions, are not included in the definition of “joint activities.” 

This combination of fund-raising with other activities occurs for many reasons. Some nonprofit organizations combine the activities to conserve resources. For example, rather than send one mailing describing program activities and upcoming events and a separate mailing asking for contributions, a single envelope is used to reduce printing, postage, and processing costs. In addition, because many nonprofit organizations depend on donations for their existence, few programs are conducted without a reminder to the participants of the organization's need for contributions. Some auditors and others, however, have questioned the validity of the program or management and general components of joint activities. In their opinion, some joint activities are simply fund-raising efforts that use other components of the nonprofit organization's actions to increase the potential donor's desire to give. SOP 98-2, “Accounting for Costs of Activities of Not-for-Profit Organizations and State and Local Governments That Include Fund Raising,” provides guidance on how to classify costs of joint activities: specifically, how to determine if costs should be assigned or allocated to functions other than fund-raising. 

SOP 98-2 is effective for financial statements for years beginning on or after December 15, 1998. Earlier application is encouraged. If comparative financial statements are presented in the first year of implementation, retroactive application is permitted, but not required. 

F2.3.1 Definition of Terms

Accounting for costs of joint activities requires a clear understanding of the terms defined by SOP 98-2. These terms include:

· Joint Activities: as discussed above, these are activities that combine a fund-raising appeal with another type of activity, such as program, management and general, or membership development. As there are no prescribed expense classifications for nonprofit organizations, some may not use the categories of “program, management and general, and membership development”. Some may not even use the classification “fund-raising”, although total fund-raising expense must be disclosed in the financial statements. SOP 98-2 does not require the use of any specific functional categories; however, program, management and general, and membership development functions are used for illustrative purposes.

· costs of joint activities: this includes all costs of the activity regardless of their functionalization. Costs of joint activities consist of 

· — direct costs that can be readily identified with the program, or the management and general, or the fund-raising part of the event, as well as

· — indirect costs that are incurred as part of the activity, but cannot be traced directly to one of the functional classifications.

For example, assume City Symphony Association sends out a mailing to parents of primary school students in five underserved zip codes. This mailing contains information about and invitations to free concerts and programs offered in the city, encourages participation in local choral and orchestral groups, encourages support of music programs in local schools, and includes a card requesting contributions to the Association. Direct costs of the program components of the mailing may include expenses related to writing, designing, producing, and printing the program-related information and invitations. Direct costs of the fundraising component include similar expenses related to the insert card. Indirect costs of the joint activity would include items such as cost of the mailing envelope, postage, costs to create or purchase the mailing list, and costs to process the mailing. Depending on the classification of the joint activity under SOP 98-2, all costs of the joint activity may be charged to fund-raising expense, or the costs may be assigned to fundraising and to program services, or to fund-raising and to other supporting services.

· joint costs: not to be confused with costs of joint activities, joint costs are those indirect costs of joint activities that are incurred as part of the activity, but that cannot be traced directly to one of the functional components of the activity. In the example given above, joint costs would include the indirect costs of the activity such as cost of the mailing envelope, postage, costs to create or purchase the mailing list, and costs to process the mailing.

· exchange transaction costs: these are costs related to earning exchange transaction revenue. Exchange transaction revenue is earned by charging a fee for services or goods provided or sold to the program participant. This type of revenue differs from contribution revenue in that each party to the transaction gives up and receives something of approximately equal value. For example, a nonprofit organization may provide a program such as a concert, performance, or lecture, and charge admission. To the extent that the admission fee approximates the fair value of the benefit received by the participant (in this case, admission to the program), it is exchange transaction revenue. Costs associated with earning the exchange transaction revenue are excluded from the classification requirements of SOP 98-2.

For definitions of contributions, program expense, management and general expense, membership development expense, and fund-raising expense, refer to chapters which cover these specific topics. 

F2.3.2 Joint Activity Criteria

In evaluating how to account for the cost of joint activities, SOP 98-2 sets up three criteria that must be met before any costs may be assigned to functional categories other than fund-raising. If any one of the criteria are not met, all costs of the joint activity are classified as fund-raising expense. In brief, the criteria are:

· Purpose: the extent to which the joint activity accomplishes a program or management and general function

· Audience: the extent to which the joint activity's audience is selected for reasons other than its ability to give, and

· Content: the extent to which the content of the joint activity calls for a specific program-related action, or fulfills a management and general responsibility.

Each criterion carries with it numerous tests or hurdles that must be passed or overcome in order to assign costs of the activity to functions other than fund-raising. If any one of the criterion is failed, all costs are classified as fund-raising, even though other criterion indicate that the activity included viable program or management and general elements. Following is a discussion of each criterion and the elements within each that must be satisfied. 

Purpose.

In deciding whether or not the purpose criteria is met, the nonprofit organization must demonstrate that the joint activity accomplished a program or a management and general function. In order to meet the purpose criterion, a program activity must call for specific action by the audience that will accomplish some or all of the entity's mission objectives. 

Educational program activity.

Generally, the program-related call to action is easily discernible; however, when the program activity is informative or educational rather than action-oriented, certain factors must be considered. 

Before looking at these factors, the organization must consider what is meant by the phrase “educating individuals.” SOP 98-2 uses a lecture as an example of an educational activity, but does not otherwise define such activities. Nonprofit organizations may want to consider definitions provided by the Internal Revenue Code, such as the following: The term “educational” means the instruction or training of an individual for the purpose of improving or developing his or her capabilities. It also includes the instruction of groups of people or the general public on subjects useful to individuals and/or beneficial to the community. Education may be carried on outside of a classroom setting. Public discussion groups, panels, roundtables, lectures, and correspondence courses are all educational activities. Organizations that conduct educational activities outside a classroom setting include museums, zoos, arboretums, planetariums, symphony orchestras, historical societies, and other cultural organizations. [Reg. 1.501(c)(3)-1(d)(3)] 

Many nonprofit organizations include education as part of their mission. As a result, many of their activities contain an educational element. Educational program components of joint activities must contain clear explicit or implicit calls to action in order to meet the purpose criterion of SOP 98-2. Otherwise, the educational program components will be classified as in support of fund-raising. The following examples present scenarios that do and do not contain such calls to action.

· If the educational materials are meant to motivate the audience to improve their own situations, that of certain others, or of society as a whole, and the materials call for specific actions that would help accomplish the entity's mission, the joint activity has a viable program component.

For example, assume County Animal Rescue Center (the “Center”) was established to care for, or find homes for abandoned or stray domesticated animals, as well as to attempt to reduce their numbers, and to provide medical services to injured undomesticated animals and livestock. The Center creates and distributes an educational leaflet encouraging county citizens to spay or neuter their pets. The leaflet also asks for a contribution to the Center. This educational component qualifies as a specific call to action (spaying or neutering pets) that will help accomplish the Center's mission.

· If the educational materials are meant to inform the audience about general topics without appealing to it to solve a specific problem or help meet specific needs, the joint activity has a viable program component.

For example, assume the County Animal Rescue Center invites local scout troops to an educational presentation describing the habits of red-tailed hawks and other indigenous birds of prey. At the end of the program, a collection is taken to support the Center's programs. The educational component of the joint activity qualifies as a specific call to action (attending the lecture) that will help accomplish the Center's mission.

· If, however, the educational component of the program merely informs the audience about the causes, conditions, needs, or concerns that the entity's programs attempt to address, the joint activity may not contain a specific call to action that will help accomplish the entity's mission. Without a specific call to action, the educational element is considered to be in support of the appeal for contributions.

For example, assume the Center makes a presentation to the County Chamber of Commerce describing the health and other hazards caused by stray and abandoned animals, and citing numbers of animals rescued or cared for by the Center. At the end of the program, a collection is taken to support the Center's programs. The educational component of the joint activity would not qualify as a specific call to action that will help accomplish the Center's mission. Rather, it helped to motivate the audience to contribute to the Center. 

If, however, the educational component included or focussed on a call to action, rather than on needs met by the organization's programs, it could qualify as a valid program activity. Assume in the example above that the Center appealed to the County Chamber of Commerce to request that County Commissioners increase the number of animal control officers. This request would qualify as a specific call to action to help accomplish the Center's mission, and the activity would have a program component.

· Sometimes, an implicit call to action may be present in educational materials or presentations.

For example, assume the Center makes a presentation to the County Cat Fanciers about the problems caused by a proliferation of stray cats in the area, and the numbers of stray cats rescued or cared for by the Center in the past year. Failure of pet owners to spay or neuter their cats is given as the reason for the proliferation. At the end of the program, a collection is taken to support the Center's programs. The educational component of the joint activity may qualify as an implicit specific call to action (spay or neuter pets) that will help accomplish the Center's mission. Clearly, judgement is needed in determining if an implicit message is present in the educational materials, and if so, whether it can be translated by the audience into a specific call to action that will help accomplish the entity's mission.

· Asking for contributions is not a specific call to action that will help accomplish the entity's mission. Included in this guideline are requests for volunteer time. Efforts to solicit volunteer time are in support of fund-raising, even if such time does not meet the requirements for recognition as contributed services. (See Chapter B2 for discussion of these requirements.)

For example, assume the Center prepares and distributes a mailing consisting of pictures of abandoned animals and asking for contributions of time and/or money to support its programs. While the audience is requested to act (by making a contribution), this action does not qualify as a program activity for fulfilling the purpose criteria of SOP 98-2. 

Program and management and general activities.

In order to meet the purpose criterion of SOP 98-2, a series of factors must be considered—in effect, certain tests must be met, and in a certain order. If these tests are not met, the purpose criterion is not met, and all costs of the joint activity are classified as fund-raising expense. If the purpose criterion is met, the audience and content criterion must also be met for costs to be classified as any function other than fund-raising. The tests, in order, are: 

Compensation or fees test 

Similar activity test 

Other evidence test 

In order to meet the purpose criterion, the content of the joint activity is analyzed as follows: 

(1) In considering whether or not the joint activity has a viable program or management and general component, the compensation or fees test must be passed. If it is passed, the similar activity and other evidence tests are considered. If the compensation or fees test is not passed, all costs of the joint activity should be classified as fund-raising expense. 

(2) The content of the joint activity is analyzed in light of the similar activity test. If the similar activity test is passed, the activity has demonstrated that the joint activity includes a viable program or management and general component. If the similar activity test is not passed, the other evidence test is considered. 

(3) If other evidence demonstrates that the joint activity was not solely in support of fund-raising, the audience and content criteria are considered. If there is no other evidence indicating the joint activity contained program or supporting service elements, all costs of the activity are classified as fund-raising expense. 

The purpose criterion tests in detail are as follows: 

Compensation or fees test: the test is failed if most (or a majority of) the compensation or fees paid to any person performing a component of the joint activity varies according to the amounts of contributions raised by the joint activity. For example, assume that County Community College holds a phone-a-thon to provide alumni with information about an upcoming bond election, to urge them to vote in the election, and to ask for donations to the alumni association. If the persons placing the calls receive commissions or are otherwise paid based on the amounts of contributions received, the compensation and fees test is failed. Notice that the test may failed even if a portion of the compensation or fees is paid at a flat rate, or per call placed. The criterion looks at whether or not a majority, if not all, of the compensation varies based on amounts raised. 

Some compensation contracts provide for payment based on a flat fee or fixed rate, with a not-to-exceed clause that limits the amount paid based on the level of contributions raised. For example, workers in the phone-a-thon described above might have been paid $5.00 per call, up to a total amount which could not exceed 45% of total contributions received. If the actual compensation paid falls below the 45% cap, the compensation and fees test is not failed. If, however, any worker's compensation hits the stated 45% maximum percentage, the compensation and fees test is failed. If it is not determinable whether or not the stated maximum percentage was met for a given joint activity, the test is presumed to have been passed, unless it is probable that the percentage was met. 

Compensation that is based on a group of joint activities, or on total annual fund-raising performance is not included in the compensation or fees test. For example, assume the director of development of the City Museum receives a $10,000 bonus if certain fund-raising targets are met in the current year. Fund-raising activities for the year include a variety of events, including special events, direct solicitations, grant requests, and other efforts. The compensation or fees test does not apply here because it looks at a specific discrete joint activity, rather than at an overall campaign, or results over a period of time. 

Similar activity test: used only if the compensation or fees test is not failed, this test is passed if the program or management and general component of the joint activity is conducted at another place and time, in the same way, on a equal or greater scale, and without the fund-raising appeal. For example, assume that County Community College holds a week-long phone-a-thon to provide alumni with information about an upcoming bond election, and to urge them to vote in the election. On Tuesday and Thursday, the callers also ask for donations to the alumni association. In this case, the purpose criterion is met, because the program component of the joint activity is conducted without the fundraising appeal, separately and on an equal or greater scale. SOP 98-2 provides further specific guidance for this test: 

Program activities: the test is met if the program component includes a call to action and is conducted without a fund-raising appeal using the same medium and on a scale greater than or equal to that used for the joint activity. 

Management and general activities: the test is met if the management and general component is conducted without a fund-raising appeal using the same medium and on a scale greater than or equal to that used for the joint activity. 

In some cases, the scale of the activity may be difficult to measure. For example, assume the County Community College week-long phone-a-thon includes appeals for contributions only on Tuesday and Thursday. 

One might assume that the program-only activity performed all the rest of the days of the week would be equal to or greater than the scale of the joint activity. If, however, 1,000 calls were placed on Tuesday and Thursday compared to only 500 calls placed on all the other days of the week, the fund-raising effort would have been greater than the program-only activity. Other, more subjective factors may also be considered when comparing the scale of the joint activity to that of the activity without the appeal for contributions. These factors may include how much time or money was spent in conducting each activity, how many people were reached, and the make-up of the audience targeted for each activity. 

Other evidence: This test is used only if the compensation and fees test and the similar program test have not conclusively indicated whether or not the purpose criterion is met. In this event, all other facts and circumstances surrounding the joint activity are considered in determining whether or not the activity has a purpose other than fund-raising. All evidence, both positive and negative, is weighed to test for the presence of a viable program or management and general component. Examples of evidence that may be present in any given activity include: 

Positive evidence 
Measurement of results and accomplishments of the program component. If the nonprofit organization evaluates the program activity by measuring or tracking its impact on the audience, there is positive evidence that the purpose criterion is met. Merely measuring how much the audience learned about the concerns, causes, conditions, or needs to be met with funds raised is not positive evidence that a program was conducted. 

Similar activity carried out in a difference medium. If the program or management and general component of the joint activity is carried out without an appeal for funds, but in a different medium than the joint activity, there may be positive evidence that the purpose criterion is met. For example, program materials including a call to action and an appeal for funds may be placed in a newspaper advertisement, while identical program materials without such an appeal are mailed to nonsubscribers. The use of the program materials in a different medium without an appeal for funds indicates that they are not merely in support of fundraising. 

Negative Evidence 
Evaluation of performance. If some part of the performance evaluation of a person conducting the activity is based on amounts raised, the purpose criterion may not be met. 

Compensation or fees. If some part of the compensation or fees paid to a person conducting the activity is based on amounts raised, the purpose criterion may not be met. 

Neutral Evidence 
Measurement and evaluation of results. The weight and importance placed on the effectiveness of the components of the joint activity should be evaluated. For example, if an organization continues to conduct a joint activity that includes an ineffective program component but that had highly successful contribution returns, the purpose criterion may not be met. 

Qualifications and duties. The background, qualifications, and duties of the employees and third parties involved in conducting the joint activity may provide evidence that the purpose criterion is met or is failed. For example, if a fund-raising specialist designs, drafts, produces, and presents both the program and the fund-raising component of the joint activity, there may be evidence that the purpose criterion is not met. The full range of abilities and normal job duties should be considered when evaluating the activity based on this indicator. 

Intent. One of the more difficult areas to objectively analyze is the intent of the activity. In some cases, there may be documented evidence of the intent in such sources as the organization's mission statement, annual report, by-laws, minutes, long-range plans, operating policies, or current-year goals. Other evidence may be contained in instructions given to those conducting the activity, or other internal memos. In some cases, donor restrictions on gifts used to fund the activity may provide insight into the organizational intent for the activity. 

Audience.

The audience criterion is often more difficult to meet than the purpose and content criterion—and may be the most difficult to evaluate as well. In general, the criterion looks at the make-up of the audience selected or invited to participate in the joint activity and attempts to determine whether it was selected based on its ability to contribute or based on its need for the program or management and general component. The criterion begins with a rebuttable presumption: that the criterion is not met if the audience contains prior donors, or if the audience was selected based on its ability or likelihood to give a contribution. In order to overcome this presumption, the nonprofit organization must demonstrate that the audience's ability to give was a relatively insignificant factor in its selection. Factors used to select audiences, other than for its ability or likelihood to make a contribution, include: 

(1) the audience's perceived current or future need for the call to action contained in the program component of the joint activity 

(2) the audience's ability to perform or carry out the call to action, or to otherwise assist in meeting the program goals of the joint activity 

(3) the nonprofit organization's responsibility to provide the management and general component of the joint activity to that particular audience 

(4) the audience's potential use for the management and general component of the joint activity 

For example, assume the Local Lung Health Society conducts a joint activity to which it invites an audience which includes former donors. Absent other evidence, SOP 98-2 states there is a rebuttable presumption that the audience criterion is failed, and all costs of the activity should be classified as fund-raising expense. The Society may be able to overcome this presumption by providing further information, such as:

· the target audience was teenage smokers and their parents, and the program focussed on the health risks of long-term cigarette addiction. The Society may be able to demonstrate that this audience had a need for such a program.

· the target audience also included non-smoking teenagers and their parents who are called to help friends to “kick the habit.” While this segment of the audience might not directly benefit from the health-risk portion of the program, it could have the ability to perform or carry out the call to action.

In this way, the nonprofit organization might demonstrate that the predominate factor used to select the audience was a programmatic one, rather than a monetary one. 

Some nonprofit organizations distribute annual reports to major donors and others, such as similar organizations, board members, employees, legislators, and libraries, which have a reasonable potential for use of this report. Selection of an audience based on its need for the information provided by the management and general component may be strong enough to overcome the presumption that it was selected based on its ability to give. 

Certain contributions must be acknowledged for federal income tax purposes—for example, receipts over $75 that include payment for benefits. Materials sent to donors and others that satisfy such requirements may also include appeals for contributions. The fact that the nonprofit organization is required to send these acknowledgements to donors may overcome the presumption that the audience was selected based on its ability to give. 

Content.

The content criterion requires that, in addition to having a program or management and general purpose, the content of the joint activity must actually support program or management and general functions. For example: 

Program: The content of the joint activity must call for specific actions to be performed by the audience that will help accomplish the nonprofit organization's mission. The need for the call to action, as well as the benefits of performing it, should either be clearly evident to the audience, or provided to it by means of detailed explanation and description. 

Management and General: The content of the joint activity must fulfill the organization's management and general responsibilities to the audience. For example, publishing an annual report would typically meet management responsibilities of accountability and reporting. On the other hand, financial informational disclosures that are required to be included in solicitation materials by states and other regulatory bodies are considered fund-raising activities. 

F2.3.3 Exchange Transaction Costs

SOP 98-2 requirements do not apply to costs related to exchange transactions. In accordance with SFAS No. 117, these costs must be functionalized on the statement of activities or in the notes. However, they would not be included with other costs of joint activities, and would not be classified as fund-raising expense if one of the SOP 98-2 criterion is not met. Rather, they would be classified as program or management and general expense, depending on the nature of the exchange transaction. 

For example, assume City Park Association conducts a joint activity that includes a spaghetti supper, a presentation on the master plan for city recreational space, and a request for contributions. Tickets to the event cost $5.00, which equals the fair value of the spaghetti supper. The costs associated with providing the meal are exchange transaction costs, and should not be classified as fund-raising expense, even if the SOP 98-2 criterion are failed for this joint activity. Rather, they should be classified as direct benefit costs of special events, or some other meaningful function. 

F2.3.4 Allocation Methods

Virtually all organizations use various allocation methods to assign indirect costs to the activities that benefit from them. SOP 98-2 requires that the method selected be rational, systematic, and consistently applied. In addition, it should result in a reasonable allocation of the costs incurred. 

Examples of Allocation Methods 
To briefly review, allocation methods are used to charge joint, or indirect, costs to the program, management and general, and fundraising part of an activity. Direct costs, those items that may be clearly identified and assigned to either the program, management and general, or fundraising parts of an activity, are not allocated, but are assigned directly to the areas which incurred them. Indirect costs are those items that are necessary to perform the activity, but cannot readily be assigned directly to a specific part. Joint costs are, in essence, indirect costs, in that they are necessary to accomplish the objectives of the activity, but provide benefits to more than one part of the activity. For example, the postage stamp on an envelope containing both program and fundraising materials is a necessary part of carrying out the activity, but is not clearly either program or fundraising. As a joint, or indirect, cost an allocation method must be devised to charge part of the cost of the stamp to each part of the activity it benefits. In contrast, the salary paid to the program employee who wrote the program materials is a direct cost and is directly assigned to the program part of the activity. 

In general, the costs of an activity should be carefully analyzed and identified. The direct costs should be assigned to the parts of the activity that incurred them. The remaining joint, or indirect, costs are then allocated to each part in a rational and systematic way. Following are some allocation methods that could be used in certain situations. While these are the methods described in Statement of Accounting Position 98-2, they are provided merely as commonly used methods. Other methods exist and may be used provided that they result in a rational allocation of costs. 

Physical Units Method 
The physical units allocation method uses numbers of units of output to determine the costs attributed to program, management and general, and fundraising. Units of output may be lines of type, square inches of copy, numbers of pages, or other measureable characteristics. The underlying assumption here is that the benefits received or activity performed by each expense function is directly related to the physical unit measured. 

Example 1. Physical Units Method 
FACTS
Assume the Clean Air Fund conducts a direct mail campaign to alert individuals and corporations to the dangers of a newly detected environmental hazard. The mailing contains information about the Clean Air Fund and its programs, describes the current issue and calls for action by the recipients, and asks for contributions to help solve the problem. The mailing, which meets the criteria for allocation of costs to more than one function, consists of four pages of photographs and text, and a postage paid response envelope. Three of the pages are dedicated to program material. The last page presents the appeal for funds and includes a perforated section that can be returned in the response envelope with a donation. The response envelope may also be used for comments, inquiries, and other responses from the target audience. The entire direct mail campaign costs $40,000, of which $25,000 was spent designing the appeal portion of the mailing, $5,000 on researching and writing the program portion of the mailing, and $10,000 on printing, paper, envelopes, postage, photography and the services of a copy editor. The joint costs of this activity consist of the $10,000 of production cost. 

SOLUTION
Direct costs identified to fundraising of $25,000 and to program of $5,000 are charged directly to those functions. The $10,000 in joint costs of the activity would then be allocated to fundraising and program expense. If the physical units selected for allocation measurement is pages mailed, $7,500 (3 of 4 pages times $10,000) would be allocated to program expense, and $2,500 (1 of 4 pages times $10,000) would be allocated to fundraising expense. Some organizations might allocate the costs based on items mailed. In that case, the postage paid envelope would be counted along with the four pages of photographs and text. Using this physical unit measurement, $6,000 (3 of 5 items mailed times $10,000) would be allocated to program expense, and $4,000 (2 of 5 items mailed times $10,000) would be allocated to fundraising expense. 

Shortcomings of this method include:

· An unreasonable allocation of costs when the units of output attributed to each functional expense do not directly correspond to the actual costs incurred.

· An unreasonable allocation of costs when the units of output cannot be clearly assigned to one of the expense functions more than to another.

The following examples demonstrate these shortcomings. 

Example 2. Costs Do Not Correspond to Units of Output 
FACTS
Assume the Clean Air Fund conducts a direct mail campaign to alert individuals and corporations to the dangers of a newly detected environmental hazard. As in the example above, the Fund spends $25,000 designing the appeal portion of the mailing, $5,000 on researching and writing the program portion of the mailing, and $10,000 on printing, paper, envelopes, postage, photography and the services of a copy editor. The $10,000 in joint costs are not equally shared by the pages or the items mailed. For example, the perforated page costs three times as much as the other sheets, the copy writer spent 90% of her time working on the program piece of the mailing, and the fundraising items mailed weigh more than the program components, raising the costs of mailing. 

SOLUTION
While fairly simple to implement, the physical units method may result in an unreasonable allocation of joint costs to the fundraising and program activities conducted if the units of output do not reflect the degree to which costs are incurred for the joint activity. Where practicable, the costs of the copy editor should be directly assigned to the areas on which she worked, the cost of the perforation should be charged directly to fundraising expense, the cost of postage allocated based on weight of the respective items mailed, and any other directly identifiable cost assigned to the appropriate function. The remaining joint costs should be allocated to the activities conducted by the mailing in a way that reasonably corresponds to their actual incurrance. 

Example 3. Units of Output Cannot be Assigned to Activities 
FACTS
Assume the Clean Air Fund conducts a direct mail campaign to alert individuals and corporations to the dangers of a newly detected environmental hazard. As in the example above, three of the pages are dedicated to program material, while the last page presents the appeal for funds and includes a perforated section that can be returned in the response envelope with a donation. Each of the pages includes photographs illustrating the problems discussed. The Fund cannot clearly determine whether the photographs included serve a program purpose or a fundraising purpose. As a result, each page mailed consists of portions of text that are identifiable to either program or fundraising, and photographs that serve both purposes. 

SOLUTION
Again, the physical units method may be fairly simple to implement, but it may also result in an unreasonable allocation of joint costs to the fundraising and program activities conducted if the units of output cannot be clearly ascribed to one of these functions. In this situation, the square inches or lines devoted to text that is clearly program or fundraising might be a better unit of measure than pages or items mailed. In this way, space used by photographs whose purpose is dual or ambiguous is not included in the allocation base. 

Relative Direct Cost Method 
The relative direct cost method allocates joint costs based on the dollars that can be identified and assigned directly to fundraising, management and general, or program expense. More costly activities (those which have higher direct costs) receive a higher portion of the joint costs. This method assumes that the joint costs of the activity (such as postage, printing, insurance, and facility rental) are incurred in the same ratio as the directly identifiable costs. 

Example 4. Relative Direct Cost Method 
FACTS
Assume the Meadowcreek Choral Society holds a benefit concert followed by a fundraising dinner. Costs of the activity are as follows: 

Program: direct costs include sheet music, orchestra fees, stand and chair rentals, and other items totaling $5,000. 

Fundraising: direct costs include food and beverages, table and chair rentals, decorations, and other items totaling $10,000. 

Joint costs: invitations and ballroom rental cost $3,000 

SOLUTION
The relative direct cost method allocates the $3,000 in joint costs based on the proportion of direct costs each part of the activity incurs compared to total direct costs, as follows: 

Joint costs allocated to program: $5,000 direct program costs/$15,000 total direct costs × $3,000 joint costs = $1,000 joint costs allocated to program expense. 

Joint costs allocated to fundraising: $10,000 direct fundraising costs /$15,000 total direct costs ×$3,000 joint costs = $2,000 joint costs allocated to fundraising expense. 

The method results in a reasonable allocation of joint costs as long as the joint costs are incurred in approximately the same proportion and for the same reasons as the direct costs of the activity. Problems arise when:

· The joint costs are shared by the program, management and general, and fundraising parts of the activity in different proportions than are the direct costs.

· The joint costs are incurred for different reasons than are the direct costs.

The following examples illustrate these shortcomings in the relative direct cost method. 

Example 5. Joint Costs Are Not Proportional to Direct Costs 
FACTS
Assume that the Meadowcreek Choral Society holds a benefit concert and fundraising dinner as described above in Example X. The direct costs of the activity are incurred in a 1/3 ratio by the program part of the activity and a 2/3 ratio by the fundraising part (i.e. $5,000 direct program expenses compared to $15,000 total direct costs, and $10,000 direct fundraising expenses compared to the same $15,000 total.) The joint costs of $3,000 include $2,000 for rental of the ballroom. The cost of the ballroom is allocated $667 ($2,000 ballroom rental × $5,000 direct program cost/$15,000 total direct cost) to program and $1,333 ($2,000 ballroom rental × $10,000 direct fundraising cost/$15,000 total direct cost) to fundraising. The ballroom space is used for the concert (which is the program element of the activity) which takes 30 minutes, and for the fundraising dinner which lasts for over 3 hours. 

SOLUTION
In this case, use of the relative direct costs method does not result in a rational allocation of the ballroom rental joint cost. As the use of the ballroom by each part of the activity is determinable, allocation of the ballroom rental based on time spent by each part would result in a more accurate accounting for this activity. 

Example 6. Joint Costs Are Incurred for Different Reasons Than Direct Costs 
FACTS
Assume again that the Meadowcreek Choral Society is holding a benefit concert and a fundraising dinner, as described above in Example X. Facts are now as follows: 

Program: direct costs include sheet music, orchestra fees, stand and chair rentals, and other items totaling $5,000. In addition, a guest performer has been secured. This internationally-known singer commands a fee of $45,000 per performance. 

Fundraising: direct costs include food and beverages, table and chair rentals, decorations, and other items totaling $10,000. 

Joint costs: invitations and ballroom rental cost $3,000 

SOLUTION
In this case, use of the relative direct costs method does not result in a rational allocation of the joint costs. The large relative direct cost incurred by the guest performer dwarfs all other costs of the event, causing a higher proportion of joint costs to be allocated to program than may be appropriate. Joint costs will now be allocated based on the ratio of 5/6 to program ($50,000 in direct program costs compared to total direct costs of $60,000) and 1/6 to fundraising ($10,000 in direct fundraising costs compared to total direct costs of $60,000). This 5/6 program, 1/6 fundraising split may not reasonably represent the actual purpose of the incurrence of the joint costs. The Choral Society may want to consider pulling this large direct cost from the computation used to compute joint cost allocations in order to reach a more fair and accurate accounting for these expenses. 

Stand-Alone Joint-Cost-Allocation Method 
The stand-alone joint-cost-allocation method allocates joint costs based on an estimate of the joint costs of each part (program, management and general, and fundraising) of the activity as if that part had been conducted independently of the other parts. More simply stated, this method splits out each part of the activity and starts with an estimate of what costs would have been incurred if this part had been conducted "stand-alone" or independently of the other parts of the activity. This cost estimate will include expenses that are part of the joint costs of the activity as a whole. The relative amounts of these expenses are then used to establish a ratio for allocating the joint costs when the parts of the activity are conducted jointly. 

Example 7. Stand-Alone Joint-Cost-Allocation Method 
FACTS
The Healthy Kids Center produces an educational video demonstrating the need for parental contact, interaction, and involvement with newborn babies. While much of the video's content is program-related, the Center includes an appeal for funds from potential donors. The total cost of the activity is $80,000, including $40,000 in production costs that are not directly identifiable with either the program or fundraising component of the activity. The Center estimates that the production costs of a program-only video would have totaled $30,000, while the costs of a fundraising-only video would have totaled $20,000. 

SOLUTION
The stand-alone joint-cost-allocation method uses the following formula, assuming the activity is made up of a program part and a fundraising part: 

Costs allocated to the program part of the activity = total joint costs times (indirect costs of the program part conducted on a stand-alone basis/(indirect costs of the program part conducted on a stand-alone basis + indirect costs of the fundraising part conducted on a stand-alone basis.)) Using the facts from above, this formula would be computed as follows: 

Costs allocated to the program part of the activity = $40,000 × ($30,000/($30,000 + $20,000)) 

Solving the equation results in costs allocated to the program part of the activity of $24,000. 

Joint costs allocated to the fundraising part of the activity uses the same formula, using fundraising rather than program data, as follows: 

Costs allocated to the fundraising part of the activity = total joint costs times (indirect costs of the fundraising part conducted on a stand-alone basis/(indirect costs of the fundraising part conducted on a stand-alone basis + indirect costs of the program part conducted on a stand-alone basis.)) Using the facts from above, this formula would be computed as follows: 

Costs allocated to the fundraising part of the activity = $40,000 × ($20,000/($20,000 + $30,000)) 

Solving the equation results in costs allocated to the fundraising part of the activity of $16,000. 

This method is best applied to those situations where the efforts expended in each stand-alone scenario are proportionate to the efforts expended where the activities are combined in a joint cost activity. In addition, the method results in reasonable allocations when there is little or no impact on each part of the activity by its being conducted as part of a joint activity. Situations where this method may not be preferable include:

· The effectiveness of one part of the activity is significantly lessened when performed in conjunction with another part of the activity

· The efforts expended for one part of the activity if it were to be conducted on a stand-alone basis are not proportionate to the efforts expended in a joint-cost situation.

The following examples illustrate these situations. 

Example 8. Stand-Alone Effectiveness is Different from Joint-Cost Effectiveness 
FACTS
Assume in the situation described in Example X above, the Healthy Kids Center has discovered that fundraising appeals are much more effective when combined with programmatic materials and instructional guidance. In fact, results from a fundraising appeal conducted as part of a joint activity are as much as 50% higher than a fundraising appeal conducted on a stand-alone basis. 

SOLUTION
In this fact situation, the stand-alone joint-cost-allocation method may not result in a meaningful allocation of costs. The method assumes that there is a constant relationship between the costs incurred and the benefits provided, regardless of whether the fundraising appeal is conducted on a stand-alone or a joint activity basis. The Center may want to consider using an outcome-based allocation method that better reflects the relationship between the joint costs incurred and the benefits achieved. 

Example 9. Stand-Alone Efforts Are Different From Joint Cost Efforts 
FACTS
Assume as in Example X above that the Healthy Kids Center is producing a video that includes program material with a fundraising appeal. The program materials come "out of a can" in that they are provided free of charge by the national association of children's centers. The fundraising appeal is created in-house and represents virtually all the direct costs incurred by the activity. 

SOLUTION
In this fact situation, use of the stand-alone joint-cost allocation method ignores the efforts expended in the creation of each part of the joint activity. By assuming the stand-alone joint costs are proportionate to the costs and efforts of the program and fundraising components, this method may result in an unreasonable cost allocation. The Center may want to consider allocation of joint costs using the relative direct cost method, or another method that better reflects the economic reality of the activity. 

In summary, each of the illustrated joint cost allocation methods is useful in certain situations, but may not result in meaningful allocations in all circumstances. Each joint cost activity should be analyzed to determine which allocation method will provide the most rational and accurate sharing of the joint costs to the program, management and general, and fundraising components of the activity. 

F2.3.5 Incidental Activities

In some cases, one component of a joint activity may be so insignificant compared to the total, that it is incidental. In those circumstances, if the activity meets the SOP 98-2 criterion, costs of the activity may be allocated to the appropriate functional classifications. However, the nonprofit organization may elect, and is permitted, to charge costs of incidental portions of the activity to the component that is the significant activity. For example, assume County Historical Society conducts a historic re-enactment of a battle fought during the War of 1812. As the audience exits the performance area, it passes a container labeled “Contributions Appreciated.” The effort expended on and the costs of soliciting these donations is incidental compared to those of the program portion of the activity. As a result, the fund-raising costs may be charged to program expense. 

F2.4 Disclosures

Nonprofit organizations that allocate costs of joint activities should disclose the following: 

The types of joint activities conducted for which joint costs were incurred 

A statement informing the reader that joint costs have been allocated 

Joint costs allocated to each functional category and the total allocated during the period. 

SOP 98-2 encourages nonprofit organizations to disclose the amount of joint costs incurred for each type of joint activity conducted. 

F2.4.1 Examples

AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY, INC. (2002 Annual Report) 

IIn fiscal year 2002, the Society conducted activities that included fund-raising appeals as well as program and management and general components. Those activities included direct mail, telecommunications, and other constituent relationship activities. The costs of conducting those joint activities which met the purpose, audience and content criteria of AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 98-2, included a total of $65,699,000 of joint costs that were functionally allocated as follows (in thousands): 

	Fund raising 
	$39,972 

	Prevention 
	653 

	Detection/treatment 
	8,524 

	Patient support 
	8,105 

	Management and general 
	8,445 

	     Total 
	$65,699 


F2.5 Related Topics

Chapter A3 , CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 

Chapter B7 , FUND-RAISING EXPENSES 
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F4.1 APPLICABLE AUTHORITATIVE PRONOUNCEMENTS
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F4.2 OVERVIEW

Some not-for-profit organizations have investment assets that generate interest, dividends, rents, royalties, realized gains and losses, and unrealized gains and losses (collectively known as investment returns). In some cases, donors may limit the use of all or part of restricted investment returns for certain purposes or time periods. Investment returns that are not restricted by donors or by applicable laws are recorded as changes in unrestricted net assets. Not-for-profit managers, in conjunction with donors, determine what parts of restricted and unrestricted investment returns are “spendable.” That is, what amounts may be disbursed without impairing the intended purpose and life expectancy of the investment assets. The total investment return and certain of its components should be disclosed in the financial statements. 

F4.3 MEASUREMENT PRINCIPLES

Significant investment assets are of great benefit to not-for-profit organizations, but may also pose some challenging accounting and management issues. Chapter A7 , Investments and Chapter A9 , Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds for discussion of some of these accounting issues, and the related disclosures. Investment assets may be held for many purposes. For example, some not-for-profit organizations may accumulate assets to build a facility or make a major purchase. As the accumulation period may span many months or years, the assets may be invested in appropriate vehicles in order to maintain or increase their value. While preservation of the short-term purchasing power of assets accumulated for a specific purpose is important, this may be achieved by holding the funds in a money market or other interest bearing account. When selecting appropriate investment vehicles, consideration is given to the length of time the assets are to be held. Those held for months or a few years may not benefit from the exposure to market volatility. Those held for longer periods may need returns in excess of money market rates to offset the impact of inflation. In the best of cases, short-term investing adds an incremental amount to the assets held for a few years or less. In the worst of cases, assets invested for short periods may decline significantly in value either due to investment losses, or the impact of inflation. 

More commonly, investment assets are held in very long-term donor-restricted or board-designated endowments. The endowments are typically created to provide a constant, predictable revenue stream to fund the on-going operations of the organization, or to provide support for specific projects or activities. For investment assets that function as endowments or quasi-endowments, not-for-profit organizations must consider how to preserve the real purchasing power of the endowment assets over their intended life. Many endowments are established to exist in perpetuity, while others may span only a few decades. In either case, not-for-profit organizations are tasked with the responsibility of using distributions from these assets wisely, while retaining enough of the total return to prevent inflation or other factors from eroding the real value of the assets. The policies and procedures used to accomplish this preservation of purchasing power are called “total return” or “spending” policies. 

Example 1. Impact of Inflation on the Purchasing Power of Endowments 
FACTS
The Friendly Farm is a small not-for-profit organization dedicated to teaching children about sustainable agriculture, and the care and use of farm animals. Ray Brooks donated $1,000,000 to the Farm to create an endowment to support its on-going operations. The contribution was invested in fixed income securities that are held to maturity, and then rolled into another such security. All interest income is spent every year. Inflation averages 4% per year. 

SOLUTION
The following table demonstrates the change in the purchasing power of the endowment's assets.

	Year 
	Nominal Value 
	Interest 
	Distributions 
	Inflation 
	Purchasing Power (Nominal value less cumulative inflation) 

	1 
	$1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	$40,000 
	$960,000 

	2 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	38,400 
	921,600 

	3 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	36,864 
	884,736 

	4 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	35,389 
	849,347 

	5 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	33,974 
	815,373 

	6 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	32,615 
	782,758 

	7 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	31,310 
	751,447 

	8 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	30,058 
	721,390 

	9 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	28,856 
	692,534 

	10 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	27,701 
	664,833 

	11 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	26,593 
	638,239 

	12 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	25,530 
	612,710 

	13 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	24,508 
	588,201 

	14 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	23,528 
	564,673 

	15 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	22,587 
	542,086 

	16 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	21,683 
	520,403 

	17 
	1,000,000 
	60,000 
	(60,000) 
	20,816 
	499,587 


As this example illustrates, assuming an annual inflation rate of 4%, the purchasing power of the original donation declines to approximately $500,000, or half of its nominal value, in 17 years. A related, but not as obvious, effect of inflation is the decline in the purchasing power of the distributions. Because the dollar value of the distributions does not increase over the life of the endowment, the amount of goods and services that can be purchased with these distributions decline as a result of rising costs. Total return and spending policies attempt to ameliorate the effect of inflation, and provide asset values and distributions that stay abreast of inflationary factors. 

F4.3.1 Total Return Policies

Total return policies refer to the concept that all investment returns should be considered when determining the amounts that may be distributed from the investment assets. Total investment return is made up of:

· Interest from bonds and other fixed income securities

· Dividends from equity securities

· Income distributions, such as limited partner returns, rents, and royalties, from investments in partnerships, real estate and other alternative assets

· Realized gains from the sale of securities and other investment assets for more than their cost

· Realized losses from the sale of securities and other investment assets for less than their cost

· Unrealized appreciation (gains) from the increase in fair value over the cost of investments held

· Unrealized depreciation (losses) from the decrease in fair value under the cost of investments held, and

· Changes in the values of other investments (such as real estate and partnership interests) that are carried at the lower of cost or fair value.

Certain components of this total investment return, such as interest, dividends, realized gains, and realized losses, are received in cash by the not-for-profit organization and have easily verifiable values. Most not-for-profit organizations feel comfortable capturing and spending these types of investment returns. Other components, such as unrealized changes in the value of a marketable security or changes in the value of an investment asset with no ready market, may not be as liquid or as easy to quantify or verify. Even in situations where unrealized appreciation is readily computed, some find it difficult to conceive of “spending” unrealized increases in valuations, as no cash is produced from this change in valuation. However, the total return concept is based on the idea that all investment returns should be considered in the computation of amounts that could be distributed from the assets. Over time, the changes in valuation will become available for distribution, so “total return” adherents believe that spendable returns produced by the investments are not limited to those that generate cash in the current period. 

Some governmental jurisdictions limit the use of a total return policy by mandating that certain amounts of imputed investment returns (for example 5%) or certain return components (such as appreciation) must be added back to the investment balances each year or may not be distributed. Each not-for-profit organization should consult with its legal counsel to determine the laws that pertain to it in this area. 

Some donors restrict the distribution of certain components of investment return (such as appreciation). When donor restrictions are present, restricted returns should be omitted from the total return calculations. For example, some donors may specify that realized and unrealized gains and losses be retained as part of the invested balance in order to prevent erosion of the assets' purchasing power. While adopted by some, this method may not achieve its objective if, for instance, the securities held are fixed income investments. Interest represents a significant part of a fixed income security's return, and under these restrictions is “spendable.” Appreciation (realized and unrealized gains and losses) typically is not as significant a part of the total return of fixed income securities, and thus may not provide an effective inflation hedge. When setting aside a specific return component in an effort to preserve purchasing power, consideration must be given to the allocation of the investment assets among the different types of investment classes, and the projected returns and types of returns of each. Due to the complexity of these projections, some not-for-profit organizations believe that total return and spending policies that address retention of a percentage of investment returns, rather than a specific component, are most effective. However, donor restrictions supercede management's spending policies, and should be followed both to the letter and in the spirit in which the restriction was made. 

Absent donor restrictions or applicable laws prohibiting the use of the total investment return, all components of the return are available for distribution, and all are classified as changes in unrestricted net assets. This is an important concept to keep in mind when spending policies are used. All returns are reflected in the statement of activities, either as changes in restricted net assets, or as changes in unrestricted net assets. Management's decision to limit the amount of the return that is spent does not also limit the return disclosed on the statements of activities. In addition, management's determination of the “spendable” amount of investment return does not change its nature from unrestricted to restricted revenue, or vice versa. Total investment return should be presented on the statement of activities, where donor restrictions or applicable law are the only factors that determine the return's net asset classification. 

F4.3.2 Spending Policies

Not-for-profit organizations that have perpetual or term endowments must balance the needs of the organization for distributions from the investment assets with the requirement or desire to maintain the purchasing power of the investments over their intended lives. Much research has been done on the topic, and, over very long periods of time, some believe that it is prudent to spend between 4% and 5% of the average value of investment assets each year. This distribution, or spending rate, is based on the belief that, given an appropriate allocation of the investment assets to fixed income and equity securities, the overall average total return on the assets should approximate 8% to 9% per year. The difference between the average total return and the spending rate (3% to 5%) is retained as an offset to inflation. In this way, the purchasing power of the investment assets does not erode over the life of the endowment. 

The following example illustrates the use of a typical spending policy. 

Example 2. Spending Policy of 5% of a Rolling Twelve-Quarter Average 
FACTS
The County Children's Foundation is a public charity that supports programs that address the needs of homeless, abused, and at-risk children and youth. The Foundation's assets are invested in a well-diversified selection of asset classes, in accordance with its investment policy. The Board has adopted a spending policy that mandates that the Foundation distribute 5% of its average investment assets. Average investment assets are computed, in accordance with the spending policy's provisions, using the prior 12 months' investment balances. 

SOLUTION
The rolling twelve-quarter average and the 5% distribution are calculated as follows:

	Quarter Increase 
	Investment Balance Without Contribution 
	Average Contribution Received 12/31/20x3 
	Investment Balance With Contribution 

	3/31/20x1 
	$115,459,600 
	160,000,000 
	$275,459,600 

	6/30/20x1 
	128,595,218 
	160,000,000 
	288,595,218 

	9/30/20x1 
	126,209,683 
	160,000,000 
	286,209,683 

	12/31/20x1 
	154,995,317 
	160,000,000 
	314,995,317 

	3/31/20x2 
	161,432,831 
	160,000,000 
	321,432,831 

	6/30/20x2 
	164,745,943 
	160,000,000 
	324,745,943 

	9/30/20x2 
	167,688,604 
	160,000,000 
	327,688,604 

	12/31/20x2 
	166,298,570 
	160,000,000 
	326,298,570 

	3/31/20x3 
	158,348,187 
	160,000,000 
	318,348,187 

	6/30/20x3 
	163,629,699 
	160,000,000 
	323,629,699 

	9/30/20x3 
	154,694,397 
	160,000,000 
	314,694,397 

	12/31/20x3 
	161,277,958 
	160,000,000 
	321,277,958 

	Total 
	$1,823,376,007 
	
	$3,743,376,007 

	
	Divided by 12 
	
	Divided by 12 

	12 Quarter Average 
	$151,948,001 
	
	$311,948,001 

	Spending Rate 
	5% 
	
	5% 

	Year 1 Distribution 
	$7,597,400 
	
	$15,597,400 


As this example illustrates, using a 12-quarter rolling average “smoothes” the investment balances so that the distributed amounts have less variation than those that would have been computed from a point in time balance. In addition, as investment balances tend to grow over time, the prior quarters' lower balances tend to provide an additional inflationary hedge as they effectively lower the computed distributable amount. In times of overall investment declines, the prior quarters' balances would serve to prevent significant declines in distributions on a short-term basis. 

When endowments are funded with initial, large contributions, the spending policy illustrated above works well. However, when endowments are funded with a series of gifts over time, the not-for-profit organization must determine how to include new contributions in the distribution calculation. The easiest approach, and one used by many organizations, is to simply add each contribution into the quarter it is received. The example following illustrates the impact of this approach. 

Example 3. Additional Contributions are Added Incrementally 
FACTS
As in the Example above, The County Children's Foundation is a public charity that supports programs that address the needs of homeless, abused, and at-risk children and youth. The Board has adopted a spending policy that mandates that the Foundation distribute 5% of its average investment assets. Average investment assets are computed, in accordance with the spending policy's provisions, using the prior 12 months' investment balances. Additional contributions are included in the distribution calculation in the quarter they are received. In the last quarter of 20x3, the Foundation receives a gift of $160,000,000, which effectively doubles its endowment assets. 

SOLUTION
The rolling twelve-quarter average for the year in which the contribution is received and the 5% distribution are calculated as follows: 

	Quarter 
	Investment Balance 

	3/31/20x1 
	$115,459,600 

	6/30/20x1 
	128,595,218 

	9/30/20x1 
	126,209,683 

	12/31/20x1 
	154,995,317 

	3/31/20x2 
	161,432,831 

	6/30/20x2 
	164,745,943 

	9/30/20x2 
	167,688,604 

	12/31/20x2 
	166,298,570 

	3/31/20x3 
	158,348,187 

	6/30/20x3 
	163,629,699 

	9/30/20x3 
	154,694,397 

	12/31/20x3 
	321,277,958 

	Total 
	$1,983,376,007 

	
	Divided by 12 

	12 Quarter Average 
	$165,281,334 

	Spending Rate 
	5% 

	Distribution 
	$8,264,067 


The distribution amount computed above of $8,264,067 is only 9% higher than the distribution computed in Example 2. Some not-for-profit managers and their donors maybe puzzled by the fact that, although investment assets are doubled, the amount distributed is not significantly higher. The use of a twelve quarter rolling average dampens the volatility of the distributions due to both changes in market valuations and additional contributions. As the following calculations demonstrate, the Foundation will have to wait 3 years (twelve quarters) before the full impact of the $160,000,000 contribution is included in the distribution amount. 

The rolling twelve-quarter average and the 5% distribution for the 3 years following the receipt of the contribution are calculated as follows:

	Year Contribution is Received 
	Investment Balance 
	Investment Balance 
	

	Quarter 
	With Contribution 
	Without Contribution 
	Increase 

	3/31/20x1 
	$115,459,600 
	$115,459,600 
	

	6/30/20x1 
	128,595,218 
	128,595,218 
	

	9/30/20x1 
	126,209,683 
	126,209,683 
	

	12/31/20x1 
	154,995,317 
	154,995,317 
	

	3/31/20x2 
	161,432,831 
	161,432,831 
	

	6/30/20x2 
	164,745,943 
	164,745,943 
	

	9/30/20x2 
	167,688,604 
	167,688,604 
	

	12/31/20x2 
	166,298,570 
	166,298,570 
	

	3/31/20x3 
	158,348,187 
	158,348,187 
	

	6/30/20x3 
	163,629,699 
	163,629,699 
	

	9/30/20x3 
	154,694,397 
	154,694,397 
	

	12/31/20x3 
	321,277,958 
	161,277,958 
	

	Total 
	$1,983,376,007 
	$1,823,376,007 
	

	
	Divided by 12 
	Divided by 12 
	

	12 Quarter Average 
	$165,281,334 
	$151,948,001 
	

	Spending Rate 
	5% 
	5% 
	

	Distribution 
	$8,264,067 
	$7,597,400 
	9% 


	First Full Year Following Contribution 
	

	3/31/20x2 
	$161,432,831 
	$161,432,831 
	

	6/30/20x2 
	164,745,943 
	164,745,943 
	

	9/30/20x2 
	167,688,604 
	167,688,604 
	

	12/31/20x2 
	166,298,570 
	166,298,570 
	

	3/31/20x3 
	158,348,187 
	158,348,187 
	

	6/30/20x3 
	163,629,699 
	163,629,699 
	

	9/30/20x3 
	154,694,397 
	154,694,397 
	

	12/31/20x3 
	321,277,958 
	161,277,958 
	

	3/31/20x4 
	327,703,517 
	164,503,517 
	

	6/30/20x4 
	334,257,588 
	167,793,588 
	

	9/30/20x4 
	340,942,739 
	171,149,459 
	

	12/31/20x4 
	347,761,594 
	174,572,448 
	

	Total 
	$2,808,781,627 
	$1,976,135,201 
	

	
	Divided by 12 
	Divided by 12 
	

	12 Quarter Average 
	$234,065,136 
	$164,677,933 
	42% 

	Spending Rate 
	5% 
	5% 
	

	Year 1 Distribution 
	$11,703,257 
	$8,233,897 
	


	Second Full Year Following Contribution 
	

	3/31/20x3 
	$158,348,187 
	$158,348,187 
	

	6/30/20x3 
	163,629,699 
	163,629,699 
	

	9/30/20x3 
	154,694,397 
	154,694,397 
	

	12/31/20x3 
	321,277,958 
	161,277,958 
	

	3/31/20x4 
	327,703,517 
	164,503,517 
	

	6/30/20x4 
	334,257,588 
	167,793,588 
	

	9/30/20x4 
	340,942,739 
	171,149,459 
	

	12/31/20x4 
	347,761,594 
	174,572,448 
	

	3/31/20x5 
	354,716,826 
	178,063,897 
	

	6/30/20x5 
	361,811,162 
	181,625,175 
	

	9/30/20x5 
	369,047,386 
	185,257,679 
	

	12/31/20x5 
	376,428,333 
	188,962,832 
	

	Total 
	$3,610,619,386 
	$2,049,878,837 
	

	
	Divided by 12 
	Divided by 12 
	

	12 Quarter Average 
	$300,884,949 
	$170,823,236 
	

	Spending Rate 
	5% 
	5% 
	

	Year 2 Distribution 
	$15,044,247 
	$8,541,162 
	76% 


	Third Full Year Following Contribution 
	

	3/31/20x4 
	$327,703,517 
	$164,503,517 
	

	6/30/20x4 
	334,257,588 
	167,793,588 
	

	9/30/20x4 
	340,942,739 
	171,149,459 
	

	12/31/20x4 
	347,761,594 
	174,572,448 
	

	3/31/20x5 
	354,716,826 
	178,063,897 
	

	6/30/20x5 
	361,811,162 
	181,625,175 
	

	9/30/20x5 
	369,047,386 
	185,257,679 
	

	12/31/20x5 
	376,428,333 
	188,962,832 
	

	3/31/20x6 
	383,956,900 
	192,742,089 
	

	6/30/20x6 
	391,636,038 
	196,596,931 
	

	9/30/20x6 
	399,468,759 
	200,528,869 
	

	12/31/20x6 
	407,458,134 
	204,539,447 
	

	Total 
	$4,395,188,976 
	$2,206,335,933 
	

	
	Divided by 12 
	Divided by 12 
	

	12 Quarter Average 
	$366,265,748 
	$183,861,328 
	

	Spending Rate 
	5% 
	5% 
	

	Year 3 Distribution 
	$18,313,287 
	$9,193,066 
	99% 


Some not-for-profit organizations and their donors believe that distribution calculations should fully include all contributions received, rather than incrementally increasing the average investment balance over twelve quarters. Donors may want to have their contributions benefit the organization's programs as soon as possible, and the management of the organization may not be able to meet the donor's expectations using the phased-in distributions. In response to these concerns, some not-for-profit organizations “average in” contributions such that distributions are computed from the increased investment balance, as if the contribution had been made at the beginning of the averaged time period. 

Example 4. Additional Contributions are Averaged In 
FACTS
As in the Example above, The County Children's Foundation is a public charity that supports programs that address the needs of homeless, abused, and at-risk children and youth. The Board has adopted a spending policy that mandates that the Foundation distribute 5% of its average investment assets. Average investment assets are computed, in accordance with the spending policy's provisions, using the prior 12 months' investment balances. Additional contributions are averaged into the distribution calculation as if received in the first quarter of the averaged period. In the last quarter of 20x3, the Foundation receives a gift of $160,000,000, which effectively doubles its endowment assets. 

SOLUTION
The rolling twelve-quarter average for the year in which the contribution is received is calculated as follows:

	Quarter 
	Investment Balance 

	3/31/20x1 
	$115,459,600 

	6/30/20x1 
	128,595,218 

	9/30/20x1 
	126,209,683 

	12/31/20x1 
	154,995,317 

	3/31/20x2 
	161,432,831 

	6/30/20x2 
	164,745,943 

	9/30/20x2 
	167,688,604 

	12/31/20x2 
	166,298,570 

	3/31/20x3 
	158,348,187 

	6/30/20x3 
	163,629,699 

	9/30/20x3 
	154,694,397 

	12/31/20x3 
	161,277,958 

	Total 
	$1,823,376,007 

	
	Divided by 12 

	12 Quarter Average 
	$151,948,001 

	Spending Rate 
	5% 

	Distribution 
	$7,597,400 


As shown in the above calculations, the distribution computed after averaging in the contribution is slightly more than double the distribution computed adding the contribution only to the quarter received. As the investment assets doubled during the year, this approach computes a more intuitively obvious distribution rate, and may come closer to meeting donor expectations as to the utilization of their contributions. The drawback to this approach comes in years, such as the one in the example, where very large distributions are received late in the fiscal year. Due to the timing of the receipt of the contribution, the donated investment assets may not have time to earn a return sufficient to cover the distribution rate (5% in this example.) As a result, the spending policy may compute a distribution in excess of the actual investment return. In order to avoid spending more return than was earned in the year the contribution was received, the spending policy may be further refined to average in new contributions on a pro rata basis, depending on when in the fiscal year they were received. Those received early in the year may be fully averaged in, while those received late in the year may be averaged in as of the beginning of the following fiscal year. See below for discussion on the presentation of distributions in excess of actual investment returns. 

F4.3.3 Presentation of Investment Returns

Generally accepted accounting principles require that not-for-profit organizations disclose the components that make up the investment returns, including income (interest, dividends, rents and royalties), net gains and losses on investments carried at fair value, and net realized gains and losses on investments carried at the lower of cost or market. Some not-for-profit organizations that use total return or spending policies segregate the endowment distribution, or “spendable” return, from the “nonspendable” return. Typically, this is accomplished by including the "spendable" return as part of operating totals on the statement of activities, and the “nonspendable” amount as a non-operating item on that statement. If investment return is separated into operating and non-operating amounts, the not-for-profit organization should reconcile total investment return to these two components. In addition, it should describe the policy used to compute the operating amount (for example, its spending policy). If there was a change in the policy during the period, the organization should also discuss the circumstances that lead to the change. At a minimum, organizations that separate their investment returns into operating and non-operating amounts must do so on a financial statement that also reports the total change in unrestricted net assets for the period. If it is not clear from this statement what elements comprise "operations," the not-for-profit organization should also describe the nature of the items included or excluded from this term. 

Investment returns may be reported as operating and non-operating based on several different bases. For example, returns may be separated based on:

· Budgetary designations. Distributions computed under a spending policy may be classified as operating investment return, while the difference between the actual return and the distributions is classified as non-operating investment return.

· Type of return. Items comparable to those of a for-profit organization (such as interest, dividends, rents, royalties, realized gains and losses, unrealized gains and losses on trading securities, and permanent impairments of value on non-trading securities) as operating investment return and all other return components as non-operating investment return.

· Type of transaction. All components of investment return are reported as operating, with the exception of unrealized gains and losses, which are reported as non-operating investment returns.

· Other criteria based on information that is helpful to donors, creditors, and other financial statement users.

Generally speaking, total investment returns will exceed the distributable amount computed under a spending policy. Typical spending policies average the investment balance over a period of time, such as 3 years, and distribute a conservative percentage, for example 4% or 5%, of that amount. The policy is designed to spend less than is actually earned by the investment assets to compensate for inflation. As a result, over the life of the endowment, and in any given year, the spendable amount of the return, by design, will be less than the total investment return. 

Example 5. Total Investment Return is Higher Than Spending Rate 
FACTS
As in the Example above, The County Children's Foundation is a public charity that supports programs that address the needs of homeless, abused, and at-risk children and youth. The Board has adopted a spending policy that mandates that the Foundation distribute 5% of its average investment assets. Average investment assets are computed, in accordance with the spending policy's provisions, using the prior 12 months' investment balances. In 20x3, total investment return was $30,361,179 on an ending investment balance of $321,277,958. All investment return is unrestricted. The distribution computed under the spending policy, which is broken out on the statement of activities as an operating item, was $15,597,400. 

SOLUTION
The Foundation will disclose the following in its financial statements: 

Note X The laws of the state of the Foundation's incorporation allow the Foundation's Board to appropriate a prudent amount of net investment return, taking into consideration the short-and long-term needs of the Foundation, current and future anticipated financial requirements, expected investment returns given the current asset allocations, anticipated rates of inflation, and other economic factors. The Board has adopted an investment spending policy that computes a distribution of 5% of the average of the fair values of the Foundation's investment assets as of the prior twelve quarters. This distribution is used to support the current operations of the Foundation. The remainder of the investment return is retained to support operations of future years, and to offset future market declines due to inflation and other factors. The following schedule summarizes the components of the investment return and its classification on the statement of activities:

	Dividends, interest, and rents 
	5,248,691 

	   Net realized and unrealized gains – 
	29,404,382 

	     Investments carried at fair value 
	

	   Net realized losses – 
	(4,261,894) 

	     Investments carried at lower of cost or market 
	

	   Total investment return 
	30,361,179 

	

	

	
	

	   Investment return designated for current operations 
	(15,597,400) 

	

	

	
	

	   Investment return in excess of amounts designated for current operations 
	$14,763,779 


In some years, an organization's spending policy may compute a distribution that is in excess of the actual total investment return. In those years, the spending policy is, in effect, distributing a portion of cumulative investment returns from prior years to support its current operations. Care should be taken to ensure that financial statement disclosures clearly reflect the nature of the excess of distributions over actual returns. 

Example 6. Total Investment Return is Lower Than Spending Rate 
FACTS
As in the Example above, The County Children's Foundation is a public charity that supports programs that address the needs of homeless, abused, and at-risk children and youth. The Board has adopted a spending policy that mandates that the Foundation distribute 5% of its average investment assets. Average investment assets are computed, in accordance with the spending policy's provisions, using the prior 12 months' investment balances. In 20x3, total investment return was $12,278,491 on an ending investment balance of $321,277,958. All investment return is unrestricted. The distribution computed under the spending policy, which is broken out on the statement of activities as an operating item, was $15,597,400. 

SOLUTION
The Foundation will disclose the following in its financial statements:

	Dividends, interest, and rents 
	5,248,691 

	   Net realized and unrealized gains – 
	11,291,694 

	     Investments carried at fair value 
	

	   Net realized losses 
	(4,261,894) 

	     Investments carried at lower of cost or market 
	

	   Total investment return 
	12,278,491 

	

	

	
	

	   Investment return designated for current operations 
	(15,597,400) 

	

	

	
	

	   Investment return reduced by the portion of cumulative net investment appreciation designated for current operations 
	($3,318,909) 


Not-for-profit organizations that experience a series of years in which the spending rate exceeds the actual investment returns should consider reviewing the assumptions used to determine the distribution percentage, including the allocation of investments held among investment asset classes (i.e. equities, fixed income, and alternative assets.) If the organization determines that the spending policy should be amended, and it discloses distributions as operating investment return, it should disclose this change in its financial statements, along with a discussion of the circumstances leading up to the change. 

F4.4 DISCLOSURES

F4.5 RELATED TOPICS
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SAMPLE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This appendix contains sample financial statements for six types of nonprofit organizations: museums, foundations, associations, private primary schools, performing arts organizations, and food banks. 

Anyville Museum of Art

The Museum has all three classes of net assets, unrestricted, temporarily and permanently restricted, and has elected to show the changes in these asset classes in a layered format on the statement of activities. An alternate presentation may be seen in the financial statements of American Association of Licensed Professionals (operating vs. non-operating presentation). 

The Museum has elected not to present a Statement of Functional Expense. Only voluntary health and welfare organizations are required to present this statement, although all nonprofit organizations are encouraged to do so. 

The Museum uses the indirect method to present its statements of cash flows. The direct method is illustrated in the financial statements of the Benefactor Foundation. 

The footnotes reveal that the Museum began capitalizing its collections upon implementing SFAS No. 116. Alternatively, collections could have been capitalized retroactively, or not at all. Disclosures and display of collection activity varies depending on the capitalization method selected. 

Benefactor Foundation

The Foundation has only one class of net assets: unrestricted. Presentation of multiple asset classes are illustrated in the financial statements of the Anyville Museum (layered format) and the American Association of Licensed Professionals (operating vs. non-operating presentation). 

The Foundation has elected not to present a Statement of Functional Expense. Only voluntary health and welfare organizations are required to present this statement, although all nonprofit organizations are encouraged to do so. 

The Foundation uses the direct method to present its statements of cash flows. 

American Association of Licensed Professionals

The Association has two classes of net assets, unrestricted and permanently restricted, and has elected to show the changes in these asset classes in a layered format on the statement of activities which breaks out operating from non-operating activities. 

The Association has elected not to present a Statement of Functional Expense. Only voluntary health and welfare organizations are required to present this statement, although all nonprofit organizations are encouraged to do so. 

The Association uses the direct method to present its statements of cash flows. 

Any Kid's Preschool

The Preschool has two classes of net assets, unrestricted and temporarily restricted, and has elected to show the changes in these asset classes in a columnar format on the statement of activities. Alternative presentations may be seen in the financial statements of the Anyville Museum (layered format) and the American Association of Licensed Professionals (operating vs. non-operating presentation). 

The Preschool has chosen to present only one year of financial information. More frequently, two years are presented for comparative purposes. See the other financial statements for examples of multiple year presentations. 

The Preschool has elected to present a Statement of Functional Expense. Only voluntary health and welfare organizations are required to present this statement, although all nonprofit organizations are encouraged to do so. 

The Preschool uses the indirect method to present its statements of cash flows. The direct method is illustrated in the financial statements of the Benefactor Foundation. 

League of Performing Artists

The League has two classes of net assets, unrestricted and temporarily restricted, and has elected to show the changes in these asset classes in a columnar format on the statement of activities. Alternative presentations may be seen in the financial statements of the Anyville Museum (layered format) and the American Association of Licensed Professionals (operating vs. non-operating presentation). 

The League has elected not to present a Statement of Functional Expense. Only voluntary health and welfare organizations are required to present this statement, although all nonprofit organizations are encouraged to do so. See the financial statements of Any Kid's Preschool for an example of this statement. 

The League uses the indirect method to present its statements of cash flows. The direct method is illustrated in the financial statements of the Benefactor Foundation. 

City Food Bank

The Food Bank's partial statement of activities illustratives how this statement is amplified by the accompanying Statement of Functional Expense. 

	Anyville Museum of Art 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

	

	

	December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Assets 
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	$1,234,811 
	$1,370,294 

	Accounts receivable 
	100,128 
	99,872 

	Prepaid expenses: 
	
	

	   Exhibits 
	1,894,250 
	1,720,475 

	   Other 
	250,114 
	189,244 

	Inventory 
	140,241 
	138,224 

	Contributions receivable 
	1,400,000 
	1,480,000 

	Investments 
	10,700,000 
	10,540,000 

	Deferred exhibit costs 
	350,000 
	275,000 

	Property and equipment, net 
	5,720,000 
	5,708,755 

	Collections 
	1,750,000 
	1,500,000 

	

	

	   Total Assets 
	$23,539,544 
	$23,021,864 

	

	

	Liabilities and Net Assets 
	
	

	

	

	Liabilities 
	
	

	Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
	$875,240 
	$750,482 

	Other liabilities 
	475,000 
	450,000 

	

	

	   Total Liabilities 
	$1,350,240 
	$1,200,482 

	

	

	Net Assets 
	
	

	Unrestricted 
	$18,900,250 
	$18,191,755 

	Temporarily restricted 
	500,240 
	895,112 

	Permanently restricted 
	2,788,814 
	2,734,515 

	

	

	   Total Net Assets 
	$22,189,304 
	$21,821,382 

	

	

	   Total Liabilities and Net Assets 
	$23,539,544 
	$23,021,864 


	Anyville Museum of Art 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

	

	

	For the Years Ended December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Change in Unrestricted Net Assets 
	
	

	Support and Revenues 
	
	

	Contributions from the City of Anyville 
	$457,000 
	$401,000 

	Contributions from individuals, corporations, and foundations 
	1,393,000 
	1,524,000 

	Membership dues 
	582,000 
	476,000 

	Exhibit fees 
	675,000 
	597,400 

	Education tuition 
	580,000 
	550,000 

	

	

	Museum gift store sales 
	453,445 
	362,985 

	Less: Cost of goods sold 
	(275,400) 
	(173,560) 

	Museum store gross profit 
	178,045 
	189,425 

	

	

	Investment return 
	975,000 
	845,000 

	Other income 
	225,000 
	233,000 

	   Total Support and Revenues 
	5,065,045 
	4,815,825 

	

	

	Net assets released from restrictions 
	450,000 
	82,000 

	

	

	Total Support, Revenues, and Net Assets Released From Restrictions 
	$5,515,045 
	$4,897,825 

	

	

	Expenses 
	
	

	Program Services 
	
	

	Education 
	$1,032,800 
	$977,000 

	Exhibits 
	2,137,000 
	2,374,000 

	School group programs 
	157,000 
	132,000 

	Museum gift store 
	97,750 
	104,890 

	
	$3,424,550 
	$3,587,890 

	

	

	Supporting Services 
	
	

	Management and general 
	$775,000 
	$680,000 

	Fundraising 
	479,000 
	327,000 

	Membership development 
	128,000 
	135,000 

	
	$1,382,000 
	$1,142,000 

	

	

	Total Change in Unrestricted Net Assets 
	$708,495 
	$167,935 

	

	

	Change in Temporarily Restricted Net Assets Support and Revenues 
	
	

	Contributions 
	$50,000 
	$85,000 

	Investment return 
	5,128 
	6,250 

	   Total Support and Revenues 
	$55,128 
	$91,250 

	

	

	Net assets released from restrictions 
	($450,000) 
	($82,000) 

	Total Change in Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 
	($394,872) 
	$9,250 

	

	

	Change in Permanently Restricted Net Assets 
	
	

	

	

	Support and revenues 
	
	

	Contributions 
	$185,000 
	$267,000 

	Investment return 
	62,851 
	61,368 

	   Total Support and Revenues 
	$247,851 
	$328,368 

	

	

	Losses 
	
	

	Loss on contributions receivable 
	$193,552 
	$0 

	

	

	Total Change in Permanently Restricted Net Assets 
	$54,299 
	$328,368 

	

	

	Total Change in Net Assets 
	$367,922 
	$505,553 


	Anyville Museum of Art 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

	

	

	For the Years Ended December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
	
	

	

	

	Change in net assets 
	$367,922 
	$505,553 

	Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash (used) provided by operations: 
	
	

	   Depreciation 
	480,000 
	478,000 

	   Net loss on sale of property 
	(10,475) 
	0 

	   Contribution restricted for long-term purposes 
	(235,000) 
	(352,000) 

	   Net investment gains 
	(239,525) 
	(375,000) 

	

	

	(Increase) decrease in: 
	
	

	   Accounts receivable 
	(256) 
	2,750 

	   Prepaid expenses 
	(234,645) 
	32,289 

	   Inventory 
	(2,017) 
	2,685 

	   Contributions receivable 
	80,000 
	(52,000) 

	   Deferred exhibit costs 
	(75,000) 
	(75,000) 

	

	

	Increase in: 
	
	

	   Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
	124,758 
	45,860 

	   Other liabilities 
	25,000 
	15,700 

	

	

	Net cash provided (used) by operations 
	$280,762 
	$228,837 

	

	

	Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
	
	

	Purchase of investments 
	($1,978,600) 
	($1,810,050) 

	Proceeds from sale of investments 
	1,818,600 
	1,762,500 

	Purchase of property and equipment 
	(491,245) 
	(475,000) 

	

	

	Net cash used by investing activities 
	(651,245) 
	(522,550) 

	

	

	Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
	
	

	Contributions restricted for long-term purposes 
	$235,000 
	$352,000 

	

	

	Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents 
	($135,483) 
	$58,287 

	

	

	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
	$1,370,294 
	$1,428,581 

	

	

	Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year 
	$1,234,811 
	$1,370,294 


History and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and History

The Anyville Museum of Art (the Museum) was organized as an Anystate nonprofit corporation in 1960 to promote, through the establishment and maintenance of a museum and allied projects, an understanding and appreciation of the arts. 

Programs

The Museum's programs are divided into four broad areas: 

Education—free and fee-based classes are provided in topics such as art history, arts organization management, drawing and painting, as well as topics specific to the permanent collection and each temporary exhibit. The Museum also sponsors symposia on topics of interest to the art community, and presents lectures, gallery talks, and guided tours that cover a variety of topics. Approximately 15,000 adults and 24,500 children participate in educational programs each year. 

Exhibits—in addition to display of items from the permanent collection, the Museum offers several major temporary exhibits each year, as well as numerous smaller exhibits which concentrate on a specific artist or theme. Approximately 345,000 visitors view the exhibits during each year. 

School Group Program—the Museum outreach program staff travels to all the public and many of the private schools in Anyville, and makes interactive art presentations to 4th and 5th grade students. In addition, those schools without arts programming are identified and targeted for numerous visits by local artists, crafts demonstrators, art historians, and others. Groups may also arrange to visit the Museum and take guided tours of areas of general or specific interest. Approximately 13,000 students participate in these programs each year. 

The Museum Gift Store—items of interest to art lovers of all ages are available for sale in the gift store. Proceeds from the store are used to support the many other programs offered by the Museum. 

Net Asset Classes

The Museum segregates its net assets and its activities into classes that are defined by donor restrictions. Permanently restricted net assets are those assets that have donor restrictions that never expire or are released. Earnings on permanently restricted net assets are classified as unrestricted unless the donor places restrictions on them. Temporarily restricted net assets are those assets that have donor restrictions that will expire at or over a period of time, or upon the Museum's performance of a specified activity, such as expending resources on a specific program or acquiring specific assets. Earnings on temporarily restricted net assets are classified as unrestricted unless the donor places restrictions on them. Unrestricted net assets have no donor restrictions and may be used for any purpose consistent with the Museum's mission. 

As of year end, the Museum had the following restricted net assets:

	Temporarily restricted: 
	20X1 
	20X0 

	   For the purchase of art 
	
	$225,000 

	   Contributed facility 
	$400,000 
	425,000 

	   For programs in subsequent years 
	100,000 
	240,000 

	   Multi-year promises to give 
	240 
	5,112 

	

	

	Permanently restricted: 
	
	

	   Income to be used to purchase art 
	$1,804,299 
	$1,750,000 

	   Earnings to be used for facility maintenance 
	984,515 
	984,515 


Net gains on assets permanently restricted for the purchase of art are to be retained as part of the donor-restricted endowment, in accordance with the donor's instructions. Interest and dividends from those assets are classified as temporarily restricted and used to fund art purchases. All investment earnings from assets permanently restricted for the building upkeep are expendable for facility maintenance. 

Release of Donor Restrictions

Net assets are released from temporary restrictions when the specified time period has elapsed for time restrictions, or the stated activity has been performed for purpose restrictions. Released net assets are reclassified from temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net assets on the statement of activities. Restricted contributions whose donor restrictions are met in the same reporting period received are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets. Restricted earnings from investments follow this policy as well: they are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets if the donor restrictions are met in the same period that the earnings are recognized. 

The Museum recognizes an implied time restriction on gifts of long-lived assets, as well as donations of cash or other assets to be used to purchase long-lived assets. The expiration of this restriction is recognized over the useful life of the asset, beginning with the date it is placed in service. 

During the year, temporarily restricted net assets were released in the following amounts:

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	For the purchase of art 
	$225,000 
	$55,000 

	Contributed facility depreciation 
	25,000 
	25,000 

	For current year programs 
	200,000 
	2,000 


Basis of Accounting

The Museum prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting. 

Use of Estimates

When preparing these financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, management is required to make certain estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses in the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash held in checking accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit with maturities of less than 90 days are classified as cash and cash equivalents. The Museum had approximately $1,035,000 and $1,178,000 in deposits in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, respectively. 

Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk

Cash equivalents are held at highly-rated financial institutions. Credit exposure is limited to one institution. The Museum has not incurred any losses on its cash equivalents. The Museum's investments are held in a diversified portfolio with no concentrations of market risk. No other financial instruments expose the Museum to concentrations of credit or market risk. 

Inventory

Gift shop merchandise inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market determined by the first-in, first-out method. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of equity and fixed income securities approximates their respective quoted market prices. The fair value of investments in partnerships and real estate held as investments is estimated using private valuations of the securities or properties held. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation methods, those estimated values may differ significantly from those used had a market existed. All other financial instruments' fair values approximate their carrying amounts due to their short maturities, as follows:

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	
	Carrying Amount 
	Fair
Value 
	Carrying Amount 
	Fair
Value 

	Financial assets: 
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	$1,234,811 
	$1,234,811 
	$1,370,294 
	$1,370,294 

	Accounts receivable 
	100,128 
	100,128 
	99,872 
	99,872 

	Contributions receivable 
	1,400,000 
	1,400,000 
	1,480,000 
	1,480,000 

	Investments 
	10,700,000 
	13,050,919 
	10,540,000 
	12,890,919 

	

	

	Financial liabilities: 
	
	
	
	

	Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
	875,240 
	875,240 
	750,482 
	750,482 


Investments

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all debt securities are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices (where available), or if not available, estimated fair values are determined based on quoted market prices of financial instruments with similar characteristics. All other investments are carried at the lower of cost or market. Recognized gains and losses on investments are reflected in the statement of activities. Dividends and interest income are recorded during the period earned. 

At December 31, 20X1, cost, market, and carrying values of investments are comprised of the following:

	
	Cost 
	Market 
	Carrying Value 

	Corporate debt securities 
	$1,997,850 
	$2,500,000 
	$2,500,000 

	U.S. government securities 
	650,000 
	780,000 
	780,000 

	Equity securities 
	3,625,765 
	6,750,254 
	6,750,254 

	Oil and gas partnerships 
	368,725 
	810,642 
	368,725 

	Real estate 
	301,021 
	2,210,023 
	301,021 

	
	$6,943,361 
	$13,050,919 
	$10,700,000 


At December 31, 20X0, cost, market, and carrying values of investments are comprised of the following:

	
	Cost 
	Market 
	Carrying Value 

	Corporate debt securities 
	$1,699,875 
	$2,682,176 
	$2,682,176 

	U.S. government securities 
	650,000 
	780,000 
	780,000 

	Equity securities 
	3,267,981 
	6,408,078 
	6,408,078 

	Oil and gas partnerships 
	368,725 
	810,642 
	368,725 

	Real estate 
	301,021 
	2,210,023 
	301,021 

	
	$6,287,602 
	$12,890,919 
	$10,540,000 


The following summarizes the investment returns for the years ended December 31, 20X1 and 20X0: 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Interest and dividends 
	$404,800 
	$512,600 

	Net gains on investments 
	638,179 
	400,018 

	
	$1,042,979 
	$912,618 


No gains or losses were realized on investments reported at other than fair value. 

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment purchases are recorded at cost, while donated assets are recorded at fair value on the date of donation. Long-lived assets are depreciated using a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 20 years. 

Property and equipment as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0 are summarized by major classifications consisting of:

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Land improvements 
	$258,000 
	$258,000 

	Donated facility 
	15,000,000 
	15,000,000 

	Permanent exhibits 
	4,875,000 
	4,387,000 

	Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 
	548,000 
	538,755 

	Vehicles 
	72,000 
	78,000 

	
	$20,753,000 
	$20,261,755 

	Accumulated depreciation 
	(15,033,000) 
	(14,553,000) 

	
	$5,720,000 
	$5,708,755 


Collections

The Museum began capitalizing its collections on January 1, 1995. Collection items accessioned after this date are recorded at cost, if purchased, or at their fair value on the date of donation. Gains and losses from deaccessions of these items are recorded as changes in the net asset class that held the item. Collection items acquired prior to January 1, 1995 are not reflected on the statement of financial position. Proceeds from deaccessions or insurance recoveries related to these items are recorded as changes in the net asset class that held the item. 

The Museum's collections are made up of paintings, sculptures, crafts, and other art objects. Each item is catalogued for educational, research, and curatorial purposes, and activities ensuring their safety, assessing their condition, and verifying their existence are carried out continuously. 

Contributions

Contributions received, including unconditional promises to give, are measured at their fair values and recorded as increases in net assets. In the absence of donor restrictions, donated assets are reported as unrestricted support. As of December 31, contributions receivable consist of unconditional promises to give, as follows:

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	For acquisitions of art 
	$1,500,000 
	$1,400,000 

	For current year programs 
	118,000 
	

	Restricted for future periods 
	40,000 
	95,000 

	
	1,658,000 
	1,495,000 

	Less: Unamortized discount 
	(8,000) 
	(5,000) 

	
	1,650,000 
	1,490,000 

	Less: Allowance for uncollectibles 
	(250,000) 
	(10,000) 

	
	$1,400,000 
	$1,480,000 


Discount rates range from 6 percent to 8 percent. 

The Museum expects to receive these contributions as follows:

	Less than one year 
	$1,000,000 

	One to five years 
	400,000 


In 20X1, the Museum recognized a loss of $193,552 on a promise to give permanently restricted assets for the purchase of art. This loss was offset by promises to give made by other donors restricted for this purpose. 

As of December 31, 20X0, the Museum had received a conditional promise to give in the amount of $500,000 contingent on meeting certain visitor attendance goals. While progress has been made toward these goals, as of December 31, 20X1, the possibility that this condition will not be met is not remote. 

Contributed Facility

The Museum occupies a facility owned by the City of Anyville on a rent-free basis, and has included the fair value of this contributed facility and the related accumulated depreciation in the statement of financial position. The current lease permits the Museum continued occupancy through December 31, 2020 and contains renewal options for an additional 20 years. The Museum has recognized this contribution as a temporarily restricted net asset, whose restrictions expire over the term of the lease. 

Contributed Services

Donations of services that create or enhance physical assets and essential services that require and are donated by persons with specialized skills are measured at their fair value and reported as increases in unrestricted net assets during the period provided. Contributions of professional services of $25,000 and $38,000 are recorded as increases in contributions and as management and general expense for the years ended December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, respectively, in the statement of activities. Services donated by persons without specialized skills are not recorded. However, the Museum estimates that each year volunteers contribute approximately 25,000 hours assisting with school tours and other educational programs. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The Museum reports its expenses on a functional basis in the statement of activities. These functions consist of program and supporting services costs. Certain costs have been allocated among the program and supporting service activities incurring those costs. 

Advertising Costs

The Museum advertises its programs on billboards, rack cards, brochures, and on its web page. In addition, advertisements are placed in magazines and newspapers, as well as on the local radio stations. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Approximately $59,000 and $62,000 was spent on advertising in 20X1 and 20X0 respectively. 

Federal Income Taxes

The Museum is a nonprofit organization as defined in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Federal income taxes are incurred and provided for only in the event of unrelated business income. 

	Benefactor Foundation 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

	

	

	December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Assets 
	
	

	

	

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	$38,456 
	$32,521 

	Interest and dividends receivable 
	8,796 
	8,422 

	Investments 
	7,708,481 
	7,267,795 

	Notes receivable 
	10,984 
	8,745 

	

	

	Furniture, fixtures, and equipment, net 
	60,659 
	80,589 

	

	

	Other assets 
	278 
	235 

	

	

	Total assets 
	$7,827,654 
	$7,398,307 

	

	

	Liabilities and Net Assets 
	
	

	

	

	Grants payable 
	$3,007 
	$1,541 

	Accounts payable and other liabilities 
	214 
	198 

	Deferred federal excise tax 
	62,540 
	41,771 

	

	

	Total liabilities 
	$65,761 
	$43,510 

	

	

	Unrestricted net assets 
	7,761,893 
	7,354,797 

	

	

	Total liabilities and net assets 
	$7,827,654 
	$7,398,307 


	Benefactor Foundation 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

	

	

	For the years ended December 31 

	Investment Returns 
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Interest and dividends 
	$52,902 
	$40,441 

	Net gain of investment portfolio 
	787,998 
	618,427 

	Rental and other income 
	60,360 
	50,290 

	Investment related expenses 
	(60,680) 
	(50,521) 

	
	$840,589 
	$658,637 

	

	

	Expenses 
	
	

	

	

	Grant awards 
	$405,217 
	$365,800 

	Program administrative expenses 
	6,810 
	5,432 

	Management and general expenses 
	4,870 
	4,251 

	Federal excise tax 
	16,587 
	15,275 

	
	$433,484 
	$390,758 

	

	

	Change in net assets 
	$407,096 
	$267,879 

	Unrestricted net assets at beginning of year 
	7,354,797 
	7,086,918 

	

	

	Unrestricted net assets at end of year 
	$7,761,893 
	$7,354,797 


	Benefactor Foundation 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

	

	

	For the years ended December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
	
	

	

	

	Interest, dividends, net rental and other income 
	50,944 
	37,989 

	Grant payments 
	(274,887) 
	(248,247) 

	Payments for operating expenses 
	(7,548) 
	(6,985) 

	Federal excise tax paid 
	15,748 
	(14,089) 

	

	

	Net cash used in operating activities 
	($247,239) 
	($231,332) 

	

	

	Cash Flows From Investing Activities 
	
	

	

	

	Purchases of investments 
	($294,087) 
	($78,084) 

	Sales and maturities of investments 
	549,069 
	321,606 

	Notes receivable funded 
	(5,021) 
	(3,580) 

	Notes receivable repaid 
	3,458 
	2,740 

	Purchases and sales of furniture, fixtures and equipment 
	(245) 
	214 

	

	

	Net cash provided by investing activities 
	$253,174 
	$242,896 

	

	

	Net change in cash and cash equivalents 
	$5,935 
	$11,564 

	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
	32,521 
	20,957 

	

	

	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 
	$38,456 
	$32,521 

	

	

	Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities 
	
	

	

	

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Change in net assets 
	$407,096 
	$267,879 

	

	

	Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities 
	
	

	Depreciation 
	$85 
	$78 

	Net investment gains 
	(677,611) 
	(510,913) 

	Loss on sale of equipment 
	1,357 
	876 

	Increase in interest and dividends receivable 
	(374) 
	(281) 

	Increase in other assets 
	(43) 
	(18) 

	Increase in grants payable 
	1,466 
	78 

	Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 
	16 
	(13) 

	Increase in deferred federal excise tax payable 
	20,769 
	10,982 

	

	

	Total adjustments 
	($654,335) 
	($499,211) 

	

	

	Cash used in operating activities 
	($247,239) 
	($231,332) 


BENEFACTOR FOUNDATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. History and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization and History 

The Benefactor Foundation (the Foundation) is a private, nonprofit philanthropic corporation established in 1960 to provide continuing education grants to secondary school teachers and college professors. 

Programs 

The Foundation receives applications for grants for continuing education from educators in the United States. While preference is given to historians, scientists, and artists, grants are awarded to educators in virtually every discipline. Approximately 50 grants are awarded every year. 

Net Asset Classes 

The Foundation has only one class of net assets; unrestricted. These assets have no donor restrictions and may be used for any purpose consistent with the Foundation's mission. 

Basis of Accounting 

The Foundation prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The financial statements include the accounts maintained by and directly under the control of the Foundation. 

Use of Estimates 

When preparing these financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, management is required to make certain estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses in the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash held in checking accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit with maturities of less than 90 days are classified as cash and cash equivalents. 

Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk 

Cash equivalents are held at highly rated financial institutions. Credit exposure is limited to one institution. The Foundation has not incurred any losses on its cash equivalents. The Foundation's investments are held in a diversified portfolio with no concentrations of market risk. No other financial instruments expose the Foundation to concentrations of credit or market risk. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value of equity and debt securities with readily determinable fair values approximates their respective quoted market prices. The fair value of investments in partnerships and real estate held as investments is estimated using private valuations of the securities or properties held. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation methods, those estimated values might differ significantly from those used had a market existed. All other financial instruments' fair values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short maturities of these instruments. 

Investments 

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all debt securities are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices (where available), or if not available, estimated fair values are determined based on quoted market prices of financial instruments with similar characteristics. All other investments are carried at the lower of cost or market. Recognized gains and losses on investments are reflected in the statement of activities. Dividends and interest income are recorded during the period earned. 

At December 31, the carrying value of the Foundation's investments is comprised of the following: 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Corporate debt securities 
	$1,809,713 
	$2,275,662 

	

	

	U.S. Government securities 
	526,157 
	4,371,518 

	

	

	
	
	

	Equity securities 
	5,302,611 
	5,101,939 

	

	

	Real estate 
	70,000 
	70,000 

	

	

	Total 
	$7,708,481 
	$7,267,795 


Investment return consists of interest and dividend income, net realized gains on sale of investments, and net appreciation on investments reported gross of related expenses. No gains or losses were realizedon investments reported at other than fair value. 

Grants Payable 

Unconditional grants are recorded as expense during the year of approval. Grants subject to certain conditions are recorded as expense during the year in which conditions are substantially met or the possibility that the conditions will not be met is remote, as determined by management. Grants payable within one year are recorded at their fair value at the date of authorization. Grants payable in more than one year are recorded at the present value of their future cash flows, using a risk-free rate of return. 

The fair value of grants payable as of December 31, 20x1, using a discount rate of 6 percent are as follows:

	Payable in one year 
	$2,000 

	

	

	
	

	Payable in one to five years 
	1,057 

	

	

	Total amount granted 
	$3,057 

	

	

	
	

	Unamortized discount 
	(50) 

	

	

	Grants payable 
	$3,007 


Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment purchases are recorded at cost, while donated assets are recorded at fair value on the date of donation. Long-lived assets are depreciated using a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 20 years. 

Property and equipment as of December 31 are summarized by major classifications consisting of:

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 
	$91,100 
	$105,800 

	

	

	Accumulated depreciation 
	(30,441) 
	(25,211) 

	

	

	
	
	

	
	$60,659 
	$80,589 


Contributed Services 

Donations of services that create or enhance physical assets and essential services that require and are donated by persons with specialized skills are measured at their fair value and reported as increases in unrestricted net assets during the period provided. No contributions of services were recognized the years ended December 31, 20x1 and 20x0. Services donated by persons without specialized skills are not recorded. However, the Foundation estimates that each year volunteers contribute approximately 1,000 hours assisting with grant evaluations and site visits. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The Foundation reports its expenses on a functional basis in the statement of activities. These functions consist of program and supporting services costs. Certain costs have been allocated among program and supporting service activities incurring those costs. 

Advertising Costs 

The Foundation advertises its grant-making activities on its Web page. In addition, grant applications placed in schools, universities, and libraries. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Approximately $680 and $560 was spent on advertising in 20x1 and 20x0, respectively. 

Derivatives and Hedging Activities 

The Foundation's primary purpose is to provide grants and other support to educators. The Foundation's assets, which include investments totaling approximately $7,700,000, are dedicated to providing funds and other resources to meet its grant-making objectives. These investments are exposed to various risks, including variations in foreign currencies and other market-driven factors. Management believes it is prudent to mitigate the effect of these risks to the extent practicable, and to maintain exposure to various segments of the securities market in order to meet the short- and long-term needs of the Foundation. 

The Foundation holds derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging the risks of certain identifiable transactions, as well as to mitigate market exposure in certain specific areas. In general, the types of risks hedged are those relating to the variability of future earnings caused by movements in foreign currency exchange rates. Market exposure is achieved through the utilization of equity and fixed income index funds, as well as through the use of equity futures. 

Federal Excise Taxes 

The Foundation qualifies as a tax exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and, accordingly, is not subject to federal income tax, except to the extent that it has unrelated business taxable income. However, the Foundation is classified as a private foundation and, as such, is subject to a Federal excise tax of 2 percent on net investment income, unless certain conditions are met, in which case the Federal excise tax is 1 percent. For 20x1 and 20x0, the Foundation made provision at the 1 percent rate. Deferred excise taxes are provided for on the unrealized increases or decreases in the fair value of the Foundation's investment assets at a 2 percent tax rate. 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Provision 
	$(4,182) 
	$20,338 

	

	

	
	
	

	Deferred excise tax expense (benefit) 
	20,769 
	(5,063) 

	

	

	
	
	

	
	$16,587 
	$15,275 

	

	

	
	
	

	Excise tax payable 
	$5,285 
	$18,267 

	

	

	
	
	

	Deferred tax payable 
	$62,540 
	$43,510 


The Foundation also is required to make certain minimum qualifying contributions of its assets in accordance with formulas provided by Federal law. The Foundation made distributions and utilized excess distribution carryovers from preceding years to satisfy minimum requirements for 20x0. At December 31, 20x1, distributions approximating $25,000 are required by December 31, 20x2 to satisfy minimum requirements for 20x1. 

	American Association of Licensed Professionals 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

	

	

	December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Assets 
	
	

	

	

	Cash 
	$975 
	$725 

	Investments 
	105,200 
	85,640 

	Accounts and notes receivable 
	15,750 
	12,225 

	Inventories 
	2,500 
	2,750 

	Deferred costs and prepaid expenses 
	4,250 
	3,875 

	Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 
	25,475 
	27,231 

	

	

	   Total Assets 
	$154,150 
	$132,446 

	

	

	Liabilities and Net Assets 
	
	

	

	

	Liabilities 
	
	

	Accounts payable and other liabilities 
	$16,575 
	$15,422 

	Advance dues 
	27,785 
	24,887 

	Unearned revenue 
	15,350 
	13,275 

	Long-term debt 
	14,078 
	13,075 

	Deferred rent 
	16,842 
	14,558 

	

	

	   Total Liabilities 
	$90,630 
	$81,217 

	

	

	Net Assets 
	
	

	Unrestricted 
	$60,475 
	$48,250 

	Permanently restricted 
	3,045 
	2,979 

	

	

	   Total Net Assets 
	$63,520 
	$51,229 

	

	

	Total Liabilities and Net Assets 
	$154,150 
	$132,446 


	American Association of Licensed Professionals 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

	

	

	For the years ended December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets 
	
	

	Operating Revenue and Support 
	
	

	Dues 
	$58,775 
	$57,245 

	Publications and software 
	35,248 
	39,554 

	Professional development and member conferences 
	25,475 
	22,650 

	Investment and sundry income 
	11,750 
	12,500 

	Professional examinations 
	9,875 
	8,240 

	Contributions 
	3,400 
	1,895 

	

	

	   Total Operating Revenue and Support 
	$144,523 
	$142,084 

	

	

	Program and Member Services 
	
	

	Publications and software produced for sale 
	$35,037 
	$39,526 

	Professional development and member conferences 
	22,450 
	19,875 

	Regulation and legislation 
	18,975 
	14,262 

	Technical 
	12,054 
	11,988 

	Professional examinations 
	8,540 
	8,341 

	Communications and public relations 
	6,225 
	5,871 

	Support and scholarships 
	6,250 
	4,125 

	Assistance programs 
	2,005 
	1,978 

	   Total Program and Member Services 
	$111,536 
	$105,966 

	

	

	Supporting Activities 
	
	

	General management 
	$19,788 
	$19,245 

	Organization and membership development 
	6,875 
	6,225 

	
	$26,663 
	$25,470 

	

	

	   Total operating expenses 
	$138,199 
	$131,436 

	

	

	Excess of operating revenue over expenses 
	$6,324 
	$10,648 

	

	

	Non-operating Gains and Losses 
	
	

	Gains (losses) on marketable securities 
	
	

	

	

	Realized 
	$5,775 
	$10,633 

	

	

	Unrealized 
	126 
	(575) 

	   Total Non-operating Gains and Losses 
	$5,901 
	$10,058 

	

	

	Change in Unrestricted Net Assets 
	$12,225 
	$20,706 

	

	

	Change in Permanently Restricted Net Assets 
	
	

	Contributions 
	$250 
	($130) 

	Investment return 
	($184) 
	1,281 

	

	

	Change in Permanently Restricted Net Assets 
	$66 
	$1,151 

	

	

	Change in Net Assets 
	$12,291 
	$21,857 


	American Association of Licensed Professionals 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 

	

	

	Years Ended December 31 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Increase (Decrease) in Cash: 
	
	

	

	

	Operating Activities: 
	
	

	Cash received from members and customers 
	$145,642 
	$147,379 

	Interest and dividends received 
	3,750 
	3,015 

	Cash paid to suppliers, employees and other 
	(128,997) 
	(126,497) 

	Interest paid 
	(78) 
	(147) 

	Income taxes paid 
	(487) 
	(512) 

	Net cash provided by operating activities 
	$19,830 
	$23,238 

	

	

	Investing Activities: 
	
	

	Payments for purchase of equipment 
	($3,100) 
	($2,750) 

	Payments for purchase of investments 
	(123,140) 
	(124,649) 

	Proceeds from sale of investments 
	106,660 
	104,694 

	Net cash used in investing activities 
	($19,580) 
	($22,705) 

	

	

	Financing Activities: 
	
	

	Payments of long-term borrowings 
	$0 
	$(95) 

	

	

	Net increase in cash 
	$250 
	$438 

	

	

	Cash, beginning of year 
	$725 
	$287 

	

	

	Cash, end of year 
	$975 
	$725 

	

	

	Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 
	
	

	Change in net assets 
	$12,291 
	$21,857 

	Adjustments: 
	
	

	Depreciation and amortization 
	
	

	   Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements 
	1,850 
	1,728 

	   Internal computer systems 
	52 
	37 

	Net unrealized losses (gains) on investments 
	877 
	304 

	Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
	
	

	   Accounts and notes receivable 
	(3,525) 
	(2,450) 

	   Inventories 
	250 
	(511) 

	   Deferred costs and prepaid expenses 
	(375) 
	(254) 

	   Accounts payable and other liabilities 
	1,153 
	(2,003) 

	   Advance dues 
	2,898 
	2,540 

	   Unearned revenue 
	2,075 
	1,657 

	   Deferred rent 
	2,284 
	333 

	

	

	Total adjustments 
	$7,539 
	$1,381 

	

	

	Net cash provided by operating activities 
	$19,830 
	$23,238 


AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF LICENSED PROFESSIONALS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. History and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization and History 

The American Association of Licensed Professionals (the Association) was organized as an Anystate nonprofit corporation in 1984 to provide licensed professionals with opportunities to meet other professionals and exchange ideas, to provide up to date regulatory and legislative information, and to provide high quality continuing education. 

Programs 

The Association's major programs are divided into four broad areas: 

Publications and Software—The Association produces numerous books, periodicals, and software programs containing professional updates, changes in federal and other recognized standards, job opportunities in related fields, upcoming conference locations and topics, and tips profit maximization. These products are produced for sale, as well as provided as member benefits. 

Professional Development and Member Conferences—The Association provides free and fee-based conferences four times per year in major cities across the United States and Western Europe. Members are given the opportunity to meet other professionals and "network," attend classes and group meetings, discuss upcoming changes in Federal standards, and elect national and local officers. 

Regulatory and Legislative—The Association maintains an internet-based list serve on which all members may request and receive information about current and upcoming changes in regulations and legislation affecting the profession. 

Technical—The Association maintains a "hot-line" members may call to receive information about technical pronouncements, interpretations, and standards applicable to the profession. An interactive Web site is also used for this purpose. 

Net Asset Classes 

The Association segregates its net assets and its activities into classes that are defined by donor restrictions. Permanently restricted net assets are those assets that have donor restrictions that never expire or are released. Earnings on permanently restricted net assets are classified as a change in unrestricted net assets unless the donor places restrictions on them. Unrestricted net assets have no donor restrictions and may be used for any purpose consistent with the Association's mission. 

As of year-end, the Association had the following restricted net assets: 

Permanently restricted: 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Scholarships 
	$1,600 
	$1,600 

	Programs 
	1,445 
	1,379 

	
	$3,045 
	$2,979 


Net gains on assets permanently restricted for scholarships and programs are retained as part of the donor-restricted endowment, in accordance with the donors' instructions. Interest and dividends from those assets are classified as unrestricted and used to fund scholarships to meetings and conferences and program activities. 

Basis of Accounting 

The Association prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The financial statements include the accounts maintained by and directly under the control of the Association. 

Use of Estimates 

When preparing these financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, management is required to make certain estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses in the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash held in checking accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit with maturities of less than 90 days are classified as cash and cash equivalents. 

Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk 

Cash equivalents are held at highly rated financial institutions. Credit exposure is limited to one institution. The Association has not incurred any losses on its cash equivalents. The Association's investments are held in a diversified portfolio with no concentrations of market risk. No other financial instruments expose the Association to concentrations of credit or market risk. 

Inventory 

Software and publication inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market determined by the first-in, first-out method. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value of equity and fixed income securities approximates their respective quoted market prices. All other financial instruments' fair values approximate their carrying amounts due to their short maturities. 

Investments 

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all debt securities are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices (where available), or if not available, estimated fair values are determined based on quoted market prices of financial instruments with similar characteristics. All other investments are carried at the lower of cost or market. Recognized gains and losses on investments are reflected in the statement of activities. Dividends and interest income are recorded during the period earned. 

At December 31, carrying values of investments are comprised of the following:

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	U.S. Government securities 
	$ 52,000 
	$ 47,000 

	Equity securities 
	47,200 
	32,500 

	Corporate debt securities 
	6,000 
	6,140 

	
	$105,200 
	$85,640 


Investment return consists of interest and dividend income, net realized gains on sale of investments, and net appreciation on investments reported gross of related expenses. No gains or losses were realized on investments reported at other than fair value. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment purchases are recorded at cost, while donated assets are recorded at fair value on the date of donation. Long-lived assets are depreciated using a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 20 years. 

Property and equipment is summarized by major classifications consisting of:

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Furniture, equipment and 
	
	

	leasehold improvements, net 
	$35,753 
	$35,843 

	Accumulated depreciation 
	(10,278) 
	(8,612) 

	
	$25,475 
	$27,231 


Contributions 

Contributions received, including unconditional promises to give, are measured at their fair values and recorded as increases in net assets. In the absence of donor restrictions, donated assets are reported as unrestricted support. The Association recognizes an implied time restriction on contributions of long-lived assets, as well as contributions of resources restricted to purchase long-lived assets. The implied time restriction expires over the useful life of the asset. 

Contributed Services 

Donations of services that create or enhance physical assets and essential services that require and are donated by persons with specialized skills are measured at their fair value and reported as increases in unrestricted net assets during the period provided. Contributions of legal and auditing services of $3,400 and $1,895 are recorded as contribution revenue and management and general expense for the years ended December 31, 20x1 and 20x0, respectively, in the statement of activities. 

Advance Dues 

The Association records membership dues revenues over the applicable membership period. The unearned portion of dues paid is reported as a liability at year-end. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The Association reports its expenses on a functional basis in the statement of activities. These functions consist of program and supporting services costs. Certain costs have been allocated among the program and supporting service activities incurring those costs. 

Advertising Costs 

The Association advertises its programs on its web page and in professional journals. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Approximately $2,400 and $1,895 was spend on advertising in 20x1 and 19x0, respectively. 

Federal Income Taxes 

The Association is a nonprofit organization as defined in Section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code. Federal income taxes are incurred and provided for only in the event of unrelated business taxable income. 

	Any Kid's Preschool 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

	

	

	June 30, 20X1 

	Assets 
	

	Cash 
	$261,344 

	Contributions receivable 
	85,961 

	Prepaids 
	3,488 

	Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
	45,628 

	

	

	   Total Assets 
	$396,421 

	

	

	Liabilities and Net Assets 
	

	Liabilities 
	

	Accounts payable 
	$54,390 

	Accrued liabilities 
	12,589 

	Deferred revenue 
	46,890 

	

	

	   Total Liabilities 
	$113,869 

	

	

	Net Assets 
	

	Unrestricted 
	$328 

	Temporarily restricted 
	282,224 

	

	

	   Total Net Assets 
	$282,552 

	

	

	   Total Liabilities and Net Assets 
	$396,421 


	Any Kid's Preschool 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

	

	

	For the Year Ended June 30, 20X1 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	Temporarily 
	

	
	Unrestricted 
	Restricted 
	Total 

	Support 
	
	
	

	Public support 
	
	
	

	Contributions 
	$46,713 
	$163,774 
	$210,487 

	

	

	Special events 
	52,684 
	
	52,684 

	Grants 
	0 
	46,913 
	46,913 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Total support 
	$99,397 
	$210,687 
	$310,084 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Revenue 
	
	
	

	Interest 
	$1,174 
	
	$1,174 

	Tuition 
	112,571 
	
	112,571 

	Other 
	2,271 
	
	2,271 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Total revenue 
	$116,016 
	
	$116,016 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Release of program restrictions 
	$98,525 
	($98,525) 
	$0 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Total support and revenue 
	$313,938 
	$112,162 
	$426,100 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Expenses 
	
	
	

	Program services 
	$182,582 
	
	$182,582 

	Supporting services 
	
	
	

	Management and general 
	77,920 
	
	77,920 

	Fundraising 
	64,495 
	
	64,495 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Total expenses 
	$324,997 
	
	$324,997 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Change in net assets 
	($11,059) 
	$112,162 
	$101,103 

	

	

	
	
	
	

	Net assets, beginning of year 
	$11,387 
	$170,062 
	$181,449 

	Net assets, end of year 
	$328 
	$282,224 
	$282,552 


	Any Kid's Preschool 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

	

	

	For the Year Ended June 30, 20X1 

	

	

	
	Program Services 
	Management
and General 
	Fundraising 
	Total 

	Salaries 
	$54,728 
	$51,741 
	$42,500 
	$148,969 

	Health insurance 
	4,178 
	3,412 
	3,244 
	10,834 

	Payroll taxes 
	3,941 
	4,879 
	3,060 
	11,880 

	Other employee benefits 
	174 
	1,320 
	652 
	2,146 

	

	

	Total Salaries and Related Expenses 
	$63,021 
	$61,352 
	$49,456 
	$173,829 

	

	

	Food supplies 
	$29,756 
	
	
	$29,756 

	Professional fees 
	4,171 
	205 
	769 
	5,145 

	Educational supplies 
	7,525 
	
	
	7,525 

	Utilities 
	32,711 
	1,432 
	1,432 
	35,575 

	Repairs and maintenance 
	2,411 
	
	
	2,411 

	Custodial supplies 
	1,421 
	3,589 
	4,523 
	9,533 

	Insurance 
	10,481 
	71 
	
	10,552 

	Continuing education 
	3,871 
	4,012 
	3,200 
	11,083 

	Office supplies 
	1,641 
	3,341 
	2,679 
	7,661 

	Travel 
	545 
	
	650 
	1,195 

	Fees, permits & licenses 
	2,227 
	
	
	2,227 

	Teacher workshops 
	1,210 
	
	
	1,210 

	Dues and subscriptions 
	
	1,011 
	433 
	1,444 

	Postage and delivery 
	
	1,072 
	589 
	1,661 

	Other supplies 
	912 
	
	
	912 

	Bank charges 
	
	775 
	
	775 

	Contract labor 
	701 
	
	
	701 

	Board expenses 
	
	379 
	
	379 

	Advertising 
	
	147 
	
	247 

	

	

	Total expenses before depreciation 
	$162,604 
	$77,386 
	$63,731 
	$303,721 

	Loss on disposal of fixed assets 
	3,750 
	
	
	3,750 

	Depreciation and amortization 
	16,228 
	534 
	764 
	17,526 

	

	

	Total Expenses 
	$182,582 
	$77,920 
	$64,495 
	$324,997 


	Any Kid's Preschool 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

	

	

	For the Year Ended June 30, 20X1 

	Operating activities: 
	

	   Change in net assets 
	$101,103 

	Adjustments: 
	

	   Depreciation 
	17,526 

	   Loss on disposal of assets 
	3,750 

	   Decrease in grants receivable 
	1,123 

	   Increase in accounts payable 
	23,891 

	   Increase in accrued liabilities 
	5,241 

	   Decrease in deferred revenue 
	(4,250) 

	

	

	Net cash provided by operations 
	$148,384 

	

	

	Investing activities: 
	

	   Purchases of fixed assets 
	($35,871) 

	

	

	Financing activities: 
	

	   Proceeds from sale of investments 
	$74,990 

	

	

	Net increase in cash 
	$187,503 

	Cash, beginning of year 
	73,841 

	Cash, end of year 
	$261,344 


ANY KID'S PRESCHOOL

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. History and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization and History 

The Any Kid's Preschool (the School) was organized as an Anystate nonprofit corporation in 1933 to maintain and operate preschool educational programs to underprivileged families in the Anycity area. 

Programs 

The School's programs are divided into three broad areas: 

Education—Sliding scale fee and free classes are provided in topics such as reading, writing, art, and arithmetic. The School also sponsors symposia on topics of interest to the local community, and presents lectures on family unity, parenting skills, and recognition of child abuse. In addition, the school sponsors several parent/child recreational games and competitions. Proceeds from these games are used to support other school-funded programs. Approximately 350 adults and 1,200 children participate in educational programs each year. 

Free lunch—Lunches are provided to school students five days per week. Approximately 500 students participate in this program. 

Teacher Workshops—The School provides sensitivity and childcare training to teachers two times per year. Teachers are required to attend these workshops, which are held on non-school days and during the summer months. 

Net Asset Classes 

School segregates its net assets into classes that are defined by donor restrictions. Temporarily restricted net assets are those assets that have donor restrictions that will expire at or over a period of time, or upon the School's performance of a specified activity, such as expending resources on a specific program or acquiring specific assets. Earnings on temporarily restricted net assets are classified as a change in unrestricted net assets unless the donor places restrictions on them. Unrestricted net assets have no donor restrictions and may be used for any purpose consistent with the School's mission. 

As of year-end, the School had the following temporarily restricted net assets:

	
	20x1 

	Scholarships 
	$80,000 

	For programs in subsequent years 
	132,000 

	For the after school care 
	70,224 

	
	$282,224 


Release of Donor Restrictions 

Net assets are released from temporary restrictions when the specified time period has elapsed for time restrictions, or the stated activity has been performed for purpose restrictions. Released net assets are reclassified from temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net assets on the statement of activities. Restricted contributions whose donor restrictions are met in the same reporting period received are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets. Restricted earnings from investments follow this policy as well: they are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets if the donor restrictions are met in the same period that the earnings are recognized. 

The School recognizes an implied time restriction on gifts of long-lived assets, as well as donations of cash or other assets to be used to purchase long-lived assets. The expiration of this restriction is recognized over the useful life of the asset, beginning with the date it is placed in service. 

During the year, temporarily restricted net assets were released in the following amounts: 

	
	20x1 

	Scholarships 
	$80,000 

	After school care 
	18,525 

	
	$98,525 


Basis of Accounting 

The School prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The financial statements include the accounts maintained by and directly under the control of the School. 

Use of Estimates 

When preparing these financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, management is required to make certain estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses in the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash held in checking accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit with maturities of less than 90 days are classified as cash and cash equivalents. The School had approximately $161,344 in deposits in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit as of June 30, 20x1. 

Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk 

Cash equivalents are held at highly rated financial institutions. Credit exposure is limited to one institution. The School has not incurred any losses on its cash equivalents. The School's investments are held in a diversified portfolio with no concentrations of market risk. No other financial instruments expose the School to concentrations of credit or market risk. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

All other financial instruments' fair values approximate their carrying amounts due to their short maturities. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment purchases are recorded at cost; while donated assets are recorded at fair value on the date of donation. Long-lived assets are depreciated using a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 20 years. 

Property and equipment as of June 30, 20x1 is summarized by major classifications consisting of: 

	Equipment and furniture 
	$78,281 

	Accumulated depreciation 
	(32,653) 

	
	$45,628 


Contributions 

Contributions received, including unconditional promises to give, are measured at their fair values and recorded as increases in net assets. In the absence of donor restrictions, donated assets are reported as unrestricted support. As of June 30, 20x1, contributions receivable consist of unconditional promises to give, as follows: 

	Receivable in one year 
	$ 5,961 

	Receivable in one to five years 
	92,000 

	Less: unamortized discount 
	(7,000) 

	Present value of contributions receivable 
	$90,961 

	Less: allowance for uncollectible promises to give 
	(5,000) 

	Contributions receivable 
	$85,961 


Discount rates range from 6 percent to 8 percent. 

As of June 30, 20x0 the School had received a conditional promise to give in the amount of $500,000 contingent on meeting certain attendance goals. Progress has been made toward these goals, however as of June 30, 20x1, the possibility that this condition will be met is not remote. 

Contributed Facility 

The School occupies a facility given by the Jones family in 1962, and has included the fair value of imputed rent as contribution revenue in the statement of activities. 

Contributed Services 

Donations of services that create or enhance physical assets and essential services that require and are donated by persons with specialized skills are measured at their fair value and reported as increases in unrestricted net assets during the period provided. Contributions of auditing services of $5,488 are recorded as contribution revenue and as management and general expense for the year ended June 30 in the statement of activities. Services donated by persons without specialized skills are not recorded. However, the School estimates that each year volunteers contribute approximately 3,500 hours assisting with special events and educational programs. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The School reports its expenses on a functional basis in the statement of activities. These functions consist of program and supporting services costs. Certain costs have been allocated among the program and supporting service activities incurring those costs. 

Advertising Costs 

The School advertises its programs on its Web page. In addition, advertisements are placed in teaching journals to attract new and visiting teachers. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Approximately $2,347 was spent on advertising in 20x1. 

Federal Income Taxes 

The School is a nonprofit organization as defined in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Federal income taxes are incurred and provided for only in the event of unrelated business taxable income. 

	League of Performing Artists 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

	September 30 

	

	

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Assets 
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	$273,276 
	$100,525 

	Investments 
	212,000 
	185,000 

	Grants and contributions receivable 
	1,125,400 
	950,200 

	Prepaid expenses 
	10,400 
	9,870 

	Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
	60,979 
	71,224 

	

	

	Total Assets 
	$1,682,055 
	$1,316,819 

	

	

	Liabilities and Net Assets 
	
	

	

	

	Liabilities: 
	
	

	   Accounts payable 
	$120,000 
	$110,450 

	   Notes payable 
	20,150 
	21,400 

	   Accrued liabilities 
	16,400 
	14,720 

	   Deferred revenue 
	275,684 
	264,120 

	

	

	Total liabilities 
	$432,234 
	$410,690 

	

	

	Net Assets: 
	
	

	   Unrestricted 
	$873,821 
	$606,000 

	   Temporarily restricted 
	376,000 
	300,129 

	

	

	Total net assets 
	$1,249,821 
	$906,129 

	

	

	Total liabilities and net assets 
	$1,682,055 
	$1,316,819 


	League of Performing Artists 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

	

	

	For the Years Ended September 30 

	

	

	
	Unrestricted 
	Temporarily Restricted 
	Total
20X1 
	Total
20X0 

	Grants and Contributions 
	
	
	
	

	Governmental 
	
	
	
	

	Federal 
	$925,421 
	$768,913 
	$1,694,334 
	$876,217 

	State arts agencies 
	475,899 
	125,400 
	601,299 
	598,450 

	Net assets released from restrictions 
	450,865 
	(450,865) 
	0 
	0 

	Total governmental funds 
	$1,852,185 
	$443,448 
	$2,295,633 
	$1,474,667 

	

	

	Other grants and contributions 
	$275,000 
	$45,000 
	$320,000 
	$556,245 

	Net assets released from restrictions 
	412,577 
	(412,577) 
	0 
	0 

	Total other grants and contributions 
	$687,577 
	($367,577) 
	$320,000 
	$556,245 

	

	

	Total Grants and Contributions 
	$2,539,762 
	$75,871 
	$2,615,633 
	$2,030,912 

	

	

	Revenues 
	
	
	
	

	Admissions, fees, and royalties 
	$1,025,887 
	
	$1,025,887 
	$987,446 

	Costume and set rentals 
	78,420 
	
	78,420 
	65,779 

	Investment income 
	57,420 
	
	57,420 
	45,772 

	Other income 
	84,152 
	
	84,152 
	78,408 

	Total revenues 
	$1,245,879 
	
	$1,245,879 
	$1,177,405 

	

	

	Total Grants, Contributions, and Revenues 
	$3,785,641 
	$75,871 
	$3,861,512 
	$3,208,317 

	

	

	Expenses 
	
	
	
	

	Program services 
	
	
	
	

	Performances 
	$2,502,410 
	
	$2,502,410 
	$2,445,637 

	Educational programs 
	440,110 
	
	440,110 
	346,772 

	Program development 
	250,400 
	
	250,400 
	344,220 

	Total program services 
	$3,192,920 
	
	$3,192,920 
	$3,136,629 

	

	

	Supporting services 
	
	
	
	

	Administrative 
	$249,500 
	
	$249,500 
	$247,883 

	Fund raising 
	75,400 
	
	75,400 
	42,754 

	Total supporting services 
	$324,900 
	
	$324,900 
	$290,637 

	

	

	Total Expenses 
	$3,517,820 
	
	$3,517,820 
	$3,427,266 

	

	

	Increase (decrease) in net assets 
	$267,821 
	$75,871 
	$343,692 
	($218,949) 

	

	

	Net assets, beginning of year 
	606,000 
	300,129 
	906,129 
	1,125,078 

	

	

	Net assets, end of year 
	$873,821 
	$376,000 
	$1,249,821 
	$906,129 


	League of Performing Artists 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

	

	

	For the Years Ended September 30 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	

	

	Cash flow from operating activities 
	
	

	Increase (decrease) in net assets 
	$343,692 
	($218,949) 

	Adjustments: 
	
	

	   Depreciation 
	$8,476 
	$7,564 

	   Net losses on investments 
	0 
	24,800 

	Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
	
	

	   Grants and contributions receivable 
	(175,200) 
	56,775 

	   Prepaid expenses 
	(530) 
	665 

	   Accounts payable 
	9,550 
	4,325 

	   Accrued expenses 
	1,680 
	(1,675) 

	   Deferred expenses 
	11,564 
	12,438 

	Net cash provided by operating activities 
	$199,232 
	($114,057) 

	

	

	Cash flows from investing activities: 
	
	

	   (Purchases) sales of property 
	$1,769 
	($15,900) 

	   Proceeds from sale of investments 
	0 
	56,300 

	   Purchases of investments 
	(27,000) 
	(0) 

	Net cash used in operating activities 
	($25,231) 
	$40,400 

	

	

	Cash flows from financing activities: 
	
	

	   Repayment of notes payable 
	($1,250) 
	$0 

	

	

	Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
	$172,751 
	($73,657) 

	

	

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	
	

	   Beginning of year 
	$100,525 
	$174,182 

	   End of year 
	$273,276 
	$100,525 


LEAGUE OF PERFORMING ARTISTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. History and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The League of Performing Artists (the League) was organized as an Anystate nonprofit corporation in 1967 to promote, through the establishment and maintenance of a theatre and allied projects, an understanding and appreciation of the performing arts. 

Programs 

The League's programs are divided into two broad areas: 

Performances—Free and fee-based performances of modern and locally written plays and performance pieces are produced six to eight times per year. The League also sponsors symposia on topics of interest to the performing arts community and presents lectures that cover a variety of topics. Approximately 80,000 adults and 13,000 children attend performances every year. 

Education—in addition to the performance of plays and performance pieces, the League offers several major symposia every year to educate the community, school groups and performers on a wide range of topics, from appreciation of modern dance to Shakespearean English. Approximately 5,000 adults and 2,000 children attend these seminars each year. 

Net Asset Classes 

The League segregates its net assets into classes that are defined by donor restrictions. Temporarily restricted net assets are those assets that have donor restrictions that will expire at or over a period of time, or upon the League's performance of a specified activity, such as expending resources on a specific program or acquiring specific assets. Earnings on temporarily restricted net assets are classified as a change in unrestricted net assets unless the donor places restrictions on them. Unrestricted net assets have no donor restrictions and may be used for any purpose consistent with the League's mission. 

As of year-end, the League had the following restricted net assets: 

	Temporarily restricted: 
	
	

	

	

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	For the production of plays 
	$50,000 
	$50,000 

	Promised facility occupancy 
	245,000 
	245,000 

	For programs in subsequent years 
	50,000 
	0 

	   Multi-year promises to give 
	31,000 
	5,129 

	Total temporarily restricted assets 
	$376,000 
	$300,129 


Release of Donor Restrictions 

Net assets are released from temporary restrictions when the specified time period has elapsed for time restrictions or the stated activity has been performed for purpose restrictions. Released net assets are reclassified from temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net assets on the statement of activities. 

During the year, temporarily restricted net assets were released in the following amounts: 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	For the production of plays 
	$612,577 
	$528,116 

	Contributed facility rental 
	45,000 
	45,000 

	For current year programs 
	205,865 
	148,505 

	   Total assets released from restrictions 
	$863,442 
	$721,621 


Basis of Accounting 

The League prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The financial statements include the accounts maintained by and directly under the control of the League. 

Use of Estimates 

When preparing these financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, management is required to make certain estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses in the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash held in checking accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit with maturities of less than 90 days are classified as cash and cash equivalents. The League had approximately $173,276 in deposits in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit as of September 30, 20x1, respectively. 

Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk 

Cash equivalents are held at highly rated financial institutions. Credit exposure is limited to one institution. The League has not incurred any losses on its cash equivalents. The League's investments are held in a diversified portfolio with no concentrations of market risk. No other financial instruments expose the League to concentrations of credit or market risk. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value of equity and fixed income securities approximates their respective quoted market prices. All other financial instruments' fair values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short maturities of these instruments. 

Investments 

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all debt securities are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices (where available), or if not available, estimated fair values are determined based on quoted market prices of financial instruments with similar characteristics. Recognized gains and losses on investments are reflected in the statement of activities. Dividends and interest income are recorded during the period earned. 

At September 30, carrying values of investments are comprised of the following: 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Equity securities 
	$112,000 
	$120,000 

	Corporate debt securities 
	100,000 
	65,000 

	
	$212,000 
	$185,000 


Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment purchases are recorded at cost, while donated assets are recorded at fair value on the date of donation. Long-lived assets are depreciated using a straight- line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 20 years. 

Property and equipment as of September 30 are summarized by major classifications consisting of: 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	Equipment 
	$25,000 
	$30,000 

	Costumes and sets 
	17,242 
	18,982 

	Facility improvements 
	$12,000 
	$14,500 

	Accumulated depreciation 
	(13,263) 
	(12,258) 

	
	$60,979 
	$71,224 


Contributions 

Contributions received, including unconditional promises to give, are measured at their fair values and recorded as increases in net assets. In the absence of donor restrictions, donated assets are reported as unrestricted support. As of September 30, contributions receivable consist of unconditional promises to give, as follows: 

	
	20X1 
	20X0 

	For acquisition of costumes and sets 
	$400,000 
	$380,000 

	For current year programs 
	250,000 
	200,000 

	For facility improvements 
	75,000 
	70,500 

	Restricted for future periods 
	400,400 
	300,200 

	
	$1,125,400 
	$950,200 


The League expects to receive these contributions as follows: 

	Less than one year 
	$653,400 

	One to five years 
	550,000 

	Less: Unamortized discount 
	(78,000) 

	Present value of promises receivable 
	$1,275,400 

	Less: Allowance for uncollectibles 
	(150,000) 

	Grants and contributions receivable 
	$1,125,400 


Discount rates range from 6 percent to 8 percent. 

As of September 30, 20x1, the League had received a conditional promise to give in the amount of $1,000,000 contingent on identifying and hiring a world-class director. While progress has been made toward this task, and as of September 30, 20x1, the probability that this condition will not be met is more than remote. 

Contributed Use of Facility 

The League occupies a facility owned by the City of Anyville on a rent-free basis, and has included the fair value of this contribution in the statement of activities. The current lease permits the League continued occupancy through September 30, 2011 and contains renewal options for an additional 5 years. The League has recognized this contribution as a temporarily restricted net asset, whose restrictions expire over the term of the lease. 

Contributed Services 

Donations of services that create or enhance physical assets and essential services that require and are donated by persons with specialized skills are measured at their fair value and reported as increases in unrestricted net assets during the period provided. Contributions of artistic services of $2,500 and $1,800 are recorded as increases in contributions and as management and general expense for the years ended September 30, 20x1 and 20x0, respectively, in the statement of activities. Services donated by persons without specialized skills are not recorded. However, the League estimates that each year volunteers contribute approximately 9,000 hours assisting with productions and seminars. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The League reports its expenses on a functional basis in the statement of activities. These functions consist of program and supporting services costs. Certain costs have been allocated among the program and supporting service activities incurring those costs. 

Advertising Costs 

The League advertises its programs on the Internet, on radio, and on posters, rack cards, brochures, magazines and newspapers. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Approximately $20,000 and $19,500 was spend on advertising in 20x1 and 20x0, respectively. 

Federal Income Taxes 

The League is a nonprofit organization as defined in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Federal income taxes are incurred and provided for only in the event of unrelated business taxable income. 

	City Food Bank 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

	

	

	For the Year Ended September 30, 20X0 

	Revenues and Support 
	$ X,XXX,XXX 

	

	

	Expenses 
	

	Program Services 
	

	   Inner City 
	2,020,488 

	   Emergency Relief 
	627,009 

	   Elderly Outreach 
	533,616 

	

	

	Total Program Services 
	3,181,113 

	

	

	Supporting Services 
	

	Management and General 
	267,248 

	Fundraising 
	106,852 

	

	

	   Total Supporting Services 
	374,100 

	

	

	Total Expenses 
	3,555,213 


	City Food Bank 

	

	

	STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE 

	

	

	For the Year Ended September 30, 20x0 

	

	

	
	Program Expense 
	
	
	Supporting Service Expense 
	

	

	

	
	Inner City Program 
	Emergency Relief 
	Elderly Outreach 
	Total 
	Management and General 
	Fundraising 
	Total 
	Total Expense 

	Salaries 
	225,042 
	80,100 
	190,408 
	495,550 
	85,062 
	62,250 
	147,312 
	642,862 

	Benefits 
	56,261 
	20,025 
	47,602 
	123,888 
	21,266 
	15,563 
	36,829 
	160,717 

	Perishable items 
	857,584 
	140,940 
	10,128 
	1,008,652 
	
	
	
	1,008,652 

	Nonperishable items 
	732,789 
	333,981 
	210,234 
	1,277,004 
	
	
	
	1,277,004 

	Advertising 
	5,826 
	7,250 
	625 
	13,701 
	10,560 
	
	10,560 
	24,261 

	Depreciation 
	19,983 
	14,391 
	34,374 
	68,748 
	20,262 
	1,467 
	21,729 
	90,477 

	Insurance 
	19,690 
	8,250 
	1,581 
	29,521 
	52,050 
	
	52,050 
	81,571 

	Supplies 
	59,306 
	3,257 
	2,701 
	65,264 
	12,867 
	10,251 
	23,118 
	88,382 

	Travel 
	6,359 
	2,839 
	530 
	9,728 
	11,405 
	628 
	12,033 
	21,761 

	Utilities 
	16,896 
	12,232 
	29,218 
	58,346 
	17,223 
	1,247 
	18,470 
	76,816 

	Interest 
	681 
	
	
	681 
	12,780 
	
	12,780 
	13,461 

	Printing 
	18,246 
	2,538 
	5,355 
	26,139 
	7,403 
	12,582 
	19,985 
	46,124 

	Postage 
	197 
	628 
	187 
	1,012 
	8,725 
	2,278 
	11,003 
	12,015 

	Miscellaneous 
	1,628 
	578 
	673 
	2,879 
	7,645 
	586 
	8,231 
	11,110 

	Total 
	2,020,488 
	627,009 
	533,616 
	3,181,113 
	267,248 
	106,852 
	374,100 
	3,555,213 
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